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MATURITY SCHEDULE

$96,615,000
Minneapolis-St. Paul Metropolitan Airports Commission
Subordinate Airport Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds
Series 2019A
(Governmental/Non-AMT)

Maturity

Date Principal Interest CUSIP

(January 1) Amount Rate Yield Price Numbers'
2021 $3,025,000 4.000% 1.050% 103.636 603827A22
2022 765,000 5.000 1.090 108.644 603827A30
2023 1,620,000 5.000 1.110 112.360 603827A48
2024 925,000 5.000 1.140 115.947 603827A55
2025 935,000 5.000 1.160 119.481 603827A63
2026 980,000 5.000 1.220 122.658 603827A71
2027 1,030,000 5.000 1.280 125.657 603827A89
2028 3,815,000 5.000 1.360 128.295 603827A97
2029 6,415,000 5.000 1.420 130.910 603827B21
2030 6,730,000 5.000 1.510 131.511¢ 603827B39
2031 7,070,000 5.000 1.610 130.457¢ 603827B47
2032 7,430,000 5.000 1.660 129.933¢ 603827B54
2033 7,800,000 5.000 1.730 129.204¢ 603827B62
2034 8,185,000 5.000 1.770 128.790¢ 603827B70
2035 8,595,000 5.000 1.810 128.377¢ 603827B88
2036 1,595,000 5.000 1.860 127.863¢ 603827B96
2037 1,675,000 5.000 1.900 127.454¢ 603827C20
2038 1,760,000 5.000 1.940 127.047¢ 603827C38
2039 1,850,000 5.000 1.980 126.640¢ 603827C46

$10,725,000 5.000% Subordinate Series 2019A Term Bonds due January 1, 2044;
Yield: 2.110%; Price: 125.331¢; CUSIP Number': 603827C53

$13,690,000 5.000% Subordinate Series 2019A Term Bonds due January 1, 2049;
Yield: 2.160%; Price: 124.832¢; CUSIP Number': 603827C61

! Copyright 2019, American Bankers Association. CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. The
CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services (“CGS”), which is managed on behalf of the American Bankers
Association by S&P Global Market Intelligence. The CUSIP numbers are not intended to create a database and do not serve in
any way as a substitute for the CGS database. CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated
with the Commission and are provided solely for convenience and reference. The CUSIP numbers for a specific maturity are
subject to change after the issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Neither the Commission nor the Underwriters take
responsibility for the accuracy of the CUSIP numbers.

€ Priced to the optional redemption date of July 1, 2029 at a redemption price of par.



$164,320,000
Minneapolis-St. Paul Metropolitan Airports Commission
Subordinate Airport Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds
Series 2019B
(Private Activity/AMT)

Maturity
Date Principal Interest CuSIP
(January 1) Amount Rate Yield Price Numbers!

2021 $18,075,000 5.000% 1.180% 104.703 603827C79
2022 8,675,000 5.000 1.220 108.341 603827C87
2023 6,840,000 5.000 1.270 111.817 603827C95
2024 3,310,000 5.000 1.330 115.094 603827D29
2025 3,100,000 5.000 1.390 118.195 603827D37
2026 3,245,000 5.000 1.470 120.985 603827D45
2027 3,415,000 5.000 1.540 123.629 603827D52
2028 3,165,000 5.000 1.630 125.896 603827D60
2029 3,210,000 5.000 1.720 127.920 603827D78
2030 3,360,000 5.000 1.790 128.583¢ 603827D86
2031 3,540,000 5.000 1.860 127.863€ 603827D9%4
2032 3,710,000 5.000 1.910 127.352€ 603827E28
2033 3,900,000 5.000 1.980 126.640° 603827E36
2034 4,090,000 5.000 2.030 126.135€ 603827E44
2035 4,295,000 5.000 2.070 125.732€ 603827E51
2036 4,505,000 5.000 2.110 125.331¢ 603827E69
2037 4,735,000 5.000 2.130 125.131€ 603827E77
2038 4,975,000 5.000 2.150 124.931¢ 603827E85
2039 5,230,000 5.000 2.180 124.633€ 603827E93

$30,295,000 5.000% Subordinate Series 2019B Term Bonds due January 1, 2044;
Yield: 2.290%; Price: 123.544¢; CUSIP Number': 603827F27

$38,650,000 5.000% Subordinate Series 2019B Term Bonds due January 1, 2049;
Yield: 2.340%; Price: 123.053¢; CUSIP Number': 603827F35

! Copyright 2019, American Bankers Association. CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. The
CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services (“CGS”), which is managed on behalf of the American Bankers
Association by S&P Global Market Intelligence. The CUSIP numbers are not intended to create a database and do not serve in
any way as a substitute for the CGS database. CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated
with the Commission and are provided solely for convenience and reference. The CUSIP numbers for a specific maturity are
subject to change after the issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Neither the Commission nor the Underwriters take
responsibility for the accuracy of the CUSIP numbers.

€ Priced to the optional redemption date of July 1, 2029 at a redemption price of par.
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$31,035,000
Minneapolis-St. Paul Metropolitan Airports Commission
Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds
Series 2019C
(Private Activity/Non-AMT)

Maturity

Date Principal Interest CuSIP

(January 1) Amount Rate Yield Price Numbers!
2021 $3,360,000 5.000% 1.050% 104.869 603827F43
2022 3,905,000 5.000 1.090 108.644 603827F50
2023 4,105,000 5.000 1.110 112.360 603827F68
2024 4,310,000 5.000 1.140 115.947 603827F76
2025 4,520,000 5.000 1.160 119.481 603827F84
2026 4,745,000 5.000 1.220 122.658 603827F92
2027 4,985,000 5.000 1.280 125.657 603827G26
2028 1,105,000 5.000 1.360 128.295 603827G34

! Copyright 2019, American Bankers Association. CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. The
CUSIP data herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services (“CGS”), which is managed on behalf of the American Bankers
Association by S&P Global Market Intelligence. The CUSIP numbers are not intended to create a database and do not serve in
any way as a substitute for the CGS database. CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated
with the Commission and are provided solely for convenience and reference. The CUSIP numbers for a specific maturity are
subject to change after the issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Neither the Commission nor the Underwriters take
responsibility for the accuracy of the CUSIP numbers.
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No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the Commission to give
any information or to make any representations other than as set forth herein and, if given or made, such
other information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the
Commission. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to
buy nor shall there be any sale of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds by a person in any jurisdiction in
which it is unlawful for such person to make such an offer, solicitation or sale.

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Subordinate
Series 2019 Bonds. Statements contained in this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or
matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so described herein, are intended solely as such and are not
to be construed as representations of facts. See “INTRODUCTION—Forward-Looking Statements”
herein.

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement.
The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part
of, their respective responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and
circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of
such information.

The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and
neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall under any circumstances
create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Commission since the date
hereof. This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds referred to herein and may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose.

THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON AN EXEMPTION CONTAINED
THEREIN, AND HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED OR QUALIFIED UNDER THE SECURITIES
LAWS OF ANY STATE. THE SUBORDINATE INDENTURE HAS NOT BEEN QUALIFIED
UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON AN
EXEMPTION CONTAINED THEREIN. THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS HAVE NOT
BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR
REGULATORY COMMISSION. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT
CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL
STATEMENT.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVERALLOT
OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE
SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE
PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING TRANSACTIONS, IF COMMENCED,
MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OFFER AND SELL THE
SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS TO CERTAIN DEALERS AND OTHERS AT YIELDS
HIGHER OR PRICES LOWER THAN THE PUBLIC OFFERING YIELDS AND/OR PRICES
STATED ON THE INSIDE COVER PAGES OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, AND SUCH
PUBLIC OFFERING YIELDS AND/OR PRICES MAY BE CHANGED FROM TIME TO TIME BY
THE UNDERWRITERS.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$291,970,000
MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL METROPOLITAN AIRPORTS COMMISSION
$96,615,000 $164,320,000 $31,035,000
Subordinate Airport Subordinate Airport Subordinate Airport
Revenue and Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds
Revenue Refunding Bonds Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2019C
Series 2019A Series 2019B (Private Activity/Non-AMT)
(Governmental/Non-AMT) (Private Activity/AMT)
INTRODUCTION
General

The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page, the inside cover pages, the
table of contents and the appendices, is to provide certain information concerning the sale and delivery by
the Metropolitan Airports Commission (the “Commission”) of its (a) $96,615,000 Minneapolis-St. Paul
Metropolitan Airports Commission Subordinate Airport Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series
2019A (the “Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds™), (b) $164,320,000 Minneapolis-St. Paul Metropolitan
Airports Commission Subordinate Airport Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B (the
“Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds”), and (c¢) $31,035,000 Minneapolis-St. Paul Metropolitan Airports
Commission Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019C (the “Subordinate Series
2019C Bonds,” and collectively with the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate Series
2019B Bonds, the “Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds”).

This Introduction is qualified in its entirety by reference to the more detailed information
included and referred to elsewhere in this Official Statement. The offering of the Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of the entire Official Statement. Capitalized terms
used in this Official Statement have the respective meanings given such terms in Appendix C-1
hereto.

The Commission

The Commission was created by an act of the Minnesota State Legislature in 1943 as a public
corporation. Its purpose is to promote air navigation and transportation (international, national and local)
in and through the State of Minnesota (the “State”), promote the efficient, safe and economic handling of
air commerce, assure the inclusion of the State in national and international programs of air
transportation, and to those ends develop the full potentialities of the Metropolitan Area (as defined
below) as an aviation center. The Commission exercises its jurisdiction over any place within 35 miles of
the city hall of the City of Minneapolis or the city hall of the City of St. Paul, and over the
Minneapolis-St. Paul Metropolitan Area (the “Metropolitan Area”), which includes the counties of
Anoka, Carver, Dakota, Hennepin, Ramsey, Scott and Washington. See “THE COMMISSION.”

Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport and the Airport System

The Commission owns and operates seven airports in the Metropolitan Area, including
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport (the “Airport” or “MSP”), which serves as the primary Air



Carrier (as defined below) facility, and six reliever airports which serve general aviation, including St.
Paul Downtown Airport, Flying Cloud Airport, Crystal Airport, Anoka County/Blaine Airport, Lake
Elmo Airport and Airlake Airport (collectively, the “Reliever Airports”). For purposes of this Official
Statement, “Air Carrier” will mean all major or national commercial airlines, regional or commuter
airlines and cargo carriers.

The Airport maintains four air-transport type runways, including two parallel northwest-southeast
runways, one north-south runway and one northeast-southwest cross-wind runway. Passenger terminal
facilities at the Airport are located in two separate buildings: Terminal 1 (“Terminal 1) and Terminal 2
(“Terminal 2”). According to United States Department of Transportation statistics, in calendar year
2018, the Airport was ranked as the 16" busiest airport in the country as measured by total number of
enplaned passengers. The Airport is classified by the Federal Aviation Administration (the “FAA™) as a
large hub airport (an airport that enplanes 1.0% or more of the total number of passenger boardings at all
commercial service airports in the United States). See “THE COMMISSION—The Airport System,” and
“MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT.”

Delta Air Lines

The Airport serves as a primary hub in the route system of Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”). Delta,
together with its affiliated Air Carriers (including, among others, Endeavor Air (“Endeavor”)), accounted
for approximately 71.4% of all passengers enplaned at the Airport in 2018. See “AGREEMENTS WITH
AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES—Airline Lease Agreements,” “AIRLINE AND
AIRLINE INDUSTRY INFORMATION—Delta” and “CERTAIN INVESTMENT
CONSIDERATIONS—Dominance of Delta at the Airport.”

Authority for Issuance

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Master Subordinate Trust
Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2000, as amended (the “Master Subordinate Indenture”), by and
between the Commission and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (successor by merger to Wells
Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association), as trustee (the “Subordinate Trustee”), and the Eighteenth
Supplemental Subordinate Trust Indenture, to be dated as of October 1, 2019 (the “Eighteenth
Supplemental Subordinate Indenture,” and collectively with the Master Subordinate Indenture and all
supplements thereto, the “Subordinate Indenture”), by and between the Commission and the Subordinate
Trustee.

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds have been authorized by Resolution No. 2338 adopted by the
Commission on August 19, 2019. The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are being issued under and in
accordance with Minnesota Statutes, Sections 473.601, et seq. (the “Act”).

Purpose of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds

Proceeds from the sale of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, along with certain other available
moneys, will be used to (a) finance certain capital improvements at the Airport, (b) refund and defease the
Refunded Bonds (as defined herein), (c) repay a portion of the outstanding Subordinate Revolving
Obligations (as defined herein), (d) make a deposit to the Subordinate Reserve Fund (as defined herein),
(e) fund capitalized interest on a portion of the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate
Series 2019B Bonds, and (f) pay the costs of issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.



See “PLAN OF FINANCE” and “APPENDIX A—REPORT OF THE AIRPORT
CONSULTANT” for additional information about the use of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds.

Security for the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds will be secured by a pledge of and lien on Subordinate
Revenues (which includes certain income and revenue received by the Commission from the operation of
the Airport System less all amounts which are required to be used to pay the Maintenance and Operation
Expenses of the Airport System (as defined herein) less all amounts required to pay debt service and
reserve and replenishment requirements on and relating to the Senior Parity Bonds (as defined herein)) on
parity with the outstanding Prior Subordinate Bonds (as defined herein), any Subordinate Revolving
Obligations (as defined herein) issued and/or incurred by the Commission, and any additional obligations
issued or incurred on parity with the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds under the terms and provisions of the
Master Subordinate Indenture (the “Additional Subordinate Obligations”). The Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds, the Prior Subordinate Bonds, the Subordinate Revolving Obligations and any Additional
Subordinate Obligations are collectively referred to in this Official Statement as “Subordinate
Obligations.” Subordinate Revenues are available for the equal and proportionate benefit of all
Subordinate Obligations, except for the timing of payment of such Subordinate Obligations. See
“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—
Flow of Funds,” “—Pledge of Subordinate Revenues” and “—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service” and
“OUTSTANDING OBLIGATIONS AND DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE—Subordinate Obligations.”

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are limited obligations of the Commission payable
solely from and secured by a pledge of (a) Subordinate Revenues, (b) certain funds and accounts
held by the Subordinate Trustee under the Subordinate Indenture, and (c) other amounts payable
under the Subordinate Indenture. The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are not general obligations
of the Commission. Neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Commission, the
City of Minneapolis, the City of St. Paul, the State or any political subdivision or public agency of
the State is pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds. None of the properties of the Airport System are subject to any mortgage or other lien for
the benefit of the owners of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

Outstanding Subordinate Obligations

Pursuant to the Master Subordinate Indenture and various Supplemental Subordinate Indentures,
the Commission has previously issued, and as of August 1, 2019, there was $652,760,000 aggregate
principal amount outstanding of its Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010C (the
“Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds”), Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010D (the
“Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds”), Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2011A (the
“Subordinate Series 2011A Bonds”), Subordinate Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2012A (the
“Subordinate Series 2012A Bonds”), Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2012B (the
“Subordinate Series 2012B Bonds”), Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2014A (the
“Subordinate Series 2014A Bonds”), Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2014B (the
“Subordinate Series 2014B Bonds”), Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016B (the
“Subordinate Series 2016B Bonds”), Subordinate Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2016D (the
“Subordinate Series 2016D Bonds”), and Subordinate Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2016E (the
“Subordinate Series 2016E Bonds,” and collectively with the Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds, the
Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds, the Subordinate Series 2011A Bonds, the Subordinate Series 2012A
Bonds, the Subordinate Series 2012B Bonds, the Subordinate Series 2014A Bonds, the Subordinate
Series 2014B Bonds, the Subordinate Series 2016B Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2016D Bonds, the



“Prior Subordinate Bonds™). A portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, along with
certain other available moneys, will be used to refund and defease all of the Subordinate Series 2010C
Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds.

Additionally, pursuant to the Master Subordinate Indenture, the Seventeenth Supplemental
Subordinate Trust Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2017 (the “Seventeenth Supplemental Subordinate
Indenture”), by and between the Commission and the Subordinate Trustee, and the Credit Agreement,
dated as of October 1, 2017, as amended (the “Subordinate Revolving Obligations Credit Agreement”),
by and between the Commission and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (the “Subordinate
Revolving Obligations Bank™), the Commission is authorized to issue and have outstanding, from time to
time, up to $150,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of its Minneapolis-St. Paul Metropolitan Airports
Commission Subordinate Airport Revenue Revolving Obligations (collectively, the “Subordinate
Revolving Obligations”). As of August 1, 2019, the Commission had $71,030,500 aggregate principal
amount of Subordinate Revolving Obligations outstanding. All Subordinate Revolving Obligations
issued by the Commission are purchased by the Subordinate Revolving Obligations Bank in accordance
with the terms of the Subordinate Revolving Obligations Credit Agreement. On October 4, 2019, the
Commission expects to repay $20,650,000 of the Subordinate Revolving Obligations with a portion of the
proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds and certain other available moneys of the Commission.

Senior Parity Bonds

Pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, dated as of June 1, 1998, as amended (the “Master Senior
Indenture”), by and between the Commission and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (successor by
merger to Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association, formerly known as Norwest Bank
Minnesota, National Association), as trustee (the “Senior Trustee”), and various Supplemental Senior
Indentures (collectively with the Master Senior Indenture, the “Senior Indenture”), the Commission has
previously issued, and as of August 1, 2019, there was $680,695,000 aggregate principal amount
outstanding of its Senior Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009A (the “Senior Series 2009A
Bonds”), Senior Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2009B (the “Senior Series 2009B Bonds™),
Senior Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2010A (the “Senior Series 2010A Bonds”), Senior Airport
Revenue Bonds, Series 2010B (the “Senior Series 2010B Bonds”), Senior Airport Revenue Refunding
Bonds, Series 2016A (the “Senior Series 2016A Bonds™), and Senior Airport Revenue Bonds, Series
2016C (the “Senior Series 2016C Bonds,” and collectively with the Senior Series 2009A Bonds, the
Senior Series 2009B Bonds, the Senior Series 2010A Bonds, the Senior Series 2010B Bonds and the
Senior Series 2016A Bonds, the “Prior Senior Bonds”). A portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate
Series 2019 Bonds, along with certain other available moneys, will be used to refund and defease all of
the Senior Series 2009A Bonds, the Senior Series 2009B Bonds, the Senior Series 2010A Bonds and the
Senior Series 2010B Bonds.

The Prior Senior Bonds are secured by a pledge of and lien on Net Revenues (as defined herein)
on a parity with any additional bonds issued on a parity with the Prior Senior Bonds under the terms and
provisions of the Master Senior Indenture (the “Additional Senior Bonds”), any general obligation
revenue bonds issued pursuant to Section 473.667 of the Act that are issued on a parity with respect to
Net Revenues (the “General Obligation Revenue Bonds™), and any other obligations issued on a parity
with respect to Net Revenues pursuant to the terms of laws enacted by the Minnesota State Legislature
and the Master Senior Indenture. For purposes of this Official Statement, “Senior Bonds” means the
Prior Senior Bonds and any Additional Senior Bonds. The Senior Bonds, any General Obligation
Revenue Bonds issued on a parity with respect to Net Revenues, and any other obligations issued on a
parity with respect to Net Revenues pursuant to the terms of laws enacted by the Minnesota State
Legislature and the Master Senior Indenture are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Senior Parity
Bonds.” As of the date of this Official Statement, the only Senior Parity Bonds the Commission has



outstanding are the Prior Senior Bonds. “Net Revenues” include certain income and revenue received by
the Commission from the operation of the Airport System less all amounts which are required to be used
to pay the Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the Airport System. Net Revenues are available for
the equal and proportionate benefit of all Senior Parity Bonds. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Flow of Funds” and “—Use of PFCs
to Pay Debt Service” and “OUTSTANDING OBLIGATIONS AND DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE—
Prior Senior Bonds.”

As described in more detail under the caption “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT
FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—General Obligation Revenue Bonds,” pursuant to
Section 473.667 of the Act, the Commission is authorized to issue up to $55,051,875 of General
Obligation Revenue Bonds without additional statutory authorization and without having to meet the
requirements of the additional bonds test set forth in the Master Senior Indenture. As of the date of this
Official Statement, the Commission has no General Obligation Revenue Bonds outstanding, and has no
plans to issue any of the authorized $55,051,875 of General Obligation Revenue Bonds.

Agreements with Airlines and Other Concessionaires

As of July 1, 2019, 39 Air Carriers were operating at the Airport, including Delta and its affiliated
Air Carriers. Thirty-six of the Air Carriers operate at the Airport pursuant to the provisions of the Airline
Lease Agreement (as defined below). In addition to covering the lease of certain portions of the
passenger terminal complex, including the apron, the Airline Lease Agreements cover the use of and
charging mechanisms for the airfield facilities. The rates and charges under the Airline Lease
Agreements are calculated based on a compensatory rate-setting methodology for the passenger terminal
complex and a cost-center residual rate-setting methodology for the airfield.

In January 2019, the Commission and the Air Carriers operating at the Airport agreed to a new
Airline Operating Agreement and Terminal Building Lease — Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport,
as amended (collectively, the “Airline Lease Agreements”). The terms and provisions of the new Airline
Lease Agreements are very similar to the terms of the previous airline lease agreements, except for certain
provisions, including among others, the term of the new Airline Lease Agreements is December 31, 2023
or December 31, 2030 (each Air Carrier can select which term they want), and the formula for the
calculation of the sharing of certain concession revenues was amended. Ten of the Air Carriers operating
at the Airport, including Delta have executed or are expected to execute an Airline Lease Agreement that
has an expiration date of December 31, 2030; and 26 Air Carriers operating at the Airport have executed
or are expected to execute an Airline Lease Agreement that has an expiration date of December 31, 2023.
Pending the execution of a new Airline Lease Agreement, the applicable Air Carrier operates at the
Airport pursuant to the terms of the new Airline Lease Agreement. The Commission expects three of the
Air Carriers operating at the Airport will not enter into an Airline Lease Agreement and will instead
operate at the Airport pursuant to an ordinance adopted by the Commission that sets landing fees and
terminal rentals for Air Carriers that are not a signatory to an Airline Lease Agreement. For purposes of
this Official Statement, except as otherwise provided herein, those Air Carriers that have signed an
Airline Lease Agreement are referred to herein as “Signatory Airlines.” See “AGREEMENTS WITH
AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES—Airline Lease Agreements” and “APPENDIX D—
FORM OF AIRLINE LEASE AGREEMENT.”

The Commission also has entered numerous other agreements with various parties regarding the
lease of space and the sale of goods and services in connection with certain activities at the Airport,
including, but not limited to, concessions, parking and rental cars. See “AGREEMENTS WITH
AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES.”



Capital Improvement Program

The Commission has an ongoing capital improvement program (“CIP”) at the Airport and the
Reliever Airports, which includes, among other projects, end of life/replacement projects, information
technology projects, long-term comprehensive plan projects, maintenance/facility upgrade projects,
ongoing maintenance projects and tenant specific projects. Many of the projects in the CIP include one or
more distinct phases, each of which will be started and completed at different times. Each year, the
Commission adopts a CIP consisting of the distinct phases of various projects that will be started during
the next two years. On December 17, 2018, the Commission approved a two-year CIP (the “2019-20
CIP”) that includes certain project phases, the construction of which will begin during calendar years
2019 and 2020. The 2019-20 CIP, as amended, has a total cost of approximately $643 million.

For longer range funding and planning decisions, in addition to the two-year CIP, the
Commission adopts a CIP that covers an additional five-year period. On December 17, 2018, the
Commission adopted a CIP for the five-year period between 2021 and 2025 (the “2021-25 CIP”). The
2021-25 CIP includes approximately $557 million of project phases that are expected to be started during
calendar years 2021 through 2025.

The Commission plans to finance the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP with (i) proceeds of the
Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds (approximately $178 million),
(i1) proceeds of the previously issued Subordinate Series 2016C Bonds, Subordinate Series 2016D Bonds
and Subordinate Series 2016E Bonds (approximately $38 million), (iii) proceeds of Additional Senior
Bonds and/or Additional Subordinate Obligations to be issued in the future (approximately $100 million),
(iv) passenger facility charges (approximately $300 million, on a pay-as-you-go basis), (v) federal and
State grants (approximately $126 million), and (vi) other available moneys of the Commission
(approximately $458 million). See “PLAN OF FINANCE,” “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM”
and “APPENDIX A—REPORT OF THE AIRPORT CONSULTANT” for additional information on the
2019-20 CIP, the 2021-25 CIP and their expected funding sources.

Report of the Airport Consultant

Included as Appendix A to this Official Statement is the Report of the Airport Consultant, dated
August 20, 2019 (the “Report of the Airport Consultant”) prepared by Landrum & Brown, Incorporated
(the “Airport Consultant”), which, among other things, provides information concerning the Airport
System, describes the Commission’s capital improvement program, forecasts future levels of airline
activity at and revenues of the Airport System and forecasts future debt service coverage levels. The
Report of the Airport Consultant should be read in its entirety for an understanding of the assumptions
and rationale underlying the airline activity and financial forecasts contained therein. The Report of the
Airport Consultant does not reflect the final terms of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds or the refunding
and defeasance of the Refunded Bonds and the debt service savings associated with such refunding. See
“REPORT OF THE AIRPORT CONSULTANT,” “CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS—
Assumptions in the Report of the Airport Consultant” and “APPENDIX A—REPORT OF THE
AIRPORT CONSULTANT.”

Continuing Disclosure

The Commission will covenant for the benefit of the Owners and Beneficial Owners of the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds to provide, or cause to be provided, annually certain financial information
and operating data concerning the Commission and the Airport and certain other obligated persons,
including Delta, and to provide, or cause to be provided, notices of certain enumerated events, to assist
the Underwriters (as defined herein) in complying with Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5)(i) of the Securities and



Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and “APPENDIX F—FORM
OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE.”

Forward-Looking Statements

This Official Statement, including the appendices hereto, contains statements relating to future
results that are forward-looking statements. When used in this Official Statement, the words “estimate,”
“anticipate,” “forecast,” “project,” “intend,” “propose,” “plan,” “expect” and similar expressions identify
forward-looking statements. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those contemplated in such forward-looking statements. Any forecast is
subject to such uncertainties. Inevitably, some assumptions used to develop the forecasts will not be
realized and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. Therefore, there are likely to be
differences between forecasts and actual results, and those differences may be material. See “CERTAIN
INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS—Forward-Looking Statements.”
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Additional Information

Brief descriptions of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, the Senior Indenture, the Subordinate
Indenture, the Airline Lease Agreements and certain other documents are included in this Official
Statement and the appendices hereto. Such descriptions do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive.
All references herein to such documents and any other documents, statutes, reports or other instruments
described herein are qualified in their entirety by reference to each such document, statute, report or other
instrument. Information contained herein has been obtained from officers, employees and records of the
Commission and from other sources believed to be reliable. The information herein is subject to change
without notice, and the delivery of this Official Statement will under no circumstances, create any
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Commission since the date hereof. This
Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the Commission or the
Underwriters and the purchasers or Owners of any of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

The Commission maintains certain websites, the information on which is not part of this Official
Statement, has not and is not incorporated by reference herein and should not be relied upon in deciding
whether to invest in the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

PLAN OF FINANCE

Proceeds from the sale of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, along with certain other available
moneys of the Commission, will be used to (a) finance the design, construction, improvement and
equipping of the Series 2019 Projects (as described below), (b) refund and defease the Refunded Bonds,
(c) repay a portion of the outstanding Subordinate Revolving Obligations, (d) make a deposit to the
Subordinate Reserve Fund, (e) fund capitalized interest on a portion of the Subordinate Series 2019A
Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds, and (f) pay the costs of issuance of the Subordinate
Series 2019 Bonds.

Financing of Series 2019 Projects; Repayment of Subordinate Revolving Obligations

A portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds will be used to finance the
design, construction, improvement and equipping of certain projects at the Airport, including the
construction of a new Safety and Security Center (collectively, the “Series 2019A Projects”). A portion
of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds will be used to finance the design, construction,
improvement and equipping of certain projects at the Airport, including baggage claim and ticket lobby
improvements, Federal Inspection Services recheck operational improvements, the Concourse G Delta



Sky Club, G Concourse moving walkways, and South Security Exit and Terminal Improvements
(collectively, the “Series 2019B Projects,” and together with the Series 2019A Projects, the “Series 2019
Projects”). See “APPENDIX A—REPORT OF THE AIRPORT CONSULTANT—3.9.2 The Series
2019 Projects” for a description of the Series 2019 Projects.

On October 4, 2019, the Commission expects to repay $20,650,000 of the Subordinate Revolving
Obligations with a portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds and certain other
available moneys of the Commission. The Subordinate Revolving Obligations previously financed
certain projects at the Airport.

Refunding of Refunded Bonds

A portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, along with certain other
available moneys of the Commission will be used to (a) current refund and defease all of the outstanding
Senior Series 2009A Bonds (the “Refunded Senior Series 2009A Bonds”), which are currently
outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $5,125,000 (the Refunded Senior Series 2009A Bonds
are described in more detail in the table below), (b) current refund and defease all of the outstanding
Senior Series 2009B Bonds (the “Refunded Senior Series 2009B Bonds”), which are currently
outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $31,955,000 (the Refunded Senior Series 2009B Bonds
are described in more detail in the table below), (c) current refund and defease all of the outstanding
Senior Series 2010A Bonds (the “Refunded Senior Series 2010A Bonds”), which are currently
outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $62,210,000 (the Refunded Senior Series 2010A Bonds
are described in more detail in the table below), (d) current refund and defease all of the outstanding
Senior Series 2010B Bonds (the “Refunded Senior Series 2010B Bonds”), which are currently
outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $47,115,000 (the Refunded Senior Series 2010B Bonds
are described in more detail in the table below), (e) current refund and defease all of the outstanding
Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds (the “Refunded Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds”), which are currently
outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $3,115,000 (the Refunded Subordinate Series 2010C
Bonds are described in more detail in the table below), and (f) current refund and defease all of the
outstanding Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds (the “Refunded Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds,” and
collectively with the Refunded Senior Series 2009A Bonds, the Refunded Senior Series 2009B Bonds, the
Refunded Senior Series 2010A Bonds, the Refunded Senior Series 2010B Bonds and the Refunded
Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds, the “Refunded Bonds”), which are currently outstanding in the
aggregate principal amount of $22,205,000 (the Refunded Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds are described
in more detail in the table below).

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]



Maturity Payment/
Date Principal CUSIP Redemption Redemption

Series (January 1) Amount Number? Date Price
2009A 2020 $ 2,400,000 603827RJ7 October 4, 2019 100%
2009A 2021 2,520,000 603827RK4 October 4, 2019 100
2009A 2022 205,000 603827RL2 October 4, 2019 100
2009B 2020 2,000,000 603827RW8 October 4, 2019 100
2009B 2020 11,725,000 603827RX6 October 4, 2019 100
2009B 2022 18,230,000 603827RY4 October 4, 2019 100
2010A 2028 1,460,000 603827SB3 January 1, 2020 100
2010A 2028 3,090,000 603827SF4 January 1, 2020 100
2010A 2029 2,000,000 603827SC1 January 1, 2020 100
2010A 2029 5,155,000 603827SG2 January 1, 2020 100
2010A 2030 2,325,000 603827SD9 January 1, 2020 100
2010A 2030 5,135,000 603827SHO January 1, 2020 100
2010A 2035 43,045,000 603827SE7 January 1, 2020 100
2010B 2020 4,690,000 603827SP2 January 1, 2020 N/A
2010B 2021 4,925,000 603827SQ0 January 1, 2020 100
2010B 2022 5,175,000 603827SR8 January 1, 2020 100
2010B 2023 5,430,000 603827SS6 January 1, 2020 100
2010B 2024 5,705,000 603827ST4 January 1, 2020 100
2010B 2025 5,990,000 603827SU1 January 1, 2020 100
2010B 2026 6,285,000 603827SV9 January 1, 2020 100
2010B 2027 6,600,000 603827SW7 January 1, 2020 100
2010B 2028 2,315,000 603827SX5 January 1, 2020 100
2010C 2020 715,000 603827TM8 January 1, 2020 N/A
2010C 2021 750,000 603827TN6 January 1, 2020 100
2010C 2022 785,000 603827TP1 January 1, 2020 100
2010C 2023 810,000 603827TQ9 January 1, 2020 100
2010C 2024 55,000 603827TR7 January 1, 2020 100
2010D 2020 4,920,000 603827UA2 January 1, 2020 N/A
2010D 2021 5,165,000 603827UBO0O January 1, 2020 100
2010D 2022 5,420,000 603827UC8 January 1, 2020 100
2010D 2023 5,690,000 603827UD6 January 1, 2020 100
2010D 2024 1,010,000 603827UE4 January 1, 2020 100

' CUSIP numbers are provided only for the convenience of the reader. Neither the Commission nor the Underwriters undertake
any responsibility for the accuracy of such CUSIP numbers or for any changes or errors in the list of CUSIP numbers.

A portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, together with certain available
moneys of the Commission, will be deposited into (a) redemption accounts with respect to the Refunded
Senior Series 2009A Bonds and the Refunded Senior Series 2009B Bonds (the “Senior Series 2009
Redemption Accounts”) established pursuant to the Seventh Supplemental Senior Indenture, and
(b) separate escrow funds for the Refunded Senior Series 2010A Bonds, the Refunded Senior Series
2010B Bonds, the Refunded Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds and the Refunded Subordinate Series
2010D Bonds (the “Escrow Funds”) to be established under the terms of separate escrow agreements to



be entered into by the Commission and the Senior Trustee or the Subordinate Trustee, as the case may be.
Amounts deposited into the Senior Series 2009 Redemption Accounts will be held uninvested in cash and
will be used on October 4, 2019 to pay the redemption price of and interest on the Refunded Senior Series
2009A Bonds and the Refunded Senior Series 2009B Bonds. Certain amounts deposited into the Escrow
Funds will be invested in direct, noncallable obligations of the United States Treasury and all remaining
amounts deposited into the Escrow Funds will be held uninvested in cash. Amounts on deposit in the
Escrow Funds will be used on January 1, 2020 to pay the principal or redemption price of and interest on
the Refunded Senior Series 2010A Bonds, the Refunded Senior Series 2010B Bonds, the Refunded
Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds and the Refunded Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds.

Upon delivery of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, Robert Thomas CPA, LLC, certified public
accountants (the “Verification Agent”), will deliver a report stating that it has verified the mathematical
accuracy of the computations contained in the schedules provided by Samuel A. Ramirez & Co., Inc. to
determine that the amounts to be held in the Senior Series 2009 Redemption Accounts and the Escrow
Funds will be sufficient to pay the principal and redemption price of and interest on the Refunded Bonds
on October 4, 2019 and January 1, 2020, as applicable. See “VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL
COMPUTATIONS.”

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Estimated Sources and Uses of Funds

The following table sets forth the estimated sources and uses of funds in connection with the
issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds and the plan of finance described above.

Subordinate Subordinate Subordinate
Series 2019A Series 2019B Series 2019C
Bonds Bonds Bonds Total!
Sources
Par Amount $ 96,615,000 $164,320,000 $31,035,000 $291,970,000
Original Issue Premium 25,815,437 33,726,268 5,243,165 64,784,870
Other Available Moneys? 8,970,313 24,068,252 8.129.091 41,167,656
Total Sources! $131.,400,750 $222.,114,520 $44,407,256 $397,922,526
Uses
Deposit to Subordinate Series 2019A/B Construction
Funds® $ 51,000,000 $125,357,991 $ - $176,357,991
Deposit to Redemption Accounts and Escrow Funds 71,740,235 59,373,502 43,617,965 174,731,701
Repayment of Subordinate Revolving Obligations* - 20,650,000 - 20,650,000
Deposit to Subordinate Series 2019A Interest
Account’ 5,966,267 - - 5,966,267
Deposit to Subordinate Series 2019B Interest
Account® - 12,369,550 - 12,369,550
Deposit to Subordinate Reserve Fund 2,076,522 3,359,030 615,308 6,050,860
Costs of Issuance’ 617,727 1,004,447 173,982 1,796,156
Total Uses' $131.400,750 $222.114,520 $44.,407,256 $397.922,526

! Totals may not sum due to rounding.

2 Includes (i) a release of funds from the debt service funds for the Refunded Bonds and the Senior Reserve Fund and (ii) a contribution of

available moneys from the Commission.

3 To be used to pay a portion of the costs of the Series 2019 Projects.

4 On October 4, 2019, the Commission expects to repay $20,650,000 of the Subordinate Revolving Obligations with a portion of the proceeds of
the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds and certain other available moneys of the Commission.

5 Represents a portion of the interest accruing on a portion of the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds through January 1, 2023.

¢ Represents a portion of the interest accruing on a portion of the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds through July 1, 2023.

7 Includes Underwriters’ discount, legal fees, Municipal Advisory fees, Verification Agent fees, rating agency fees and other costs of issuance.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS

General

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds will bear interest at the rates and mature on the dates set forth

on the inside front cover pages of this Official Statement. Interest will be calculated on the basis of a
360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds will be dated their
initial date of delivery, and will bear interest from that date payable semi-annually on January 1 and
July 1 of each year, commencing July 1, 2020 (each an “Interest Payment Date”). Interest due and
payable on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds on any Interest Payment Date will be paid to the person
who is the registered owner as of the Record Date (The Depository Trust Company, New York, New
York (“DTC”), so long as the book-entry system with DTC is in effect). Each Subordinate Series 2019
Bond will bear interest from the Interest Payment Date next preceding the date of authentication thereof
unless such date of authentication is an Interest Payment Date, in which event such Subordinate Series
2019 Bond will bear interest from such date of authentication, or unless such date of authentication is
after a Record Date and before the next succeeding Interest Payment Date, in which event such
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Subordinate Series 2019 Bond will bear interest from such succeeding Interest Payment Date, or unless
such date of authentication is on or before June 15, 2020, in which event such Subordinate Series 2019
Bond will bear interest from its date of delivery. If interest on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds is in
default, Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds issued in exchange for Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds
surrendered for transfer or exchange will bear interest from the last Interest Payment Date to which
interest has been paid in full on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds surrendered.

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds will be issued in denominations of $5,000 and integral
multiples thereof. The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds will be issued in fully registered form and will be
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and nominee of DTC. DTC will act as
securities depository for the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Individual purchases may be made in
book-entry form only. Purchasers will not receive certificates representing their interest in the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds purchased. So long as Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, is the registered
owner of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, references herein to the Bondholders or registered owners
means Cede & Co. and does not mean the Beneficial Owners of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, the
principal of and interest on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds will be payable by wire transfer by the
Subordinate Trustee to Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, which is required, in turn, to remit such
amounts to the DTC participants for subsequent disbursement to the Beneficial Owners. See
“APPENDIX G—BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM.”

Redemption of Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds
Optional Redemption.

Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds. The Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds maturing on or before
January 1, 2029 are not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity. The Subordinate Series 2019A
Bonds maturing on or after January 1, 2030 are redeemable at the option of the Commission on or after
July 1, 2029, in whole or in part at any time, from any moneys that may be provided for such purpose and
at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds to be
redeemed plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, without premium.

Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds. The Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds maturing on or before
January 1, 2029 are not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity. The Subordinate Series 2019B
Bonds maturing on or after January 1, 2030 are redeemable at the option of the Commission on or after
Julyl, 2029, in whole or in part at any time, from any moneys that may be provided for such purpose and
at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds to be
redeemed plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, without premium.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds maturing on
January 1, 2044 (the “Subordinate Series 2019A Term Bonds (2044)”) are subject to mandatory sinking
fund redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued
interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without premium, on January 1 of the following years
and in the following principal amounts:

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

12



Redemption

Date Principal
(January 1) Amount
2040 $1,940,000
2041 2,040,000
2042 2,140,000
2043 2,245,000
2044" 2,360,000

* Final Maturity.

The Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds maturing on January 1, 2049 (the “Subordinate Series
2019A Term Bonds (2049)”) are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for
redemption, without premium, on January 1 of the following years and in the following principal
amounts:

Redemption
Date Principal

(January 1) Amount
2045 $2,480,000
2046 2,600,000
2047 2,730,000
2048 2,870,000
2049" 3,010,000

* Final Maturity.

The Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds maturing on January 1, 2044 (the “Subordinate Series
2019B Term Bonds (2044)”) are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for
redemption, without premium, on January 1 of the following years and in the following principal
amounts:

Redemption
Date Principal

(January 1) Amount
2040 $5,485,000
2041 5,760,000
2042 6,045,000
2043 6,340,000
2044" 6,665,000

* Final Maturity.

The Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds maturing on January 1, 2049 (the “Subordinate Series
2019B Term Bonds (2049),” and collectively with the Subordinate Series 2019A Term Bonds (2044), the
Subordinate Series 2019A Term Bonds (2049) and the Subordinate Series 2019B Term Bonds (2044), the
“Subordinate Series 2019A/B Term Bonds™) are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued interest thereon to the date
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fixed for redemption, without premium, on January 1 of the following years and in the following principal
amounts:

Redemption
Date Principal

(January 1) Amount
2045 $6,995,000
2046 7,345,000
2047 7,710,000
2048 8,095,000
2049" 8,505,000

* Final Maturity.

At the option of the Commission, to be exercised by delivery of a written certificate to the
Subordinate Trustee, on or before the 60" day next preceding any mandatory sinking fund redemption
date for the applicable Subordinate Series 2019A/B Term Bonds, it may (a) deliver to the Subordinate
Trustee for cancellation Subordinate Series 2019A/B Term Bonds, as applicable, or portions thereof (in
Authorized Denominations) purchased in the open market or otherwise acquired by the Commission or
(b) specify a principal amount of such Subordinate Series 2019A/B Term Bonds, as applicable, or
portions thereof (in Authorized Denominations) which prior to said date have been optionally redeemed
and previously cancelled by the Subordinate Trustee at the request of the Commission and not theretofore
applied as a credit against any mandatory sinking fund redemption requirement. The Subordinate Series
2019A/B Term Bonds or portion thereof so purchased or otherwise acquired or redeemed and delivered to
the Subordinate Trustee for cancellation will be credited by the Subordinate Trustee at 100% of the
principal amount thereof against the obligation of the Commission to pay the principal of such applicable
Subordinate Series 2019A/B Term Bonds on such mandatory sinking fund redemption date.

Notices of Redemption to Bondholders; Conditional Notice of Optional Redemption. The
Subordinate Trustee will give notice of redemption, in the name of the Commission, to Bondholders
affected by redemption (or DTC, so long as the book-entry system with DTC is in effect) at least 30 days
but not more than 60 days before each redemption date and send such notice of redemption by first class
mail (or with respect to Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds
(collectively, the “Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds”) held by DTC, either via electronic means or by
an express delivery service for delivery on the next following Business Day) to each applicable owner of
a Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bond to be redeemed; each such notice will be sent to the owner’s
registered address.

Each notice of redemption will specify the Series, maturity date, interest rate and CUSIP number
of each Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bond to be redeemed (if less than all Subordinate Series 2019A/B
Bonds of a Series and maturity date are called for redemption, the numbers assigned to the Subordinate
Series 2019A/B Bonds to be redeemed), the principal amount to be redeemed, the date fixed for
redemption, the redemption price (or the formula that will be used to calculate the redemption price on the
redemption date, provided a supplemental notice of redemption is delivered prior to the redemption date
setting forth the actual redemption price), the place or places of payment, the Subordinate Trustee’s name,
that payment will be made upon presentation and surrender of the Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds to
be redeemed, that interest, if any, accrued to the date fixed for redemption and not paid will be paid as
specified in said notice, and that on and after said date interest thereon will cease to accrue.

Failure to give any required notice of redemption as to any particular Subordinate Series 2019A/B
Bond will not affect the validity of the call for redemption of any Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bond in
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respect of which no failure occurs. Any notice sent as provided in the Subordinate Indenture will be
conclusively presumed to have been given whether or not actually received by the addressee. When
notice of redemption is given, Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds called for redemption become due and
payable on the date fixed for redemption at the applicable redemption price. In the event that funds are
deposited with the Subordinate Trustee sufficient for redemption, interest on the applicable Subordinate
Series 2019A/B Bonds to be redeemed will cease to accrue on and after the date fixed for redemption.

Upon surrender of a Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bond to be redeemed, in part only, the
Subordinate Trustee will authenticate for the holder a new Subordinate Series 2019A Bond(s) or
Subordinate Series 2019B Bond(s), as applicable, of the same Series, maturity and interest rate equal in
principal amount to the unredeemed portion of the applicable Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bond
surrendered.

The Commission may provide that if at the time of mailing of notice of an optional redemption
there has not been deposited with the Subordinate Trustee moneys sufficient to redeem all the applicable
Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds called for redemption, such notice may state that it is conditional and
subject to the deposit of the redemption moneys with the Subordinate Trustee not later than the opening
of business one Business Day prior to the scheduled redemption date, and such notice will be of no effect
unless such moneys are so deposited. In the event sufficient moneys are not on deposit on the required
date, then the redemption will be cancelled and on such cancellation date notice of such cancellation will
be mailed to the holders of such applicable Series of Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds.

Effect of Redemption. On the date so designated for redemption, notice having been given in the
manner and under the conditions provided in the Subordinate Indenture and as described above and
sufficient moneys for payment of the redemption price being held in trust to pay the redemption price,
interest on such applicable Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds will cease to accrue from and after such
redemption date, such Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds will cease to be entitled to any lien, benefit or
security under the Subordinate Indenture and the owners of such Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds will
have no rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the redemption price. Subordinate Series
2019A/B Bonds which have been duly called for redemption and for the payment of the redemption price
of which moneys will be held in trust for the holders of the respective Subordinate Series 2019A/B Bonds
to be redeemed, all as provided in the Subordinate Indenture will not be deemed to be Outstanding under
the provisions of the Subordinate Indenture.

Selection of Series 2019A4/B Bonds for Redemption; Series 20194/B Bonds Redeemed in Part.
Redemption of the Series 2019A/B Bonds will only be in Authorized Denominations. The Series
2019A/B Bonds are subject to redemption in such order of maturity within a Series (except mandatory
sinking fund payments on the Series 2019A/B Term Bonds) as the Commission may direct and randomly,
within such maturity of such Series, in such manner as the Subordinate Trustee deems fair and
appropriate (or DTC, as long as DTC is the securities depository for the Series 2019A/B Bonds).

Except as otherwise provided under the procedures of DTC, on or before the 45" day prior to any
mandatory sinking fund redemption date, the Subordinate Trustee will proceed to select for redemption
(randomly in such manner as the Subordinate Trustee in its discretion deems fair and appropriate), from
all Subordinate Series 2019A/B Term Bonds, as applicable, subject to such redemption, an aggregate
principal amount of such Subordinate Series 2019A/B Term Bonds, as applicable, equal to the amount for
such year as set forth in the table under “Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption” above and will call such
Subordinate Series 2019A/B Term Bonds, as applicable, or portions thereof (in Authorized
Denominations) for redemption and give notice of such call.
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No Redemption of Subordinate Series 2019C Bonds
The Subordinate Series 2019C Bonds will not be subject to redemption prior to maturity.
SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS
Flow of Funds

The application of revenues of the Commission is governed by relevant provisions of the Act,
internal guidelines of the Commission and applicable provisions of the Master Senior Indenture and the
Master Subordinate Indenture.

Pursuant to the internal guidelines of the Commission, all income and revenue from the operation
of the Airport System, of whatever kind or nature, and all net income from leases or any other source of
income or revenue, are deposited in a special fund established and administered by the Commission and
designated as the “Operating Fund.” These moneys are held separate and apart from all other moneys of
the Commission.

Pursuant to the Act and the Master Senior Indenture, all Revenues in the Operating Fund are set
aside for the payment of the following amounts or transferred to the following funds and accounts in the
order listed:

(2) Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the Airport System. A sufficient
amount of Revenues will be set aside from time to time in the Operating Fund to be used to pay
the current Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the Airport System.

(b) Commission Debt Service Fund for General Obligation Revenue Bonds (current
principal and interest portion) and Senior Debt Service Funds. A sufficient amount of Revenues
will be transferred by the Commission, without priority and on an equal basis, except as to timing
of payment, (i) on or before October 10 of each Fiscal Year to the Commission Debt Service
Fund to satisfy the Commission’s obligation to have on deposit in such fund an amount equal to
the principal and interest required to be paid in the following Fiscal Year on the outstanding
General Obligation Revenue Bonds; and (ii) to the Senior Trustee in the amounts, at the times and
in the manner provided for in the Senior Indenture, to provide for the payment of principal and
interest to become due on the Outstanding Senior Bonds.

(©) Commission Debt Service Fund for General Obligation Revenue Bonds (reserve
portion) and Senior Debt Service Reserve Funds. A sufficient amount of Revenues will be
transferred by the Commission, without priority and on an equal basis, except as to timing of
payment, (i) on or before October 10 of each Fiscal Year to the Commission Debt Service Fund
to satisfy the Commission’s obligation to have on deposit in such fund a reserve sufficient to pay
the debt service on its General Obligation Revenue Bonds required to be paid in the second
following Fiscal Year; and (ii) to the Senior Trustee for deposit into the respective debt service
reserve funds established pursuant to the Senior Indenture, if any, such amounts as required to be
used to pay or replenish such debt service reserve funds or reimburse a Credit Provider of a Debt
Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy.

(d) Reimbursement of Commission Debt Service Fund Deficiencies (Repay Property
Taxes Used for General Obligation Revenue Bonds Debt Service). If a Commission Debt Service
Fund deficiency tax with respect to the General Obligation Revenue Bonds has been certified in
accordance with the Act, a sufficient amount of Revenues will be set aside in the Operating Fund
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to make payments of principal and interest to the treasurer of each county which extended a
deficiency tax on its tax rolls to make up the deficiency in the Commission Debt Service Fund.

(e) Subordinate Obligation Debt Service. To the Subordinate Trustee such amounts
and, at such times, as are sufficient to pay the debt service on any indebtedness, including
Subordinate Obligations, issued pursuant to the terms of the Subordinate Indenture.

H Subordinate Obligation Debt Service Reserve Funds. To the Subordinate Trustee
for deposit into the respective debt service reserve funds established pursuant to the Subordinate
Indenture, if any, such amounts as required to be used to pay or replenish such debt service
reserve funds or reimburse a Credit Provider of a Debt Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy.

(2) Maintenance and Operation Reserve Account. To the payment of the amount
established by the Commission as the minimum amount (currently equal to six months of
maintenance and operation expenses) required to be deposited in the Maintenance and Operation
Reserve Account (such account to be established within the Operating Fund).

(h) Commission Construction Fund. To the Commission Construction Fund (such is
fund held and administered by the Commission), such amounts, if any, as the Commission may
determine in its discretion to be used in any manner provided by the Commission. Pursuant to the
Airline Lease Agreements, the Commission has established the Repair and Replacement Account
in the Commission Construction Fund.

(i) Health Self-Insurance Trust Fund. To the Health Self-Insurance Trust Fund
(such fund is held and administered by the Commission), such amounts, if any, as the
Commission may determine in its discretion to be used in the manner provided by the
Commission.

) Coverage Account. To the Coverage Account (such account to be established
within the Operating Fund) such amounts, if any, as the Commission may determine from time to
time to be used to pay for Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the Airport System, debt
service or redemption premiums on Outstanding Senior Bonds or the cost of additions,
improvements and repairs to the Airport System.

If no General Obligation Revenue Bonds are outstanding, the Commission is not obligated to fund
the Commission Debt Service Fund as provided in paragraphs (b)(i) and (c)(i) above and is not required to
reimburse any deficiencies as provided in paragraph (d) above. As of the date of this Official Statement, the
Commission has no General Obligation Revenue Bonds outstanding.

In addition to depositing all income and revenues from the operation of the Airport System to the
Operating Fund, pursuant to Resolution No. 2021 adopted by the Commission on May 19, 2003, as amended
by Resolution No. 2037 adopted by the Commission on April 19, 2004 (collectively, the “PFC Resolution”),
the Commission is required to deposit all passenger facility charges (“PFCs”) that it receives to the PFC
Account established in the Operating Fund. PFCs deposited to the PFC Account are required to be used by
the Commission in accordance with the federal rules and regulations governing the use of PFCs, including,
but not limited to, paying the principal of and interest on Senior Bonds and Subordinate Obligations the
proceeds of which were used to finance PFC eligible projects. See “—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service”
below.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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The following chart provides a graphic presentation of the flow of funds under the Master Senior

Indenture upon the receipt of Revenues and the PFC Resolution upon the receipt of PFCs.

Passenger Facility Charge (PFC)

revenues
Pay PFC- PFC Account
approved (Held in Operating Fund)

project costs
and for other
lawful
purposes

Transfer to

Metropolitan Airports Commission
Flow of Funds

Revenues

Operating Fund
(Held by Commission)

Senior Trustee

Transfer to

Senior Debt Service Funds
(Held by Senior Trustee)

Transfer to

Maintenance and Operation Expenses
of the Airport System
(Set aside by the Commission
within Operating Fund)

Senior Debt Service Reserve Funds
(Held by Senior Trustee)

Senior Trustee

Transfer to

Commission Debt Service Fund for General
Obligation Revenue Bonds
(current principal and interest portion)
(Held by Commission)

Subordinate
Trustee

Subordinate Obligation Debt
Service Fund
(Held by Subordinate Trustee)

Senior Trustee

Commission Debt Service Fund for General
Obligation Revenue Bonds (reserve portion)
(Held by Commission)

Transfer to

Subordinate Obligation Debt
Service Reserve Fund
(Held by Subordinate Trustee)

Subordinate
Trustee

Transfer to

Subordinate
Trustee

Payment of Commission Debt Service Fund
Deficiencies (Repay Property Taxes used for
General Obligation Revenue Bonds Debt
Service)

(Set aside by the Commission
within Operating Fund)

Maintenance and Operation Reserve Account
(Held by Commission in a separate account
within Operating Fund)'

Commission Construction Fund
(Held by Commission)?

Health Self-Insurance Trust Fund
(Held by Commission)

Coverage Account
(Held by Commission in a separate account
within Operating Fund)

! The Commission’s current policy is to maintain in the Maintenance and Operation Reserve Account an amount equal to six months of maintenance and operation

expenses.

2 Includes amounts deposited to the Repair and Replacement Account.
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Pledged of Subordinate Revenues

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are limited obligations of the Commission payable solely
from and secured by a pledge of Subordinate Revenues, certain funds and accounts held by the
Subordinate Trustee under the Subordinate Indenture, and other amounts payable under the Subordinate
Indenture. “Subordinate Revenues” (which is referred to in the Master Subordinate Indenture as “Net
Pledged Revenues”) means, for any given period, the Revenues for such period less, for such period, all
amounts which are required to be used to pay the Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the Airport
System, the Senior Aggregate Annual Debt Service when due on the Senior Bonds and the General
Obligation Revenue Bonds and the reserve and replenishment requirements on and relating to the Senior
Bonds and the General Obligation Revenue Bonds. See “—Flow of Funds” above. Also see “—Use of
PFCs to Pay Debt Service” below.

Revenues include, but are not limited to, except to the extent specifically excluded therefrom:
rates, tolls, fees, rentals, charges and other payments made to or owed to the Commission for the use or
availability of the Airport System; amounts received or owed from the sale or provision of supplies,
materials, goods and services provided by or made available by the Commission; the principal portion of
payments received pursuant to certain self-liquidating lease agreements; and such other amounts that may
be designated as Revenues pursuant to a certificate of the Commission or a Supplemental Senior
Indenture. PFCs and capitalized interest, among other things, are specifically excluded from Revenues
unless otherwise designated as Revenues pursuant to a certificate of the Commission or in a Supplemental
Senior Indenture. The Commission has not designated pursuant to a certificate or a Supplemental Senior
Indenture, PFCs or capitalized interest, or any additional amounts, as Revenues. However, see “—Use of
PFCs to Pay Debt Service” below for a discussion regarding the Commission’s irrevocable commitment
of a portion of the PFCs received by the Commission to pay debt service on PFC Eligible Bonds (as
defined herein).

The customer facility charges collected by the on-Airport rental car companies from their
customers and paid to the Commission (“CFCs”) are included in Revenues; however per the provisions of
the Commission ordinance that imposes the CFC (the “CFC Ordinance”), CFCs can only be used to pay
debt service on Senior Bonds or Subordinate Obligations issued to finance the construction of the on-
Airport rental car facilities, the Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the on-Airport rental car facilities
and certain other costs and expenses associated with the on-Airport rental car facilities. CFCs are not
available to pay the debt service on any of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, the Prior Senior Bonds, or
the Prior Subordinate Bonds (except (i) the Subordinate Series 2012A Bonds (a portion of the proceeds of
which financed the construction of the rental car facilities located in the parking garage at Terminal 2)
and the Subordinate Series 2016E Bonds (a portion of the proceeds of which are financing the
construction of the rental car facilities to be located in the new parking garage located near Terminal 1).
See “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM” for additional information on the new parking garage
being constructed at Terminal 1. See “—Use of CFCs to Pay Debt Service and Other Costs” below for a
discussion regarding the use of CFCs to pay the debt service on the Subordinate Series 2012A Bonds and
the Subordinate Series 2016E Bonds and the and other costs associated with the on-Airport rental car
facilities.

Additionally, any federal grants restricted by their terms to purposes inconsistent with the
payment of debt service on Senior Bonds and Subordinate Obligations are specifically excluded from
Revenues. See “APPENDIX C-1—CERTAIN DEFINITIONS” for a more complete definition of
Revenues.

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are limited obligations of the Commission payable
solely from and secured by a pledge of (a) Subordinate Revenues, (b) certain funds and accounts
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held by the Subordinate Trustee under the Subordinate Indenture, and (¢) other amounts payable
under the Subordinate Indenture. The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are not general obligations
of the Commission. Neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Commission, the
City of Minneapolis, the City of St. Paul, the State or any political subdivision or public agency of
the State is pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds. None of the properties of the Airport System are subject to any mortgage or other lien for
the benefit of the owners of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are secured by a pledge of and lien on Subordinate Revenues
on parity with the Prior Subordinate Bonds, the Subordinate Revolving Obligations and any Additional
Subordinate Obligations.  See “—Additional Subordinate Obligations” and “OUTSTANDING
OBLIGATIONS AND DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE—Subordinate Obligations.”

Subordinate Rate Covenant

The Commission has covenanted in the Master Subordinate Indenture to fulfill the following
requirements:

(a) The Commission will, while any of the Subordinate Obligations remain
Outstanding (but subject to all existing contracts and legal obligations of the Commission as of
the original date of execution of the Master Subordinate Indenture setting forth restrictions
relating thereto), establish, fix, prescribe and collect rates, tolls, fees, rentals and charges in
connection with the Airport System and for services rendered in connection therewith, so that
Subordinate Revenues in each Fiscal Year will be at least equal to the following amounts:

(1) the Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service on any Outstanding
Subordinate Obligations required to be funded by the Commission during such Fiscal
Year as required by the Master Subordinate Indenture, any Supplemental Subordinate
Indenture, the Master Senior Indenture or any Supplemental Senior Indenture;

(i1) the required deposits to any Subordinate Debt Service Reserve Fund
which may be established by a Supplemental Subordinate Indenture;

(iii))  the reimbursement owed to any Credit Provider as required by a
Supplemental Subordinate Indenture;

(iv) the interest on and principal of any indebtedness required to be funded
during such Fiscal Year other than for Special Facility Obligations, General Obligation
Revenue Bonds, Senior Bonds and Outstanding Subordinate Obligations, but including
obligations issued with a lien on Subordinate Revenues ranking junior and subordinate to
the lien of the Subordinate Obligations; and

v) payments of any reserve requirement for debt service for any
indebtedness other than General Obligation Revenue Bonds, Senior Bonds and
Outstanding Subordinate Obligations, but including obligations issued with a lien on
Subordinate Revenues ranking junior and subordinate to the lien of the Subordinate
Obligations.

(b) The Commission has further agreed that it will establish, fix, prescribe and

collect rates, tolls, fees, rentals and charges in connection with the Airport System and for
services rendered in connection therewith, so that during each Fiscal Year the Subordinate
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Revenues, together with any Transfer, will be equal to at least 110% of Subordinate Aggregate
Annual Debt Service on the Outstanding Subordinate Obligations. For purposes of this
subparagraph (b), the amount of any Transfer taken into account may not exceed 10% of
Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service on the Outstanding Subordinate Obligations in such
Fiscal Year. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Master Subordinate Indenture, for
purposes of this subparagraph (b) only, the calculation of Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt
Service with respect to Subordinate Revolving Obligations will include only the principal of and
interest on such Subordinate Revolving Obligations paid from Subordinate Revenues during such
Fiscal Year.

() The Commission has agreed that if Subordinate Revenues, together with any
Transfer (only as applied in (b) above), in any Fiscal Year are less than the amount specified in
subparagraph (a) or (b) above, the Commission will retain and direct a Consultant to make
recommendations as to the revision of the Commission’s business operations and its schedule of
rentals, rates, fees and charges for the use of the Airport System and for services rendered by the
Commission in connection with the Airport System and, after receiving such recommendations or
giving reasonable opportunity for such recommendations to be made, the Commission will take
all lawful measures to revise the schedule of rentals, rates, fees and charges as may be necessary
to produce Subordinate Revenues, together with any Transfer (only as applied in (b) above), in
the amount specified in subparagraph (a) or (b) above in the next succeeding Fiscal Year.

(d) In the event that Subordinate Revenues for any Fiscal Year are less than the
amount specified in subparagraph (a) or (b) above, but the Commission promptly has taken prior
to or during the next succeeding Fiscal Year all lawful measures to revise the schedule of rentals,
rates, fees and charges as required by subparagraph (c) above, such deficiency in Subordinate
Revenues will not constitute a Subordinate Event of Default associated with the failure to comply
to the covenants set forth in the Subordinate Indenture. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, a
failure of the Commission at any time to pay the principal of and interest on Subordinate
Obligations (including the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds) will result in a Subordinate Event of
Default. Nevertheless, if after taking the measures required by subparagraph (c) above to revise
the schedule of rentals, rates, fees and charges, Subordinate Revenues in the next succeeding
Fiscal Year (as evidenced by the audited financial statements of the Commission for such Fiscal
Year) are less than the amount specified in subparagraph (a) or (b) above, such deficiency in
Subordinate Revenues will constitute a Subordinate Event of Default under the provisions of the
Subordinate Indenture.

The definition of Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service specifically excludes debt service
on Subordinate Obligations where the payment of such debt service is made from moneys that are not
included in Subordinate Revenues (including, but not limited to, PFCs and Subordinate Capitalized
Interest). Bond Counsel has advised the Commission that it may exclude from its calculation of
Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service, for the purpose of determining compliance with the rate
covenant described above, debt service or portions thereof on Subordinate Obligations paid from moneys
(including, but not limited to, PFCs and Subordinate Capitalized Interest) not included in Subordinate
Revenues. The Commission expects to use PFCs to pay a portion of the debt service on the Subordinate
Obligations. If PFCs are used to pay the principal of and/or interest on the Subordinate Obligations,
Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service is decreased and debt service coverage is increased for
purposes of the rate covenant under the Master Subordinate Indenture. See “—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt
Service” below. See also “OUTSTANDING OBLIGATIONS AND DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE—
Debt Service Coverage.”
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See “AGREEMENTS WITH AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES—Airline Lease
Agreements” for a discussion regarding certain limits on the ability of the Commission to raise fees to be
charged to the airlines.

Subordinate Debt Service Deposits

The Subordinate Indenture provides that the Commission will transfer amounts needed to pay
debt service on the Outstanding Subordinate Obligations to the Subordinate Trustee five Business Days
prior to each Payment Date for the Subordinate Obligations.

Subordinate Reserve Fund

Pursuant to the Master Subordinate Indenture and the Second Supplemental Subordinate
Indenture, the Commission established a Subordinate Debt Service Reserve Fund (the “Subordinate
Reserve Fund”) with the Subordinate Trustee to secure any Subordinate Obligations the Commission
elects to participate in the Subordinate Reserve Fund. At the time of issuance of each Series of the Prior
Subordinate Bonds, the Commission elected to have each Series participate in the Subordinate Reserve
Fund. Additionally, at the time of issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, the Commission will
elect to have the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds participate in the Subordinate Reserve Fund. The Prior
Subordinate Bonds, the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds and any Additional Subordinate Obligations the
Commission elects to have participate in the Subordinate Reserve Fund are collectively referred to in this
Official Statement as the “Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating Bonds.”

Moneys and investments held in the Subordinate Reserve Fund may be only used to pay the
principal of and interest on the Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating Bonds (including the Subordinate
Series 2019 Bonds). Moneys and investments held in the Subordinate Reserve Fund are not available to
pay debt service on the Senior Parity Bonds, the Subordinate Revolving Obligations or any Additional
Subordinate Obligations the Commission decides will not participate in the Subordinate Reserve Fund.
The Subordinate Reserve Fund may be drawn upon if the amounts in the respective Subordinate Debt
Service Funds for the Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating Bonds are insufficient to pay in full any
principal or interest then due on the Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating Bonds. In the event any
amounts are required to be withdrawn from the Subordinate Reserve Fund, such amounts will be
withdrawn and deposited pro rata to meet the funding requirements of the Subordinate Reserve Fund
Participating Bonds.

Except as otherwise described below, the Subordinate Reserve Fund is required to be funded at
all times in an amount equal to the “Subordinate Reserve Requirement.” The “Subordinate Reserve
Requirement” is equal the lesser of (a) Subordinate Maximum Aggregate Annual Debt Service for
Reserve Requirement for the Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating Bonds, (b) 10% of the principal
amount of the Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating Bonds, less the amount of original issue discount
with respect to such Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating Bonds if such original issue discount
exceeded 2% on such Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating Bonds at the time of their original sale, and
(c) 125% of the average Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service for Reserve Requirement for the
Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating Bonds. At the time of issuance of any Additional Subordinate
Obligations which the Commission elects to have participate in the Subordinate Reserve Fund, the
Commission will be required to deposit an amount to the Subordinate Reserve Fund sufficient to cause
the amount then on deposit in the Subordinate Reserve Fund to equal the Subordinate Reserve
Requirement. Such deposit to the Subordinate Reserve Fund can be made at the time of issuance of such
Additional Subordinate Obligations or over a 12-month period following the date of issuance of such
Additional Subordinate Obligations. At the time of issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, a
portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds will be deposited to the Subordinate
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Reserve Fund in order to satisfy the Subordinate Reserve Requirement, which will be $57,743,748.36 at
the time of issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

The Commission may fund all or a portion of the Subordinate Reserve Requirement with a Debt
Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy. A Debt Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy may be an insurance
policy, letter of credit or surety bond deposited in the Subordinate Reserve Fund in lieu of or in partial
substitution for cash or securities. Any such Debt Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy must either extend
to the final maturity of the Series of Subordinate Obligations for which the Debt Service Reserve Fund
Surety Policy was issued or the Commission must agree, by Supplemental Subordinate Indenture, that the
Commission will replace such Debt Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy prior to its expiration with
another Debt Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy, or with cash, and that the face amount of the Debt
Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy, together with amounts on deposit in the Subordinate Reserve Fund,
including the face amount of any other Debt Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy, are at least equal to the
Subordinate Reserve Requirement. Any Debt Service Reserve Fund Surety Policy deposited to the
Subordinate Reserve Fund will be required to secure all of the Subordinate Reserve Fund Participating
Bonds.

The Subordinate Reserve Fund is currently, and will be at the time of issuance of the Subordinate
Series 2019 Bonds, funded with cash and securities. No portion of the Subordinate Reserve Fund has
been, or will be at the time of issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, funded with a Debt Service
Reserve Fund Surety Policy.

Additional Subordinate Obligations

The Master Subordinate Indenture provides the Commission with flexibility as to establishing the
nature and terms of any Additional Subordinate Obligations. Additional Subordinate Obligations may be
issued under the Master Subordinate Indenture provided, among other things, there is delivered to the
Subordinate Trustee either:

(a) a certificate prepared by an Authorized Commission Representative showing that
the Subordinate Revenues for any 12 consecutive months out of the most recent 18 consecutive
months immediately preceding the date of issuance of the proposed Series of Subordinate
Obligations or preceding the first issuance of the proposed Subordinate Program Obligations were
at least equal to 110% of Subordinate Maximum Aggregate Annual Debt Service with respect to
all Outstanding Subordinate Obligations, Unissued Subordinate Program Obligations, and the
proposed Series of Subordinate Obligations, calculated as if the proposed Series of Subordinate
Obligations and the full Subordinate Authorized Amount of such proposed Subordinate Program
Obligations (as applicable) were then Outstanding; or

(b) a certificate, dated as of a date between the date of pricing of the Subordinate
Obligations being issued and the date of delivery of such Subordinate Obligations (both dates
inclusive), prepared by a Consultant showing that:

(1) the Subordinate Revenues, together with any Transfer (as calculated by
said Consultant), for the last audited Fiscal Year or for any 12 consecutive months out of
the most recent 18 consecutive months immediately preceding the date of issuance of the
proposed Series of Subordinate Obligations or the establishment of a Subordinate
Program, were at least equal to 110% of the sum of the Subordinate Aggregate Annual
Debt Service due and payable with respect to all Outstanding Subordinate Obligations for
such applicable period;
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(i1) for the period, if any, from and including the first full Fiscal Year
following the issuance of such proposed Series of Subordinate Obligations through and
including the last Fiscal Year during any part of which interest on such Series of
Subordinate Obligations is expected to be paid from the proceeds thereof, the Consultant
estimates that the Commission will be in compliance with the Subordinate Obligation rate
covenant, as described above under “Subordinate Rate Covenant”; and

(ii1) for the period from and including the first full Fiscal Year following the
issuance of such proposed Series of Subordinate Obligations during which no interest on
such Series of Subordinate Obligations is expected to be paid from the proceeds thereof
through and including the later of: (A) the fifth full Fiscal Year following the issuance of
such Series of Subordinate Obligations, or (B) the third full Fiscal Year during which no
interest on such Series of Subordinate Obligations is expected to be paid from the
proceeds thereof, the estimated Subordinate Revenues, together with any estimated
Transfer, for each such Fiscal Year, will be at least equal to 110% of the Subordinate
Aggregate Annual Debt Service for each such Fiscal Year with respect to all Outstanding
Subordinate Obligations, Unissued Subordinate Program Obligations and calculated as if
the proposed Series of Subordinate Obligations and the full Subordinate Authorized
Amount of such proposed Subordinate Program Obligations (as applicable) were then
Outstanding.

For purposes of paragraph (a) above, no Transfer may be taken into account in the computation of
Revenues by the Authorized Commission Representative. For purposes of paragraph (b) above, the
amount of any Transfer taken into account cannot exceed 10% of the Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt
Service on the Outstanding Subordinate Obligations, the Unissued Subordinate Program Obligations, the
proposed Series of Subordinate Obligations and the full Subordinate Authorized Amount of such
proposed Subordinate Program Obligations (as applicable) in such applicable Fiscal Year.

Additionally, when issuing Additional Subordinate Obligations the Commission may, for
purposes of determining compliance with the additional bonds test described in paragraphs (a) and (b)
above, exclude the following amounts from its calculation of Subordinate Maximum Aggregate Annual
Debt Service or Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service, as the case may be: (i) debt service on
Subordinate Obligations which is payable from PFCs specifically and irrevocably committed to the
payment of debt service on such Subordinate Obligations, and (ii) debt service on Subordinate
Obligations which is payable from moneys, such as federal grants, specifically and irrevocably committed
or deposited with the Subordinate Trustee to pay such debt service on such Subordinate Obligations. See
“—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service” above. See also “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM—
Funding Sources for the 2019-20 CIP and 2021-25 CIP Projects—Passenger Facility Charges.”

For purposes of paragraphs (b)(ii) and (iii) above, in estimating Subordinate Revenues and any
applicable Transfer, the Consultant may take into account (1) Revenues from Projects or Airport Facilities
reasonably expected to become available during the period for which the estimates are provided, (2) any
increase in fees, rates, charges, rentals or other sources of Revenues which have been approved by the
Commission and will be in effect during the period for which the estimates are provided, (3) any other
increases in Revenues which the Consultant believes to be a reasonable assumption for such period. With
respect to Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the Airport System, the Consultant may use such
assumptions as the Consultant believes to be reasonable, taking into account: (i) historical Maintenance
and Operation Expenses of the Airport System, (ii) Maintenance and Operation Expenses associated with
the Projects and any other new Airport Facilities, and (iii) such other factors, including inflation and
changing operations or policies of the Commission, as the Consultant believes to be appropriate. The
Consultant will include in the certificate or in a separate accompanying report a description of the
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assumptions used and the calculations made in determining the estimated Subordinate Revenues and any
applicable Transfer and will also set forth the calculations of Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt
Service, which calculations may be based upon information provided by another Consultant.

At the time of issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, an Authorized Commission
Representative will deliver a certificate as described in paragraph (a) above to the Subordinate Trustee.

Neither of the certificates described above under paragraphs (a) or (b) will be required:

(1) if such Subordinate Obligations are being issued for the purpose of refunding
then Outstanding Subordinate Obligations and there is delivered to the Subordinate Trustee,
instead, a certificate of an Authorized Commission Representative showing that Subordinate
Aggregate Annual Debt Service after the issuance of such Refunding Subordinate Obligations
will not exceed Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service prior to the issuance of such
Refunding Subordinate Obligations, for each Fiscal Year;

(i1) if such Subordinate Obligations constitute Subordinate Notes and there is
delivered to the Subordinate Trustee, instead, a certificate prepared by an Authorized
Commission Representative showing that the principal amount of the proposed Subordinate
Notes being issued, together with the principal amount of any Subordinate Notes then
Outstanding, does not exceed 10% of the Subordinate Revenues for any 12 consecutive months
out of the most recent 24 months immediately preceding the issuance of the proposed Subordinate
Notes and there is delivered to the Subordinate Trustee a certificate of an Authorized Commission
Representative setting forth calculations showing that for each of the Fiscal Years during which
the Subordinate Notes will be Outstanding, and taking into account the debt service becoming
due on such Subordinate Notes, the Commission will be in compliance with the rate covenant
established by the Master Subordinate Indenture; or

(ii1) if such Subordinate Obligations are being issued to pay costs of completing a
Project for which Subordinate Obligations have previously been issued and the principal amount
of such Subordinate Obligations being issued for completion purposes does not exceed an amount
equal to 15% of the principal amount of the Subordinate Obligations originally issued for such
Project and reasonably allocable to the Project to be completed as shown in a written certificate of
an Authorized Commission Representative and there is delivered to the Subordinate Trustee (A) a
Consultant’s certificate stating that the nature and purpose of such Project has not materially
changed and (B) a certificate of an Authorized Commission Representative to the effect that
(1) all of the proceeds (including investment earnings on amounts in the Subordinate
Construction Fund allocable to such Project) of the original Subordinate Obligations issued to
finance such Project have been or will be used to pay Costs of the Project and (2) the then
estimated Costs of the Project exceed the sum of the Costs of the Project already paid plus
moneys available in the Subordinate Construction Fund established for the Project (including
unspent proceeds of Subordinate Obligations previously issued for such purpose).

In addition to the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, the Commission expects to issue Additional
Subordinate Obligations in the future to finance the development of the Airport System. See “CAPITAL
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM.”

Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service

The Aviation Safety and Capacity Expansion Act of 1990, as amended (the “PFC Act”), as
implemented by the FAA pursuant to published regulations (the “PFC Regulations™), permits public
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agencies controlling certain commercial service airports (those with regularly scheduled service and
enplaning 2,500 or more passengers annually) to charge enplaning passengers using the airport a $1.00,
$2.00 or $3.00 PFC with certain qualifying airports permitted to charge a maximum PFC of $4.50. Under
the PFC Act, the proceeds from PFCs are required to be used to finance eligible airport-related projects
(including paying the debt service on bonds issued to finance such projects) that serve or enhance safety,
capacity or security of the national air transportation system, reduce noise from an airport that is part of
such system or furnish opportunities for enhanced competition between or among Air Carriers. The
Commission currently charges all enplaning passengers at the Airport a PFC of $4.50. See “CAPITAL
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM—Funding Sources for the 2019-20 CIP and 2021-25 CIP Projects—
Passenger Facility Charges” for additional information about PFCs collected by the Commission.

The definition of Revenues does not include PFCs, except to the extent included in Revenues
through the execution and delivery of a Supplemental Senior Indenture, which has not occurred to date.
However, the definitions of Senior Aggregate Annual Debt Service and Subordinate Aggregate Annual
Debt Service provide that, if PFCs have been irrevocably committed or are held by the Senior Trustee or
the Subordinate Trustee, as applicable, or another fiduciary and are to be set aside exclusively to be used
to pay principal of and/or interest on the Senior Bonds and/or the Subordinate Obligations, as applicable,
then such principal and/or interest may be excluded from the calculation of Senior Aggregate Annual
Debt Service or Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service, as applicable; thus decreasing Senior
Aggregate Annual Debt Service and/or Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service, as applicable, and
increasing debt service coverage for purposes of the rate covenants and the additional bonds tests under
the Master Senior Indenture and/or the Master Subordinate Indenture.

Pursuant to the PFC Resolution, the Commission has irrevocably committed a portion of the
PFCs it receives to the payment and funding of debt service on Senior Bonds and/or Subordinate
Obligations issued to finance projects authorized to be financed with PFCs (collectively, the “PFC
Eligible Bonds™) through December 31, 2030.

Pursuant to the PFC Resolution, the Commission has irrevocably committed the following
amounts of PFCs in the following Fiscal Years:

TABLE 1
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Irrevocably Committed PFCs

Irrevocably Fiscal Irrevocably
Fiscal Year Committed PFCs Year Committed PFCs
2019 $9,337,650 2025 $9,337,650
2020 9,339,400 2026 9,334,900
2021 9,337,900 2027 9,334,650
2022 9,332,650 2028 9,465,900
2023 9,333,150 2029 9,467,625
2024 9,333,400 2030 9,462,475

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

If the Commission does not use the full amount of the irrevocably committed PFCs to pay debt
service on PFC Eligible Bonds in a Fiscal Year (i.e., there is more irrevocably committed PFCs than there
is debt service due on PFC Eligible Bonds in such Fiscal Year), any unused portion of the irrevocable
commitment for such Fiscal Year is not required to be carried over for use in future Fiscal Years.
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In addition to the PFCs irrevocably committed pursuant to the PFC Resolution, the Commission
can, in its sole discretion, use excess PFCs to pay additional debt service on PFC Eligible Bonds. In the
past, the Commission has utilized all of the irrevocably committed PFCs and additional PFCs to pay the
debt service on the PFC Eligible Bonds; and the Commission expects to continue to do this in the future.
In Fiscal Years 2017 and 2018, the Commission used $8.8 million and $8.0 million, respectively, of PFCs
to pay debt service on the Prior Senior Bonds, and $18.6 million and $18.3 million, respectively, of PFCs
to pay debt service on the Prior Subordinate Bonds. The Commission expects to use between
approximately $4.2 million and $13.2 million of PFCs each Fiscal Year between Fiscal Years 2019 and
2025, respectively, to pay debt service on the Senior Bonds. Additionally, the Commission expects to use
between approximately $13.9 million and $24.8 million of PFCs each Fiscal Year between Fiscal Years
2019 and 2025, respectively, to pay debt service on the Subordinate Obligations. See “AGREEMENTS
WITH AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES—Airline Lease Agreements” for additional
information regarding certain agreements the Commission has made with respect to the use of PFCs.

Use of CFCs to Pay Debt Service and Other Costs

Pursuant to the CFC Ordinance, the on-Airport rental car companies are currently required to
collect a CFC of $5.90 per transaction day from their customers and pay the collected CFCs to the
Commission. The Commission’s budget for the year ending December 31, 2019 included CFC
collections of approximately $22 million.

CFCs are included in Revenues, however, per the provisions of the CFC Ordinance, CFCs can
only be used to pay debt service on Senior Bonds or Subordinate Obligations issued to finance the
construction of on-Airport rental car facilities, the Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the on-Airport
rental car facilities and certain other costs and expenses associated with the on-Airport rental car facilities.
CFCs are currently used to pay debt service on the Subordinate Series 2012A Bonds (a portion of the
proceeds of which financed the construction of the rental car facilities located in the parking garage at
Terminal 2), and the Subordinate Series 2016E Bonds (a portion of the proceeds of which are being used
to finance the construction of the rental car facilities located in the new parking garage at Terminal 1).
CFCs are not available to pay the debt service on any of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, the Prior
Senior Bonds or the Prior Subordinate Bonds (except the Subordinate Series 2012A Bonds and the
Subordinate Series 2016E Bonds). CFCs also are used to pay the Maintenance and Operation Expenses
of the on-Airport rental car facilities and certain other costs and expenses associated with the on-Airport
rental car facilities. See “OUTSTANDING OBLIGATIONS AND DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE—
Additional Senior Bonds and/or Subordinate Obligations” and “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
PROGRAM.” Also see “AGREEMENT WITH AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES—
Rental Car Lease Agreements.”

Pursuant to the provisions of the CFC Ordinance, the current per transaction day CFC is $5.90.
In accordance with the provisions of the CFC Ordinance, in November 2019, Commission management
expects to ask the Commission to maintain the CFC at $5.90 per transaction day until January 1, 2025.
Commission management has determined that the current per transaction day CFC of $5.90 is sufficient
to recover the capital costs of the on-Airport rental car facilities, the Maintenance and Operation Expenses
of the on-Airport rental car facilities and the other costs and expenses associated with the on-Airport
rental car facilities that can be paid with CFCs per the CFC Ordinance. Beginning on January 1, 2025, or
anytime thereafter, the Commission may increase or decrease the per transaction day CFC to a level that
is sufficient to recover the capital costs of the current, additional or new on-Airport rental car facilities,
the Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the on-Airport rental car facilities and the other costs and
expenses associated with the on-Airport rental car facilities that can be paid with CFCs per the CFC
Ordinance. Pursuant to the CFC Ordinance, the CFC can only be adjusted every five years.
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Permitted Investments

Moneys and funds held by the Commission will be invested in Permitted Investments, subject to
any restrictions set forth in the Senior Indenture and the Subordinate Indenture and subject to restrictions
imposed upon the Commission by the Act. Moneys and funds held by the Subordinate Trustee under the
Subordinate Indenture, including moneys in the respective Subordinate Debt Service Funds (and the
accounts therein) and the Subordinate Reserve Fund, may be invested as directed by the Commission in
Permitted Investments, subject to the restrictions set forth in the Subordinate Indenture and subject to
restrictions imposed upon the Commission by the Act. The Commission’s current investment policy
provides that investments cannot exceed a maturity of four years, except for funds designated for the
payment of post-retirement medical expenses, which have a 10-year maturity limit. See “FINANCIAL
INFORMATION—Investment Policy.”

Events of Default and Remedies; No Acceleration

Subordinate Events of Default under the Subordinate Indenture and related remedies are
described in “APPENDIX C-3—SUMMARY OF THE MASTER SUBORDINATE INDENTURE—
Defaults and Remedies.” The occurrence of a Subordinate Event of Default does not grant any right to
accelerate payment of the Subordinate Obligations to either the Subordinate Trustee or the Holders of the
Subordinate Obligations (including the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds). The Subordinate Trustee is
authorized to take certain actions upon the occurrence of a Subordinate Event of Default, including
proceedings to enforce the obligations of the Commission under the Subordinate Indenture. If there is a
Subordinate Event of Default, payments, if any, on the Subordinate Obligations will be made after
payments of Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the Airport System and after the payment of debt
service and reserve and repayment requirements on and relating to the Senior Parity Bonds. Since
Subordinate Revenues are Revenues net of all amounts needed to pay Maintenance and Operation
Expenses of the Airport System and debt service and reserve and repayment requirements on and relating
to the Senior Parity Bonds, and the Commission is not subject to involuntary bankruptcy proceedings, the
Commission may be able to continue indefinitely collecting Revenues and applying them to the operation
of the Airport System and the payment of debt service and reserve and repayment requirements on and
relating to the Senior Parity Bonds even if a Subordinate Event of Default has occurred and no payments
are being made on the Subordinate Obligations.

OUTSTANDING OBLIGATIONS AND DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE
Prior Senior Bonds
Pursuant to the Senior Indenture, the Commission has previously issued and, as of August 1,
2019, there was outstanding $680,695,000 aggregate principal amount of its Prior Senior Bonds. The
Prior Senior Bonds are secured by a pledge and lien on Net Revenues. See “SECURITY AND

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Flow of Funds.” The
following table sets forth certain information about the Prior Senior Bonds as of August 1, 2019.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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TABLE 2
Metropolitan Airports Commission

Prior Senior Bonds

(as of August 1, 2019)
Original Principal Principal Amount Final

Series Amount Outstanding Maturity Date
2009A! $ 23,075,000 $ 5,125,000 1/1/2022
2009B! 128,835,000 31,955,000 1/1/2022
2010A! 62,210,000 62,210,000 1/1/2035
2010B! 73,475,000 47,115,000 1/1/2028
2016A 330,690,000 330,690,000 1/1/2032
2016C 207,250,000 203,600,000 1/1/2046
Total $825,535,000 $680,695,000

I See “PLAN OF FINANCE—Refunding of Refunded Bonds” for a discussion of the
planned refunding and defeasance of the Senior Series 2009A Bonds, the Senior Series

2009B Bonds, the Senior Series 2010A Bonds and the Senior Series 2010B Bonds.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.
Subordinate Obligations

General. The Subordinate Obligations currently consist of the Prior Subordinate Bonds and the
Subordinate Revolving Obligations. The Subordinate Obligations are secured by a pledge and lien on
Subordinate Revenues. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE

SERIES 2019 BONDS—Flow of Funds.”

Prior Subordinate Bonds.

Subordinate Bonds as of August 1, 2019.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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TABLE 3

Metropolitan Airports Commission

Prior Subordinate Bonds
(as of August 1, 2019)

Original Principal

Principal Amount Final
Series Amount Outstanding Maturity Date
2010C! $ 21,600,000 $ 3,115,000 1/1/2024
2010D! 68,790,000 22,205,000 1/1/2024
2011A 52,015,000 34,150,000 1/1/2025
2012A 39,770,000 6,025,000 1/1/2020
2012B 42,015,000 42,015,000 1/1/2031
2014A 217,790,000 203,765,000 1/1/2035
2014B 46,590,000 31,245,000 1/1/2026
2016B 152,190,000 124,790,000 1/1/2024
2016D 23,410,000 22,355,000 1/1/2041
2016E 171,690,000 163,095,000 1/1/2034
Total $835,860,000 $652,760,000

! See “PLAN OF FINANCE—Refunding of Refunded Bonds” for a discussion of the
planned refunding and defeasance of the Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds and the
Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

Subordinate Revolving Obligations. Pursuant to the Master Subordinate Indenture, the
Seventeenth Supplemental Subordinate Indenture and the Subordinate Revolving Obligations Credit
Agreement, the Commission is authorized to issue and have outstanding, from time to time, up to
$150,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Subordinate Revolving Obligations. As of August 1,
2019, the Commission had $71,030,500 aggregate principal amount of Subordinate Revolving
Obligations outstanding. On October 4, 2019, the Commission expects to repay $20,650,000 of the
Subordinate Revolving Obligations with a portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds
and certain other available moneys of the Commission. All Subordinate Revolving Obligations issued by
the Commission are purchased by the Subordinate Revolving Obligations Bank (Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association) in accordance with the terms of the Subordinate Revolving Obligations Credit
Agreement. Except as otherwise provided in the Subordinate Revolving Obligations Credit Agreement,
the principal of all Subordinate Revolving Obligations outstanding pursuant the Master Subordinate
Indenture, the Seventeenth Supplemental Subordinate Indenture and the Subordinate Revolving
Obligations Credit Agreement are due and payable on October 26, 2020. However, subject to the terms
of the Subordinate Revolving Obligations Credit Agreement, on October 26, 2020, the Commission can
convert any outstanding Subordinate Revolving Obligations to a term loan that will be payable in twelve
equal quarterly installments following October 26, 2020.

General Obligation Revenue Bonds

The Commission is authorized to issue up to $55,051,875 of General Obligation Revenue Bonds
without additional statutory authorization and without having to meet the requirements described under
“APPENDIX C-2—SUMMARY OF THE MASTER SENIOR INDENTURE—Additional Senior
Bonds.” Such General Obligation Revenue Bonds would have a pledge of and lien on Net Revenues on
parity, except as to timing of payment, with the Senior Bonds. As of the date of this Official Statement,
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the Commission has no General Obligation Revenue Bonds outstanding, and has no plans to issue any of
the authorized $55,051,875 of General Obligation Revenue Bonds.

If the Commission wanted to issue General Obligation Revenue Bonds in excess of $55,051,875,
it would be required to seek authorization from the Minnesota State Legislature and would have to
comply with the additional bonds test set forth in the Master Senior Indenture. Any General Obligation
Revenue Bonds issued in excess of the $55,051,875 authorized amount would have a pledge of and lien
on Net Revenues on parity, except as to timing of payment, with the Senior Bonds, or with a pledge of
and lien on Subordinate Revenues on parity, except as to timing of payment, with the Subordinate
Obligations (if such authority was granted by the Minnesota State Legislature). Such General Obligation
Revenue Bonds could not have a pledge of and lien on Net Revenues senior to the Senior Bonds. See “—
Flow of Funds” above.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Debt Service Requirements

The following table sets forth the debt service funding requirements for the Prior Senior Bonds, the Prior Subordinate Bonds and the Subordinate Series
2019 Bonds, after the refunding and defeasance of the Refunded Bonds.

TABLE 4
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Debt Service Requirements'*

Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds  Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds  Subordinate Series 2019C Bonds Total Senior
Prior Total and
Year Ended Prior Senior Subordinate Subordinate Subordinate
December 31 Bonds** Bonds® Principal Interest® Principal Interest® Principal Interest Bonds’ Bonds

2019 $ 33,858,062 $ 71,106,317 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 71,106,317 $104,964,379
2020 30,307,300 64,337,146 3,025,000 5,973,956 18,075,000 10,224,356 3,360,000 1,931,067 106,926,525 137,233,825
2021 30,309,500 78,098,030 765,000 4,679,500 8,675,000 7,312,250 3,905,000 1,383,750 104,818,530 135,128,030
2022 30,309,250 82,677,568 1,620,000 4,641,250 6,840,000 6,878,500 4,105,000 1,188,500 107,950,818 138,260,068
2023 30,308,750 88,381,138 925,000 4,560,250 3,310,000 6,536,500 4,310,000 983,250 109,006,138 139,314,888
2024 71,567,500 49,365,698 935,000 4,514,000 3,100,000 6,371,000 4,520,000 767,750 69,573,448 141,140,948
2025 71,580,000 47,941,241 980,000 4,467,250 3,245,000 6,216,000 4,745,000 541,750 68,136,241 139,716,241
2026 71,575,000 49,195,891 1,030,000 4,418,250 3,415,000 6,053,750 4,985,000 304,500 69,402,391 140,977,391
2027 71,574,500 49,204,661 3,815,000 4,366,750 3,165,000 5,883,000 1,105,000 55,250 67,594,661 139,169,161
2028 71,567,500 49,326,475 6,415,000 4,176,000 3,210,000 5,724,750 - - 68,852,225 140,419,725
2029 71,568,000 49,336,731 6,730,000 3,855,250 3,360,000 5,564,250 - - 68,846,231 140,414,231
2030 49,554,000 49,325,390 7,070,000 3,518,750 3,540,000 5,396,250 - - 68,850,390 118,404,390
2031 32,214,250 40,983,081 7,430,000 3,165,250 3,710,000 5,219,250 - - 60,507,581 92,721,831
2032 13,897,750 28,600,658 7,800,000 2,793,750 3,900,000 5,033,750 - - 48,128,158 62,025,908
2033 13,896,750 28,604,920 8,185,000 2,403,750 4,090,000 4,838,750 - - 48,122,420 62,019,170
2034 13,898,250 14,144,000 8,595,000 1,994,500 4,295,000 4,634,250 - - 33,662,750 47,561,000
2035 13,896,250 1,701,000 1,595,000 1,564,750 4,505,000 4,419,500 - - 13,785,250 27,681,500
2036 13,895,000 1,697,500 1,675,000 1,485,000 4,735,000 4,194,250 - - 13,786,750 27,681,750
2037 13,893,500 1,696,000 1,760,000 1,401,250 4,975,000 3,957,500 - - 13,789,750 27,683,250
2038 13,895,750 1,696,250 1,850,000 1,313,250 5,230,000 3,708,750 - - 13,798,250 27,694,000
2039 13,895,500 1,698,000 1,940,000 1,220,750 5,485,000 3,447,250 - - 13,791,000 27,686,500
2040 13,896,750 1,701,000 2,040,000 1,123,750 5,760,000 3,173,000 - - 13,797,750 27,694,500
2041 13,898,250 - 2,140,000 1,021,750 6,045,000 2,885,000 - - 12,091,750 25,990,000
2042 13,893,750 - 2,245,000 914,750 6,340,000 2,582,750 - - 12,082,500 25,976,250
2043 13,897,250 - 2,360,000 802,500 6,665,000 2,265,750 - - 12,093,250 25,990,500
2044 13,897,000 - 2,480,000 684,500 6,995,000 1,932,500 - - 12,092,000 25,989,000
2045 13,896,750 - 2,600,000 560,500 7,345,000 1,582,750 - - 12,088,250 25,985,000
2046 - - 2,730,000 430,500 7,710,000 1,215,500 - - 12,086,000 12,086,000
2047 - - 2,870,000 294,000 8,095,000 830,000 - - 12,089,000 12,089,000
2048 = - 3,010,000 150,500 8,505,000 425,250 - - 12,090,750 12,090,750
Total $860,842,112 $850,818.695 $96,915,000 $72,496,206 $164,320,000 $128,506,356 $31,035,000 $7,155,817 $1,350,947,074  $2,211,789,186

Numbers may not total due to rounding to nearest dollar.

Represents the Commission’s debt service funding requirements for each Fiscal Year.

Includes debt service on the Prior Senior Bonds after the refunding and defeasance of the Refunded Senior Series 2009A Bonds, the Refunded Senior Series 2009B Bonds, the Refunded Senior Series 2010A Bonds and the Refunded
Senior Series 2010B Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCE—Refunding of Refunded Bonds.”

The Prior Senior Bonds have a parity lien on Net Revenues.

Includes debt service on the Prior Subordinate Bonds after the refunding and defeasance of the Refunded Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds and the Refunded Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCE—Refunding
of Refunded Bonds.” Debt Service on the Subordinate Revolving Obligations (which may be Outstanding from time to time up to $150 million aggregate principal amount) is not reflected in the table. As of August 1, 2019,
$71,030,500 aggregate principal amount of Subordinate Revolving Obligations were outstanding. On October 4, 2019, the Commission expects to repay $20,650,000 of the Subordinate Revolving Obligations with a portion of the
proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds and certain other available moneys of the Commission.

Includes interest to be paid with a portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds through January 1, 2023 and a portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds through July 1, 2023.

The Prior Subordinate Bonds, the Subordinate Revolving Obligations and the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds have a parity lien on Subordinate Revenues.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission and Samuel A. Ramirez & Co., Inc.

[
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Historical Debt Service Coverage

The following table sets forth the historical debt service coverage for Fiscal Years 2014 through
2018 on the Senior Bonds, the Subordinate Bonds and the Subordinate Revolving Obligations.

TABLE 5
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Historical Debt Service Coverage

(Dollars in Thousands)
Maintenance
and Debt Service
Operation Requirement Debt Service
Expenses of for Senior Senior Requirement for Total
the Airport Net Parity Debt Service Subordinate Debt Service
Fiscal Revenues' System! Revenues' Bonds!? Coverage>* Obligations>¢ Coverage™*
Year [a] [b] [c]=[a]-[b] [d] [c)/1d] [e] [el/TId]+ell
2014 $314,563 $154,096 $160,467 $50,413 318% $47,480 164%
2015 322,101 158,170 163,931 48,084 341 50,599 166
2016 352,834 168,807 184,027 48,909 376 44,857 196
2017 366,898 177,052 189,846 39,461 481 52,413 207
2018 409,392 192,916 216,476 31,240 693 58,326 242

Calculated per the terms of the Master Senior Indenture.

Includes Senior Annual Debt Service on the Senior Bonds outstanding during the respective Fiscal Years. Excludes Senior Annual Debt Service on the
Senior Bonds paid with PFCs. The Commission applied $9.6 million, $11.8 million, $11.3 million, $8.8 million and $8.0 million of PFCs to the
payment of Senior Annual Debt Service on the Senior Bonds during Fiscal Years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018, respectively. See “SECURITY
AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service.”

Equals the debt service coverage on the Senior Bonds outstanding during the respective Fiscal Years. Senior Debt Service Coverage is not being
provided to show compliance with the provisions of the rate covenant set forth in the Master Senior Indenture and as described under “APPENDIX C-
2—SUMMARY OF THE MASTER SENIOR INDENTURE—Senior Rate Covenant.”

Does not include Transfer.

For Fiscal Years 2014 through 2017, the annual debt service requirement for the Subordinate Obligations was calculated based on the actual payment
dates of the principal of and interest on the Subordinate Obligations, and for Fiscal Year 2018, the annual debt service requirement for the Subordinate
Obligations was calculated based on the dates that deposits were made to the applicable debt service funds established and maintained for the
Subordinate Obligations.

Includes Subordinate Annual Debt Service on the Subordinate Bonds and the Subordinate Revolving Obligations outstanding during the respective
Fiscal Years. Excludes Subordinate Annual Debt Service on the Subordinate Bonds paid with PFCs. The Commission applied $16.2, million, $16.3
million, $17.6 million, $18.6 million and $18.3 million of PFCs to the payment of Subordinate Annual Debt Service on the Subordinate Bonds during
Fiscal Years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018, respectively. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES
2019 BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service.”

Equals the debt service coverage on the Senior Bonds, the Subordinate Bonds and the Subordinate Revolving Obligations outstanding during the
respective Fiscal Years. Total Debt Service Coverage is not being provided to show compliance with the provisions of the rate covenants set forth in the
Master Senior Indenture and the Master Subordinate Indenture. See “APPENDIX C-2—SUMMARY OF THE MASTER SENIOR INDENTURE—
Senior Rate Covenant” and “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Subordinate
Obligations—Subordinate Rate Covenant.”

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

6

The definitions of Senior Aggregate Annual Debt Service and Subordinate Aggregate Annual
Debt Service provide that, if PFCs have been irrevocably committed or are held by the Senior Trustee or
the Subordinate Trustee or another fiduciary, as applicable, and are to be set aside exclusively to be used
to pay principal of and/or interest on the Senior Bonds or the Subordinate Obligations, as applicable, then
such principal and/or interest may be excluded from the calculation of Senior Aggregate Annual Debt
Service and Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service, as applicable; thus decreasing Senior Aggregate
Annual Debt Service and Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service, as applicable, and increasing debt
service coverage for purposes of the rate covenants and the additional bonds tests under the Master Senior
Indenture and the Master Subordinate Indenture. Pursuant to the PFC Resolution, the Commission
irrevocably committed approximately $9.3 million of PFCs to the payment of debt service on PFC
Eligible Bonds in each Fiscal Year between Fiscal Years 2019 and 2030. While there is no assurance that
the Commission will continue to do so in the future, in addition to the PFCs irrevocably committed to pay
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debt service on PFC Eligible Bonds, the Commission has applied other PFCs to the payment of debt
service on PFC Eligible Bonds. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE
SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service.” See also
“AGREEMENTS WITH AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES—Airline Lease Agreements”
for additional information regarding certain agreements the Commission has made with respect to the use
of PFCs.

Senior and Subordinate Repayment Obligations

Under certain circumstances, the obligation of the Commission, pursuant to a written agreement,
to reimburse the provider of a Credit Facility or a Liquidity Facility (a “Repayment Obligation”) may be
secured by a pledge of and lien on Net Revenues on parity with the Senior Bonds or secured by a pledge
of and lien on the Subordinate Revenues on parity with the Subordinate Obligations (including the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds). If a Credit Provider or Liquidity Provider advances funds to pay
principal of or purchase Senior Bonds, all or a portion of the Commission’s Senior Repayment Obligation
may be afforded the status of a Senior Bond under the Senior Indenture. If a Credit Provider or Liquidity
Provider advances funds to pay principal of or purchase Subordinate Obligations, all or a portion of the
Commission’s Subordinate Repayment Obligation may be afforded the status of a Subordinate Obligation
under the Subordinate Indenture. The Commission currently does not have any Senior Repayment
Obligations or Subordinate Repayment Obligations outstanding. See “APPENDIX C-2—SUMMARY
OF THE MASTER SENIOR INDENTURE—Senior Repayment Obligations Afforded Status of Senior
Bonds” and “APPENDIX C-3—SUMMARY OF THE MASTER SUBORDINATE INDENTURE—
Subordinate Repayment Obligations Afforded Status of Subordinate Obligations.”

Special Facility Obligations

The Commission may designate an existing facility or a planned facility as a “Special Facility”
and may incur indebtedness in order to acquire, construct, renovate or improve such facility or to finance
the acquisition, construction, renovation or improvement thereof by a third party. Additionally, the
Commission may provide that certain contractual payments derived from or related to such Special
Facility, together with other income and revenues available therefrom, will constitute “Special Facilities
Revenue” and will not be included as Revenues, Net Revenues or Subordinate Revenues. Such
indebtedness will constitute a “Special Facility Obligation” and will be payable solely from the Special
Facilities Revenue. When Special Facility Obligations issued for a Special Facility are fully paid or
otherwise discharged, all revenues received by the Commission from such facility will be included as
Revenues. Special Facility Revenues that exceed the amount required to pay the principal of and interest
on Special Facility Obligations when due, unless otherwise encumbered, may constitute Revenues as
determined by the Commission. The Commission does not currently have any outstanding Special
Facility Obligations. See “APPENDIX C-2—SUMMARY OF THE MASTER SENIOR
INDENTURE—Special Facilities and Special Facility Obligations.”

Additional Senior Bonds and/or Subordinate Obligations

The 2021-25 CIP (which include phases of projects, the construction of which will begin during
calendar years 2021 through 2025) contemplates the issuance of Additional Senior Bonds and/or
Additional Subordinate Obligations in the approximate principal amount of $140 million in 2022. See
“CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM” for additional information on the Commission’s current
capital improvement program. Additionally, the Commission continuously evaluates refunding
opportunities and may refund one or more series of its Senior Bonds or Subordinate Obligations in the
future.
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THE COMMISSION
General

The Commission was created by an act of the Minnesota State Legislature in 1943 as a public
corporation. Its purpose is to promote air navigation and transportation (international, national and local)
in and through the State of Minnesota, promote the efficient, safe and economic handling of air
commerce, assure the inclusion of the State in national and international programs of air transportation,
and to those ends, develop the full potentialities of the Metropolitan Area as an aviation center. The
Commission exercises its jurisdiction over any place within 35 miles of the city hall of the City of
Minneapolis or the city hall of the City of St. Paul and over the Metropolitan Area. It has the
responsibility to assure residents of the Metropolitan Area of the minimal environmental impact from air
navigation and transportation, promote the overall goals of the State’s environmental policies and
minimize the public’s exposure to noise and safety hazards around airports.

The Commission may, under the Act, borrow money and issue bonds for the purpose of acquiring
property, constructing and equipping new airports, acquiring existing airports, equipping, improving and
making additions to such existing airports and making capital improvements to any airport constructed or
acquired by the Commission. The Commission may contract with any person for the use by such person
of any properties or facilities under the control of the Commission for purposes which will further the
interests of aeronautics in the State, including, but not limited to, the right to lease any such properties or
facilities, or any part thereof, to any person, the national government, or any foreign government, or any
department of either, or to the State or any municipality. Other powers delegated to the Commission
include the power to levy taxes against property in the Metropolitan Area required to pay debt service on
any General Obligation Revenue Bonds issued by the Commission, to the extent debt service is not paid
from Net Revenues, and to levy taxes not in excess of 0.00806% in each year upon the taxable market
value of all property in the Metropolitan Area to pay costs of operation and maintenance of airport
facilities. As of the date of this Official Statement, the Commission does not have any General
Obligation Revenue Bonds outstanding, and the Commission does not currently levy taxes to pay
Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the Airport System.

Certain capital projects of the Commission at the Airport requiring the expenditure of more than
$5,000,000, and other projects at the Reliever Airports requiring an expenditure of $2,000,000, are
required by law to be submitted for approval to the Metropolitan Council, a public agency established by
law with powers of regulation over the development of the Metropolitan Area.

The Airport System

General. The Commission owns and operates seven airports within the Metropolitan Area
including the Airport and the six Reliever Airports, which are used mainly for general aviation.

Minneapolis-St. Paul Airport. The Airport has been designated as the major scheduled
passenger airport for the Metropolitan Area, located south and equidistant from the downtown areas of
Minneapolis and St. Paul. See “MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT” for further
discussion of the Airport.

Reliever Airports. In addition to the Airport, the Commission owns and operates the six Reliever
Airports which mainly serve general aviation and constitute part of the Airport System. The six Reliever
Airports include St. Paul Downtown Airport, Flying Cloud Airport, Crystal Airport, Anoka
County/Blaine Airport, Lake Elmo Airport and Airlake Airport. The facilities at Airlake, Anoka
County/Blaine, Crystal and Lake Elmo function as general aviation airports and are also used for pilot and
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flight training. In addition, a control tower is operational at Crystal Airport and Anoka County/Blaine.
Flying Cloud Airport functions as a general aviation field and is also served by a control tower operated
by the FAA. The St. Paul Downtown Airport serves as a corporate reliever and an all-purpose general
aviation field and is served by an FAA control tower.

Revenues from the Airport are used to cover certain shortfalls incurred by the Reliever Airports.
However, in 2007, the Commission revised the Reliever Airport rental rate ordinance with the long-term
goal to make the Reliever Airports as financially self-sustaining as possible. As a result of the revision of
the Reliever Airport rental rate ordinance and certain agreements made with the Signatory Airlines,
beginning with calendar year 2006, the Commission’s annual subsidy from Airport revenues to the
Reliever Airports is limited to $300,000 per year, escalated annually by 3% ($403,175 in 2016 dollars).
However, there can be no assurance that unanticipated events will not occur with respect to one or more
of the Reliever Airports which would require a substantial transfer of Revenues to such airports. In Fiscal
Years 2017 and 2018, the Reliever Airports had a combined net operating loss (including depreciation
and interest for projects financed at the Reliever Airports) of $2,837,000 and $3,632,000, respectively.

Organization of the Commission

Commissioners. The Commission is governed by 15 Commissioners, 12 of whom are appointed
by the Governor of the State of Minnesota (the “Governor”) for four-year terms and one of whom is
appointed by the Governor as chair of the Commission and serves at the pleasure of the Governor. The
remaining two Commissioners are the mayors of St. Paul and Minneapolis, or their designees, who serve
a term equal to the term of office of such mayor. Of the 12 Commissioners that are appointed by the
Governor for terms of four years, eight are appointed from designated districts within the Metropolitan
Area and four are appointed from outside of the Metropolitan Area. From time to time, there have been
bills introduced in the Minnesota State Legislature that proposed changes to the membership of the
Commission. To date, none of these bills has been passed by the Minnesota State Legislature and signed
by the Governor; however, the Commission cannot predict if additional bills will be introduced in the
future to change the membership of the Commission or, if introduced and ultimately adopted by the
Minnesota State Legislature and signed by the Governor, what effect, if any, such changes might have on
the Commission.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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The present Commissioners, their occupations and term expirations dates are set forth in the

following table:
TABLE 6
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Commissioners'
Term
Name Position Occupation Expires
Rick King Chair Executive Vice President, Thomson N/A?
Reuters
Yodit Bizen Commissioner Certified Occupational Therapy January 2023
Assistant, Home Services
Server, HMS Host and MidField
Concessions
Katie Clark Sieben Commissioners Director, Cargill Foundation January 2021
Steve Cramer Commissioner President and CEO, Minneapolis January 2021
Downtown Council and Downtown
Improvement District
Carl Crimmins Commissioner Retired; Current President of January 2023
Minnesota Pipes Trades Association
James Deal Commissioner Retired; Former Owner and Chairman January 2021
of the Board of NAU
Leili Fatehi? Commissioner Owner and Principal, Apparatus Term of Office
Patti Gartland Commissioner President, Greater St. Cloud January 2022
Development Corporation
Richard Ginsberg Commissioners Owner, The Rotunda Group January 2021
Dixie Hoard Commissioner Realtor; Retired Flight Attendant January 2023
Ikram Koliso* Commissioner Policy Associate, Mayor Carter's Term of Office
Administration
Donald Monaco Commissioner Owner, Monaco Air Duluth, LLC January 2021
Randy Schubring Commissioner Director, State Govt. Relations & January 2020
Policy Development, Mayo Clinic
Rodney Skoog Commissioner Administrator/Fund Coordinator, January 2023

! One position on the Commission is currently vacant and the Governor of the State of Minnesota is currently in the process

of appointing a new member.
2 Serves at the pleasure of the Governor of the State of Minnesota.
3 Representative of the Mayor of the City of Minneapolis. Term expires when the Mayor’s term in office expires.

Minnesota Laborers Fringe Benefit
Funds

4Representative of the Mayor of the City of St. Paul. Term expires when the Mayor’s term in office expires.

Administration. Management and operation of the Commission are accomplished by the
Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer through his staff. The Commission is organized into five
divisions which include Executive; Finance and Revenue Development; Planning, Development and
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Environment; Management and Operations; and Strategy and Community/Stakeholder Engagement. The
following table sets forth the responsibilities of the five divisions.

TABLE 7
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Organization
Division Responsibilities
Executive Division Internal Audit, Legal Affairs, Governmental Affairs, and Information
Technology
Finance and Revenue Finance, Purchasing and Risk/Insurance/Safety, Human Resources and
Development Division Labor Relations, Commercial Management and Airline Affairs

Planning, Development and ~ Airport Development and Environment
Environmental Division

Management and MSP Airport Operations, Fire, Police, and Reliever Airports

Operations Division

Strategy and Corporation Communications and Creative Services, Strategic Marketing,
Community/Stakeholder Stakeholder Engagement, and Community Relations

Engagement Division
Chair and Administrative Staff.

Rick King, Chair. Governor Walz appointed Mr. King to serve as Chair of the Commission in
June 2019. He was first appointed to the Commission in 2011 and reappointed in 2015. Mr. King is the
past chair of the Commission’s Management and Operations Committee and the Planning, Development
and Environment Committee. He has been with Thomson Reuters since 2000 and currently serves as its
Executive Vice President, Operations. Prior to Thomson Reuters, Mr. King held executive-level positions
at Ceridian Employer Services, Jostens Learning and WICAT Systems Inc. He began his career as a
teacher and coach in Vermont. Mr. King was elected to the board of directors of TCF Financial
Corporation in 2014. He serves on the board of trustees for Minnesota Public Radio, Minneapolis
Institute of Art, Greater MSP (the regional economic development council), and Minnesota Business
Partnership. Mr. King was named by Governor Walz to chair the Governor’s Blue Ribbon Council on
Information Technology in February 2019, and he chaired Minnesota’s Ultra High-Speed Broadband
Task Force between 2008 and 2009. In 2012, Mr. King was named one of the “200 People to Watch” by
Twin Cities Business and won the CIO Career Achievement Award from the Minneapolis St Paul
Business Journal. Previously, he was honored as Minnesota’s 2008 Technology Executive of the Year by
the Minnesota High Tech Association and was named to Computerworld’s Top 100 Leaders in IT in
2007. Mr. King earned bachelor’s and master’s degrees from the University of Vermont.

Brian D. Ryks, Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Ryks was appointed Executive
Director/Chief Executive Officer of the Commission in May 2016. Prior to this appointment, he was the
Executive Director/CEO of the Gerald R. Ford International Airport in Grand Rapids, Michigan.
Between 2002 and 2012, Mr. Ryks was the Executive Director at the Duluth Airport Authority overseeing
the Duluth International Airport and Sky Harbor Airport, a general aviation airport, both located in
Duluth, Minnesota. During his ten years in Duluth, he oversaw the completion of $135 million in airport
improvements, culminating with a $77 million new terminal project. Prior to arriving in Duluth, Mr.
Ryks was employed for five years as the Airport Manager at St. Cloud Regional Airport (1997-2002) and
two years as the Airport Manager in Aberdeen, South Dakota (1996-1997). Mr. Ryks spent six years in
Denver as the Manager of Noise Abatement at Stapleton and Denver International Airports (1990-1996).
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He also was the Project Manager for the development and installation of an Airport Noise and Operations
Monitoring System at the Denver International Airport. He began his career as a Noise Technician at the
Commission in 1986. Mr. Ryks holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from St. Cloud State University, is a
licensed pilot with an instrument rating and is also an Accredited Airport Executive with the American
Association of Airport Executives (“AAAE”). He currently serves on the Board of Directors for Airports
Council International-North America (“ACI-NA”), is the Chairman of the ACI Audit Committee,
represents ACI-NA on its World Governing Board and is a member of the AAAE Policy Review
Committee. He also holds a professional affiliation with the Great Lakes Chapter of AAAE (“GL-
AAAE”) and is Past President of GL-AAAE.

Stephen L. Busch, Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer.” Mr. Busch was appointed Vice President,
Finance and Administration in June 2008. He also serves as Treasurer of the Commission. Prior to his
current appointment he served as Director of Finance of the Commission for 12 years. Mr. Busch has
worked for the Commission since 1981. He received his Bachelor of Science degree from St. Johns
University and holds a Masters of Business Administration degree from the University of St. Thomas.
Prior to his employment with the Commission, he worked for three years at Control Data Corporation and
Emmer Distribution Centers, a lumber wholesaler, for one year. In addition, he is a member of the
Government Finance Officers Association and is involved with ACI Economic Committee and ACI CFO
Committee issues.

Eduardo Valencia, Chief Information Officer. Mr. Valencia was appointed Chief Information
Officer in June 2016. He is responsible for overseeing the Commission’s Information Technology
Division. Mr. Valencia previously held positions with the State of Minnesota’s Office of Enterprise
Technology, where he started in 2008 as the State’s Chief Technology Officer. In 2011, he was appointed
deputy commissioner of the Minnesota Information Technology organization (MN.IT). Prior to his role
at MNL.IT, Mr. Valencia served as chief information officer for the Minnesota Department of Employment
and Economic Development, where he led the implementation of projects such as the unemployment
insurance integrated technology initiative, the Minnesota Works premier job bank rebuild, and the
development of cross-agency, cross-public sector customer relationship management solutions for
economic and labor development purposes. Mr. Valencia holds a B.A. in economics and Spanish from
the University of North Dakota and a masters in Management of Technology from the University of
Minnesota.

Roy R. Fuhrmann, Chief Operating Olfficer. Mr. Fuhrmann was appointed Chief Operating
Officer in January 2018. He is responsible for overseeing the Management and Operations Division,
Planning Development and Environment Division, Public Safety Division, Safety Management Systems
and Customer Data and Analytics. He also serves as the Chair of the Customer Service Action Council at
the Airport and as the Commission representative to the South Metro Public Safety Training Facility. Mr.
Fuhrmann previously served as the Vice President of Management and Operations for six years, Director
of Environment for 11 years and has worked for the Commission at various organizational levels since
1991. Mr. Fuhrmann holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Airport Administration from the University of
North Dakota. He also served for over 22 years in the military as an Aviation Commander and in staff
and flying positions during multiple deployments. Mr. Fuhrmann is Vice Chair of ACI’s Operations and
Technical Affairs Committee and previously served as the Chair of the ACI Environmental Affairs
Committee. He is an active commercial, instrument pilot and aircraft owner

! Mr. Busch has announced that he will be retiring on August 31, 2019. The Commission is currently in the process of searching
for a replacement for Mr. Busch.
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Atif Saeed, Vice President, Finance and Revenue Development. Mr. Saeed was appointed Vice
President, Finance and Revenue Development in October 2017. He oversees the Finance, Commercial
Management, Airline Affairs, and Risk and Insurance functions. Mr. Saeed joined the Commission in
June 2015 and served as Assistant Director, MSP Operations/Landside before being appointed to his
current role. Mr. Saeed previously held positions with the City of Atlanta at Hartsfield Jackson
International Airport and the City of Minneapolis Public Works Department with a focus on the
management of revenue-generating enterprises. Mr. Saeed received his Bachelor of Science in Business
Management from University of Phoenix and holds a Master of Business Administration from Arizona
State University’s W.P. Carey School of Business. He is also a graduate of the Senior Executives in State
and Local Government program at the Harvard Kennedy School of Government. Mr. Saeed holds and
maintains a number of certifications, including Accredited Airport Executive from AAAE, International
Airport Professional from ACI-NA and Certified Administrator of Public Parking from International
Parking and Mobility Institute.

James J Laurent, Vice President Human Resources and Labor Relations. Mr. Laurent was
appointed Vice President, Human Resources and Labor Relations in March 2012. In addition to human
resources and labor relations functions, Mr. Laurent’s department is responsible for diversity, equity and
inclusion including certification and management of disadvantaged business enterprise/targeted group
businesses compliance. His department also is responsible for employee engagement and training. Prior
to his current appointment, Mr. Laurent served for more than 11 years as the Labor Relations Manager
with the Commission. Prior to his employment with the Commission, he practiced for more than six
years in the employment and labor relations field with Northwest Airlines and approximately four years
with Hennepin County. Mr. Laurent is a licensed attorney who holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in
Political Science from the University of Minnesota, Duluth and a Juris Doctorate from William Mitchell
College of Law.

Chad E. Leqve, Vice President — Management and Operations. Mr. Leqve was appointed Vice
President, Management and Operations in June 2018. He is responsible for the facility, landside, airside
and field maintenance operations at the Airport, management and operation of the Reliever Airport
system and customer service programs at all of the airports in the Airport System. Prior to his current
appointment, Mr. Leqve served as the Director of Environment for 5 years and has worked at the
Commission at various organizational levels since 1996. Mr. Leqve holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Aviation Management from Saint Cloud State University and is a certified pilot. He has served in
numerous leadership roles as an ongoing member of ACI-NA. Mr. Leqve has served on numerous
national teams addressing industry challenges related to airport/aircraft operations, airspace optimization
and safety, efficiency, environmental performance, planning, regulatory compliance, and operation
optimization through technology development/integration.

Bridget Rief, Vice President, Planning and Development. Ms. Rief was appointed Vice President,
Planning and Development in July, 2017. She is responsible for overseeing the planning, design,
construction and environmental compliance at the Airport and the Reliever Airports. Ms. Rief also leads
the effort in developing and implementing the Commission’s annual CIP. She plays a key role in
coordinating projects with other departments of the Commission, as well as completing planning
documents and environmental reviews. Ms. Rief has been involved with public works and aviation for 26
years, with the last 21 of them at the Commission. She graduated from the University of Minnesota with
a Civil Engineering degree. She is also a graduate of the Hamline University Public Works Leadership
Academy.

Naomi Pesky, Vice President, Strategy and Stakeholder Engagement. Ms. Pesky was appointed

Vice President, Strategy and Stakeholder Engagement in April 2018. She oversees an in-house team of
professions who serve as stewards of strategy, develop strategic communications and create stakeholder
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champions to ensure the Commission delivers on its mission, vision and strategic plan. Specific functions
that are in her division include corporate communications, creative services, stakeholder engagement,
marketing, air service development, strategic planning and sustainability. Ms. Pesky has held leadership
roles in corporate and nonprofit organizations. Before joining the Commission, she was vice president of
external relations at Hennepin Theatre Trust, a performing arts organization in Minneapolis. Prior to that,
Ms. Pesky held leadership roles at The Saint Paul and Minnesota Foundations and General Mills. Ms.
Pesky is an active leader in the community and serves on the board of Temple Israel in Minneapolis. She
has a Bachelor of Arts from Northwestern University and a master’s degree in business administration
from the Ross School of Business at the University of Michigan. She also was a 2012-2013 policy fellow
at the Humphrey School of Public Affairs at the University of Minnesota.

Cameron Boyd, General Counsel. Mr. Boyd was appointed General Counsel in October 2017.
Mr. Boyd has served as in-house counsel at the Commission since 2004. He is responsible for overseeing
the Commission’s Legal Affairs department and advises the Commission and its staff regarding legal
matters. Prior to joining the Commission, Mr. Boyd was a commercial litigation associate with the law
firm of Lindquist & Vennum, P.L.L.P. (since merged with and known as Ballard Spahr LLP). Mr. Boyd
received his juris doctorate from the University of Minnesota and his Bachelor of Arts degree in
behavioral science and law from the University of Wisconsin — Madison. Mr. Boyd is a member of
various trade organizations and sits on the steering group of the Legal Committee for ACI-NA.

Robert C. Schauer, Director of Finance. Mr. Schauer was appointed Director of Finance in
August 2008. Prior to his current appointment, he served as Assistant Director of Finance and Manager
of Accounting and Finance of the Commission for 20 years. Mr. Schauer has worked for the Commission
since 1983. He received his Bachelor of Arts degree and Masters of Business Administration degree from
the University of St. Thomas. Mr. Schauer is a Certified Public Accountant and Certified Treasury
Professional. Prior to his employment with the Commission, he worked for St. Joseph’s Hospital in St.
Paul, Minnesota. In addition, he is a member of the Government Finance Officers Association and the
Association for Finance Professionals.

Employees. As of July 1, 2019, approximately 655 full-time employees, including maintenance
personnel, police officers, firefighters, clerical and professional persons, were employed by the
Commission. Commission management believes its relationship with the employees is satisfactory.
Certain employees of the Commission are unionized. The number of employees of the Commission
represented by unions, the representative union and the date of expiration of respective union contracts
are set forth in the following table.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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TABLE 8
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Union Representation of Employees

Number of Expiration Date of
Union Employees Union Contracts

International Association of Fire Fighters, Local S-6 (representing fire 40 December 31, 2019

fighters)
International Association of Fire Fighters, Local S-6 (representing fire 9 December 31, 2019

captains)
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 292 19 April 30, 2020
International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 49 20 December 31, 2019
International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 70 18 December 31, 2019
Lakes & Plains Regional Council of Carpenters 10 April 30, 2020
Law Enforcement Labor Services, Local 302 (Police Officers) 70 December 31, 2019
Law Enforcement Labor Services, Local 307 (Police Sergeants) 12 December 31, 2019
Law Enforcement Labor Services, Local 358 13 December 31, 2019
Law Enforcement Labor Services, Local 395 (Police Lieutenants) 5 December 31, 2019
Minnesota Teamsters Public and Law Enforcement Employees

Union, Local 320 93 June 30, 2020
Painter’s and Allied Trades, Local 386 10 April 30, 2020
United Association Plumbers, Local 34 10 April 30, 2020

Total 329

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.
MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
General

The Airport was opened in 1927 as Wold-Chamberlain Field, and was operated by the
Minneapolis Park Board until 1943, when it was transferred by State law to the Commission. In 1946, the
Commission designated the field as the primary Air Carrier airport for the Metropolitan Area and
renamed the Airport the Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport-Wold-Chamberlain Field.

The Airport is primarily located within Hennepin County which is within the
Minneapolis-St. Paul-Bloomington Metropolitan Statistical Area (the “MSA”). The MSA is composed of
16 counties located in the east-central region of the State and the western portion of Wisconsin. The
Minnesota counties include Anoka, Carver, Chisago, Dakota, Hennepin, Isanti, Le Sueur, Mille Lacs,
Ramsey, Scott, Sherburne, Sibley, Washington and Wright; and the Wisconsin counties include Pierce
and St. Croix. The population of the MSA for 2018 was estimated by the U.S. Department of Commerce
to be 3.6 million See “APPENDIX A—REPORT OF AIRPORT CONSULTANT” for further discussion
of the MSA.

Current Airport Facilities

Runways. The Airport maintains four air-transport-type runways, including two parallel
northwest-southeast runways, one north-south runway and one northeast-southwest cross-wind runway.
The runways provide operational facilities to cover varying wind conditions and are connected by a
system of taxiways and aprons. In addition, all eight of the runway approach directions are equipped with
high-intensity runway lighting and instrument landing systems which permit continuous operation under
almost all weather conditions. The northerly northwest-southeast runway (Runway 12L/30R) is 8,200
feet long and 150 feet wide. The parallel northwest-southeast runway (Runway 12R/30L) is 10,000 feet
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long and 200 feet wide. The north-south runway (Runway 17/35) is 8,000 feet long and 150 feet wide.
The northeast-southwest runway (Runway 4/22), which is provided to cover other wind conditions, is
11,000 feet long and 150 feet wide. The runways, in the opinion of the Commission’s engineers, have
sufficient capacity and are of sufficient strength to permit the operation of the largest existing commercial
aircraft. The boundaries of the Airport provide sufficient clear area for runway approaches to meet the
requirements of the FAA. However, see “CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS—
Regulations and Restrictions Affecting the Airport—Restrictions on Use of Runway 17/35.”

Terminal Facilities. Passenger terminal facilities at the Airport are located in two separate
buildings: Terminal 1 and Terminal 2. International arrivals facilities (“IAF”) at the Airport are located in
both of the passenger terminal facilities. Terminal 1 and Terminal 2 are connected by the light rail system
that runs between downtown Minneapolis and the Mall of America (the “Light Rail System”). The Light
Rail System includes stations at Terminal 1 and Terminal 2. Passengers are allowed to ride the Light Rail
System between Terminal 1 and Terminal 2 free of charge. During peak traffic times during the year, a
shuttle bus also provides transportation between Terminal 1 and Terminal 2, which are approximately 3.5
miles apart.

Terminal 1 is a three level structure consisting of approximately 2.8 million square feet of space,
of which approximately 1.3 million square feet are considered rentable. Terminal 1 currently consists of
one terminal (the “Main Building”) and seven concourses designated as the A, B, C, D, E, F and G
Concourses. Terminal 1 also includes the principal IAF; the ground transportation center; and a valet
parking garage, which is located beneath the terminal. The seven concourses, which extend from the
Main Building, provide a total of 104 aircraft gates, of which 103 utilize passenger loading bridges and
one of which supports three hard-stand positions used for ground boarding small aircraft. Concourses A
and B are comprised of 11 and 8 gates, respectively, and are leased to Delta which utilizes them for
regional airline operations. Additionally, a hold room on Concourse B accommodates three hard stand
positions.

Within Terminal 1 are ticketing facilities on the second level in the Main Building; security
checkpoint locations on the second level in the Main Building and at the entrance to the G Concourse
from the parking garage skyway; passenger boarding facilities on the second level in each of the seven
concourses; baggage claim and the international arrivals waiting area on the ground or first level; and the
ground transportation center, which contains covered space for shuttle and taxi pickup on the ground
level. Concessions are located throughout Terminal 1, the majority of which are located past the security
checkpoints. A coffee shop is located outside of the secure areas of Terminal 1 and is available to all
visitors to the Airport, ticketed passengers and non-ticketed passengers.

The majority of international arrivals and departures at the Airport are conducted from the IAF on
the G Concourse. The facility contains dual-purpose domestic-international gates that provide ten aircraft
loading positions (at nine gates) with international arrival capability. The total processing capacity of this
IAF is estimated to be approximately 800 passengers per hour.

Terminal 2 is a three-story structure consisting of approximately 639,000 square feet of space and
14 gates. Four of the 14 gates consist of international arrival facility gates. The Commission has
designated Terminal 2 as a common use facility. There are five airlines with regularly scheduled service
at Terminal 2. Typical utilization of the Terminal 2 gates consists of Sun Country primarily operating out
of six gates, Southwest out of four gates and JetBlue out of one gate. Currently due to demand, the
majority of the remaining Terminal 2 gate availability is used by Condor, Icelandair, Sun Country and
Southwest on a common use basis.
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Parking Facilities. The parking facilities located at the Airport currently provide approximately
23,425 public parking spaces. The on-Airport parking options include a valet garage, short-term and
long-term parking located adjacent to and below Terminal 1, a “Quick Ride” parking ramp located
approximately one mile from Terminal 1, and short-term and long-term parking located adjacent to
Terminal 2.

The public parking facilities located adjacent to and below Terminal 1 contain 13,453 public
parking spaces. The valet garage located beneath Terminal 1 provides 389 parking spaces, with the
remaining 13,064 parking spaces contained in two seven-level parking garages and two nine-level parking
garages that are connected to Terminal 1 and the G Concourse via an enclosed skyway and a surface
parking lot located adjacent to the parking garages. The parking garages also can be accessed via the
ground transportation center. Thirty percent of the two nine-level parking garages are utilized by the ten
on-Airport rental car brands and the remaining 70% is utilized for public parking. See “CAPITAL
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM?” for information regarding the construction of the new parking garage
adjacent to Terminal 1, which is expected to open in 2020 and contain approximately 3,300 public
parking spaces. Upon completion of the new parking garage, the rental car companies will move most of
their operations to the new garage which will free-up approximately 1,700 parking spaces in the other
parking garages at Terminal 1 that will be used for public parking.

The “Quick Ride” parking ramp was opened in March 2015 with 1,302 spaces and located
approximately one mile from Terminal 1 on Northwest Drive. The facility is mainly used as an overflow
parking garage for the parking facilities located adjacent to and below Terminal 1 during peak demand
times.

The public parking facilities located adjacent to Terminal 2 currently provide approximately
8,670 public parking spaces that are contained in two nine-level parking garages. Two levels of one of
the parking garages are used by the ten on-Airport rental car brands. Approximately 2,203 of the 8,670
public parking spaces are used for employee parking. If the parking garages near capacity, the employees
are required to park in two surface parking lots located near Terminal 2, thereby freeing up the spaces for
the public.

Four off-Airport private parking facilities serve passengers of the Airport and provide an
estimated additional 5,450 automobile parking spaces.

Other Facilities. In addition to the facilities described above, the following facilities also are
located at the Airport:

. Several Air Carriers have maintenance facilities located on the Airport, including Delta,
Endeavor and Sun Country. Delta occupies two large hangar facilities (Delta Building B
and Delta Building C) that include support functions such as office space, shops, engine-
testing cells, computer facilities and storage. Delta Building B, can accommodate either
three narrowbody or two 747-sized aircraft. Delta Building C has capacity to
accommodate six narrowbody, two widebody, and two 747-400 aircraft simultaneously.
Endeavor occupies a large hangar facility that was previously used by Delta for
maintenance on 747 aircraft.

Sun Country is in the process of converting a hangar, that it leases from the Commission,

into office space. Once completed, Sun Country will move its corporate headquarters to
this space. The leased premises includes approximately 440,000 square feet.
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. The Airport rescue and firefighting facility is located between the west end of Runways
12R/30L and 12L/30R. The facility is operated by the Commission and staffed with
Commission employees.

. The Commission houses a portion of its administrative offices and buildings for
maintenance facilities and equipment on the west side of the Airport along 28" Avenue.

. Various buildings and areas are used for cargo operations, including facilities for FedEx
and UPS.
. The military occupies land along 34" Avenue between Runways 12R/30L and 12L/30R

and a second area, located on the northeast side of the Airport; while not located on
Airport property, the land contains taxiway connectors and a small section of apron area.

Aviation Activity

Airport Enplanements. The Airport is classified by the FAA as one of the large hub airports in
the United States. According to ACI statistics, in calendar year 2017 (the latest available information),
the Airport was the 17" busiest airport in the nation in terms of passenger volume and the 25" busiest
airport in the nation in terms of total cargo. The following table sets forth total enplaned and deplaned
passengers and cargo information for 2017 as reported by ACI for the Airport as compared to other
airports in the United States.

TABLE 9
2017 Ranking of U.S. Airports
(for the 12 months ended December 31, 2017)

Total Passengers ! Total Cargo '
(in thousands) (freight and mail, in thousands of metric tons)
Rank Airport Passengers  Rank Airport Cargo

1 Atlanta 103,903 1 Memphis 4,336.8
2 Los Angeles 84,558 2 Anchorage 2,713.2
3 Chicago 79,828 3 Louisville 2,602.7
13 Phoenix 43,922 21 Boston 3214
14 Newark 43,234 22 Washington, D.C. (Dulles) 299.5
15 Houston 40,696 23 Denver 265.2
16 Boston 38,455 24 Portland 236.8
17 Minneapolis-St. Paul 38,034 25 Minneapolis-St. Paul 2294
18 Detroit 34,701 26 Orlando 220.0
19 Ft. Lauderdale 32,511 27 Detroit 216.2
20 Philadelphia 29,586 28 Rockford, IL 195.6
21 New York (LaGuardia) 29,568 29 Charlotte 191.6

! Sum of enplaned and deplaned volume.
Source: ACI, 2017 North American Traffic Report.
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The following table sets forth historical enplanement information for the Airport for the years
ended December 31, 2008 through 2018 and for the first six months of 2018 and 2019. The table
categorizes enplanement information into origin and destination (“O&D”) enplanements and connecting
enplanements.

TABLE 10
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
O&D and Connecting Passengers'

0&D Connecting % Change
Enplaned % of Enplaned % of from Previous

Year? Passengers Total Passengers Total Total Year
2008 8,356,000 51.0% 8,028,000 49.0% 16,384,000 3.5%
2009 8,319,000 53.5 7,233,000 46.5 15,552,000 (5.1)
2010 8,347,000 53.1 7,368,000 46.9 15,715,000 1.0
2011 8,419,000 52.7 7,553,000 473 15,972,000 1.6
2012 8,441,000 52.7 7,579,000 473 16,020,000 0.3
2013 8,681,000 53.0 7,690,000 47.0 16,371,000 2.2
2014 9,069,000 53.3 7,939,000 46.7 17,008,000 39
2015 9,580,000 54.0 8,155,000 46.0 17,735,000 4.3
2016 10,282,000 56.6 7,879,000 434 18,161,000 2.4
2017 10,770,000 58.6 7,616,000 414 18,386,000 1.2
2018 11,256,000 61.2 7,126,000 38.8 18,382,000 0.0

First 6

Months?

2018 5,718,000 64.0% 3,218,000 36.0% 8,936,000 —
2019 5,919,000 64.4 3,275,000 35.6 9,194,000 2.9%

! Passenger figures are rounded to the nearest thousand.

2 Year ended December 31.

3 January 1 through June 30. Results for the first six months of Fiscal Year 2019 may not be indicative of
results for the full Fiscal Year 2019.

Sources: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Airport Operations. The following table sets forth information regarding aircraft operations at the Airport for the years ended
December 31, 2008 through 2018 and for the first six months of 2018 and 2019.

TABLE 11
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Aircraft Operations

Air Carrier Commuter Cargo Total Commercial Percent Commercial General Aviation Military Total

Year' Operations Operations Operations Operations® Operations® Operations Operations Operations
2008 226,646 176,237 14,361 417,244 92.71% 30,685 2,115 450,044
2009 211,114 183,911 11,426 406,451 93.93 24,361 1,892 432,704
2010 191,341 203,169 12,449 406,959 93.11 27,921 2,145 437,075
2011 178,896 217,267 12,203 408,366 93.55 26,157 1,983 436,506
2012 184,134 203,684 11,231 399,049 93.82 24,903 1,380 425,332
2013 193,679 203,106 11,701 408,486 94.68 21,747 1,185 431,418
2014 189,851 185,664 12,199 387,714 93.97 23,793 1,079 412,586
2015 205,715 162,779 12,789 381,283 94.23 22,077 1,252 404,612
2016 213,682 161,427 14,400 389,509 94.25 22,455 1,315 413,279
2017 228,393 149,924 14,911 393,228 94.48 22,226 759 416,213
2018 221,558 149,108 15,455 386,121 94.76 20,229 1,126 407,476

First 6

Months®

2018 107,259 75,149 7,364 189,772 94.64% 10,133 610 200,515
2019* 110,332 70,514 6,995 187,841 94.83 9,801 450 198,092

Year ended December 31.

January 1 through June 30. Results for the first six months of Fiscal Year 2019 may not be indicative of results for the full Fiscal Year 2019.

Total Commercial Operations equal Air Carrier Operations (including charters), Commuter Operations and Cargo Operations.

On March 13, 2019, the FAA ordered the temporary grounding of the Boeing 737 MAX aircraft operated by U.S. airlines or foreign flag carriers operating in U.S. territory. Southwest Airlines and Icelandair are the only airlines that
had scheduled flights using this aircraft at the Airport. Prior to the temporary grounding in March 2019, the aircraft was operated on approximately 0.20% and 0.27% of the Airport’s total scheduled flights and seats, respectively.
Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.
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Landed Weight. The following table sets forth landed weight information for the Airport for the
years ended December 31, 2008 through 2018 and for the first six months of 2018 and 2019.

TABLE 12
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Aircraft Landed Weight
(in thousands of pounds)
Type of Air Carrier Total Landed
Year! Passenger All Cargo Weight
2008 21,047,357 1,095,773 22,143,130
2009 20,352,347 918,453 21,270,800
2010 19,856,212 986,029 20,842,241
2011 19,945,169 897,211 20,842,380
2012 19,625,108 885,442 20,510,550
2013 20,225,040 926,429 21,151,469
2014 20,224,580 965,912 21,190,492
2015 20,577,785 984,305 21,562,090
2016 21,178,343 996,424 22,174,767
2017 21,571,010 985,077 22,556,087
20182 21,499,942 1,025,400 22,525,342
First 6
Months®
2018 10,543,575 476,428 11,020,003
2019 10,650,187 578,371 11,228,558
! Year ended December 31.

2 During 2018, Delta’s operations represented 68.3% of Total Landed Weight of
Signatory Airlines at the Airport.

3 January 1 through June 30. Results for the first six months of Fiscal Year 2019
may not be indicative of results for the full Fiscal Year 2019.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Air Carriers Serving the Airport

General. As of July 1, 2019, the Airport was served by 39 Air Carriers, including 21 U.S.-flag
carriers providing scheduled service, 7 foreign-flag carriers providing scheduled service and 11 all-cargo
service carriers. The following table sets forth the Air Carriers providing service at the Airport as of
July 1, 2019.

TABLE 13
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Air Carriers Serving the Airport!

(As of July 1, 2019)
U.S.-Flag Carriers

Air Choice One Envoy? PSA?
Air Wisconsin? Express Jet>* Republic Airlines®**
Alaska Frontier SkyWest*+6
American Go Jet** Southwest
Boutique Air Horizon Air’ Spirit
Delta JetBlue Sun Country
Endeavor® Mesa* United

Foreign-Flag Carriers

Aer Lingus Condor KLM
Air Canada Icelandair Sky Regional’
Air France

All-Cargo Service

ABX Air CSA Air Kalitta®

Air Transport International Encore Air Cargo Mountain Air Cargo
Atlas Air Cargo®’ FedEx UPS

Bemid;i'® IFL Group!!

! Excludes carriers reporting fewer than 1,000 enplaned passengers per annum. Does not indicate which major

air carriers codeshare with each other.
Codeshare with American.

Codeshare with Delta.

Codeshare with United.

Doing business as Alaska Airlines. Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air are separately certified airlines owned by
Alaska Air Group, Inc.

Codeshare with Alaska.

Codeshare with Air Canada.

Provides air service to DHL.

Provides air service to Amazon.

10 Provides air service to UPS.

1 Provides air service to FedEx.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.
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Three branches of the United States Armed Forces are represented at the Airport: the Air Force
Reserve 934th Tactical Airlift Group, the Marine Air Reserve Training Detachment, and the Naval Air
Reserve-Twin Cities Center. Also located at the Airport is the Minnesota Air National Guard 133
Tactical Airlift Group. At the St. Paul Downtown Airport, the Army maintains a dozen support
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helicopters and the National Guard bases its Fixed Wing Squadron. Training flights, servicing and
simulated emergencies are conducted on a regular basis.

Enplanements by Air Carriers. Enplanements (departing passengers) for the largest Air Carriers
operating at the Airport for the years ended December 31, 2014 through 2018 are shown in the following
table.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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TABLE 14
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Air Carrier Market Share
Total Enplaned Passengers !

(for the 12 months ended December 31)
(Ranked on 2018 results)

% of % of % of % of % of
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Air Carrier 2014 Total? 2015 Total? 2016 Total? 2017 Total? 2018 Total?
Delta 12,600,000 74.1% 12,910,000 72.8% 12,908,000 71.1% 12,992,000 70.7% 13,126,000 71.4%
Mainline 8,595,000 50.5 9,139,000 51.5 9,321,000 51.3 9,787,000 53.2 9,885,000 53.8
Regional Affiliates 4,005,000 23.6 3,771,000 21.3 3,587,000 19.8 3,205,000 174 3,241,000 17.6
Sun Country 815,000 4.8 1,029,000 5.8 1,111,000 6.1 1213,000 6.6 1,181,000 6.4
American’ 1,092,000 6.4 1,118,000 6.3 1,190,000 6.6 1,170,000 6.4 1,041,000 5.7
Southwest 948,000 5.6 942,000 53 1,0543,000 5.8 1,028,000 5.6 971,000 53
United 643,000 3.8 779,000 4.4 867,000 4.8 841,000 4.6 793,000 4.3
Spirit 495,000 2.9 518,000 2.9 607,000 33 622,000 34 579,000 3.2
Frontier 229,000 1.3 227,000 1.3 164,000 0.9 175,000 1.0 246,000 1.3
Alaska 92,000 0.5 96,000 0.5 138,000 0.8 160,000 0.9 175,000 09
JetBlue - - — - - — 77,000 04
Air Canada 38,000 0.2 41,000 0.2 43,000 0.2 50,000 0.3 58,000 0.3
Icelandair 20,000 0.1 29,000 0.2 40,000 0.2 50,000 0.3 46,000 0.2
Other 33,000 0.2 42.000 0.2 40,000 0.2 83.000 _ 04 90,000 0.5
Total* 17,008,000 100.0% 17,732,000 100.0% 18,161,000 100.0% 18,385,000 100.0% 18,382,000 100.0%

1
2

Passenger figures are rounded to the nearest thousand.

Percentages may not sum to totals due to rounding.

3 Effective December 9, 2013, AMR Corporation, along with its subsidiaries American Airlines and American Eagle, merged with US Airways Group, Inc. American Airlines and US Airways began
operating as a single airline (under the American brand) in October 2015. Enplanements are for both American and US Airways.

Total may not sum to totals due to rounding.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission

4
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Enplanements (departing passengers) for the largest Air Carriers operating at the Airport for the
first six months of 2018 and 2019 are shown in the following table.

TABLE 15
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Air Carrier Market Share
Total Enplaned Passengers !

(for the 6 months ended June 30)
(Ranked on 2019 results)

% of % of
2018 2018

Air Carrier 2018 Total' 2019 Total'?

Delta 6,298,000 70.5% 6,509,000 70.8%
Mainline 4,713,000 52.7 4,924,000 53.6
Regional Affiliates 1,585,000 17.7 1,585,000 17.2
Sun Country 639,000 7.2 715,000 7.8
American 510,000 5.7 505,000 5.5
Southwest 469,000 5.2 457,000 5.0
United 375,000 4.2 365,000 4.0
Spirit 287,000 3.2 295,000 32
Frontier 121,000 14 120,000 1.3
Alaska 90,000 1.0 80,000 0.9
JetBlue 21,000 0.2 56,000 0.6
Air Canada 27,000 0.3 28,000 0.3
Icelandair 19,000 0.2 19,000 0.2
Air France 10,000 0.1 14,000 0.2
Other 70,000 0.8 31,000 0.3

Total* 8,936,000 100.0% 9,194,000 100.0%

! Percentages may not sum to totals due to rounding.

2 Results for the first six months of Fiscal Year 2019 may not be indicative of results for
the full Fiscal Year 2019.

3 Total may not sum due to rounding.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Cargo Handled by Air Carriers. The following table presents the total cargo handled (enplaned
and deplaned) by the largest Air Carriers operating at the Airport for the years ended December 31, 2014
through 2018.

TABLE 16
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Air Carrier Market Share
Total Cargo Handled (tons in thousands) !
(for the 12 months ended December 31)
(Ranked on 2018 results)

% of
2018
Airline 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Total
FedEx 87.9 85.2 99.7 101.9 101.9 38.6%
UPS 61.1 58.7 58.1 63.9 69.8 26.5
Delta 53.5 55.6 45.7 60.3 60.9 23.1
Atlas Air Cargo®’ - - - - 9.8 3.7
Kalitta Air? - - - - 5.5 2.1
Sun Country 2.9 5.0 7.3 7.9 5.2 2.0
KLM - - - 2.0 3.1 1.2
Southwest 1.8 2.1 2.8 1.8 1.7 0.6
Air France 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.4 1.1 0.5
Mountain Cargo 1.1 0.9 1.1 1.1 1.1 0.4
United 1.8 2.8 2.5 1.9 1.0 0.4
American* 1.2 0.8 1.2 1.1 0.9 0.3
ASTAR Air Cargo? 6.2 6.8 3.9 7.7 - 0.0
All Other 1.1 _15 _ 55 2.9 _ 18 _ 06
Total 218.9 219.7 228.1 252.9 263.8 100.0%

! Sum of enplaned and deplaned cargo. Tonnages and percentages may not sum to totals due to rounding.

2 Provides air service to DHL.

3 Provides air service to Amazon.

3 Effective December 9, 2013, AMR Corporation, along with its subsidiaries American Airlines and American Eagle, merged with
US Airways Group, Inc. American Airlines and US Airways began operating as a single airline (under the American brand) in
October 2015. Cargo numbers are for both American and US Airways.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.
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The following table presents the total cargo handled (enplaned and deplaned) by the largest Air
Carriers operating at the Airport for the first six months of 2018 and 2019.

TABLE 17
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Air Carrier Market Share
Total Cargo Handled (tons in thousands) !
(for the 6 months ended June 30)
(Ranked on 2019 Results)

2018 % of 20192 % of
Airline (tons) 2018 Total (tons) 2019 Total?
FedEx 50.6 40.2% 433 35.0%
UPS 32.9 26.1 34.5 27.9
Delta 30.4 24.1 28.2 22.8
Atlas Air Cargo®* 3.2 2.5 6.5 5.3
Kalitta Air® 1.3 1.0 3.9 32
Sun Country 2.9 2.3 2.3 1.9
KLM 1.6 1.3 1.8 1.5
Southwest 0.8 0.6 1.0 0.8
United 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.3
American 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.3
All Other 1.3 _1.0 1.5 1.2
Total 125.9 100.0% 123.8 100.0%
1 Sum of enplaned and deplaned cargo. Tonnages and percentages may not sum to totals due to
rounding.
2 Results for the first six months of Fiscal Year 2019 may not be indicative of results for the full
Fiscal Year 2019.

3 Provides air service to DHL.
4 Provides air service to Amazon.
Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

AGREEMENTS WITH AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES
General

The Commission has entered into, and receives payments under, several different agreements
with various airlines and other parties, including lease agreements relating to landing fees and the leasing
of space in terminal buildings, leases with Delta, leases relating to cargo and miscellaneous hangar
facilities, concession agreements relating to the sale of goods and services at the Airport, and other leases
relating to the construction of buildings and facilities for specific tenants.

Airline Lease Agreements

General. In January 2019, the Commission and the Air Carriers operating at the Airport agreed
to the new Airline Lease Agreements. The terms and provisions of the new Airline Lease Agreements are
very similar to the terms of the previous airline lease agreements, except for certain provisions, including
among others, the term of the new Airline Lease Agreements is December 31, 2023 or December 31,
2030 (each Air Carrier can select which term they want), and the formula for the calculation of the
sharing of certain concession revenues was amended. Ten of the Air Carriers operating at the Airport,
including Delta have executed or are expected to execute an Airline Lease Agreement that has an
expiration date of December 31, 2030; and 26 Air Carriers operating at the Airport have executed or are
expected to execute an Airline Lease Agreement that has an expiration date of December 31, 2023.
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Pending the execution of a new Airline Lease Agreement, the applicable Air Carrier operates at the
Airport pursuant to the terms of the new Airline Lease Agreement. The Commission expects three of the
Air Carriers operating at the Airport will not enter into an Airline Lease Agreement and will instead
operate at the Airport pursuant to an ordinance adopted by the Commission that sets landing fees and
terminal rentals for Air Carriers that are not a signatory to an Airline Lease Agreement.

Any airline that does not execute an Airline Lease Agreement and continues to operate at the
Airport is charged landing fees and terminal rentals as set by ordinances adopted by the Commission.
The landing fees and terminal rentals charged pursuant to ordinance are generally higher than the landing
fees and terminal rentals charged under the Airline Lease Agreements, but are subject to the FAA rules
and regulations with respect to rates and charges imposed by airports.

The Airline Lease Agreements provide for, among other things, the use of the airfield and apron
areas of the Airport and the lease of certain space in the terminal buildings. The Airline Lease
Agreements also establish, among other things, procedures for the annual calculation of rents, fees and
charges for the use of the Airport. Included in the rates and charges under the Airline Lease Agreements
are the required deposits under the Senior Indenture and the Subordinate Indenture, including deposits to
any debt service reserve funds established for the Senior Bonds and the Subordinate Obligations. The
Airline Lease Agreements do not allow the Commission to include required deposits to the Maintenance
and Operation Reserve Account or the Coverage Account, in the calculation of rates, fees and charges,
except for such amounts which are necessary to be deposited to the Coverage Account in order to meet
the rate covenant requirements under the Senior Indenture and the Subordinate Indenture.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Commission reported revenues of $110,563,000
collected from the Signatory Airlines pursuant to the terms of the Airline Lease Agreements.

Rates, Fees and Charges. Following is a brief discussion of certain provisions with respect to
the rates, fees and charges set forth in the Airline Lease Agreements. See “APPENDIX D—FORM OF
AIRLINE LEASE AGREEMENT” for additional information on the Airline Lease Agreements.

The rates, fees and charges under the Airline Lease Agreements are calculated on a compensatory
rate-setting methodology for the passenger terminal buildings and a cost-center residual rate-setting
methodology for the airfield. The Airline Lease Agreements define 12 cost centers (including, but not
limited to, the airfield, Terminal 1, Terminal 2, terminal aprons and ramps, the IAF, landside, equipment
buildings and administration) to be used in accounting for revenues and expenses and for calculating
rents, fees and charges. The Signatory Airlines are charged “Recoverable Costs” for each of the cost
centers, which include: direct and indirect operation and maintenance expenses; annual debt service costs
(net of amounts paid with PFCs or grants); and the required deposits pursuant to the Senior Indenture and
the Subordinate Indenture, including amounts required to be deposited to any debt service reserve funds
established for the Senior Bonds and the Subordinate Obligations, but excluding amounts which may be
deposited in the Coverage Account and the Maintenance and Operation Reserve Account outlined in the
Senior Indenture, except for such amounts which are necessary to be deposited in the Coverage Account
in order for the Commission to meet the rate covenant requirements of the Senior Indenture and the
Subordinate Indenture.

In addition to Recoverable Costs, the Signatory Airlines are charged annually, among certain
airline cost centers, $22.8 million (in 2019 dollars, escalated by 3% per year beginning in 2020) which is
deposited to a repair and replacement account (the “Repair and Replacement Account”) within the
Commission Construction Fund for major maintenance and minor (less than $5 million) capital projects,
except for parking facilities and roadways.
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Following is a summary of several of the rate setting methodologies provided for in the Airline
Lease Agreements. See also “APPENDIX D—FORM OF AIRLINE LEASE AGREEMENT—RENTS,
FEES, AND CHARGES?” for further information on the rate setting methodology. Pursuant to the Airline
Lease Agreements, the landing fee rates at the Airport per 1,000 pounds of aircraft weight are calculated
by dividing the net airfield cost by the total landed weight of the Signatory Airlines. The net airfield cost
is calculated as Recoverable Costs, plus, (a) the landing fee repair and replacement amount (65.6% of the
amount deposited to the Repair and Replacement Account each year), (b) $79,535.16 annually
(representing the costs of Runway 17/35 not yet charged to the Signatory Airlines), and (¢) certain fines,
assessments, judgments, settlements or extraordinary charges, less certain revenues including: service fees
from the military; general aviation and nonsignatory landing fees; and debt service on capital costs, if any,
disapproved by a Majority-In-Interest of the Signatory Airlines.

Air Carriers that are not Signatory Airlines are charged a landing fee rate as established pursuant
to an ordinance adopted by the Commission. Pursuant to the provisions of the ordinance, for Fiscal Year
2016, the Commission charges Air Carriers that are not Signatory Airlines a landing fee rate equal to the
greater of (i) 125% of the Signatory Airline landing fee rate and (ii) $70.

Rental rates at Terminal 1 are calculated on the basis of dividing the net terminal building cost by
total rentable space. The net terminal building cost is calculated as Recoverable Costs, plus
$2,910,547.40 annually (representing the costs of Concourses A, B, C and D not yet charged to the
Signatory Airlines), less certain reimbursed expenses for carrousel and conveyor debt service and
maintenance and operation costs, ground power, porter service, loading dock and consortium utilities, and
janitorial operation and maintenance expenses.

The IAF use fee is charged for use of the IAF on the G Concourse and is calculated as the sum of
certain costs associated with the IAF divided by total international passengers arriving at the IAF. A gate
use fee per aircraft operation is also charged for the use of gates, ramps and loading bridges on the IAF.
The gate use fee per operation is $400, $800 and $1,200 for propeller aircraft, narrowbody jet aircraft, and
widebody jet aircraft, respectively. The Commission imposes certain other fees and charges for the use of
the Airport, including, among others, the terminal apron fees and a carrousel and conveyor charge.

Rates for the use and occupancy of Terminal 2 are not set by the Airline Lease Agreements. The
Commission establishes the rents, fees and charges and the terms for the common-use of Terminal 2 by
ordinance.

The Airline Lease Agreements provide that: (a) except as otherwise provided in the Airline Lease
Agreements, no capital projects are subject to approval by a Majority-in-Interest of the Signatory Airlines
except for airfield projects costing in excess of $5 million; and (b) the Commission cannot charge the
airlines for the cost of improvements to the airfield if a Majority-in-Interest of the Signatory Airlines have
disapproved the project, provided that such improvements are subject to the approval of a Majority-in-
Interest of the Signatory Airlines. The Airline Lease Agreements allow the Commission to establish a
Contingency Fund in the amount of $72 million per year beginning in 2019 to be funded from excess
revenues and used for capital projects, including projects in the airfield cost center, to be determined by
the Commission. Any projects funded from the Contingency Fund will not require Majority-in-Interest
approval. The Airline Lease Agreements define “Majority-in-Interest” as the Signatory Airlines who
(a) represent no less than 50% in number of the Signatory Airlines operating at the time of the voting
action and (b) paid no less than 40% of landing fees incurred by Signatory Airlines during the preceding
Fiscal Year. Included in such rates and charges would be amounts sufficient to cover the Commission’s
costs of the capital improvements to the airfield, terminal and runways at the Airport.
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If, during the course of the year, the Commission believes significant variances exist in budgeted
or estimated expense amounts that were used to calculate rents, fees, and charges for the then current
Fiscal Year, the Commission may after notice to the Signatory Airlines adjust the rents, fees, and charges
for future monthly billing to reflect current estimated expenditure amounts.

As soon as practical following the close of each Fiscal Year, but in no event later than July 1, the
Commission is required to furnish to each Signatory Airline an accounting of the costs actually incurred
and revenues and credits actually realized during the previous Fiscal Year with respect to each of the
components of the calculation of the rents, fees, and charges broken down by rate making cost center. In
the event a Signatory Airline’s rents, fees, and charges billed during the previous Fiscal Year exceed the
amount of such Signatory Airline’s rents, fees, and charges required (as recalculated based on actual costs
and revenues), such excess is refunded or credited to the Signatory Airline. In the event such Signatory
Airline’s rents, fees, and charges billed during the previous Fiscal Year are less than the amount of such
Signatory Airline’s rents, fees, and charges required (as recalculated based on actual costs and revenues),
such deficiency is charged to the Signatory Airline in a supplemental billing. For Fiscal Year 2017,
collections from the Signatory Airlines were in excess by approximately $1.7 million, which excess was
returned to the Signatory Airlines during Fiscal Year 2018. For Fiscal Year 2018, collections from the
Signatory Airlines were deficient by approximately $4.9 million, which deficiency was billed to the
Signatory Airlines during Fiscal Year 2019.

Food and beverage, merchandise and on-Airport auto-rental annual gross concession revenues
(not including any CFCs) (“Selected Concession Revenues”) are shared with the Signatory Airlines that
provide passenger service at the Airport (the “Passenger Signatory Airlines”) (allocated among the
Passenger Signatory Airlines based upon their proportionate share of enplanements at the Airport for the
applicable Fiscal Year). The amount of Selected Concession Revenues that is shared with the Signatory
Airlines each Fiscal Year (the “Revenue Sharing”) is based on the following formula:

(D) For Fiscal Years 2019 and 2020, if the Enplaned Passenger Growth Percentage
for the most recent Fiscal Year is one percent or less, the Revenue Sharing percentage for that
Fiscal Year shall be 31.00%. For Fiscal Years after 2020, if the Enplaned Passenger Growth
Percentage for the most recent Fiscal Year is one percent or less, the Revenue Sharing percentage
for that Fiscal Year shall be 33.00%.

2) For Fiscal Years 2019 and 2020, if the Enplaned Passenger Growth Percentage
for the most recent Fiscal Year is more than one percent, the Revenue Sharing percentage for that
Fiscal Year shall be the sum of (i) 31.00% and (ii) one-half of the Enplaned Passenger Growth
Percentage. For Fiscal Years after 2020, if the Enplaned Passenger Growth Percentage for the
most recent Fiscal Year is more than one percent, the Revenue Sharing percentage for that Fiscal
Year shall be the sum of (i) 33.00% and (ii) one-half of the Enplaned Passenger Growth
Percentage.

“Enplaned Passenger Growth Percentage” means the percentage change of enplaned
passengers comparing the current Fiscal Year to the previous Fiscal Year, rounded to the nearest
hundredth of a percent.

The total amount of Revenue Sharing is structured as a post-year-end rebate to the Signatory
Airlines issued by the Commission no later than 240 days following each Fiscal Year. Notwithstanding
the agreement to share a portion of the Selected Concession Revenues, the amount of Revenue Sharing
will be reduced to the extent necessary so that Net Revenues, after subtracting the Revenue Sharing, will
not be less than 1.25 times the total annual debt service on Senior Parity Bonds, Subordinate Obligations
and other debt obligations of the Commission. In the event that the Revenue Sharing is reduced in any
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year, such reduction will be deferred until the next Fiscal Year and will be credited against the rates and
charges payable by the Passenger Signatory Airlines in the next Fiscal Year to the extent that Net
Revenues, after subtracting the applicable Revenue Sharing, are not less than 1.25 times the total annual
debt service on Senior Parity Bonds, Subordinate Obligations and other debt obligations of the
Commission.

The Airline Lease Agreements provide that, in the event any Signatory Airline is not in
compliance with its payment obligations under any agreement with the Commission, during the period
following any applicable notice and cure period under such agreement and continuing until payment of
any such amounts (the “Payment Default Period”), the Commission would have the right, upon written
notice to such Signatory Airline (provided that if such Signatory Airline is in bankruptcy, no notice would
be required for the effectiveness of the following although invoices would reference the additional
amounts due and the applicable rate that applies), to: (i) have such Signatory Airline’s payment
obligations under their applicable Airline Lease Agreement during the Payment Default Period revert to
an alternate rate structure, and (ii) apply the amount of any accrued and unpaid Revenue Sharing credits,
if any, due to such Signatory Airline for such period against any amounts owed by such Signatory Airline
to the Commission to the extent necessary to cure such payment defaults.

Delta Lease Agreement. In addition to the terms of the Airline Lease Agreements discussed
above, the Airline Lease Agreement entered into by Delta (the “Delta Lease Agreement”) contains the
following additional terms, (i) Delta will make available one wide-body gate on an as-needed basis;
(i1) Delta has preferential use of gates on the G Concourse, with the exception of gates 1-10 which
constitute the IAF; and (iii) Delta will operate and maintain the outbound and inbound baggage handling
systems at Terminal 1 (the Commission reimburses Delta for its actual costs of operating and maintaining
the baggage handling systems). Additionally, prior to January 1, 2016, Delta had exclusive control over
all concessions on Concourse G. As of January 1, 2016, the Commission assumed control over all of the
concessions on Concourse G. In order to address the economic impact to Delta as a result of the
transition of control over all concession on Concourse G to the Commission, pursuant to the Delta Lease
Agreement, the Commission will credit to Delta $150,000 per month, through December 31, 2020, via an
offset to Delta’s monthly Terminal 1 building rent payment to the Commission. See also “AIRLINE
AND AIRLINE INDUSTRY INFORMATION—Delta—Role at the Airport.”

Pursuant to the Delta Lease Agreement, Delta also has covenanted that it and its regional affiliate
airlines will maintain an annual average of at least 90% of 370 daily departing flights from the Airport
(not less than 231 of such daily flights being serviced with jet aircraft with 70 or more passenger seats)
and that at least 30% of enplaned passengers of Delta and its regional affiliate airlines at the Airport will
be connecting passengers (the “Hubbing Covenant”). Delta will be allowed to reduce the daily flights
below the limits set forth in the Hubbing Covenant, without violating the Hubbing Covenant, if such
reduction is in connection with a system-wide reduction of flights by Delta. Delta (and its predecessor,
Northwest) have always complied with the terms of the Hubbing Covenant.

In the event Delta violates the Hubbing Covenant, Delta’s credit from the Revenue Sharing would
be eliminated for such year the Hubbing Covenant is violated and if violation of the Hubbing Covenant
continues for three consecutive years, or if the Hubbing Covenant is determined to be unenforceable,
Delta’s credit from the Revenue Sharing would be eliminated permanently. See “AIRLINE AND
AIRLINE INDUSTRY INFORMATION—Delta.”

Additional Leases with Delta

The Commission and Delta also have entered into additional leases for certain facilities utilized
by Delta for maintenance and overhaul and a facility utilized by Delta as an operational headquarters.
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Other Building and Miscellaneous Leases

The Commission and certain parties have entered into certain leases which relate to rentals and
other fees associated with Terminal 2, miscellaneous hangar facilities, office rentals for tenants located in
the west terminal area, non-airline tenants in Terminal 1, cargo facilities and military facilities. For the
year ended December 31, 2018, the aggregate annual rentals under these leases were approximately
$35,277,000.

Self-Liquidating Leases

The Commission has constructed various buildings and facilities for specific tenants including a
fueling facility for Swissport Fueling Inc., hangars and office space for Sun Country and cargo facilities
for FedEx. As part of its agreement to construct these facilities, the Commission entered into certain
leases (“Self-Liquidating Leases”) which relate to the use of these buildings and facilities. For the year
ended December 31, 2018, the aggregate lease payments paid to the Commission under Self-Liquidating
Leases were approximately $27,360,000. During 2018, Delta prepaid all of the Self-Liquidating Leases it
had entered into with the Commission. Those Self-Liquidating Leases required Delta to make lease
payments of approximately $3.6 million per year to the Commission. The receipt of payments of imputed
interest with respect to the Self-Liquidating Leases is treated as non-operating revenues of the
Commission.

Debt Financed Self-Liquidating Leases. 1f the construction of a facility subject to a self-
liquidating lease is financed with bonds issued by the Commission, the lessee is required to pay annual
lease payments equal to the debt service requirements due in the following year on the bonds issued to
construct such facility. The lease remains in effect until the total debt service on the bonds has been paid.
Proceeds from the issuance of certain bonds were used to finance certain facilities subject to self-
liquidating leases for FedEx.

Commission Funded Self-Liquidating Leases. If the construction of a facility subject to a self-
liquidating lease is financed from funds the Commission has on hand, the lessee is required to make lease
payments equal to the debt service requirements which would have been required if bond funds were
used. Commission funds were used to finance certain facilities subject to a self-liquidating lease for a
fueling facility for Swissport Fueling Inc.

Concession Agreements - Terminal Buildings

The Commission has entered into separate concession agreements with various firms to operate
concessions inside the terminal buildings at the Airport, including, among others, food and beverage
services, retail, newsstands, advertising, vending, insurance and personal service shops. The Commission
selected the various concessionaires through a competitive bid process. The Airport is currently
undergoing a reconstruction and redevelopment of its concessions. Phase 1 of this process is complete
and phase 2 is expected to be completed at the end of 2019. The term of each of the concession
agreements ranges from 8 to 15 years, with options to extend. Each of the agreements also contain
provisions for rental payments, which are for a certain percentage of the revenues generated by such
concession, and minimum annual guarantees. For the year ended December 31, 2018, revenues from
concessions totaled approximately $42,932,000. See “—Airline Lease Agreement—Rates, Fees and
Charges” above. Also see “APPENDIX A—REPORT OF THE AIRPORT CONSULTANT—4.7.1
Terminal Concessions” for additional information on the concession program in the terminals at the
Airport.
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Parking Agreement

The public automobile parking facilities at the Airport are operated for the Commission by ABM
Parking Services (“ABM”) under a parking management services agreement (the “ABM Parking
Agreement”). The Commission receives all revenues and pays all costs of operation and maintenance of
the facilities plus a management fee. The on-Airport parking options include a valet garage, short-term
and long-term parking located at Terminal 1, short-term and long-term parking at the “Quick Ride”
parking ramp located approximately one mile from Terminal 1, and short-term and long-term parking at
the parking garages located adjacent to Terminal 2. See “MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL
INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT—Current Airport Facilities—Parking Facilities.” The ABM Parking
Agreement became effective on July 1, 2015 and had an original expiration date of December 31, 2017.
The ABM Parking Agreement includes three 2-year extensions at the option of the Commission. The
Commission has approved two of these 2-year extensions. The current expiration date of the ABM
Parking Agreement is December 31, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2018, revenues from
parking totaled approximately $93,887,000.

Rental Car Lease Agreements

The Commission has entered into lease agreements and supplemental lease agreements (the
“Existing Rental Car Lease Agreements”) with three on-Airport rental car companies, representing ten
rental car brands, including: Avis (includes Avis, Budget, Payless and Zipcar brands), Enterprise
(includes Enterprise, Alamo and National brands), and Hertz (includes Hertz, Dollar and Thrifty brands).
The Commission also has issued a permit authorizing an off-Airport rental car company (Sixt) to operate
at the Airport. Pursuant to an ordinance of the Commission, the off-Airport company operates through a
permit only, while the on-Airport companies operate through the Existing Rental Car Lease Agreements
for terminal counter space, ready/return parking positions in the parking garages located adjacent to
Terminal 1 and Terminal 2 and the quick-turnaround facilities located at the Airport (facilities for
washing, vacuuming, fueling and general servicing of the rental cars). The Existing Rental Car Lease
Agreements have terms of five years (beginning January 1, 2014) with 2 one-year extension options at the
Commission’s discretion. The extensions automatically occur unless the Commission provides notice to
the applicable on-Airport rental car company that it will not be extending the term. All of the Existing
Rental Car Lease Agreements were automatically extended in January 2019 and are expected to be
extended again in January 2020. Pursuant to the terms of the Existing Rental Car Agreements, the
on-Airport companies pay the Commission a concession fee equal to 10% of their gross revenues
collected at the Airport, and the on-Airport rental car companies have guaranteed a minimum payment to
the Commission on an annual basis, which equals the greater of 85% of the previous year’s concession
fee paid to the Commission by the applicable rental car company or the minimum annual guaranteed
amount for 2014 as set forth in the applicable Existing Rental Car Lease Agreements. The on-Airport
rental car companies also pay rent for exclusive-use space in Terminal 1 and Terminal 2 and rent for the
use of ready/return car parking positions and the quick-turnaround facilities. The Existing Rental Car
Lease Agreements will terminate upon the opening of the new rental car facility being constructed as part
of the new parking garage adjacent to Terminal 1 (expected to open in April 2020) and the Future Rental
Car Lease Agreements (as defined below) will become effective.

In connection with the new rental car facility being constructed as part of the new parking garage
adjacent to Terminal 1 (see “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM?”), the Commission and the
current on-Airport rental car companies and Sixt have entered into On-Airport Rental Auto General
Terms and Conditions Lease Agreements and supplemental lease agreements (collectively, the “Future
Rental Car Lease Agreements”). The Future Rental Car Lease Agreements will become effective on the
first day of the month following the date of beneficial occupancy of the new rental car facility (such
effective date is expected to occur on May 1, 2020) and will have a term of ten years from such effective
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date. Upon mutual agreement between the Commission and the applicable on-Airport rental car
company, the Future Rental Car Lease Agreements can be extended for up to 2 five year periods.
Pursuant to the terms of the Future Rental Car Agreements, the on-Airport companies will pay the
Commission a concession fee equal to 10% of their gross revenues collected at the Airport, and the on-
Airport rental car companies have guaranteed a minimum payment to the Commission on an annual basis,
which equals the greater of 85% of the previous year’s concession fee paid to the Commission by the
applicable rental car company or the minimum annual guaranteed amount for 2020 as set forth in the
applicable Existing Rental Car Lease Agreements. The on-Airport rental car companies also will pay rent
for exclusive-use space in Terminal 1 and Terminal 2 and rent for the use of ready/return car parking
positions and the quick-turnaround facilities.

As described under “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE
SERIES 2019 BONDS—Use of CFCs to Pay Debt Service and Other Costs” above, the on-Airport rental
car companies also are required to collect a CFC from each of their customers and pay the collected CFCs
over to the Commission. For 2019, the CFC is $5.90 per transaction day. The Commission also expects
the CFC to be $5.90 per transaction day between January 2020 and January 2025.

The off-Airport rental car companies operate under a permit, which is renewed on an annual basis
and requires the off-Airport rental car companies to pay a privilege fee equal to 10% of gross receipts for
rentals derived from customers using the Airport. The percentage with respect to the privilege fee is the
same as the percentage charged to the on-Airport rental car companies and can be adjusted at such time as
the percentage charged to on-Airport rental car companies is adjusted. As of the date of this Official
Statement, only Sixt operates at the Airport as an off-Airport rental car company. Upon the opening of
the new rental car facility, Sixt will become an on-Airport rental car company. Once Sixt moves to the
new rental car facility, the Commission expects another rental car company will move into Sixt’s current
location and begin operating as an off-Airport rental car company.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, revenues from on-Airport and off-Airport rental car
companies, including CFCs of approximately $22,398,000, totaled approximately $44,115,000.

Reliever Airport Leases and Agreements

In addition to the above agreements, the Commission has entered into various other leases and
agreements with tenants at the Reliever Airports. These include reliever airport tenant leases, fuel
flowage fees, hangar rentals, storage lots, commercial fees and other miscellaneous amounts. For the year
ended December 31, 2018, the revenues from these agreements totaled approximately $8,386,000.

Miscellaneous—Off-Airport Concession
Leases and Ground Transportation Fees

The Commission has entered into certain leases with off-Airport concessionaires which provide
off-Airport advertising and auto services (gas stations operated on Airport property). Additionally, the
Commission charges fees for permits and licenses to operate shuttles, vans, buses and taxis at the Airport.
The Commission also charges fees to ridesharing companies, such as Uber and Lyft, to drop-off and pick-
up passengers at the Airport. Such fees are set by Commission ordinances. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Commission received approximately $14,487,000 in off-Airport leases and
ground transportation fees.
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Miscellaneous Revenues

In addition to the above agreements, the Commission has entered into various other leases and
agreements and collects certain miscellaneous revenues, including, among other things, ground space
rentals, office rentals for commuter airlines and concessionaires, commuter and general aviation fees, and
other miscellaneous amounts. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Commission collected
approximately $13,805,000 in other miscellaneous revenues.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
General Information

The Commission maintains its financial records on a calendar year basis, using the accrual
method of accounting. Financial statements are audited annually by a firm of independent auditors.
Financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are included in this Official
Statement as set forth in Appendix B.

Summary of Financial Operations

The Commission’s financial report, attached as Appendix B, includes three financial statements:
the Balance Sheets, the Statement of Revenues and Expenses and Changes in Net Position and the
Statement of Cash Flows. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (“GASB”). The following table summarizes the financial results from operations for the
Commission for the years ended December 31, 2014 through 2018.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Operating Revenues
Airline rates and charges — gross
Concessions
Rentals/fees
Utilities and other revenues
Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses
Personnel
Administrative
Professional services
Utilities
Operating services
Maintenance
Depreciation and amortization
Other
Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment income
Federal interest rate subsidies
Passenger facility charges
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of assets
Bond interest expense

Total Nonoperating Revenues/ (Expenses)

Income Before Capital Contributions and

Grants

Capital contributions and grants
Change in Net Position

Net Position — Beginning of Year
Change in Accounting Principle

TABLE 18

Metropolitan Airports Commission
Summary of Statements of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Position

Net Position — Beginning of Year, as restated —

Net Position — End of Year

1

($000s)
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
$ 111,005 $ 107,805 $ 112,653 $ 113,056 $ 123,631
136,445 146,393 160,691 172,476 177,375
34,117 36,086 48,473 49,970 52,241
16,768 16,637 17,115 18,442 20,011
$ 298.335 $ 307.421  $ 338,932 $ 353.944 $ 373,258
$ 72,358 $ 81,728 $ 94,425 $ 87,993 $ 86,151
1,610 1,521 1,723 1,993 2,058
4,972 5,574 6,217 6,151 6,210
20,873 18,304 18,816 19,619 19,930
19,583 21,230 23,389 26,073 28,280
31,377 32,089 36,319 36,293 42,576
131,069 134,419 139,226 142,970 147,299
3,323 3,454 4411 5.611 4,531
$ 285.165 $ 298319  $ 324.526 $326.703 $337.035
$ 13,170 $ 9,102 $ 14,406 $ 27,241 $ 36,223
$ 8,746 $ 9241 $ 12,634 $ 12,306 $ 18,739
- 599 914 978 940
67,106 70,471 72,273 73,390 73,734
(16,387) 60 2,029 (6,513) (3,841)
(67.734) (57,614) (62.238) (48.949) (42.810)
$ (8.269) $ 22,757 $ 25612 $ 31.212 $ 46,762
4,901 31,859 40,018 58,453 82,985
20,498 14,686 4,003 1,427 8,042
25,399 46,545 44,021 59,880 91,027
1,693,949 1,719,348 1,716,774 1,760,795 1,820,675
- (49.119)! — - (34.929)2
1,670,229 1.716.774 1,760,795 1,785,746
$1,719,348 $1,716,774  $1,760,795  $1,820,675 $1,876,773

During 2015, the Commission implemented GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of

GASB Statement No. 27 (“GASB 68”). With the implementation of GASB 68, the Commission recorded a net pension liability of
$68,428,000 as of December 31, 2015, which was not previously included on the balance sheet. This amount represents the Commission’s
proportionate share of the net pension liability of the General Employees Retirement Plan and the Public Employees Police and Fire Fund.
Adoption of GASB 68 resulted in a decrease of $49,119,000 in the beginning net position as of January 1, 2015. See “—Pension and

Retirement Plans.”

During 2018, the Commission implemented GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits

Other Than Pensions (OPEB) (“GASB 75”). GASB 75 requires governments to recognize their unfunded accrued OPEB obligation on the

face of their financial statements along with incorporating more extensive note disclosures and required supplementary information about

their OPEB liabilities. The adoption of GASB 75 resulted in a $34,929,000 decrease in beginning net position as of January 1, 2018.
Source: Basic Financial statements of the Metropolitan Airports Commission.
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Management Discussion of Airport Finances

2018 vs. 2017. Change in net position for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $91,027,000
(before the change in accounting principal (GASB 75)) as compared to $59,880,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2017. Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased by $8,982,000.
Operating revenues increased by $19,314,000. Factors affecting operating revenues included: (a) a
$10,575,000 increase in airline rates and charges attributed to higher levels of snow, which was partially
offset by an increase in the amount of concessions shared with the signatory airlines; (b) concessions
increased $4,899,000 primarily as a result of (i) an increase in food and beverage revenues due to
passenger growth and the opening of many new concessions, (ii) an increase in ground transportation due
to the growth of Transportation Network Companies, such as Uber and Lyft (“TNCs”) activity, (iii) an
increase in auto rental revenues due to passenger growth; (c) rental revenue increased by $2,271,000 due
to increased CFC collections and a new hanger lease at the Airport; and (d) utilities and other revenues
increased by $1,569,000 due to an increase in reimbursed expenses for additional security at the Airport
paid by airlines. Operating expenses increased by $10,332,000. Factors affecting operating expenses
included: (a) personnel expense decreased by $1,842,000 due to a reduction in pension expense related to
an increase in the fair value of plan assets and due to a reduction in post-retirement benefits expense
related to establishing an irrevocable trust for post-retirement plan assets; (b) utilities expense increased
by $311,000 as a result of higher rates and increased usage of electricity; (¢) operating services increased
by $2,207,000 due to an increase in service agreements for expanding technology agreements and from
additional security staffing at several field gate locations around Terminal 1; (d) maintenance expense
increased by $6,283,000 primarily as a result of: (i) higher snow removal expenses (gasoline, parts,
equipment, repairs and materials), (i) higher building maintenance costs due to new contracts and
additional baggage handling system maintenance, (iii) higher cleaning service expense from a continued
focus on the cleanliness throughout Terminal 1 and Terminal 2; (e) depreciation expense increased by
$4,329,000 due to new projects placed into service in 2017 and 2018; and (f) other expenses decreased by
$1,080,000 due to fewer airlines meeting the Commission’s Air Service Incentive Program in 2018 than
in 2017. Nonoperating revenues increased by $9,411,000 primarily due to: (i) a loss on the 2018 sale of
several parcels of land near the Airport and at Anoka Airport, and (ii) higher interest rates earned on
investments. Nonoperating expenses decreased by $6,139,000 due to higher capitalized interest cost in
2018.

2017 vs. 2016. Change in net position for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $59,880,000 as
compared to $44,021,000 for the year ended December 31, 2016. Operating income for the year ended
December 31, 2017 increased by $12,835,000. Operating revenues increased by $15,012,000. Factors
affecting operating revenues included: (a) concessions increased $11,785,000 primarily as a result of
(i) an increase in food and beverage revenues due to passenger growth and the opening of many new
concessions, (i) an increase in ground transportation due to the growth of TNC activity, (iii) an increase
in parking revenues due to a parking rate increase; (b) rental revenue increased by $1,497,000 due to new
ground rental rates for non-airline tenants implemented in 2017; and (c) utilities and other revenues
increased by $1,327,000 due to an increase in consortium fees from an increase in the lease rate and the
increase in food and beverage sales. Operating expenses increased by $2,177,000. Factors affecting
operating expenses included: (a) personnel expense decreased by $6,432,000 due to a decrease in pension
expense related to an increase in the fair value of plan assets; (b) utilities expense increased by $803,000
as a result of higher rates and increased usage of natural gas, sewer and water services; (c) operating
services increased by $2,684,000 due to an increase in service agreements for expanding technology
agreements and from additional security staffing at several field gate locations around Terminal 1;
(d) depreciation expense increased by $3,744,000 due to new projects placed into service in 2016 and
2017; and (e) other expenses increased by $1,200,000 due to two airlines meeting the Commission’s Air
Service Incentive Program in 2017 compared to none in 2016. Nonoperating revenues decreased by
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$7,689,000 primarily due to a loss on the 2017 sale of several parcels of land near the Airport.
Nonoperating expenses decreased by $13,289,000 due to the refunding of several bond issues in 2016.

2016 vs. 2015. Change in net position for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $44,021,000 as
compared to $46,545,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015. Operating income for the year ended
December 31, 2016 increased by $5,304,000. Operating revenues increased by $31,511,000. Factors
affecting operating revenues included: (a) a $4,848,000 increase in airline rates and charges attributed to
higher debt service costs and cost associated with the Commission regaining responsibility for the G
Concourse in 2016; (b) concessions increased $13,798,000 primarily as a result of (i) an increase in food
and beverage revenues due to the addition of the G Concourse concession program, passenger growth,
and increased spending on a per passenger basis, (ii) an increase in ground transportation due to the
addition of TNCs, (iii) an increase in parking revenues due to higher volume and longer length of stays,
(iv) an increase in auto rental activity due to passenger growth; and (c) rental revenue increased by
$12,387,000 due to an increase of the CFC rate in 2016. Operating expenses increased by $26,207,000.
Factors affecting operating expenses included: (a) personnel expense increased by $12,697,000 due to the
implementation of GASB 68 in 2015, which resulted in a significant increase in pension expense
adjustment in 2016; (b) utilities expense increased by $512,000 due to the addition of the G Concourse
utilities in 2016; (c) operating services increased by $2,159,000 primarily as the result of: (i) the
Commission entering into a funding agreement with the Airport Foundation to replace the lost income
from its two stores, (ii) providing a full year of queue line management services compared to a partial
year in 2015, (iii) providing a full year of shuttle service from the Quick Ride parking ramp to Terminal 1
compared to a partial year in 2015; (d) maintenance expense increased $4,230,000 due to the addition of
the cleaning and maintenance costs related to the G Concourse; (e) depreciation expense increased by
$4,807,000 due to new projects placed into service in 2015 and 2016; and (f) other expenses increased by
$957,000 due to an increase in computer and radio equipment purchases. Nonoperating revenues
increased by $7,479,000 primarily due to: (i) a gain on the 2016 sale of a parcel of land at the Anoka
Airport, and (ii) higher interest rates earned on investments, (iii) receiving a financing credit related to the
installation of solar panels on top of the public parking ramps at Terminal 1 in 2015 and Terminal 2 in
2016. Nonoperating expenses increased by $4,624,000 due to: (i) interest on the new solar project
financing, and (ii) bond issuance costs related to the bond issues completed in 2016.

2015 vs. 2014. Change in net position for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $46,545,000 as
compared to $25,399,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014. Operating income for the year ended
December 31, 2015 decreased by $4,068,000. Operating revenues increased by $9,086,000. Factors
affecting operating revenues included: (a) a $3,200,000 decrease in airline rates and charges attributed to
lower levels of snow and an increase in the amount of concessions shared with the signatory airlines;
(b) concessions increased $10,448,000 primarily as a result of (i) an increase in public parking revenue
due to a parking rate increase on January 1, 2015, (ii) an increase in food and beverage revenues due to
passenger growth and an increase in spending per passenger, (iii) an increase in auto rental revenues due
to passenger growth and, (iv) a full years’ revenue from outdoor advertising; (c) rentals increased by
$1,969,000 due to higher activity of auto rental customer facility charges and higher terminal building
rental rates for non-airline tenants; (d) utilities and other revenues decreased by $131,000 as a result of a
warmer winter resulting in lower utility revenues. Operating expenses increased by $13,154,000. Factors
affecting operating expenses included: (a) personnel expenses increased by $9,370,000 primarily due to
annual wage adjustments and the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 (Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pensions) which resulted in a significant pension expense adjustment in 2015; (b)
administrative expenses decreased by $89,000 due to the decreased use of computer supplies; (c)
professional services increased by $602,000 due to capital improvement projects that were expensed due
to the project becoming inactive or will not be going forward and an increase in spending in information
technology related services; (d) utilities decreased by $2,569,000 due to lower natural gas and heating
fuel consumption due to a warmer than average winter and less electrical consumption due to replacing
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the lighting fixtures in the parking ramps at Terminal-1 Lindbergh with more energy efficient lighting and
the Commission received an electricity credit rate adjustment; (e) operating services increased by
$1,647,000 due to the shuttling of passengers from the newly opened quick ride parking ramp to
Terminal-1 Lindbergh; and (f) maintenance increased by $712,000 due to an increased focus on the
cleanliness throughout the Terminal 1 and Terminal 2 and an increase in maintaining the in-line baggage
screening system (these increases were partially offset by lower snow removal expenses due to a milder
winter in 2015); (g) depreciation expense increased by $3,350,000 due to new projects placed into service
in 2014 and 2015; and (h) other expenses increased by $131,000 due to higher general insurance claims
and premiums. Nonoperating revenues increased by $20,906,000 primarily due to: (i) a loss on the 2014
sale of land that the Commission acquired during the construction of Runway 17/35, (ii) higher interest
rates earned on investments, (iii) an increase in PFCs due to increased passenger counts, and (iv) receipt
of a rebate in connection with the solar panel financing at the Terminal-1 Lindbergh parking ramps.
Nonoperating expenses decreased $10,120,000 primarily due from the debt service savings from the
issuance of the Subordinate Series 2014A Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2014B Bonds.

Airline Revenues
During 2018, operations of Delta and its affiliated Air Carriers represented approximately 66.9%
of the total takeoffs and landings at the Airport. The following table sets forth total operating revenues of

the Commission and total revenues of the Air Carriers and that portion of each derived from payments
made by Delta (and its affiliated Air Carriers).

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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TABLE 19
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Airline Revenue (Unaudited)

($000s)
Year Ended December 31
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Commission Revenues Attributable to Delta
Total Commission Operating Revenue $298,335 $307,421 $338,932 $353,944 $373,258
Commission Funded & Bond Funded
Self-Liquidating Revenue (Principal & Interest) 12,084 10,227 8,488 8,394 27,360
Interest Income — Commission Funds! 3,461 3,838 4915 6,282 12,362
Total Adjusted Commission Operating Revenue $313,880 $321,486 $352,335 $368,620 $412,980
Delta’s Portion of Operating Revenue $78,301 $74,078 78,793 74,856 81,856
Delta’s Portion of Commission Funded Bond &
Self-Liquidating Revenue (Principal & Interest)! 7.687 5.780 3.789 3.635 22,234
Total Delta Revenue $85,988 $79,858 $82,582 $78,491 $104,090
Delta’s Percentage of Total Adjusted Commission
Operating Revenue 27.40% 24.84% 23.44% 21.29% 25.20%
Total Airline Revenues Attributable to Delta
Total Airline Rates and Charges Revenue $111,005 $107,805 $112,653 $113,056 $123,631
Total Air Carrier Commission Funded
Self-Liquidating Revenue 10,077 8,227 6,519 6.425 25,391
Total Air Carrier Revenue 121,082 116,032 119,172 119,481 149,022
Total Delta Revenue 85,988 79,858 82,582 78,491 104,090
Delta’s Percentage of Total Air Carrier Revenue 71.02% 68.82% 69.30% 65.69% 69.85%

' Does not include interest income earned on PFCs.
Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

The following table sets forth the airline’s cost per enplaned passenger for the years ended
December 31, 2014 through 2018.

TABLE 20
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Airline Cost Per Enplaned Passenger
(for the year ended December 31)

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Total Cost! $115,708,000  $114,253,000 $114,811,000 $115,214,000  $124,370,000
Enplaned Passengers 17,000,000 17,730,000 18,161,000 18,385,000 18,382,000
Airline Cost per Enplaned Passenger $6.81 $6.44 $6.32 $6.27 $6.77

! Total Cost includes airline payments made to the Commission for expenses incurred in the airfield, Terminal 1 and Terminal 2.
Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission
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The following table sets forth the landing fee rates at the Airport for the Signatory Airlines for the
years ended December 31, 2014 through 2018.

TABLE 21
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport
Landing Fee Rates for Signatory Airlines
(for the year ended December 31)

Landing Fee
Year Per 1,000 1bs.!
2014 $2.68
2015 2.64
2016 2.68
2017 2.73
2018 3.05

' Landing fee rates for Signatory Airlines. Non-
Signatory Airlines are charged a landing fee
established pursuant to an ordinance adopted by
the Commission.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission

Operating Revenue Diversity

The following tables set forth the top ten operating revenue providers and top ten revenue sources
for the Commission for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018.

TABLE 22
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Top Ten Operating Revenue Providers
(for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018)
(ranked on 2018 results)

2017 2018
1. Delta Delta
2. Enterprise Enterprise
3. Hertz Hertz
4. HMS Host HMS Host
5. Sun Country Sun Country
6. Avis Avis
7. American Southwest
8. Southwest Delaware North
9. United American
10. Delaware North United

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.
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TABLE 23
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Top Ten Operating Revenue Sources
(for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018)

2017 2018
Source Revenue Source Revenue
1. Parking $95,231,435 Parking $93,886,670
2. Landing Fees 62,624,007 Landing Fees 69,761,979
3. General Building R&R 44,449,261 General Building R&R 47,543,849
4.  Other Building Rent 25,788,486 Other Building Rent 28,011,597
5. Food and Beverage!' 23,136,949 Food and Beverage! 24,241,244
6. Auto Rental (on- and off-Airport)'? 20,584,230 Auto Rental (on- and off-Airport)'? 21,716,921
7. Ground Rent! 10,886,646 Ground Transportation Fees 12,620,712
8. Ground Transportation Fees 10,322,990 News and Retail Stores 11,056,131
9. News and Retail Stores 10,170,400 Ground Rent? 10,877,453
10. Ramp Fees 7,136,821 Ramp Fees 8,069,572

1 See “AGREEMENTS WITH AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES—Airline Lease Agreements” for a discussion of
certain concession revenues that are shared with the Signatory Airlines that provide passenger service at the Airport.

2 Excludes the CFC collected by the on-Airport rental car companies and paid to the Commission, of which the Commission received
$21,524,770 in 2017 and $22,398,079 in 2018. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE
SERIES 2019 BONDS—Use of CFCs to Pay Debt Service and Other Costs” and “AGREEMENTS WITH AIRLINES AND OTHER
CONCESSIONAIRES—Rental Car Agreements.”

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

Budgeting Process

Operating Budget. The budget for the Commission is prepared on an accrual basis. Work on the
budget begins in April of each Fiscal Year. During April, the Finance Department prepares historical
information for each service center. In late May, the Finance and Administration Committee provides
direction to staff regarding growth and allocation of funds and budget targets. These targets are typically
focused around revenue growth, expense growth, debt coverage and airline rates and charges. The
direction provided by the Finance and Administration Committee is communicated to staff at various
informational meetings and included in their budget packages.

Budget packages are distributed to each service center in June. All service centers have four
weeks to complete their budget. The Finance Department reviews all packages and summarizes
information. The staffing matrix is the first item reviewed by senior staff. The Executive Director/Chief
Executive Officer requests preliminary approval for additional positions, if any, from the Finance and
Administration Committee. This preliminary approval provides the basis for more accurate projections.

During August, staff compiles summary reports and completes, on a preliminary basis, the
revenue budget, the expense budget and the schedule of airline rates and charges. During September,
presentations and supporting documents are prepared for the Finance and Administration Committee,
senior staff and the Air Carriers. A draft of the budget is also provided to the Minnesota State
Legislature. The month of Octoberis reserved for presentations to the Finance and Administration
Committee and revisions prior to requesting final approval.

The Finance and Administration Committee receives updates from staff during October and

November. The recommendation from the Finance and Administration Committee for final approval is
typically requested at the December Commission meeting. Final approval of the operating budget is
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given at the December Commission meeting. Rate changes are provided at the beginning of
December based upon final draft information.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Commission has budgeted operating revenues of
approximately $380,717,000 and total operating expenses of approximately $358,434,000 (including
approximately $155,000,000 of depreciation and amortization). For the six months ended June 30, 2019,
the Commission’s operating revenues were approximately 2.6% over budget and the Commission’s
operating expenses, not including depreciation and amortization, were approximately 0.9% over budget.
Results for the first six months of Fiscal Year 2019 may not be indicative of results for the full Fiscal
Year. Actual results for the full Fiscal Year may vary from budgeted figures and such variations may be
material.

Capital Budget. Each year, the Commission reviews, revises and approves capital projects that
will start within the next 12 months, and adopts a CIP which covers all projects which are to be started
during the second calendar year. In addition, a CIP which covers an additional five years is adopted.
These serve as a basis for determining funding requirements and other operational planning decisions.
The Commission’s policy is to include in the CIP projects which enable the Commission to maximize
federal aid and enhance safety and those that are customer service oriented. Certain projects which have a
metropolitan significance are also submitted to the Metropolitan Council for review and approval. The
Metropolitan Council is a regional planning agency responsible for coordinating and planning certain
governmental services for the metropolitan area.

Commission staff has developed a set of project priority categories to use as a guide in
determining the projects to be included in the CIP. Commission approval authorizes staff to proceed with
plans and specifications and to obtain bids for contract award by the Commission. These priority
categories in order of importance include (a) projects which the Commission has made a commitment to
complete; (b) projects that enhance or ensure continued safety at each of the airports in the Airport
System; (c) projects that cannot be accomplished by Commission maintenance crews, but are essential for
reasons of economics or continued operation; (d) projects that are necessitated by regulatory
requirements, such as FAA regulations and local, state or federal laws; (e) projects which address various
environmental issues ranging from asbestos abatement to wetland mitigation; (f) projects constituting
preventative maintenance; (g) projects which improve customer service and/or convenience; and
(h) projects which have been identified as improving various operational aspects of the Airport System,
whether applicable to aircraft, tenants, Commission staff or off-airport service providers.

On December 17, 2018, the Commission approved the 2019-20 CIP that includes projects, the
construction of which will occur and/or begin during calendar years 2019 and 2020. On May 20, 2019,
the Commission approved an amendment to the 2019-20 CIP, that included an additional $765,000 of
projects. The amended 2019-20 CIP has a total cost of approximately $643 million. On December 17,
2018, the Commission also approved the 2021-25 CIP that includes projects, the construction of which
will occur and/or begin during calendar years 2021 through 2025. The 2021-25 CIP has a total cost of
approximately $557 million. See “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM?” for additional information
about the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP.

Pension and Retirement Plans

GERF and PEPFF. All full-time and certain part-time employees of the Commission hired after
June 30, 1978 are covered by defined benefit pension plans administered by the Public Employees
Retirement Association of Minnesota (“PERA”). PERA administers the General Employees Retirement
Plan (previously known as the Public Employees Retirement Fund) (“GERF”) and the Public Employees
Police and Fire Fund (“PEPFF”’) which are cost-sharing, multiple-employer retirement plans. All police
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officers, fire fighters and peace officers who qualify for membership by statute are covered by PEPFF.
These plans are established and administered in accordance with Minnesota Statutes, Chapters 353 and
356. GERF members belong to the Coordinated Plan, which incorporates Social Security. PERA
provides retirement benefits as well as disability benefits to members and benefits to survivors upon the
death of eligible members. Benefits are established by state statute and vest after three years of credited
service. The defined retirement benefits are based on a member’s average salary for any five successive
years of allowable service, age and years of credit at termination of service.

All full-time and certain part-time employees of the Commission hired before July 1, 1978 were
previously covered by the Minnesota Employees Retirement Fund (“MERF”), a defined benefit pension
plan administered by PERA. MERF was fully merged into GERF on January 1, 2015. There are no
active employees of the Commission that are part of MERF.

See “APPENDIX B—AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE METROPOLITAN
AIRPORTS COMMISSION FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017—
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—NOTE K: PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS”
and “—Required Supplementary Information” for additional information on GERF and PEPFF.

Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 353 sets the rates for employer and employee contributions. The
Commission makes annual contributions to GERF and PEPFF equal to the amounts required by State law.

The following table sets forth the statutorily required contributions made by the Commission and
the employees of the Commission to GERF and PEPFF for Fiscal Years 2014 through, and including,
2018, and the budgeted contributions for Fiscal Year 2019. The Commission and the employees of the
Commission have always made their full statutorily required contributions to GERF and PEPFF. The
Commission cannot predict the levels of funding that will be required in the future.

TABLE 24
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Contributions to GERF and PEPFF

GERF PEPFF
Commission Employees’ Commission Commission Employees’
Commission Contribution Contribution Contribution Contribution
% of % of % of % of
Fiscal Amount Covered Amount Covered Amount Covered Amount Covered

Year Contributed Payroll Contributed Payroll Contributed Payroll Contributed  Payroll

2014 $2,553,000 725%  $2,201,000 6.25%  $1,763,000 1530%  $1,175,000  10.20%
2015 4,770,000 13.04! 2,392,000 ! 6.54! 1,920,000 16.20 1,280,000  10.80
2016 4,085,000 10.14 2,490,000 6.18 2,055,000 16.20 1,280,000  10.09
2017 4,198,000 10.02 2,599,000 6.20 2,040,000 16.20 1,390,000  11.04
2018 5,096,000 11.07 2,867,000 6.23 2,307,000 16.20 1,500,000  10.53
20193 5,229,000 2 9.76? 3,483,000 2 6.502 2,398,000 16.20 1,673,000  11.30

! MERF was fully merged into GERF on January 1, 2015. Includes an Employer Supplemental Contribution of $2,016,000 relating to MERF.
% Includes an Employer Supplemental Contribution of $1,209,000 relating to MERF.

3 Budgeted.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission

The following tables set forth certain information about the funding status of GERF and PEPFF
that has been extracted from the comprehensive annual financial reports of PERA for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2014 through, and including, 2018 (collectively, the “PERA CAFRs (2014-2018)”), and
the actuarial valuation reports provided to PERA by GRS Retirement Consulting (collectively, the
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“PERA Actuarial Reports (2014-2018)”). Complete copies of the PERA CAFRs (2014-2018) and the
PERA Actuarial Reports (2014-2018) can be obtained from PERA at 60 Empire Drive, Suite 200, St.
Paul, Minnesota 55103-2088. According to PERA, there are more than 2,000 separate units of

government (including the Commission) that participate in PERA’s various funds, including GERF and
PEPFF.

TABLE 25
Funding Status of GERF
(Dollars in thousands)

Unfunded Unfunded UAAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial Percentage
Accrued Funded Accrued Funded of Covered

Actuarial Market Actuarial Liability Ratio Liability Ratio Payroll
Value of Value of Accrued (Actuarial  (Actuarial (Market (Market Covered (Actuarial

Valuation Assets Assets Liability Value) Value) Value) Value) Payroll Value)

Date [a] [b] [e] [c]-[a] [a)/[c] [c]-[b] [bl/[e] [d] [[c-al/[d]]
7/1/2014 $15,644,540  $17,404,822  $21,282,504  $5,637,964 73.5% $3,877,682 81.8% $5,351,920 105.3%

7/1/2015 17,974,439 18,581,795 23,560,951 5,586,512 76.3 4,979,156 78.9 5,549,255 100.7
7/1/2016 18,765,863 17,994,909 24,848,409 6,082,546 75.5 6,853,500 72.4 5,773,708 105.3
7/1/12017 19,916,322 20,100,579 25,615,722 5,699,400 71.8 5,515,143 78.5 6,156,985 92.6
7/1/2018 21,129,746 21,553,477 27,101,067 5,971,321 78.0 5,547,590 79.5 6,298,815 94.8

Source: PERA CAFRs (2014-2018) and PERA Actuarial Reports (2014-2018).

TABLE 26
Funding Status of PEPFF
(Dollars in thousands)

Unfunded Unfunded UAAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial Percentage
Accrued Funded Accrued Funded of Covered
Actuarial Market Actuarial Liability Ratio Liability Ratio Payroll
Value of Value of Accrued (Actuarial  (Actuarial (Market (Market Covered (Actuarial
Valuation Assets Assets Liability Value) Value) Value) Value) Payroll Value)
Date [a] [b] [e] [c]-[a] [a/[c] [c]-[b] [bl/[c] [ _(lc-al/idl]
7/1/2014 $6,525,019  $7,273,100  $8,151,328  $1,626,309 80.1% § 878,228 89.2%  $820,333 198.25%
7/1/2015 7,076,271 7,348,704 8,460,477 1,384,206 83.6 1,111,773 86.9 845,076 163.80
7/1/2016 7,385,777 7,098,090 8,417,621 1,031,844 87.7 1,319,531 84.3 881,222 117.1
7/1/2017 7,840,549 7,918,879 9,199,208 1,358,658 85.2 1,280,329 86.1 944,296 143.9
7/1/2018 8,320,094 8,486,907 9,552,804 1,232,710 87.1 1,065,897 88.8 976,657 126.2

Source: PERA CAFRs (2014-2018) and PERA Actuarial Reports (2014-2018).

When calculating the funding status of GERF and PEPFF for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018,
PERA and GRS Retirement Consulting, the actuary of PERA (the “PERA Actuary”), used the following
assumptions, among others: (1) assets are valued on a five-year moving average of expected and market
values so that investment gains and losses for a fiscal year are recognized over five years at 20% per year;
(2) the amortization period is 30 years beginning on July 1, 2018; (3) the rate of return on investments is
assumed to be 7.50%; (4) salaries are projected to increase 3.25-11.25% for GERF and 3.25-12.25% for
PEPFF; (5) the rate of inflation is assumed to be 2.50%; (6) payrolls are projected to increase 3.25% per
year; and (7) cost of living adjustments for GERF are assumed to be 1.25% per year.

Based on information provided to the Commission by PERA, approximately $49.8 million of the
unfunded actuarial accrued liability of GERF and approximately $13.9 million of the unfunded actuarial
accrued liability of PEPFF is allocable to the Commission.
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Post-Retirement Health Benefits. In addition to the contributions to GERF and PEPFF, the
Commission contributes to a single-employer defined benefit other postemployment benefit plan (the
“OPEB Plan”). The OPEB Plan is administered by the Commission and the “Metropolitan Airports
Commission Other than Pension Employee Benefit Trust” (the “OPEB Trust”) established by the
Commission in November 2018 pursuant to an irrevocable trust agreement. The board of trustees of the
OPEB Trust consist of the Commissioners of the Commission. The OPEB Plan provides health insurance
benefits for certain of the Commission’s retired employees. All non-union employees (hired before
August 17, 2006) who retire from the Commission at age 55 or later, have three years of service and who
are receiving benefits from PERA, and who do not participate in any other health benefits program
providing coverage similar to that offered by the Commission, are eligible to continue receiving coverage
with respect to both themselves and their eligible dependents under the OPEB Plan. Union employees
require ten years of service to be eligible for benefits. Employees of the Commission hired after
August 17, 2006 are not eligible to participate in the OPEB Plan. At the time of the establishment of the
OPEB Trust, the Commission contributed approximately $69,847,000 to the OPEB Trust. This
contribution consisted of $66,146,000 of funds previously designated by the Commission to pay for the
health insurance benefits of the eligible retirees of the Commission, and certain available moneys of the
Commission. The Commission’s post-retirement health benefits expense for Fiscal Year 2018 was
$(1,301,000) and is expected to be $2,235,000 in 2019. See “APPENDIX B—AUDITED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF THE METROPOLITAN AIRPORTS COMMISSION FOR THE FISCAL YEARS
ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017—NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—NOTE
L: Single-Employer Defined Benefit Other Postemployment Benefit Plan” and “—Required
Supplementary Information” for additional information on the post-retirement benefits offered by the
Commission to its employees.

An actuarial valuation of the OPEB Plan was completed by Van Iwaarden Associates in February
2019 (the “OPEB Actuarial Report”). According to the OPEB Actuarial Report, as of December 31,
2018, the OPEB Plan had an actuarial accrued liability of $25,354,000 and a funded ratio of 72.3%. The
OPEB Actuarial Report assumed a rate of return on investments of 4.0%, a rate of inflation of 2.5%, and
an annual health care cost trend of 6.4% in 2019 and decreasing to an ultimate rate of 4.0% in 2076 and
later years. The OPEB Actuarial Report was completed in accordance with GASB 75, which was
implemented by the Commission during 2018.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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Risk Management and Insurance
The Senior Indenture and the Subordinate Indenture do not specify any minimum amount of
insurance coverage. Instead, the Senior Indenture requires the Commission to maintain insurance or

qualified self-insurance against such risks at the Airport as are usually insured at other major airports.

As of August 1, 2019, the Commission maintained the following insurance coverages:

Insurer Expiration Coverage Policy Limits

Chubb! 1/1/20 General aviation liability including personal injury $750,000,000

Alliant 7/1/20 Blanket fire & extended peril coverage on property, contents, $1,000,000,000
business interruption, boiler and machinery, and terrorism?

Alliant 7/1/20 Cyber liability, including first and third party liability, breach, $5,000,000
response, notified individuals and cyber forensics

Self-insured? 1/1/20 Workers’ compensation Excess of $500,000

Zurich 6/1/20 Crime and employee dishonesty $5,000,000

Minnesota Risk Management Fund 7/1/20 Auto liability, inland marine, auto physical damage, garage ACYV - autos,
keepers and fine arts replacement cost —

inland marine

1

time

Includes a “War, Hijacking and Other Perils Endorsement” with coverage of up to $100 million. Coverage under this endorsement may be terminated at any
by the underwriters and terminates automatically upon the outbreak of war (whether there has been a declaration of war or not) between any two or more of
the following: France, the People’s Republic of China, the Russian Federation, the United Kingdom or the United States, and certain provisions of the
endorsement are terminated upon the hostile detonation of any weapon of war employing atomic or nuclear fission and/or fusion or other like reaction or

radioactive force or matter.

2 The

Commission’s terrorism coverage under the Alliant Public Entity Property Insurance Program is part of a pool with six medium and small airports located
across the United States. The insurance provides primary terrorism coverage of $100 million and excess coverage (if the primary coverage level is exceeded) of
$600 million. However, the terrorism coverage for the Commission and the other six airports is subject to a combined cap of $1.1 billion. The terrorism
insurance does not cover damage caused by hostile detonation of any weapon of war employing atomic or nuclear fission and/or fusion or other like reaction or

radioactive force or matter.

3

Funded from current operating revenues of the Commission. Reinsured by Workers” Compensation Reinsurance Association.

Investment Policy

Minnesota Statutes require that all Commission deposits be protected by insurance, surety bond,
or collateral. The market value of collateral pledged must equal 110% of the deposits not covered by
insurance or bonds (140% for mortgage notes pledged). Authorized collateral includes allowable
investments as discussed below, certain first mortgage notes, and certain other state or local government
obligations. Minnesota Statutes require that securities pledged as collateral be held in safekeeping by the
Commission or in a financial institution other than that furnishing the collateral.

The Commission’s interest-bearing deposit accounts are insured up to $250,000 by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation. For 2018, cash deposits were entirely insured or collateralized by
securities held in the Commission’s name by a financial institution (Commission's agent) other than that
furnishing the collateral.

The Commission may invest idle funds as authorized by Minnesota Statute, Section 118A, and
the Commission’s internal investment policy in the following:

(a) securities which are direct obligations or are guaranteed or insured issues of the United
States, its agencies, its instrumentalities, or organizations created by an act of Congress,
except mortgage-backed securities defined as high risk by Minnesota Statute, Section
118A.04 subd. 6;
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(b) mutual funds through shares of registered investment companies, provided the mutual
fund receives certain ratings depending on its investments;

(c) general obligations of municipalities and certain state agency and local obligations of
Minnesota and other states, provided such obligations have certain specified bond ratings
by a national bond rating service;

(d) bankers’ acceptances of United States banks;

(e) commercial paper issued by United States corporations or their Canadian subsidiaries that
is rated in the highest quality category by two national rating agencies and matures in 270
days or less; and

® with certain restrictions, in repurchase agreements, security lending agreements, joint
powers investment trusts, and guaranteed investment contracts.

See “APPENDIX B—AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE METROPOLITAN
AIRPORTS COMMISSION FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017—
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—NOTE B: DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS—
Investments” for additional discussion on the Commission’s investment policies and the Commission’s
investments as of December 31, 2018.

Derivatives Policy

In November 2003, the Commission adopted a derivatives policy which provides guidelines to be
used by the Commission when entering into derivative financial products, including, but not limited to,
interest rate swaps, swaptions, municipal warrants and interest rate caps. As of the date of this Official
Statement, the Commission has not entered into any derivative financial products.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
General

The Commission has an ongoing capital improvement program at the Airport and the Reliever
Airports, which includes, among other projects, end of life/replacement projects, information technology
projects, long-term comprehensive plan projects, maintenance/facility upgrade projects, ongoing
maintenance projects, noise mitigation projects and tenant specific projects. Many of the projects in the
CIP include one or more distinct phases, each of which will be started and completed at different times.

Each year, the Commission adopts a CIP consisting of the distinct phases of various projects that
are to be started during the next two years. On December 17, 2018, the Commission approved the 2019-
20 CIP that includes certain project phases, the construction of which will begin during calendar years
2019 and 2020. The 2019-20 CIP, as amended, has a total cost of approximately $643 million. For
longer range funding and planning decisions, in addition to the two-year CIP, the Commission adopts a
capital improvement plan that covers an additional five-year period. On December 17, 2018, the
Commission adopted the 2021-25 CIP. The 2021-25 CIP includes approximately $557 million of project
phases that are expected to be started during calendar years 2021 through 2025. See “FINANCIAL
INFORMATION—Budgeting Process—Capital Budget.”

In connection with the 2019-20 CIP and 2021-25 CIP projects and certain other long-term
projects at the Airport, the Commission prepared the “MSP 2020 Improvements Project Environmental
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Assessment/ Environmental Assessment Worksheet (the “2020 EA/EAW?”) to evaluate the environmental
effects of the proposed improvements to the Airport. The environmental review process was completed
in March 2013 with the issuance by the FAA of a Finding of No Significant Impact/Record of Decision
(the “2020 FONSI/ROD”). Additionally, in April 2013, the FAA stated (through a Negative Declaration)
that there was no need for the Commission to prepare an Environmental Impact Statement. See
“AIRPORT SYSTEM ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS—Airport Noise Control Program—60 to 64
DNL Noise Contours—Consent Decree—First Amendment to Consent Decree.”

2019-20 CIP Projects

The 2019-20 CIP includes approximately $643 million of projects phases, as set forth in the
following table. The major projects in the 2019-20 CIP included improvements to baggage claim and the
ticket lobby in Terminal 1, various other improvements to Terminal 1 and construction of the new Safety
and Security Center. See PLAN OF FINANCE.” Future two-year CIPs could reflect revisions to the
2019-20 CIP and/or additional projects. The Commission does not need approval, and does not plan to
seek approval, from the Majority-In-Interest of the Signatory Airlines to construct the projects in the
2019-20 CIP.

TABLE 27
Metropolitan Airports Commission
2019-20 CIP Projects

Projects 2019 2020 Total

Terminal 1 - Baggage Claim/Ticket Lobby

Operational Improvements' $ 98,000,000 $ 61,900,000 $159,900,000
Terminal 1 — Maintenance and Improvements 73,036,000 75,055,000 148,091,000
Safety and Security Center! - 77,500,000 77,500,000
Terminal 1 — Concourse G Delta Skyclub! - 50,000,000 50,000,000
Airfield and Runway 19,500,000 22,450,000 41,950,000
South Security Exit/Terminal Expansion! 41,500,000 - 41,500,000
Environmental® 18,800,000 9,850,000 28,650,000
Reliever Airports 15,300,000 11,950,000 27,250,000
Parking Improvements 19,500,000 3,500,000 23,000,000
Police and Fire Projects 3,500,000 7,200,000 10,700,000
Terminal 1 - FIS Recheck Operational Improvements! — 8,400,000 8,400,000
Utilities 1,500,000 6,210,000 7,710,000
Roadway Projects 1,950,000 4,190,000 6,140,000
Concourse G Moving Walkways! 1,550,000 3,195,000 4,745,000
Hangars and Other Buildings 600,000 2,800,000 3,400,000
Terminal 2 — Maintenance and Improvements 3,200,000 200,000 3,400,000
Other - 500,000 500,000
Total $297.936,000 $344,900,000 $642.836,000

I See “PLAN OF FINANCE.” Project is one of the Series 2019 Projects.

2 Includes expenditures on the Commission’s noise mitigation program. See “AIRPORT SYSTEM ENVIRONMENTAL
MATTERS—Airport Noise Control Program.”

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.
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2021-25 CIP Projects

The 2021-25 CIP includes approximately $557 million of projects, as set forth in the following
table. The major projects in the 2021-25 CIP are various maintenance and improvements to Terminal 1
and the airfield and runways. Future CIPs could reflect revisions to the 2021-25 CIP and/or additional
projects. The Commission does not need approval, and does not plan to seek approval, from the
Majority-In-Interest of the Signatory Airlines to construct the projects in the 2021-25 CIP.

TABLE 28

Metropolitan Airports Commission

2021-25 Capital Improvement Program Projects

Projects 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Total

Terminal 1 — Maintenance

and Improvements $ 47,505,000 $ 60,360,000 $ 59,365,000 § 62,600,000 $ 56,400,000 $286,230,000
Airfield and Runway 7,150,000 23,650,000 5,750,000 23,800,000 6,000,000 66,350,000
Reliever Airports 5,420,000 12,750,000 12,100,000 9,250,000 8,250,000 47,770,000
Roadway Projects 6,000,000 13,970,000 22,100,000 1,650,000 3,420,000 47,140,000
Terminal 1 — Baggage

Claim/Ticket Lobby

Operational Improvements' 32,500,000 - - - - 32,500,000
Hangars and Other Buildings 2,800,000 15,450,000 3,550,000 2,500,000 1,000,000 25,300,000
Parking Improvements 4,000,000 9,500,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 19,500,000
Utilities 3,250,000 4,050,000 2,750,000 2,750,000 3,500,000 16,300,000
Environmental? 2,000,000 3,000,000 4,000,000 1,000,000 - 10,000,000
Terminal 2 — Maintenance

and Improvements 700,000 1,300,000 1,000,000 500,000 - 3,500,000
Police and Fire Projects 500,000 — 1,500,000 500,000 — 2,500,000
Total $111,825.000 $144,030,000 $115,115,000 $107,550,000 $78,570,000 $557,090,000

! See “PLAN OF FINANCE.” Project is one of the Series 2019 Projects.
2 Includes expenditures on the Commission’s noise mitigation program. See “AIRPORT SYSTEM ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS—Airport

Noise Control Program.”
Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

Funding Sources for the 2019-20 CIP and 2021-25 CIP Projects

General. The Commission anticipates financing the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP with a
combination of (a) proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2019B
Bonds (approximately $178 million), (b) proceeds of the previously issued Subordinate Series 2016C
Bonds, Subordinate Series 2016D Bonds and Subordinate Series 2016E Bonds (approximately $38
million), (c) proceeds of Additional Senior Bonds and/or Additional Subordinate Bonds (approximately
$100 million); (d) PFCs (approximately $300 million, on a pay-as-you-go basis); (e) federal and State
grants (approximately $126 million); and (f) and other available revenues of the Commission
(approximately $458 million, including $162 million from the Repair and Replacement Account).

Senior/Subordinate Bond Proceeds.  The Commission expects to use approximately
$178 million of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2019B
Bonds, approximately $38 million of the proceeds of the previously issued Subordinate Series 2016C
Bonds, Subordinate Series 2016D Bonds and Subordinate Series 2016E Bonds, and approximately $100
million of the proceeds of Additional Senior Bonds and/or Additional Subordinate Bonds expected to be
issued during 2022 to finance a portion of the costs of the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP projects.
See “PLAN OF FINANCE.”
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Passenger Facility Charges. The Commission expects to use approximately $300 million of
PFCs (on a pay-as-you-go basis) to finance a portion of the costs of the projects in the 2019-20 CIP and
the 2021-25 CIP.

The PFC Act and the PFC Regulations permit public agencies controlling certain commercial
service airports (those with regularly scheduled service and enplaning 2,500 or more passengers annually)
to charge enplaning passengers using the airport a $1.00, $2.00 or $3.00 PFC with certain qualifying
airports permitted to charge a maximum PFC of $4.50. Regardless of the number of PFC applications
which have been approved by the FAA, an airport can only collect a maximum of $4.50 on each
enplaning passenger. Public agencies wishing to impose and use these PFCs must apply to the FAA for
such authority and satisfy the requirements of the PFC Act. In addition, an application for the imposition
of PFCs by certain public agencies (including the Commission) will not be approved by the FAA after
October 1, 2000, unless such applying public agency has submitted a competition plan acceptable to the
FAA. See “—Competition Plan” below.

The purpose of the PFC is to develop an additional capital funding source to provide for the
expansion of the national airport system. Under the PFC Act, the proceeds from PFCs are required to be
used to finance eligible airport-related projects that serve or enhance safety, capacity or security of the
national air transportation system, reduce noise from an airport that is part of such system or furnish
opportunities for enhanced competition between or among Air Carriers. See “CERTAIN INVESTMENT
CONSIDERATIONS—Availability of Funding for the Capital Improvement Program.”

The Commission has received approval from the FAA, pursuant to fifteen separate applications
(ten of which were later amended by the Commission, with the approval of the FAA), to collect a PFC on
each enplaning passenger at the Airport totaling approximately $2.08 billion. The Commission has
closed PFC Applications 1 through 5 and 9. These applications have been fully funded and the projects
they financed have been completed. By the end of 2019, the Commission expects to file amendments to
the 10™, 11" and 12® PFC Applications with the FAA. The 10® PFC Application will be amended to
reduce the authorized collection amount from $101,472,000 to $80,577,000; the 11" PFC Application
will be amended to reduce the authorized collection amount from $52,827,000 to $52,722,000; and the
12™ PFC Application will be amended to increase the authorized collection amount from $40,796,000 to
$55,397,000.

The Commission first began collecting a $3.00 PFC in 1992. In 2001 the Commission received
approval from the FAA to collect an additional $1.50 on each enplaning passenger resulting in a $4.50
PFC now being collected on each enplaning passenger at the Airport. Such PFCs have been approved by
the FAA to be used to finance all or a portion of certain capital improvements at the Airport, including,
among other things, the automated people mover system which was constructed as part of the auto
rental/public parking garage located adjacent to Terminal 1, noise mitigation projects, primarily the Part
150 Residential Insulation Program which applied to homes within the FAA-certified 65 or greater Day
Night Level (“DNL”) noise contours, Terminal 2, portions of Runway 17/35, Concourses A and B of
Terminal 1, and expansion of Concourse C of Terminal 1. See also “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service.”

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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The following table sets forth a summary of the Commission’s approved PFC applications and
the total amount of PFCs received by the Commission under each application through June 30, 2019.

TABLE 29

Metropolitan Airports Commission
Approved PFC Applications!

Total Amount

PFC Initial Initial Approval Amended Received as of
Application Approval Date Amount Approval Amount June 30, 20192
1 June 1992 $ 66,356,000 $ 92,714,000 $ 92,714,000

2 August 1994 113,064,000 140,717,000 140,717,000

3 December 1995 32,700,000 36,377,000 36,377,000

4 December 1998 55,460,000 47,801,000 47,801,000

5 January 2000 106,874,000 112,533,000 112,533,000

6 January 2003 1,161,479,000 759,735,000 589,345,000

7 June 2005 0 14,479,000 14,479,000

8 May 2005 191,380,000 147,986,000 138,977,000

9 November 2005 7,316,000 8,659,000 8,659,000
10 May 2008 128,448,000 101,472,000 3 80,577,000
11 March 2014 52,827,000 52,827,000 4 52,056,000
12 September 2015 40,796,000 40,796,000 > 40,075,000
13 January 2017 65,212,000 65,212,000 21,647,000
14 September 2017 126,557,000 126,557,000 116,872,000
15 January 2019 334,177,000 334,177,000 91,989,000
Total $2,482,646.000 $2,082,042,000 $1.584.818.000

' PFC Applications 1 through 5 were originally approved for the collection of a $3.00 PFC on each enplaning passenger. The
Commission subsequently amended its PFC Application 5, which was subsequently approved by the FAA, authorizing the
Commission to collect an additional $1.50 PFC per enplaning passenger. PFC Applications 6 through 15 have been approved at
the collection rate of $4.50 per enplaning passenger.

% Authorization to collect PFCs under all of the applications and amendments expires in May 20026, however, such authorization
to collect PFCs could expire earlier if the total authorized amount is collected prior to May 2026.

3 By the end of 2019, the Commission expects to file an amendment to the 10" PFC application with the FAA for the purpose of
reducing the authorized PFC collection amount to $80.577,000.

4 By the end of 2019, the Commission expects to file an amendment to the 11™ PFC application with the FAA for the purpose of
reducing the authorized PFC collection amount to $52,722,000.

5 By the end of 2019, the Commission expects to file an amendment to the 12" PFC application with the FAA for the purpose of
increasing the authorized PFC collection amount to $55,397,000.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]
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The following table sets forth the amount of PFCs collected in 2014 through 2018.

TABLE 30
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Annual Collections of PFCs'

Year PFCs Collected
2014 $67,106,000
2015 70,471,000
2016 72,273,000
2017 73,390,000
2018 73,734,000

! The information in this table is presented on
a cash basis, and, therefore, will not match
the accrual accounting presentation set forth
in the Commission’s audited financial
statements  for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017 that are
included in Appendix B to this Official
Statement.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission.

Federal and State Grants. The Commission expects to use approximately $125 million of
federal and State grants to finance a portion of the costs of the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP projects.

Airport Improvement Program Grants. The Commission receives federal grant money from the
FAA each year. The Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982, as amended, created the Airport
Improvement Program (“AIP”), which is administered by the FAA. Grants are available to airport
operators in the form of entitlement funds and discretionary funds and are payable on a reimbursement
basis. Entitlement funds are apportioned annually based upon the number of enplaned passengers and the
aggregate landed weight of all-cargo aircraft; discretionary funds are available at the discretion of the
FAA based upon a national priority system.

The Commission expects to receive approximately $103 million of AIP entitlement/discretionary
and reliever non-primary grants to finance projects in the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP. There can
be no assurance as to the amount of such funding to the Commission in the future. See “CERTAIN
INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS—Availability of Funding for the Capital Improvement Program.”
Additionally, pursuant to the Wendel H. Ford Aviation Investment and Reform Act for the 21% Century
(“AIR 217), no AIP grants will be approved by the FAA after October 1, 2000 for certain airports
(including the Airport), unless such applying airport has submitted a competition plan acceptable to the
FAA. See “—Competition Plan” below.

As described above, the FAA has granted the Commission approval to collect PFCs at the
Airport. In accordance with the PFC Act and the PFC Regulations, since the Commission collects a
$4.50 PFC the amount of AIP entitlement grants which the Commission is permitted to receive annually
may be reduced up to 75%. However, as a result of the increased funding of AIP entitlement grants
pursuant to AIR 21, the Commission has not experienced a material reduction from its previous level of
AIP entitlement grants since it began collecting a $4.50 PFC.

The Commission’s financial plan for funding projects in the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP
assumes that AIP entitlement and discretionary grant funds will be available to fund the grant-eligible
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portion of certain of these projects. In the event that AIP grants to the Airport are lower than those made
in recent years, the Commission would either elect to delay or not undertake certain projects or seek
alternative sources of funding, including the possible issuance of additional debt. See “CERTAIN
INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS—Availability of Funding for the Capital Improvement Program.”

Transportation Security Administration Grants. The Commission has applied for, and expects to
receive, approximately $12 million in grants from the Transportation Security Administration (“TSA”) in
2019, which will be used to finance upgrades to the checked-baggage inspection system.

MNDOT Grants. In the past, the Commission has received grants from the Minnesota
Department of Transportation (“MNDQOT”) that are used to fund projects at the Airport. The Commission
currently expects to receive approximately $10.5 million of MNDOT grants between 2019 and 2025.

Internally Generated Commission Funds. The Commission also intends to use certain amounts
it generates from operations after the payment of all of its operating expenses, debt service and other
payment obligations to pay for costs of the projects in the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP. The
Commission expects that approximately $468 million of such funds (including $162 million to come from
the Repair and Replacement Account) will be available to fund projects in the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-
25 CIP.

Long-Term Comprehensive Plan

In addition to its CIPs, the Commission develops a long-term comprehensive plan (“LTCP”) for
the Airport, which is an infrastructure planning tool based on projected passenger demand and aircraft
operations levels. It is forward-looking and does not authorize actual construction or serve as a basis for
noise mitigation. The Commission approved the current LTCP (the “2030 LTCP”) in 2010. The 2030
LTCP includes a forecast of Airport activity levels as of 2030 (passenger enplanements and aircraft
operations) and the facilities needed to support those activity levels. The 2030 LTCP includes
approximately $2.4 billion (in 2009 dollars) of improvements to the Airport, including among others,
expansion of Terminal 2, modernization and expansion of Terminal 1, construction of additional parking
garages at Terminal 1 (which began in 2016) and Terminal 2, and certain airfield project. No changes to
the existing runways were proposed. Certain of the projects set forth in the 2030 LTCP are included in
the 2019-20 CIP and/or the 2021-25 CIP, including the rehabilitation, repair and upgrade of various parts
of Terminal 1. In 2014, the Commission began developing the 2035 LTCP. However, due to certain
conditions and timing of events, development of the 2035 LTCP was halted. At the start of 2019, the
Commission began developing the 2040 LTCP, which is expected to be completed during 2020.

Competition Plan

Pursuant to the AIR 21, certain covered airports, including the Airport, are required to file a
competition plan with the FAA in order to receive further AIP entitlement grants after October 1, 2000
and in order to receive approval of PFC applications submitted after October 1, 2000. The airports that
are required to comply with these provisions of AIR 21, include airports that board more than 0.25% of
all passengers throughout the United States and at which one or two Air Carriers control more than 50%
of the passenger boardings at such airport. The Airport meets both of these criteria and therefore must
comply. AIR 21 states that the competition plan should include information on the availability of airport
gates and related facilities, leasing and sub-leasing arrangements, gate-use requirements, patterns of air
service, gate-assignment policy, financial constraints, airport controls over air- and ground-side capacity,
whether the airport intends to build or acquire gates that would be used as common facilities, and airfare
levels compared to other large airports.
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The Commission is in compliance with the FAA’s competition plan requirements for the Airport.
The Commission originally submitted its competition plan for the Airport in 2000, and subsequently filed
updates in 2001, 2004, 2008 and 2016. In 2012 and 2015, the Commission also filed letters with the FAA
informing it of minor changes to its competition plan for the Airport. The FAA has responded to each
submission confirming the Commission’s compliance with the FAA’s competition plan requirements.
The Commission expects to submit an update to its competition plan for the Airport once all of the
Signatory Airlines have executed the new Airline Lease Agreement.

AIRLINE AND AIRLINE INDUSTRY INFORMATION
Availability of Information Concerning Individual Airlines

Certain of the airlines or their parent corporations operating at the Airport are subject to the
information reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), and, as such are required to file periodic reports, including financial and operational data, with the
SEC. All such reports and statements can be inspected and copies obtained at prescribed rates in the
Public Reference Room of the SEC at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. The SEC
maintains a website at http://www.sec.gov containing reports, proxy and information statements and other
information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC. In addition, each domestic airline
is required to file periodic reports of financial and operating statistics with the DOT. Such reports can be
inspected at the following location: Bureau of Transportation Statistics, Research and Innovation
Technology Administration, Department of Transportation, 1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE, Washington,
DC 20590, and copies of such reports can be obtained from the DOT at prescribed rates.

Airlines owned by foreign governments or foreign corporations operating airlines (unless such
foreign airlines have American Depository Receipts registered on a national exchange) are not required to
file information with the SEC. Airlines owned by foreign governments, or foreign corporations operating
airlines, file limited information only with the DOT.

Neither the Commission nor the Underwriters undertake any responsibility for and make no
representations as to the accuracy or completeness of the content of information available from the SEC
or the DOT as discussed in the preceding paragraphs, including, but not limited to, updates of such
information on the SEC’s website or links to other Internet sites accessed through the SEC’s website.

See also “CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS” for discussions regarding the
financial condition of the airlines and the effects of airline bankruptcies on the Commission.

Delta

General. Delta Air Lines Inc.’s SEC filings provide comprehensive financial, operational and
other information concerning Delta and prospective investors are encouraged to review such filings prior
to making an investment decision.

Role at the Airport. The Airport serves as a domestic hub in the route system of Delta. Delta
also maintains domestic hubs at Atlanta, Detroit, New York-JFK, Salt Lake City, Los Angeles, New York
(LaGuardia) and Seattle. Delta is the dominant Air Carrier operating at the Airport. Delta, together with
its affiliated Air Carriers (including, among others, Endeavor), accounted for approximately 71.4% of
passenger enplanements at the Airport in 2018 and approximately 70% of the airline rentals, fees and
charges component of the Airport System’s operating revenues. Additionally, Delta leases 87 of the 103
full service jet gates in Terminal 1. See “CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS—Dominance
of Delta at the Airport” and “—Factors Affecting the Airline Industry.”
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AIRPORT SYSTEM ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

There are several significant environmental matters which have direct and indirect impacts on the
Commission and the Airport. These include aircraft noise reduction and the discharge of storm water
runoff.

Airport Noise Control Program

65 or Greater DNL Noise Contours. Over the past 27 years, the Commission’s plans for
mitigating noise in homes near the Airport have varied. The Commission’s previously approved Part 150
Residential Insulation Program, which applied only to homes within the FAA-certified DNL noise
contours of 65 decibels or greater, was designed to provide an interior noise level of 45 decibels or less
through the application of a five decibel noise reduction mitigation package. Once a home in the 65 or
greater DNL noise contours was designated for sound insulation, its degree of sound insulation
modifications depended on the existing conditions of the home’s windows, doors, insulation levels, and
mechanical systems. Residents within the 65 or greater DNL noise contours received a five decibel
reduction package, which included some, or all, of the following items: reconditioning or replacement of
existing windows; addition of exterior acoustical storm windows; reconditioning or replacement of
existing prime doors; addition of exterior acoustical storm doors; baffling of attic and roof vents; addition
of wall and attic insulation; and addition of central air conditioning (if not existing). Sound insulation
modification to the 7,846 homes eligible to receive such modifications within the 65 or greater DNL noise
contours have been completed at a total cost of approximately $229.5 million.

60 to 64 DNL Noise Contours. In addition to insulating homes within the 65 or greater DNL
noise contours, the Commission has received Majority-In-Interest approval from the Signatory Airlines to
spend up to $150 million for noise mitigation within the 60 to 64 DNL noise contours (the “60 to 64 DNL
Noise Contours”). In early 2001, the Commission planned to spend the $150 million on noise mitigation
for homes within the 60 to 64 DNL Noise Contours. It had been estimated in 2001 that providing the five
decibel reduction mitigation package to all of the homes located in the 60 to 64 DNL Noise Contours
would cost approximately $450 million (in the 2004 update to the Commission’s 150 Residential
Insulation Program the cost was estimated to be approximately $331.5 million), and therefore, the
Commission’s plan to spend $150 million would not have been sufficient. In November 2001, the
Commission submitted a proposal to the FAA regarding, among other things, noise mitigation in the 60 to
64 DNL Noise Contours. On December 17, 2001, the Commission decided to reevaluate the best and
most efficient use of the $150 million for noise mitigation within the 60 to 64 DNL Noise Contours.
Additionally, in 2002 the Commission withdrew its November 2001 submittal to the FAA in order to
develop revised noise contours for 2007. The Commission submitted revised noise contours to the FAA
in November 2004 for review and approval. These revised noise contours took into account recent
changes in the aviation industry but did not represent current conditions.

In 2004, the Commission proposed a $48 million noise mitigation plan for the 60 to 64 DNL
Noise Contours, whereby the Commission would spend $28 million (down from the $150 million plan)
and the homeowners would spend $20 million of their own money. The plan would include the
installation of a mechanical package (including, among other things air conditioning) to the affected
homes.

On April 6, 2005, the City of Minneapolis, the Minneapolis Public Housing Authority in and for
the City of Minneapolis, the City of Eagan and the City of Richfield (collectively, the “Noise Plaintiffs”)
filed a lawsuit in Minnesota State District Court, Fourth Judicial District (the “District Court”), against
the Commission, alleging, among other things, that the Commission had violated and will likely continue
to violate certain noise pollution provisions of the Minnesota Environmental Rights Act (“MERA”) and
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other laws of the State. The Noise Plaintiffs requested the court, among other things, to order the
Commission to cease violating the noise pollution provisions of MERA and other laws of the State and to
provide a five decibel reduction package to all homes within the 60 to 64 DNL Noise Contours, at no cost
to the homeowners. The Commission estimated that the cost of providing a five decibel reduction
package to all homes within the 60 to 64 DNL Noise Contours would be approximately $331.5 million;
however, the Commission estimated that the cost could be approximately $450 million if it was required
to provide the five decibel reduction mitigation package to all of the homes located in the 60 to 64 DNL
Noise Contours in effect in 2001. On January 25, 2007, the court granted the Noise Plaintiffs’ motion for
summary judgment, holding that the Commission created an environmental quality standard under MERA
that required the Commission to provide a five decibel reduction package to all homes within the 60 to 64
DNL Noise Contours and that the Commission violated that standard. In February 2007, the District
Court held a five-day trial on the issue of whether the Commission’s failure to provide a five decibel
reduction package violated MERA by materially adversely affecting the environment, and on the issue of
an appropriate remedy under MERA.

On September 1, 2005, David B. Wiencke, et. al., on behalf of themselves and all others similarly
situated, filed a lawsuit with the District Court against the Commission seeking a declaratory judgment
and monetary relief for the Commission’s failure to implement a five decibel reduction package to all
homes within the 60 to 64 DNL Noise Contours. On August 3, 2006, the District Court issued an order
certifying a class action of all individuals owning homes or other buildings within the boundaries of the
City of Minneapolis and the City of Richfield within the 60 to 64 DNL Noise Contours as projected for
2005 by the Commission in its 1996 DNL Noise Contour Maps. The complaint, as amended, alleged
breach of express contract, breach of implied contract, breach of contract on the grounds of promissory
estoppel and sought declaratory relief. Although the legal claims were different than those raised by the
Noise Plaintiffs discussed in the previous paragraph, the underlying facts and general claims for relief
were substantially similar.

Consent Decree.

Original Consent Decree. On October 19, 2007, the District Court approved a Consent Decree
(the “Original Consent Decree”) negotiated by the Commission, the Noise Plaintiffs and David B.
Wiencke, et. al. Under the Original Consent Decree, the Commission was required to provide mitigation
to homes in the 60 to 64 DNL Noise Contours. Mitigation activities varied based on the applicable noise
contours, with homes in the most noise-impacted contours eligible for more extensive mitigation than
those in less impacted areas. Multi-family dwellings (those with more than three living units) received
less extensive mitigation than single-family homes. The noise mitigation program under the Original
Consent Decree was substantially completed on July 31, 2014 at a total cost of approximately $95
million.

First Amendment to Consent Decree. As a result of past mitigation activities, the terms of the
Original Consent Decree, and local land use compatibility guidelines defined by the Metropolitan
Council, the Commission included a noise mitigation plan in the draft 2020 EA/EAW (see “CAPITAL
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM—General” above for additional information on the 2020 EA/EAW). In
response to comments received by various communities surrounding the Airport on the draft 2020
EA/EAW, the Commission included a revised noise mitigation plan in the final 2020 EA/EAW. When
the FAA issued its 2020 FONSI/ROD in March 2013, it concluded that there were no areas of sensitive
land uses that would experience a 1.5 decibel or greater increase in the 65 DNL noise contour if the
Commission were to move forward with its capital improvement program. The FAA concluded that
noise mitigation would not be part of the 2020 FONSI/ROD, nor did it constitute a condition of approval
by the FAA. However, the FAA included a letter with the 2020 FONSI/ROD that addressed using
Commission revenues for the noise mitigation plan included in the 2020 EA/EAW. The FAA stated that
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“As a matter of general principal mitigation measures imposed by a state court as part of a consent decree
are eligible for use of airport revenue. Conceptually the MAC could use airport revenues if it were to
amend the [Original Consent Decree] to include the proposed mitigation.”

Based on the FAA’s position, the Commission initiated discussions with the other parties to the
Original Consent Decree in order to include the modified noise mitigation plan that was included in the
final 2020 EA/EAW in the Original Consent Decree. On September 25, 2013, the District Court
approved an amendment to the Original Consent Decree (the “First Amendment to Consent Decree”),
which included the modified noise mitigation program. Eligibility under the modified noise mitigation
program included in the First Amendment to Consent Decree became effective in 2014 and will expire on
December 31, 2024.

Under the First Amendment to Consent Decree, eligibility of single-family and multi-family
homes will be determined based upon actual noise contours that are developed by the Commission on an
annual basis. A single-family or multi-family home will be considered eligible for noise mitigation when
the following criteria are met:

(a) the community in which the home is located has adopted local land use controls
and building performance standards that prohibit new residential construction or remodeling on
the block in which the home is located, unless the construction or remodeling materials and
practices are consistent with the noise impact levels and consistent with noise mitigation provided
by this program, and

(b) the home is located, for a period of three consecutive years (the first of the three
years cannot be later than calendar year 2020) in the actual 60-64 DNL noise contour, and, within
a higher noise impact mitigation area when compared to the single-family home’s status under the
noise mitigation program that was included in the Original Consent Decree.

Noise mitigation will be provided to eligible properties in the year following the determination of
eligibility. Single-family and multi-family homes that were opted out of mitigation previously are not
eligible to participate in the modified mitigation program.

The Commission’s 2018 Annual Noise Contour Report was completed on March 1, 2019 (the
“2018 Noise Contour Report”). The Commission continues to implement the noise mitigation
commitments it made in the First Amendment to Consent Decree. As described previously, a home must
meet the eligibility standards for three consecutive years in order to be eligible to receive noise
mitigation. Two hundred forty-three single-family homes have met the eligibility standards for three
consecutive years and are eligible to receive noise mitigation beginning in 2020. Sixteen single-family
homes have met the eligibility standards for two consecutive years, and, if they meet the standards again
in 2019, they will be eligible to receive noise mitigation beginning in 2021. Three hundred thirteen
single-family homes and 515 multi-family units have met the eligibility standards for one year and, if they
meet the standards again in 2019 and 2020, they will be eligible to receive noise mitigation beginning in
2022. As described in “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM—2019-20 CIP” and “—2021-25 CIP”,
the Commission is currently programing a total of $26 million for noise mitigation to be provided under
the First Amendment to Consent Decree, beginning in 2019.

In 2017, a second amendment to the Consent Decree was entered into by the parties. The second

amendment includes, among other things, allowing the use of an updated computer model for determining
and analyzing noise exposure and land use compatibility issues around the Airport.
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Throughout the history of its noise mitigation program, the Commission has provided sound
attenuation improvements to over 15,000 homes, 3,300 multi-family units and 18 schools.

State Legislation. From time to time, there have been bills introduced in the Minnesota State
Legislature that addressed noise mitigation with respect to communities surrounding the Airport. To date,
none of these bills has been passed by the Minnesota State Legislature and signed by the Governor;
however, the Commission cannot predict if additional bills will be introduced in the future that may
impose restrictions or obligations on the Commission with respect to noise mitigation or, if introduced
and ultimately adopted by the Minnesota State Legislature and signed by the Governor, what effect, if
any, such restrictions or obligations might have on the Commission.

Discharge Permit

Under the Clean Water Act and Environmental Protection Agency Regulations, the Airport is
required to obtain a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”)/State Disposal System
permit from the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (“MPCA”). The permit authorizes the discharge of
the Airport’s storm water runoff, subject to certain requirements and conditions. The Airport’s storm
water discharge is impacted primarily from the use of aircraft deicing chemicals. The permit contains
limitations on the total amount of a pollutant, known as biological oxygen demand (“BOD”), that the
Airport may discharge on an annual basis. BOD is associated mainly with the use of deicing chemicals at
the Airport and is carried by storm water to the points of discharge regulated by the permit.

The Commission’s current NPDES permit expired in March 2018, As required by the permit, the
Commission submitted an application for reissuance of the permit in October 2017. Pending reissuance
of a new permit by MPCA, the Commission continues to operate under the expired permit. The current
NPDES permit includes new limits for oil and grease, phosphorus, and suspended solids, new compliance
schedule requirements, and a requirement for mercury and phosphorus minimization plans. Most notably,
the permit incorporates a co-permittee structure that includes the Commission, the airlines and operators
conducting activities that have the potential to impact stormwater at the Airport. This structure provides
shared responsibility for reducing impacts.

In April 2019, the Commission and the co-permittees under the NPDES permit informed MPCA
of an anticipated exceedance of the 2019 annual mass limit for five-day carbonaceous biological oxygen
demand as set forth in the NPDES permit. The exceedence occurred as a result of the record-breaking
snowfall in February 2019, followed by an unprecedented two-day snowmelt event in mid-March 2019.
The Commission is currently awaiting a response from the MPCA. At this time, the Commission cannot
predict if MPCA will take any action or impose any fines on the Commission for the exceedance. Based
on past actions of the MPCA, the Commission does not expect any fine to have any material effect on the
revenues of the Commission. Any fine imposed on the Commission would be reimbursable to the
Commission by the Air Carriers through rates and charges included in the airfield cost center.

REPORT OF THE AIRPORT CONSULTANT
General

The Commission has retained Landrum & Brown, Incorporated (the “Airport Consultant’), which
is recognized as an expert in its field, to prepare a report in connection with the anticipated issuance of the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. The Report of the Airport Consultant is included as Appendix A hereto,
with the Airport Consultant’s consent. The information regarding the analyses and conclusions contained
in the Report of the Airport Consultant is included in the Official Statement in reliance upon the expertise
of the Airport Consultant. The Report of the Airport Consultant should be read in its entirety for an
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understanding of the assumptions and rationale underlying the financial forecasts contained therein and
the key factors impacting such forecasts.

The financial forecasts in the Report of the Airport Consultant are based on certain information
and assumptions that were provided by, or reviewed and agreed to by, the Commission’s management. In
the opinion of the Airport Consultant, these assumptions provide a reasonable basis for the forecasts.

The Report of the Airport Consultant should be read in its entirety regarding all of the
assumptions used to prepare the forecasts made therein. No assurances can be given that these or any of
the other assumptions contained in the Report of the Airport Consultant will occur. As noted in the
Report of the Airport Consultant, any forecast is subject to uncertainties. Inevitably, some assumptions
used to develop the forecasts will not be realized, and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur.
Therefore, there are likely to be differences between forecast and actual results, and those differences may
be material. See also “INTRODUCTION—Forward-Looking Statements,” and “CERTAIN
INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS—Assumptions in the Report of the Airport Consultant.”

Forecast of Debt Service Coverage

The following table sets forth the projected Net Revenues, debt service requirements for the
Senior Bonds and the Subordinate Obligations (including the new money portion of the Subordinate
Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds, and the Additional Subordinate
Obligations expected to be issued in 2022), and the coverage of such debt service requirements based
upon the Net Revenues, as forecast by the Airport Consultant, for the years 2020 through 2025. Neither
the Report of the Airport Consultant nor the following table (a) reflect the final terms of the Subordinate
Series 2019 Bonds or (b) take into consideration the issuance of the refunding portions of the Subordinate
Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds, the issuance of the Subordinate Series
2019C Bonds or any savings associated with the refunding of the Refunded Bonds.

The Debt Service Requirement numbers in the following table exclude the debt service on the
Senior Bonds and the Subordinate Obligations to be paid with PFCs. For a discussion of the calculation
of debt service on the Senior Bonds and Subordinate Obligations paid with PFCs, see “SECURITY AND
SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay
Debt Service.”

The forecasted financial information in the following table was not prepared with a view toward
complying with the guidelines established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants with
respect to forecasted financial information, but, in the view of the Commission’s management, was
prepared on a reasonable basis, to reflect the best currently available estimates and judgments and present,
to the best of management’s knowledge and belief, the expected course of action and the expected future
financial performance of the Commission. However, this information is not fact and should not be relied
upon as necessarily indicative of future results, and readers of this Official Statement are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on the forecasted financial information.

Neither the Commission’s independent auditors, nor any other independent accountants, have
compiled, examined, or performed any procedures with respect to the forecasted financial information
contained herein, nor have they expressed any opinion or any form of assurance on such information or its
achievability, and assume no responsibility for, and disclaim any association with, the forecasted financial
information.

The assumptions and estimates underlying the forecasted financial information are inherently
uncertain and, though considered reasonable by the management of the Commission as of the date hereof,
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are subject to a wide variety of significant business, economic, and competitive risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in the forecasted financial
information, including, among others, the risks and uncertainties described under “CERTAIN
INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS” above. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the forecasted
results are indicative of the future performance of the Commission or that actual results will not be
materially higher or lower than those contained in the forecasted financial information. Inclusion of the
forecasted financial information in this Official Statement should not be regarded as a representation by
any person that the results contained in the forecasted financial information will be achieved.

TABLE 31
Metropolitan Airports Commission
Projected Debt Service Coverage
(dollars in thousands)!

Senior Senior Subordinate Total Debt
Net Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service Service
Year Revenues  Requirement 23 Coverage Requirement %  Coverage ¢
2020 $190,031 $50,248 378% $57,592 176%
2021 188,923 39,484 478 68,426 175
2022 203,259 36,064 564 83,403 170
2023 203,250 36,066 564 83,405 170
2024 204,234 68,318 299 53,751 167
2025 215,181 68,324 315 62,310 165

Does not include Transfer.

Includes Senior Annual Debt Service on the Senior Bonds. Does not take into consideration any savings
associated with the refunding of the Refunded Senior Series 2009A Bonds, the Refunded Senior Series 2009B
Bonds, the Refunded Senior Series 2010A Bonds or the Refunded Senior Series 2010B Bonds.

Excludes Senior Annual Debt Service on Senior Bonds which the Commission expects to pay with Capitalized
Interest and PFCs. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES
2019 BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service.”

Includes Subordinate Annual Debt Service on the Subordinate Obligations, including projected Subordinate
Annual Debt Service on (i) the new money portion of the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate
Series 2019B Bonds, and (ii) the Additional Subordinate Obligations expected to be issued in 2022. Does not
take into consideration any savings associated with the refunding of the Refunded Subordinate Series 2010C
Bonds or the Refunded Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds. For purposes of the table only, the Subordinate
Revolving Obligations are assumed to be outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $50.4 million, that
will be amortized through January 1, 2030, and bear interest at a rate of 3.00%.

Excludes Subordinate Annual Debt Service on Subordinate Obligations which the Commission expects to pay
with Capitalized Interest and PFCs. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE
SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service.”

Calculated by dividing Net Revenues by the sum of Senior Debt Service Requirement and Subordinate Debt
Service Requirement.

Source: Landrum & Brown, Incorporated
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CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS

The purchase and ownership of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds involve investment risk and
may not be suitable for all investors. The factors set forth below, among others, may affect the security of
the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Prospective investors are urged to read this Official Statement,
including its appendices, in its entirety. The factors set forth in this Official Statement, among others,
may affect the security for and/or trading value of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. The information
contained in this Official Statement relates solely to the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds and speaks only
as of the date of this Official Statement. The information in this Official Statement does not purport to be
a comprehensive or complete discussion of all risks or other considerations that may be relevant to an
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investment in the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Other factors may exist which may be material to
investors based on their respective individual characteristics. In addition, the order in which the
following information is presented is not intended to reflect the relative importance of any such
considerations. Additional risk factors relating to the purchase of Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are
described throughout this Official Statement, whether or not specifically designated as risk factors.
Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known, or currently believed to be immaterial, may also
materially and adversely affect, among other things, Revenues, Net Revenues or Subordinate Revenues or
individual investors. In addition, although the various risks discussed in this Official Statement are
generally described separately, prospective investors of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds should
consider the potential effects of the interplay of multiple risk factors. Where more than one significant
risk factor is present, the risk of loss to an investor may be significantly increased. There can be no
assurance that other risks or considerations not discussed in this Official Statement are or will not become
material in the future.

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are Limited Obligations

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are limited obligations of the Commission payable solely
from and secured by a pledge of (a) Subordinate Revenues, (b) certain funds and accounts held by the
Subordinate Trustee under the Subordinate Indenture, and (c) other amounts payable under the
Subordinate Indenture. The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are not general obligations of the
Commission. Neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Commission, the City of
Minneapolis, the City of St. Paul, the State or any political subdivision or public agency of the State is
pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. None of
the properties of the Airport System are subject to any mortgage or other lien for the benefit of the owners
of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE
SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS.”

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are payable from Revenues only after, and subordinate to, the
prior payment of the Maintenance and Operation Expenses of the Airport System and the payment of debt
service when due on the Senior Parity Bonds and the funding of the reserve and replenishment
requirements on and relating to the Senior Parity Bonds. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Flow of Funds.”

Dominance of Delta at the Airport

Delta is the dominant Air Carrier operating at the Airport, which serves as a primary hub in
Delta’s route system. Delta currently leases 87 of the existing 103 full service jet gates in Terminal 1. In
2018, Delta, together with its affiliated Air Carriers, accounted for approximately 71.4% of passenger
enplanements at the Airport, and approximately 70% of the airline rentals, fees and charges component of
the Airport System’s operating revenues. No other airline accounted for more than 6.4% of passenger
enplanements at the Airport in 2018 or accounted for over 8.9% of the airline rentals, fees and charges
component of the Airport System’s operating revenues in 2018.

The Commission has no information regarding the financial condition of Delta other than from
SEC filings and press releases made by Delta. See “AIRLINE AND AIRLINE INDUSTRY
INFORMATION—Delta.” No assurances can be given concerning the present or future financial
viability of Delta.

Although the Commission assumes that, as a result of the Airport’s geographic location, facilities

and capabilities and Delta’s investment in the Airport, the Airport is likely to remain a system hub for
Delta, no assurance can be given that the Airport will continue as a system hub for Delta, regardless of
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Delta’s financial condition. In the event Delta discontinues or reduces its hubbing operations at the
Airport, Delta’s current level of activity may not be replaced by other carriers, thereby resulting in
reduced revenue collections by the Commission.

Additionally, any significant financial or operational difficulties incurred by Delta may have a
material adverse effect on the Commission’s revenues and the Airport, although financial or operational
difficulties by any of the other Air Carriers also may, whether directly or indirectly, have an adverse
impact on the Commission’s revenues and the Airport, the effect of which may be material.

Factors Affecting the Airline Industry

General. Key factors that affect airline traffic at the Airport and the financial condition of the
airlines, and, therefore, the amount of Revenues available for payment of the Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds, include: local, regional, national and international economic and political conditions; international
hostilities; world health concerns; aviation security concerns; accidents involving commercial passenger
aircraft; changes in law, local, State and federal regulations and the application thereof; airline service and
routes; airline airfares and competition; airline industry economics, including labor relations and costs;
availability and price of aviation fuel (including the ability of airlines to hedge fuel costs); regional,
national and international environmental regulations; airline consolidation and mergers; capacity of the
national air traffic control and airport systems; capacity of the Airport and competition from other airports
for connecting traffic; and business travel substitutes, including teleconferencing, videoconferencing and
web-casting.

The airline industry is highly cyclical and is characterized by intense competition, high operating
and capital costs and varying demand. Passenger and cargo volumes are highly sensitive to general and
localized economic trends, and passenger traffic varies substantially with seasonal travel patterns. The
profitability of the airline industry can fluctuate dramatically from quarter to quarter and from year to
year, even in the absence of catastrophic events such as the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and
the economic recession that occurred between 2008 and 2009. Other business decisions by airlines, such
as the reduction, or elimination, of service to unprofitable markets, increasing the use of smaller, regional
jets and changing hubbing strategies have also affected air traffic at the Airport and could have a more
pronounced effect in the future.

In addition to revenues received from the airlines, the Commission derives a substantial portion
of its revenues from concessionaires including parking operations, food and beverage concessions, retail
concessions, car rental companies, and others. See “AGREEMENTS WITH AIRLINES AND OTHER
CONCESSIONAIRES” and “FINANCIAL INFORMATION.” Declines in passenger traffic at the
Airport may adversely affect the commercial operations of many of these concessionaires. While the
Commission’s agreements with concessionaires require the concessionaires to pay a minimum annual
guarantee, severe financial difficulties could lead to a failure by a concessionaire to make the required
payments or could lead to the cessation of operations of such concessionaire.

Many of these factors are outside the Commission’s control. Changes in demand, decreases in
aviation activity and their potential effect on enplaned passenger traffic at the Airport may result in
reduced Revenues and PFCs. Following are just a few of the factors affecting the airline industry
including, regional and national economic conditions, threats of terrorism, costs of aviation fuel, and
airline concentration. See also “—Aviation Security Concerns” below for additional discussion on the
costs of security.
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Economic Conditions. Historically, the financial performance of the air transportation industry
has correlated with the state of the national and global economies. See “APPENDIX A—REPORT OF
THE AIRPORT CONSULTANT—2.3 Key Factors Affecting Air Traffic Demand.”

Threats of Terrorism. Recent and ongoing terrorist attacks and threats of terrorism have had, and
may continue to have, a negative impact on air travel. The Commission cannot predict the likelihood of
future incidents similar to the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 or the terrorist attacks that occurred
in Nice, Munich, Paris, Brussels and Istanbul in 2015 and 2016, the likelihood of future air transportation
disruptions or the impact on the Commission or the airlines operating at the Airport from such incidents
or disruptions.

Cost of Aviation Fuel. Airline earnings are significantly affected by changes in the price of
aviation fuel. According to Airlines for America, fuel, along with labor costs, is one of the largest cost
components of airline operations, and continues to be an important and uncertain determinate of an air
carrier’s operating economics. There has been no shortage of aviation fuel since the “fuel crisis” of 1974,
but any increase in fuel prices causes an increase in airline operating costs. Fuel prices continue to be
susceptible to, among other factors, political unrest in various parts of the world (particularly in the oil-
producing nations in the Middle East and North Africa), Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries
policy, the growth of economies around the world, the levels of inventory carried by industries, the
amounts of reserves maintained by governments, disruptions to production and refining facilities and
weather. According to Airlines for America, for the first quarter of 2019, jet fuel accounted for
approximately 17.7% of the airline industry’s operating expenses. The price of aviation fuel rose to an
all-time high of approximately $3.75 per gallon in July 2008. According to the U.S. Bureau of
Transportation Statistics, the price of aviation fuel averaged approximately $2.02 per gallon during the
first 6 months of 2019. Significant and prolonged increases in the cost of aviation fuel are likely to have
an adverse impact on air transportation industry profitability and hamper the recovery plans and cost-
cutting efforts of certain airlines.

Airline Concentration; Effect of Airline Industry Consolidation. The airline industry continues
to evolve as a result of competition and changing demand patterns and it is possible the airlines serving
the Airport could consolidate operations through acquisition, merger, alliances and code share sales
strategies. Examples of airlines mergers occurring over the last several years include: (a) in 2008, Delta
acquired Northwest and its affiliated Air Carriers, Mesaba, Pinnacle (now known as Endeavor) and
Compass Airlines; (b) on October 1, 2010, United Airlines and Continental Airlines merged and United
Airlines and Continental Airlines began operating as a single airline (under the United brand) in March
2012; (c) on May 2, 2011, Southwest acquired Air Tran, and Southwest and Air Tran began operating as a
single airline (under the Southwest brand) in March 2012; (d) on December 9, 2013, AMR Corporation,
along with its subsidiaries American Airlines and American Eagle, merged with US Airways Group, Inc.,
and American and US Airways began operating as a single airline (under the American brand) in October
2015; and (e) in December 2016, Alaska Air Group acquired Virgin America. To date none of these
mergers have had any material impact on airline service or enplanements at the Airport. While these prior
mergers have not had any material impact on airline service or enplanements at the Airport or on
Revenues, future mergers or alliances among airlines operating at the Airport may result in fewer flights
or decreases in gate utilization by one or more airlines. Such decreases could result in reduced Revenues,
reduced PFC collections and/or increased costs for the other airlines serving the Airport.

Pilot and Mechanics Shortage. Beginning in June of 2017, a shortage of pilots for Horizon Air’s
Bombardier Q400 aircraft resulted in impacts to Horizon Air’s schedule. In the month of June 2017, the
airline had to cancel more than 300 flights systemwide because it did not have enough pilots. Horizon
Air had to curtail its flight schedule for the following fall. The lost routes were ultimately operated by the
mainline carrier Alaska Airlines or SkyWest. In an effort to address this, Horizon Air has increased
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compensation and decreased the amount of time required for its pilots to advance their careers and has
increased its hiring.

Pilot shortage is an industry-wide issue, and especially so for smaller regional airlines. There are
several causes for the pilot shortage that affect all airlines. Congress changed duty time rules in 2010 to
mitigate pilot fatigue, which required airlines to increase pilot staff. Beginning in 2013, first officers
flying for commercial airlines were required to have at least 1,500 hours of flight time, instead of the 250
hours previously required. Other factors include an aging pilot workforce and fewer new pilots coming
out of the military. Further, as passenger demand increases, the major air carriers are anticipated to need
additional pilots, and are generally able to hire pilots away from regional airlines. As a result, small
regional airlines have a particularly difficult time hiring qualified new pilots, despite increased incentives.
The shortage of pilots available to regional airlines may result in reduced service to some smaller U.S.
markets.

In addition to the pilot shortage, over the next decade there could be a shortage of qualified
mechanics to maintain the airlines’ fleet of planes. This potential shortage is as a result of an aging pool
of mechanics, a large portion of which are expected to retire in the next decade, and a lack of younger
people joining the ranks of the mechanics. A shortage of mechanics could raise the cost of maintenance,
require airlines to maintain more spare planes and/or result in increased flight cancellations and delays.

Effect of Airline Bankruptcies

General. Since December 2000, numerous airlines have filed for bankruptcy protection
including, among others, Northwest, Delta, including its subsidiary Comair, Mesaba, Sun Country (which
filed for protection twice), US Airways (which filed for protection twice), UAL Corporation, the parent of
United, AMR Corporation, the parent of American Airlines and American Eagle, Air Canada, Frontier
and Republic Airlines. Each of these airlines has emerged from bankruptcy and, except for Comair and
Mesaba, continue to operate at the Airport.

Assumption or Rejection of Agreements. An airline that has executed an Airline Lease
Agreement or other executory contract with the Commission and seeks protection under the U.S.
bankruptcy laws must assume or reject (a) its Airline Lease Agreement within 120 days after the
bankruptcy filing (subject to court approval, a one-time 90-day extension is allowed (further extensions
are subject to the consent of the Commission)), and (b) its other executory contracts with the Commission
prior to the confirmation of a plan of reorganization.

In the event of assumption and/or assignment of any agreement to a third party, the airline would
be required to cure any pre- and post-petition monetary defaults and provide adequate assurance of future
performance under the applicable Airline Lease Agreement or other agreements.

Rejection of an Airline Lease Agreement or other agreement or executory contract will give rise
to an unsecured claim of the Commission for damages, the amount of which in the case of an Airline
Lease Agreement or other agreement is limited by the United States Bankruptcy Code generally to the
amounts unpaid prior to bankruptcy plus the greater of (i) one year of rent or (ii) 15% of the total
remaining lease payments, not to exceed three years. However, the amount ultimately received in the
event of a rejection of an Airline Lease Agreement or other agreement could be considerably less than the
maximum amounts allowed under the United States Bankruptcy Code. Certain amounts unpaid as a
result of a rejection of an Airline Lease Agreement or other agreement in connection with an airline in
bankruptcy, such as airfield, terminal, concourse and ramp costs would be passed on to the remaining
airlines under their respective Airline Lease Agreements, thereby increasing such airlines’ cost per
enplanement, although there can be no assurance that such other airlines would be financially able to
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absorb the additional costs. In addition, payments made by an airline in bankruptcy (or by its surety)
within 90 days of filing a bankruptcy case could be deemed to be an “avoidable preference” under the
United States Bankruptcy Code and thus subject to recapture by the debtor or its trustee in bankruptcy, in
particular if the debtor posts collateral with its surety. In general, risks associated with bankruptcy
include risks of substantial delay in payment or of non-payment and the risk that the Commission may not
be able to enforce any of its remedies under the agreements with a bankrupt airline

Northwest, Delta, Comair, Mesaba, Sun Country, US Airways, United, American, Air Canada,
Frontier and Republic were each operating at the Airport under an Airline Lease Agreement at the time of
their respective filings for bankruptcy protection. Northwest, Delta, Comair, Mesaba, US Airways,
United, American, Air Canada, Frontier and Republic each assumed their respective Airline Lease
Agreements when they emerged from bankruptcy protection. During its first bankruptcy proceedings,
Sun Country rejected its Airline Lease Agreement, however the investor group that purchased the assets
of the defunct Sun Country signed a new Airline Lease Agreement. During its second bankruptcy
proceedings, Sun Country assumed its Airline Lease Agreement. See also “AGREEMENTS WITH
AIRLINES AND OTHER CONCESSIONAIRES.”

With respect to an airline in bankruptcy proceedings in a foreign country, the Commission is
unable to predict what types of orders and/or relief could be issued by foreign bankruptcy tribunals, or the
extent to which any such orders would be enforceable in the United States.

Pre-Petition Obligations. During the pendency of a bankruptcy proceeding, a debtor airline may
not, absent a court order, make any payments to the Commission on account of goods and services
provided prior to the bankruptcy. Thus, the Commission’s stream of payments from a debtor airline
would be interrupted to the extent of pre-petition goods and services, including accrued rent and landing
fees. All of the pre-petition obligations of Northwest, Delta, Comair, Mesaba, Sun Country (with respect
to its second bankruptcy filing), US Airways, United, American, Air Canada and Frontier were paid in
full. A portion of Mesaba’s pre-petition obligations were paid from Mesaba’s security deposit made to
the Commission. At the time of Sun Country’s first bankruptcy filing, it owed the Commission
approximately $570,000 in pre-petition obligations; approximately $72,000 of such obligations was
recovered from the other Air Carriers operating at the Airport through increased landing fees,
approximately $46,000 of such obligations was recovered from an Air Carrier which leased a hangar
previously leased by Sun Country, and $451,392 of such obligations was written off as bad debt and was
not recoverable. At the time of its bankruptcy filing, Republic Airlines did not owe the Commission
anything.

PFCs. Pursuant to the PFC Act, the FAA has approved the Commission’s applications to require
the airlines to collect and remit to the Commission a $4.50 PFC on each enplaning revenue passenger at
the Airport. See “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM—Funding Sources for the 2019-20 CIP and
2021-25 CIP Projects.”

The PFC Act provides that PFCs collected by the airlines constitute a trust fund held for the
beneficial interest of the eligible agency (i.e., the Commission) imposing the PFCs, except for any
handling fee (which currently is $0.11 per PFC) or retention of interest collected on unremitted proceeds.
In addition, federal regulations require airlines to account for PFC collections separately and to disclose
the existence and amount of funds regarded as trust funds in their respective financial statements.
However, the airlines, provided they are not under bankruptcy protection, are permitted to commingle
PFC collections with other revenues. The bankruptcy courts have not fully addressed such trust
arrangements. Therefore, the Commission cannot predict how a bankruptcy court might rule on this
matter in the event of a bankruptcy filing by one of the airlines operating at the Airport. The PFC Act
requires an airline in bankruptcy protection to segregate PFC collections from all of its other revenues.
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It is possible that the Commission could be held to be an unsecured creditor with respect to
unremitted PFCs held by an airline that has filed for bankruptcy protection. Additionally, the
Commission cannot predict whether an airline operating at the Airport that files for bankruptcy protection
would have properly accounted for the PFCs owed to the Commission or whether the bankruptcy estate
would have sufficient moneys to pay the Commission in full for the PFCs owed by such airline. All of
the airlines that were operating at the Airport at the time of their respective filings for bankruptcy
protection and during the time they operated at the Airport while under bankruptcy protection submitted
to the Commission all of the PFCs collected by them. PFCs are not pledged to the repayment of the
Senior Parity Bonds or the Subordinate Obligations (including the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds),
however, see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019
BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service” for a discussion of the Commission’s irrevocable
commitment of a portion of PFCs received by the Commission to pay debt service on the Eligible PFC
Bonds.

Aviation Security Concerns

Concerns about the safety of airline travel and the effectiveness of security precautions,
particularly in the context of international hostilities (such as those that have occurred and continue to
occur in the Middle East), terrorist attacks (see “—Factors Affecting the Airline Industry—Threats of
Terrorism” above), increased threat levels declared by the Department of Homeland Security and world
health concerns such as the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (“SARS”) outbreak in 2003, the HIN1
influenza (“swine flu”) outbreak in 2009 and 2010 and the Zika virus outbreak that began in South
America in 2015 and has spread to certain parts of southern Florida, may influence passenger travel
behavior and air travel demand. Travel behavior may be affected by anxieties about the safety of flying
and by the inconveniences and delays associated with more stringent security screening procedures, both
of which may give rise to the avoidance of air travel generally and the switching from air to surface travel
modes.

The Commission cannot predict whether the Airport or any of the Reliever Airports will be
targets of terrorists in the future. Additionally, the Commission cannot predict the effect of any future
government-required security measures on passenger activity at the Airport.

Regulations and Restrictions Affecting the Airport

General. The operations of the Airport are affected by a variety of contractual, statutory and
regulatory restrictions and limitations including, without limitation, the provisions of the Airline Lease
Agreements, the federal acts authorizing the imposition, collection and use of PFCs and extensive federal
legislation and regulations applicable to all airports in the United States. In the aftermath of the terrorist
attacks of September 11, 2001, the Airport also has been required to implement enhanced security
measures mandated by the FAA, the Department of Homeland Security and Airport management.

It is not possible to predict whether future restrictions or limitations on Airport operations will be
imposed, whether future legislation or regulations will affect anticipated federal funding or PFC
collections for capital projects for the Airport, whether additional requirements will be funded by the
federal government or require funding by the Commission, or whether such restrictions or legislation or
regulations would adversely affect Revenues. See “—Aviation Security Concerns” above, “CAPITAL
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM—Funding Sources for the 2019-20 CIP and 2021-25 CIP Projects—
Passenger Facility Charges” and “—Federal and State Grants.”

Restrictions on Use of Runway 17/35. In July 2015, the FAA temporarily suspended the use of
Runway 17/35 to planes arriving from the south when flights are taking off from Runway12R/30L, which
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approaches the northern end of Runway 17/35 from the southeast. The suspension was not the result of a
specific event. It was based on a National Transportation Safety Board recommendation to modify arrival
and departure procedures at airports with runway configurations that create intersecting flight paths.
These intersecting paths pose potential risks if a landing aircraft discontinues its approach and must go
around, crossing the departure flight path for the other runway. The suspension reduced the Airport’s
capacity to receive arriving aircraft when flights are landing and departing in a northerly direction.
Arriving aircraft rarely use Runway 17/35, but when in use for landings, the maximum hourly arrival rate
could be reduced to between 60 and 64 aircraft, down from a previous maximum of 90 aircraft.

On August 28, 2015, the FAA ended the temporary suspension and began allowing limited
arrivals on Runway 17/35. To comply with the new safety requirements, arrivals on Runway 17/35 and
departures on Runway 12R/30L must be coordinated. Subsequently, the FAA also determined that
Runway 12L/30R does not meet the new converging runway separation requirements for Runway 17/35
aborted landings. On February 29, 2016, the FAA instituted additional procedures requiring arrivals on
Runway 17/35 and departures on Runway 12L/30R be coordinated. The resumption of arrivals to
Runway 17/35 could result in an increase to the hourly arrival capacity of between 82 to 84 aircraft under
optimum conditions. These changes will enable the Airport to safely accommodate more arriving aircraft.
The Commission cannot predict if the FAA will impose additional limitations on the use of the runways
at the Airport and what affect those restrictions may have on operations at the Airport or on Revenues.

Ability to Meet Subordinate Rate Covenant

As discussed in “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE
SERIES 2019 BONDS—Subordinate Rate Covenant” the Commission has covenanted in the Master
Subordinate Indenture to establish, fix, prescribe and collect rates, tolls, fees, rentals and charges in
connection with the Airport System and for services rendered in connection therewith, so that during each
Fiscal Year the rate covenant set forth in the Master Subordinate Indenture is met. In addition to
Subordinate Revenues, the Commission expects to use certain PFCs to pay the debt service on the
Subordinate Obligations. See “—Availability of PFCs” below. If PFCs have been irrevocably committed
or are otherwise used to pay principal of and/or interest on the Subordinate Obligations, the principal
and/or interest on such Subordinate Obligations is excluded from the calculation of Subordinate
Aggregate Annual Debt Service; thus decreasing Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service and
increasing debt service coverage for purposes of the rate covenant under the Master Subordinate
Indenture. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES
2019 BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay Debt Service.”

If Subordinate Revenues (and PFCs expected to be used to pay debt service) were to fall below
the levels necessary to meet the rate covenant, the Master Subordinate Indenture provide for procedures
under which the Commission would retain and direct a Consultant to make recommendations as to the
revision of the Commission’s business operations and its schedule of rentals, rates, fees and charges for
the use of the Airport System and for services rendered by the Commission in connection with the Airport
System, and after receiving such recommendations or giving reasonable opportunity for such
recommendations to be made, the Commission is required to take all lawful measures to revise the
schedule of rentals, rates, fees and charges as may be necessary to meet the rate covenant. Increasing the
schedule of rentals, rates, fees and charges for the use of the Airport System and for services rendered by
the Commission in connection with the Airport System is subject to contractual, statutory and regulatory
restrictions (see “—Regulations and Restrictions Affecting the Airport” above). Implementation of an
increase in the schedule of rentals, rates, fees and charges for the use of the Airport could have a
detrimental impact on the operation of the Airport by making the cost of operating at the Airport
unattractive to airlines (including using the Airport for hubbing activities), concessionaires and others in
comparison to other airports, or by reducing the operating efficiency of the Airport. Notwithstanding this
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potential detrimental impact, the Airline Lease Agreements acknowledge the existence of the rate
covenant under the Senior Indenture (which includes the payment of debt service on the Subordinate
Obligations, but does not include the requirement that Subordinate Revenues must equal 110% of
Subordinate Annual Debt Service on the Subordinate Obligations) and include an agreement by the
Signatory Airlines to pay such rentals, rates, fees and charges. The Airline Lease Agreements do not
address the rate covenant under the Master Subordinate Indenture.

Availability of PFCs

In addition to the use of Net Revenues, the Commission expects to use between approximately
$4.2 million and $13.2 million of PFCs each Fiscal Year between Fiscal Years 2019 and 2025,
respectively, to pay a portion (approximately 14%) of the debt service on the Senior Bonds. In addition to
the use of Subordinate Revenues, the Commission expects to use between approximately $13.9 million
and $24.8 million of PFCs each Fiscal Year between Fiscal Years 2019 and 2025, respectively, to pay a
portion (approximately 25%) of the debt service on the Subordinate Obligations. See “SECURITY AND
SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SUBORDINATE SERIES 2019 BONDS—Use of PFCs to Pay
Debt Service” and “—Ability to Meet Subordinate Rate Covenant” above. Additionally, the Commission
expects to use approximately $300 million of PFCs to finance a portion of the costs of the 2019-20 CIP
and the 2021-25 CIP projects.

The amount of PFC revenue received by the Commission in future years will vary based upon the
actual number of PFC-eligible passenger enplanements at the Airport. No assurance can be given that
any level of enplanements will be realized. See “—Factors Affecting the Airline Industry” above. See
also “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM—Funding Sources for the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25
CIP Projects—Passenger Facility Charges” and “—Ability to Meet Rate Covenants” above.
Additionally, the FAA may terminate the Commission’s authority to impose the PFC, subject to informal
and formal procedural safeguards, if (a) PFC revenues are not being used for approved projects in
accordance with the FAA’s approval, the PFC Act or the PFC Regulations, or (b)the Commission
otherwise violates the PFC Act or the PFC Regulations. The Commission’s authority to impose a PFC
may also be terminated if the Commission violates certain provisions of the Airport Noise and Capacity
Act of 1990 (the “ANCA”) and its implementing regulations relating to the implementation of noise and
access restrictions for certain types of aircraft. The regulations under ANCA also contain procedural
safeguards to ensure that the Commission’s authority to impose a PFC would not be summarily
terminated. No assurance can be given that the Commission’s authority to impose a PFC will not be
terminated by Congress or the FAA, that the PFC program will not be modified or restricted by Congress
or the FAA so as to reduce PFC revenues available to the Commission or that the Commission will not
seek to decrease the amount of PFCs to be collected, provided such decrease does not violate the
Commission’s covenant in the PFC Resolution. A shortfall in PFC revenues may cause the Commission
to increase rates and charges at the Airport to meet the debt service requirements on the Senior Bonds and
the Subordinate Obligations that the Commission plans to pay from PFCs, and/or require the Commission
to identify other sources of funding for its capital program, including issuing Additional Senior Bonds
and/or Additional Subordinate Obligations, to finance the pay-as-you-go projects currently expected to be
paid with PFC revenues.

The PFC Act also provides that for certain classes of airports, including the Airport, federal AIP
entitlement funds will be reduced by 50% following the imposition of a PFC of $3.00 or less and will be
reduced by 75% following the imposition of a PFC greater than $3.00. The Commission currently
collects a PFC of $4.50.
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Cyber and Data Security

Commission. The Commission, like many other large public and private entities, relies on a large
and complex technology environment to conduct its operations. As a recipient and provider of personal,
private and sensitive information, the Commission faces multiple cyber threats including, but not limited
to, hacking, phishing, viruses, malware and other attacks on its computers and other sensitive digital
networks and systems (collectively, “Systems Technology”). There have been many cyber-attack
attempts on the Commission’s computer system, but not any resulting in a material compromise of the
system, data loss or breach that the Commission has identified.

Cybersecurity incidents could result from unintentional events, or from deliberate attacks by
unauthorized entities or individuals attempting to gain access to the Commission’s Systems Technology
for the purposes of misappropriating assets or information or causing operational disruption and damage.

The Commission’s Information Security Program is centered around the National Institute of
Standards and Technology (“NIST”) Cybersecurity Framework (“CSF”), with significant investments
being made in each of the NIST functions: Identify, Protect, Detect, Respond and Recover. The
Commission’s Information Security Program includes an internal policy framework that details security
controls and safeguards that supports the NIST CSF and industry cybersecurity best practices. The
Commission engages with outside firms to periodically provide independent assessments of progress
against objectives. These assessments enable the Commission to understand its risk and security posture
and to prioritize its investments accordingly.

No assurances can be given that the Commission’s security and operational control measures will
ensure against any and all cybersecurity threats and attacks. A cybersecurity incident or breach could
damage the Commission’s Systems Technology and cause disruption to Commission and/or Airport
System services, operations and finances. The costs of remedying any such damage or protecting against
future attacks could be substantial. Further, cybersecurity breaches could expose the Commission to
material litigation and other legal risks, which could cause the Commission to incur material costs related
to such legal claims or proceedings. The Commission will continue to assess cyber threats and protect its
data and systems, with a conscious effort to prioritize based on potential impact of issues and the
likelihood of those issues manifesting into an incident.

Airlines, Concessionaires and Other Entities Operating at the Airport System. Computer
networks and data transmission and collection are vital to the efficient operation of the airline industry.
Air travel industry participants, including the airlines, the FAA, the TSA, the concessionaires and others
collect and store sensitive data, including intellectual property, proprietary business information,
information regarding customers, suppliers and business partners, and personally identifiable information
of customers and employees. The secure processing, maintenance and transmission of this information is
critical to air travel industry operations. Despite security measures, information technology and
infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or breached due to employee error, malfeasance or
other disruptions. Any such breach could compromise networks and the information stored there could be
disrupted, accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such disruption, access, disclosure or other
loss of information could result in disruptions in the efficiency of the air travel industry, legal claims or
proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, regulatory penalties,
operations and the services provided, and cause a loss of confidence in the air travel industry, which could
ultimately adversely affect the airline industry and operations at the Airport System.
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Availability of Funding for the Capital Improvement Program

The Commission’s plan of finance assumes that proceeds of Additional Senior Bonds and/or
Additional Subordinate Obligations, PFC revenues on a pay-as-you-go basis, federal and State grants, and
other available revenues of the Commission (including certain amounts to be on deposit in the Repair and
Replacement Account), will be received by the Commission in certain amounts and at certain times to pay
the costs of the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP projects. See “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
PROGRAM—Funding Sources for the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP Projects.” No assurance can be
given that these sources of funding will be available in the amounts or on the schedule assumed. See “—
Availability of PFCs” above.

To the extent that any portion of the funding assumed in the plan of finance for the 2019-20 CIP
and the 2021-25 CIP projects is not available as anticipated, the Commission may be required to defer or
remove certain of the 2019-20 CIP and the 2021-25 CIP projects or issue Additional Senior Bonds and/or
Additional Subordinate Obligations to pay the costs of such projects.

Federal Funding

The Commission receives certain federal funds including from the AIP fund. Additionally,
certain operations at the Airport are supported by federal agencies including, flight traffic controllers,
FAA, TSA, FBI, Customs and Border Security, among others. Federal agencies also have regulatory and
review authority over, among other things, certain Airport operations, construction at the Airport and the
airlines operating at the Airport.

From time to time, the federal government has, and may in the future, come to an impasse
regarding, among other things, reauthorization of the FAA (which has historically included funding for
AIP) and other federal appropriations and spending.

Failure to adopt such legislation may have a material, adverse impact on, among other things,
(i) federal funding received by the Commission, including under the AIP; (ii) federal agency budgets,
hiring, furloughs, operations and availability of Federal employees to support certain operations at the
Airport, provide regulatory and other oversight, review and provide required approvals, in each case at the
Airport and over the airlines serving the Airport; (iii) flight schedules, consumer confidence, operational
efficiency at the Airport and in the air transportation system generally. In addition, the anticipated federal
spending could be affected by, among other things, the automatic across-the-board spending cuts, known
as sequestration.

There can be no assurance that the Congress will enact and the President will sign federal
appropriation legislation or future FAA reauthorization which may require the Commission to fund
capital expenditures forecast to come from such federal funds and from other sources (including operating
revenues, Additional Senior Bonds and/or Additional Subordinate Obligations), result in decreases to the
CIP or extend the timing for completion of certain projects and the Commission is also unable to predict
future impact of any federal spending cuts or appropriation impasses or the impact of such actions on
airline traffic at the Airport or the Commission’s revenues.

Between 2014 and 2018, the Commission received, on average, approximately $12 million of
grants per year from the FAA and the TSA. Additionally, in 2015, the Commission entered into a taxable
equipment lease/purchase agreement in the principal amount of $11,737,000. A portion of the interest
payable by the Commission under the agreement is eligible for a direct interest rate subsidy from the U.S.
government. As a result of the ongoing sequestration, the subsidy receivable by the Commission in 2018
has been reduced by 6.8% or approximately $25,000.
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Technological Innovations in Ground Transportation

One significant category of non-airline revenues for the Commission is generated from ground
transportation activity, including use of on-Airport parking garages; fees paid by taxi, limousine and
TNCs, such as Uber and Lyft; and rental car transactions by Airport passengers. While passenger levels
are increasing, the relative market share of these sources of revenue is shifting. As one example, the
popularity of TNCs has increased because of the increasing number of cities where TNCs operate,
convenience of requesting a ride through a mobile application, the ability to pay for this service without
providing cash or other payment to the hired driver, and competitive pricing. In Fiscal Year 2018, TNCs
recorded nearly 2.4 million (estimated) Airport pick-ups/drop-offs resulting in $7.3 million in fee revenue
for the Commission, compared to nearly 1.6 million Airport pickups/drop-offs and $5.0 million in fee
revenue in Fiscal Year 2017.

New technologies (such as autonomous vehicles and connected vehicles) and innovative business
strategies in established markets such as commercial ground transportation and car rental may continue to
occur and may result in further changes in Airport passengers’ choice of ground transportation mode.
While the Commission makes every effort to anticipate demand shifts, there may be times when the
Commission’s expectations differ from actual outcomes. In such event, revenue from one or more ground
transportation modes may be lower than expected. The Commission cannot predict with certainty what
impact these innovations in ground transportation will have over time on revenues from parking, other
ground transportation services or rental cars. The Commission also cannot predict with certainty whether
or to what extent it will collect non-airline revenues in connection with such new technologies or
innovative business strategies.

Potential Limitation of Tax Exemption of Interest on Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds

From time to time, the President of the United States, the United States Congress and/or state
legislatures have proposed and could propose in the future, legislation that, if enacted, could cause interest
on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation or to
be subject to or exempted from state income taxation, or otherwise prevent Beneficial Owners from
realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest. Clarifications of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, or court decisions may also cause interest on the Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation or to be subject to or exempted from
state income taxation. The introduction or enactment of any such legislative proposals or any clarification
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or court decisions may also affect the market price
for, or marketability of, the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Subordinate
Series 2019 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding any such pending or proposed federal
or state tax legislation, regulations or litigation, as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion. See
“TAX MATTERS—Changes in Federal and State Tax Law.”

No Acceleration

Senior Events of Default under the Senior Indenture and related remedies are described herein
under “APPENDIX C-2—SUMMARY OF THE MASTER SENIOR INDENTURE—Defaults and
Remedies,” and Subordinate Events of Default under the Subordinate Indenture and related remedies are
described herein under “APPENDIX C-3—SUMMARY OF THE MASTER SUBORDINATE
INDENTURE—Defaults and Remedies.” The occurrence of a Senior Event of Default and/or
Subordinate Event of Default does not grant any right to accelerate payment of the Subordinate Series
2019 Bonds. Since Net Revenues are Revenues net of all amounts needed to pay Maintenance and
Operation Expenses, and the Commission is not subject to involuntary bankruptcy proceedings, the
Commission may be able to continue indefinitely collecting Revenues and applying them to the operation
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of the Airport even if a Senior Event of Default and/or Subordinate Event of Default has occurred and no
payments are being made on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

Assumptions in the Report of the Airport Consultant

The Report of the Airport Consultant incorporates numerous assumptions as to the utilization of
the Airport and other matters and states that any forecast is subject to uncertainties. The Report of the
Airport Consultant should be read in its entirety regarding all of the assumptions used to prepare the
forecasts made therein. No assurances can be given that the assumptions contained in the Report of the
Airport Consultant will occur. Inevitably, some assumptions used to develop the forecasts will not be
realized and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. Therefore, the actual results achieved
during the forecast period will vary, and the variations may be material. Additionally, the Report of the
Airport Consultant does not reflect the final terms of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds or the refunding
and defeasance of the Refunded Bonds and the debt service savings associated with such refunding. See
“REPORT OF AIRPORT CONSULTANT” and “APPENDIX A—REPORT OF THE AIRPORT
CONSULTANT.” For a discussion of the key factors affecting future airline traffic at the Airport as
discussed in the Report of the Airport Consultant see “APPENDIX A—REPORT OF THE AIRPORT
CONSULTANT—2.3 Key Factors Affecting Air Traffic Demand.”

Forward-Looking Statements

This Official Statement contains statements relating to future results that are “forward looking
statements”. When used in this Official Statement, the words “estimate,” “anticipate,” “forecast,”
“project,” “intend,” “propose,” “plan,” “expect,” and similar expressions identify forward looking
statements. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those contemplated in such forward looking statements. See “INTRODUCTION—

Forward-Looking Statements.”

LR I3 EE N3

Any financial projections set forth in this Official Statement were not prepared with a view
toward complying with the guidelines established by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants with respect to the prospective financial information. The Commission’s independent
auditors have not compiled, examined, or performed any procedures with respect to the prospective
financial information contained in this Official Statement, nor have they expressed any opinion or any
other form of assurance on such information or its achievability. The Commission’s independent auditors
have not been consulted in connection with the preparation of any financial projections contained in this
Official Statement and the Commission’s independent auditors assume no responsibility for its content.

TAX MATTERS
General

In the opinion of Kutak Rock LLP, Bond Counsel to the Commission, under existing laws,
regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, interest on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds is excluded
from gross income for federal income tax purposes, except for interest on any Subordinate Series 2019B
Bond or Subordinate Series 2019C Bond for any period during which such Subordinate Series 2019B
Bond or Subordinate Series 2019C Bond, as applicable, is held by a “substantial user” of the facilities
financed or refinanced by the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds or the Subordinate Series 2019C Bonds,
as applicable, or by a “related person” within the meaning of Section 147(a) of the Code. Bond Counsel
is further of the opinion that (a) interest on the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds and the Subordinate
Series 2019C Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax,
and (b) interest on the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds constitutes an item of tax preference for purposes
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of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals. The opinions described in the preceding
sentences assume the accuracy of certain representations and compliance by the Commission with
covenants designed to satisfy the requirements of the Code that must be met subsequent to the issuance of
the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Failure to comply with such requirements could cause interest on the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive
to the date of issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. The Commission will covenant to comply
with such requirements. Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion regarding other federal tax
consequences arising with respect to the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

Bond Counsel is further of the opinion that (a) interest on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds is
not includible in taxable net income of individuals, estates and trusts for State of Minnesota income tax
purposes, but is includible in the calculation of taxable income of corporations and financial institutions
for State of Minnesota franchise tax purposes, (b) interest on the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds and the
Subordinate Series 2019C Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the State of Minnesota
alternative minimum tax applicable to individuals, estates and trusts, and (c) interest on the Subordinate
Series 2019B Bonds is an item of tax preference for purposes of the State of Minnesota alternative
minimum tax applicable to individuals, estates and trusts.

Special Considerations With Respect to the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds

The accrual or receipt of interest on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds may otherwise affect the
federal income tax liability of the owners of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. The extent of these
other tax consequences will depend upon such owner’s particular tax status and other items of income or
deduction. Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion regarding any such consequences. Purchasers of the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, particularly purchasers that are corporations (including S corporations
and foreign corporations operating branches in the United States), property or casualty insurance
companies, banks, thrifts or other financial institutions, certain recipients of social security or railroad
retirement benefits, taxpayers otherwise entitled to claim the earned income credit, taxpayers entitled to
claim the refundable credit in Section 36B of the Code for coverage under a qualified health plan or
taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-
exempt obligations, should consult their tax advisors as to the tax consequences of purchasing or owning
the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

Backup Withholding

As a result of the enactment of the Tax Increase Prevention and Reconciliation Act of 2005,
interest on tax-exempt obligations such as the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds is subject to information
reporting in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations. Backup withholding may be
imposed on payments made to any bondholder who fails to provide certain required information including
an accurate taxpayer identification number to any person required to collect such information pursuant to
Section 6049 of the Code. The reporting requirement does not in and of itself affect or alter the
excludability of interest on the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax
purposes or any other federal tax consequence of purchasing, holding or selling tax-exempt obligations.

Changes in Federal and State Tax Law

From time to time, there are legislative proposals in the Congress and in the various state
legislatures that, if enacted, could alter or amend the federal and state tax matters referred to above or
adversely affect the market value of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether
or in what form any such proposal might be enacted or whether if enacted it would apply to bonds issued
prior to enactment. In addition, regulatory actions are from time to time announced or proposed and
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litigation is threatened or commenced which, if implemented or concluded in a particular manner, could
adversely affect the market value of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether
any such regulatory action will be implemented, how any particular litigation or judicial action will be
resolved, or whether the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds or the market value thereof would be impacted
thereby. Purchasers of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding any
pending or proposed legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation. The opinions expressed by Bond
Counsel are based upon existing legislation and regulations as interpreted by relevant judicial and
regulatory authorities as of the date of issuance and delivery of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, and
Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion as of any date subsequent thereto or with respect to any pending
legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation.

Tax Treatment of Original Issue Premium

The Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are being sold at a premium. An amount equal to the excess
of the issue price of a Subordinate Series 2019 Bond over its stated redemption price at maturity
constitutes premium on such Subordinate Series 2019 Bond. An initial purchaser of a Subordinate Series
2019 Bond must amortize any premium over such Subordinate Series 2019 Bond’s term using constant
yield principles, based on the purchaser’s yield to maturity (or, in the case of Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds callable prior to their maturity, by amortizing the premium to the call date, based on the
purchaser’s yield to the call date and giving effect to the call premium). As premium is amortized, the
amount of the amortization offsets a corresponding amount of interest for the period and the purchaser’s
basis in such Subordinate Series 2019 Bond is reduced by a corresponding amount resulting in an
increase in the gain (or decrease in the loss) to be recognized for federal income tax purposes upon a sale
or disposition of such Subordinate Series 2019 Bond prior to its maturity. Even though the purchaser’s
basis may be reduced, no federal income tax deduction is allowed. Purchasers of the Subordinate Series
2019 Bonds should consult with their tax advisors with respect to the determination and treatment of
premium for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of
owning a Subordinate Series 2019 Bond.

LITIGATION
No Litigation Relating to the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds

There is no litigation now pending or, to the best of the Commission’s knowledge, threatened
which seeks to restrain or enjoin the sale, execution, issuance or delivery of the Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds or in any way contests the validity of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds or any proceedings of the
Commission taken with respect to the authorization, sale or issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019
Bonds, or the pledge or application of any moneys provided for the payment of or security for the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

Litigation Relating to the Commission and the Airport System

The Commission is typically involved in a number of potential litigation matters that involve
incidents within the Airport System. These claims and suits generally consist of employment matters or
matters incident to the operation of the Airport System. In the opinion of Airport management, based
upon the advice of the General Counsel of the Commission, and his designees, there are no claims, now
pending, that will have a material adverse effect on the Net Revenues or financial condition of the Airport
System. It should be noted that a portion of the claims relating to personal injuries and property damage
are covered by a comprehensive insurance program maintained by the Commission.

102



There are no material claims or litigation arising out of or challenging any federal grants held by
the Commission to date.

RATINGS

S&P Global Ratings, a division of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”), and Fitch
Ratings (“Fitch”) have assigned ratings of “A+” (stable outlook) and “A+” (stable outlook), respectively,
to the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

Such ratings reflect only the views of such organizations and any explanation of the meaning and
significance of such ratings, including the methodology used and any outlook thereon, should be obtained
from the rating agency furnishing the same, at the following addresses: S&P Global Ratings, 55 Water
Street, New York, New York 10041; and Fitch Ratings, One State Street Plaza, New York, NY 10004.
Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on
investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. The respective ratings are not a recommendation to
buy, sell or hold the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. There is no assurance such ratings will continue for
any given period of time or that such ratings will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by the
rating agencies, if in the judgment of such rating agencies, circumstances so warrant. Any such
downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS

Robert Thomas CPA, LLC, the Verification Agent, will verify the mathematical accuracy of the
computations contained in the schedules provided by Samuel A. Ramirez & Co., Inc. to determine that the
amounts to be held in the Senior Series 2009 Redemption Accounts and the Escrow Funds will be
sufficient to pay the principal and redemption price of and interest on the applicable Series of the
Refunded Bonds on October 4, 2019 and January 1, 2020.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds and certain other legal matters are subject to
the approving opinion of Kutak Rock LLP, Bond Counsel to the Commission. A complete copy of the
proposed form of Bond Counsel’s opinion is contained in Appendix E hereto. Bond Counsel undertakes
no responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of this Official Statement. Certain matters
will be passed upon for the Commission by Cameron Boyd, Esq., General Counsel to the Commission.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Commission by Kutak Rock LLP, as Disclosure Counsel
to the Commission. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriters by Ballard Spahr LLP.
All of the fees of Bond Counsel, Disclosure Counsel and Underwriters’ Counsel with regard to the
issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are contingent upon the issuance and delivery of the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR

The Commission has retained the services of Samuel A. Ramirez & Co., Inc., as municipal
advisor (the “Municipal Advisor”), in connection with the issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.
The Municipal Advisor is not contractually obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken to make, an
independent verification or to assume responsibility for the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the
information contained in this Official Statement. Fees of the Municipal Advisor with regard to the
issuance of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds are contingent upon the issuance and delivery of the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The Commission will covenant to provide such annual financial statements and other information
in the manner required by Rule 15¢2-12 of the SEC (17 C.F.R. § 240.15¢2-12) (“Rule 15¢2-12”). The
Commission will enter into an undertaking (the “Undertaking”) for the benefit of the holders of the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds to provide certain financial information and operating data concerning the
Commission, the Airport and certain other obligated persons, including Delta, and notices of certain
enumerated events to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”), pursuant to the
requirements of section (b)(5)(i) of Rule 15¢2-12. See “APPENDIX F—FORM OF CONTINUING
DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE” herein for a description of the Undertaking. A failure by the
Commission to provide any information required thereunder will not constitute a Subordinate Event of
Default under the Subordinate Indenture.

During the last five years, the Commission has not failed to comply, in all material respects, with
any of its undertakings under Rule 15¢2-12. Although the Commission has complied in all material
respect with its undertakings under Rule 15¢2-12, a notice of rating upgrade associated with S&P’s March
2014 rating upgrade of National Public Finance Guaranty Corporation (which provided bond insurance on
the previously outstanding Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2007B (the
“Subordinate Series 2007B Bonds”) through a reinsurance of the original Financial Guaranty Insurance
Company insurance policies) was filed with the MSRB, but not properly linked to each of the applicable
CUSIP numbers for the previously outstanding Subordinate Series 2007B Bonds. However, the rating
upgrade was provided under the ratings section of the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access
system with respect to the previously outstanding Subordinate Series 2007B Bonds.

The Commission has entered into an engagement letter with Digital Assurance Certification,
L.L.C. (“DAC”), pursuant to which the Commission has engaged DAC to file and disseminate
information provided by the Commission in connection with the Commission’s continuing disclosure
obligations under Rule 15¢2-12.

UNDERWRITING

The Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds will be purchased by Piper Jaffray & Co., Citigroup Global
Markets Inc., Barclays Capital Inc., RBC Capital Markets, LLC, U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc., and
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (collectively, the “Underwriters”), from the Commission at a
price of $122,089,450.21 (which represents the par amount of the Subordinate Series 2019A Bonds, plus
an original issue premium of $25,815,436.80, less an underwriters’ discount of $340,986.59), subject to
the terms of the Bond Purchase Agreement, dated August 28, 2019 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”),
between Piper Jaffray & Co., as representative of the Underwriters, and the Commission.

The Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds will be purchased by the Underwriters from the
Commission at a price of $197,491,675.55 (which represents the par amount of the Subordinate Series
2019B Bonds, plus an original issue premium of $33,726,268.15, less an underwriters’ discount of
$554,592.60), subject to the terms of the Bond Purchase Agreement.

The Subordinate Series 2019C Bonds will be purchased by the Underwriters from the
Commission at a price of $36,187,357.71 (which represents the par amount of the Subordinate Series
2019C Bonds, plus an original issue premium of $5,243,164.80, less an underwriters’ discount of
$90,807.09), subject to the terms of the Bond Purchase Agreement.

The Bond Purchase Agreement provides that the Underwriters will purchase all of the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds if any are purchased, and that the obligation to make such purchase is
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subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, the approval of certain
legal matters by counsel, and certain other conditions. The initial public offering prices of the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds set forth on the inside front cover hereof may be changed from time to
time by the Underwriters. The Underwriters may offer and sell the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds into
unit investment trusts or money market funds at prices lower than the public offering prices stated on the
inside front cover hereof.

The Underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in
various activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial
advisory, investment management, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities.
Certain of the Underwriters and their respective affiliates have, from time to time, performed, and may in
the future perform, various investment banking services for the Commission, for which they received or
will receive customary fees and expenses.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Underwriters and their respective
affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or
related derivative securities) and financial instruments (which may include bank loans and/or credit
default swaps) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers and may at any time hold
long and short positions in such securities and instruments. Such investment and securities activities may
involve securities and instruments of the Commission.

The following paragraph has been provided by Piper Jaffray & Co. for inclusion in this Official
Statement and the Commission does not make any representation as to its accuracy or completeness.

Piper Jaffray & Co., one of the Underwriters of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, has entered
into a distribution agreement (“Distribution Agreement”) with Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (“CS&Co”)
for the retail distribution of certain securities offerings at the original issue prices. Pursuant to the
Distribution Agreement, CS&Co. will purchase Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds from Piper Jaffray & Co.
at the original issue price less a negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to any Subordinate
Series 2019 Bonds that CS&Co. sells.

The following paragraph has been provided by Citigroup Global Markets Inc. for inclusion in this
Official Statement and the Commission does not make any representation as to its accuracy or
completeness.

Citigroup Global Markets Inc., an underwriter of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, has entered
into a retail distribution agreement with Fidelity Capital Markets, a division of National Financial
Services LLC (together with its affiliates, “Fidelity”’). Under this distribution agreement, Citigroup
Global Markets Inc. may distribute municipal securities to retail investors at the original issue price
through Fidelity. As part of this arrangement, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. will compensate Fidelity for
its selling efforts.

The following two paragraphs have been provided by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association for
inclusion in this Official Statement and the Commission does not make any representation as to their
accuracy or completeness.

Wells Fargo Securities is the trade name for certain securities-related capital markets and
investment banking services of Wells Fargo & Company and its subsidiaries, including Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, which conducts its municipal securities sales, trading and underwriting
operations through the Wells Fargo Bank, NA Municipal Products Group, a separately identifiable
department of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, registered with the Securities and Exchange
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Commission as a municipal securities dealer pursuant to Section 15B(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting through its Municipal Products Group
(“WFBNA”), one of the underwriters of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds, has entered into an
agreement (the “WFA Distribution Agreement”) with its affiliate, Wells Fargo Clearing Services, LLC
(which uses the trade name “Wells Fargo Advisors”) (“WFA”), for the distribution of certain municipal
securities offerings, including the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Pursuant to the WFA Distribution
Agreement, WFBNA will share a portion of its underwriting compensation with respect to the
Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds with WFA. WFBNA has also entered into an agreement (the “WFSLLC
Distribution Agreement”) with its affiliate Wells Fargo Securities, LLC (“WFSLLC”), for the distribution
of municipal securities offerings, including the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Pursuant to the WFSLLC
Distribution Agreement, WFBNA pays a portion of WFSLLC’s expenses based on its municipal
securities transactions. WFBNA, WFSLLC, and WFA are each wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells
Fargo & Company.

The following sentence has been provided by U.S. Bancorp Investments, Inc. for inclusion in this
Official Statement and the Commission does not make any representation as to its accuracy or
completeness.

US Bancorp is the marketing name for U.S. Bancorp and its subsidiaries, including U.S. Bancorp
Investments, Inc., which is serving as an Underwriter of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The audited financial statements of the Commission for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017 (the “Audited Financial Statements”) are included as Appendix B attached hereto. The Audited
Financial Statements were audited by BKD, LLP, independent auditors, whose report with respect thereto
also appears in Appendix B hereto. The Commission has not requested, nor did the Commission obtain,
permission from BKD, LLP to include the Audited Financial Statements as an appendix to this Official
Statement. BKD, LLP has not been engaged to perform and has not performed, since the date of its report
included in Appendix B, any procedures on the financial statements addressed in that report. BKD, LLP
also has not performed any procedures relating to this Official Statement.

RELATED PARTIES

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting through its Municipal Products Group, is serving
as one of the underwriters of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds. Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association also is serving as Senior Trustee, Senior Paying Agent, Senior Registrar, escrow agent for the
Refunded Senior Series 2010A Bonds and the Refunded Senior Series 2010B Bonds, Subordinate
Trustee, Subordinate Paying Agent, Subordinate Registrar and escrow agent for the Refunded
Subordinate Series 2010C Bonds and the Refunded Subordinate Series 2010D Bonds, and will be
separately compensated for serving in each capacity. Wells Fargo Bank, National Association also is the
purchaser of any Subordinate Revolving Obligations issued and/or incurred by the Commission. A
portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019 Bonds will be used to repay a portion of the
outstanding Subordinate Revolving Obligations.
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MISCELLANEOUS

Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates,
whether or not expressly stated, are set forth as such and not representation of fact. No representation is
made that any of the opinions or estimates will be realized.

All references to the Act, the Senior Indenture, the Subordinate Indenture, the Airline Lease
Agreements and all other agreements with the airlines and other parties are made subject to the detailed
provisions of such documents. Copies of such documents are available for review at the offices of the
Metropolitan Airports Commission which are located at 6040 28" Avenue South, Minneapolis, Minnesota
55450.

AUTHORIZATION
The Commission has authorized the distribution of this Official Statement. This Official
Statement has been duly executed and delivered by the Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer on

behalf of the Commission.

METROPOLITAN AIRPORTS COMMISSION

By /s/ Brian D. Ryks
Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer
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4445 Lake Forest Drive
Suite 700

Cincinnati, OH 45242
USA

T +1 513 530 5333

F +1 513 530 1278
landrum-brown.com

August 20, 2019

Mr. Rick King

Chair

Metropolitan Airports Commission
Minneapolis-Saint Paul International Airport
6040 28" Avenue South

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55450

Re: Report of the Airport Consultant, Minneapolis-Saint Paul Metropolitan Airports Commission Subordinate
Airport Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019A and B; and Minneapolis-Saint Paul
Metropolitan Airports Commission Subordinate Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019C

Dear Mr. King:

Landrum and Brown, Incorporated (L&B) is pleased to submit this Report of the Airport Consultant (Report) for the
proposed issuance of the Minneapolis-Saint Paul Metropolitan Airports Commission Subordinate Airport Revenue
and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019A (Series 2019A Bonds), the Minneapolis-Saint Paul Metropolitan
Airports Commission Subordinate Airport Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019B (Series 2019B
Bonds), and the Minneapolis-Saint Paul Metropolitan Airports Commission Subordinate Airport Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 2019C (Series 2019C Bonds). The Series 2019A Bonds, Series 2019B Bonds, and
Series 2019C Bonds are collectively referred to in this Report as the Series 2019 Bonds. This independent Report
has been prepared for the Minneapolis-Saint Paul Metropolitan Airports Commission (Commission) to support its
planned issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds and is intended to be included in the Official Statement for the Series
2019 Bonds as Appendix A, Report of the Airport Consultant. All capitalized terms in this Report are used as
defined in the Official Statement, the Master Senior Indenture, the Master Subordinate Indenture, and the
Eighteenth Supplemental Subordinate Indenture relating to the Series 2019 Bonds, except as otherwise defined
herein.

The Commission has sole and exclusive operational jurisdiction of seven airports, including the Minneapolis-Saint
Paul International Airport (MSP or the Airport), as well as six reliever airports - Saint Paul Downtown Airport,
Flying Cloud Airport, Crystal Airport, Anoka County-Blaine Airport, Lake EImo Airport, and Airlake Airport.
Collectively, these airports form the Airport System.

Senior Indenture and Senior Bonds

As of August 1, 2019, the Commission had Outstanding $680,695,000 of Senior Airport Revenue Bonds
(including the Senior Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A/B and Series 2010A/B, that are expected to be
refunded with a portion of the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds). The Senior Airport Revenue Bonds (the
Senior Bonds) were issued pursuant to the Master Trust Indenture, dated as of June 1, 1998, as amended (the
Master Senior Indenture), by and between the Commission and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
trustee (the Senior Trustee), and various Supplemental Senior Trust Indentures (the Supplemental Senior Trust
Indenture, and together with the Master Senior Indenture, the Senior Indenture), by and between the Commission
and the Senior Trustee.

Global Aviation Planning and Development
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Pursuant to the Master Senior Indenture, the Outstanding Senior Bonds are secured by a pledge of and lien on
Net Revenues. Net Revenues, for any given period, are Revenues for such period less, for such period, all
amounts which are required to be used to pay the M&O Expenses of the Airport System. Revenues include all
rates, tolls, fees, rentals, charges and other payments received by the Commission from the operation and
ownership of the Airport System, except where specifically excluded.

The Commission has covenanted in Section 5.04 of the Master Senior Indenture, that so long as any Senior
Bonds or General Obligation Revenue Bonds are Outstanding, the Commission will establish, fix, prescribe and
collect rates, tolls, fees, rentals and charges in connection with the Airport System, so that:

i) Net Revenues in each Fiscal Year (FY) are sufficient to fund the deposits required to be made
pursuant to Section 5.04(a) of the Master Senior Indenture, and

ii) During each FY, Net Revenues, together with any Transfer (as defined in the Master Senior
Indenture), will be at least equal to 125% of Senior Aggregate Annual Debt Service (as defined in the
Master Senior Indenture) on Outstanding Senior Bonds.

For the purposes of this calculation, the amount of any Transfer shall not exceed 25% of Senior Aggregate
Annual Debt Service on Outstanding Senior Bonds in such FY.

Subordinate Indenture and Subordinate Obligations

The Series 2019 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Master Subordinate Trust Indenture, dated as of
October 1, 2000, as amended (the Master Subordinate Indenture), by and between the Commission and Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (the Subordinate Trustee), and the Eighteenth Supplemental
Subordinate Trust Indenture, to be dated as of October 1, 2019 (the Eighteenth Supplemental Subordinate
Indenture), by and between the Commission and the Subordinate Trustee. Together, the Master Subordinate
Indenture and the Eighteenth Supplemental Subordinate Indenture are referred to in this Report as the
Subordinate Indenture.

As of August 1, 2019, the Commission had Outstanding $652,760,000 of Subordinate Airport Revenue Bonds
(including the Subordinate Airport Revenue Bonds, Series 2010C/D, that are expected to be refunded with a
portion of the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds). The Commission also can issue and have Outstanding, up to
$150 million of Subordinate Revolving Obligations, $71,030,500 million of which were Outstanding on August 1,
2019. On November 1, 2019, the Commission expects to repay $20,650,000 of the Subordinate Revolving
Obligations with a portion of the proceeds of the Subordinate Series 2019B Bonds and certain other available
moneys of the Commission.

Pursuant to the Subordinate Indenture, the Series 2019 Bonds will be secured by a pledge of and lien on
Subordinate Revenues on parity with the Outstanding Subordinate Obligations (as defined in the Master
Subordinate Indenture). Subordinate Revenues include Net Revenues less all amounts required to pay debt
service and reserve and replenish requirements on and related to the Senior Bonds and the General Obligation
Revenue Bonds.

The Commission has covenanted in Section 5.04 of the Master Subordinate Indenture, that so long as any
Subordinate Obligations remain Outstanding, the Commission will establish, fix, prescribe and collect rates, tolls,
fees, rentals and charges in connection with the Airport System, so that:

i) Subordinate Revenues in each FY are sufficient to fund the deposits required to be made pursuant to
Section 5.04(a) of the Master Subordinate Indenture, and
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i) During each FY, Subordinate Revenues, together with any Transfer (as defined in the Master
Subordinate Indenture), will be at least equal to 110% of Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service
(as defined in the Master Subordinate Indenture) on the Outstanding Subordinate Obligations.

For the purposes of this calculation, the amount of any Transfer shall not exceed 10% of Subordinate Aggregate
Annual Debt Service on Outstanding Subordinate Obligations in such FY.

The Series 2019 Bonds
Proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds are anticipated to be used, along with other available funds, to:

1. Pay portions of the costs of acquiring, constructing and installing the Series 2019 Projects (defined herein),

2. Fund capitalized interest on a portion of the Series 2019A and the Series 2019B Bonds during construction
of the Series 2019 Projects,

3. Refund and defease the Senior Airport Revenue Bonds Series 2009A, 2009B, 2010A, and 2010B and the
Subordinate Airport Revenue Bonds Series 2010C and 2010D,

4. Make a deposit to the Subordinate Reserve Fund,

5. Repay a portion of the outstanding Subordinate Revolving Obligations, and

6. Pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2019 Bonds.

The Commission expects to use Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) revenues to pay a portion of the debt service
on the Series 2019 Bonds. PFC revenues are excluded from the definition of Revenues, and therefore, are not
pledged to the payment of debt service unless otherwise designated as Revenues pursuant to a Supplemental
Senior Indenture, which has not occurred. However, the Commission has irrevocably committed a portion of the
PFC revenues it receives to the payment and funding of debt service on Senior Bonds and Subordinate
Obligations issued to finance projects authorized to be financed with PFCs through December 31, 2030. In
addition to PFC revenues irrevocably committed, the Commission can, at its sole discretion, use excess PFCs to
pay additional debt service on PFC-Eligible Bonds and has done so in the past and expects to do so in the future.

Airline Operating Agreement and Terminal Building Lease

The Commission has executed Airline Operating Agreement and Terminal Building Leases (Airline Agreements)
with certain airlines operating at the Airport (the Signatory Airlines). The term of the new Airline Lease
Agreements is December 31, 2023 or December 31, 2030 (each Air Carrier can select which term they want).
The Airline Agreements establish, among other things, procedures for setting and adjusting Signatory Airline
rentals, fees and charges to be collected for the use of Airport facilities. The Airline Agreements also govern
airline use of certain Airport facilities, including the airfield, aircraft aprons, Terminal 1, including baggage claim,
ticket counters and gate areas and permits the Signatory Airlines to lease space on an Exclusive Use, Preferential
Use, Joint Use, and Common Use basis. Exclusive Use Premises generally include office space, storage areas,
airline club lounges, and employee break rooms leased to a Signatory Airline and to which the Signatory Airline
has an exclusive right of use over all other air carriers. Preferential Use Premises generally include holdroom
areas and gates, ticket counters, and aircraft parking positions on the apron leased to a Signatory Airline and to
which the Signatory Airline has a preferential right of use over all other air carriers. Joint Use Premises are space
and facilities at the Airport used jointly or in common by air carriers and generally includes baggage claim areas,
inbound baggage areas, and International Arrivals Facility (IAF) areas. Common Use Space includes certain
ticket counter, holdroom, and ramp areas to be available to all carriers on common use basis.

Terminal 2, which primarily serves low-cost carriers (LCCs), ultra low-cost carriers (ULCCs), and charter
operators, is operated by the Commission on a common use basis and the rents, fees, and charges for its use
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is established by ordinance. Certain carriers operating from Terminal 2 have executed Airline Agreements;
however, terminal rentals are set pursuant to the ordinance.

Report of the Airport Consultant

The purpose of this Report is to evaluate the ability of the Commission to generate sufficient Net Revenues and
Subordinate Revenues from operation of the Airport System to meet the funding requirements and obligations
established by the Senior Indenture and the Subordinate Indenture from FY 2019 through FY 2025 (Forecast
Period). The Commission’s FY ends December 31. The following provides an overview of the primary findings
and conclusions contained in the Report.

Role of the Airport

The Airport serves two distinct roles for passenger air transportation: as an origin and destination (O&D) airport,
for passengers beginning or ending their trip at the Airport, and as a major connecting hub for Delta. The Airport
occupies approximately 3,100 acres approximately nine miles south and southwest of the central Minneapolis and
Saint Paul business districts, respectively. The Airport maintains four air-transport type runways, including two
parallel northwest-southeast runways, one north-south runway, and one northeast-southwest cross-wind runway.
Passenger terminal facilities at the Airport are located in two separate buildings: Terminal 1 and Terminal 2.
According to United States Department of Transportation statistics, in calendar year 2018, the Airport was ranked
as the 16" busiest airport in the country as measured by total number of enplaned passengers. The Airport is
classified by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) as a large hub airport (an airport that enplanes 1.0% or
more of the total number of passenger boardings at all commercial service airports in the United States).

The Airport serves as the primary commercial service airport for the Minneapolis-Saint Paul metropolitan area and
surrounding region, including parts of Minnesota, lowa, Wisconsin, North Dakota, and South Dakota. The share of
O&D passenger traffic at the Airport has increased in recent years from approximately 53% in 2013 to
approximately 61% in 2018." Delta is the Airport’s largest carrier and operates an important connecting hub at
the Airport. In 2018, approximately 48% of Delta’s passengers at the Airport were considered O&D passengers
who either started or ended their trips at the Airport. The other 52% of passengers on Delta are passengers who
connected through the Airport on the way to their final destinations.

Economic Base for Air Traffic

The Airport is the largest airport in the region and, as a result, has little competition for air service. Only two
commercial service airports, Rochester (RST) and St. Cloud (STC), offer limited scheduled airline service within a
100-mile driving radius from the Airport. Enplaned passenger levels at these airports generally ranged from
approximately 20,000 to 178,000 in 2018, which is a small fraction of the 18.4 million enplaned passengers at the
Airport during that time. The geographic region that serves as an airport’s primary catchment area is referred to
as its “Air Service Area”. For the purposes of this Report, the Airport’s primary Air Service Area is defined as the
Minneapolis-Saint Paul Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA), which consists of the following16 counties: Hennepin,
Ramsey, Dakota, Anoka, Washington, Scott, Wright, Carver, Sherburne, St. Croix (Wisconsin), Chisago, Pierce
(Wisconsin), Isanti, Le Sueur, Mille Lacs, and Sibley. In addition to the MSA, several other counties within the
Combined Statistical Area (CSA) are included in the Airport’s secondary service area, including McLeod, Rice and

1 Data used to estimate an airport’s share of O&D passengers is from the USDOT. These data are a random 10% sample of
tickets either ticketed by a U.S. carrier or where a U.S. carrier operated at least one flight in the ticket's itinerary. Therefore,
the calculation of the Airport’s share of O&D passengers is an estimate based on this data, which is generally accepted in
the industry as the best publicly available data source for such purposes.
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Goodhue counties. For 2018, the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA population was estimated at 3.6 million, while the
CSA population was estimated at 3.95 million.

The Air Service Area’s economic strength is evaluated in Chapter 1 of this Report. Since 2006, the population in
the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA has increased at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 0.9%, which is
slightly above the national CAGR of 0.8%. Population in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA is forecast to increase
from 3.6 million in 2018 to 3.9 million in 2025, representing a CAGR of 1.1%. During that same period, the
nation’s population is forecast to increase at a CAGR of 0.9%. Since 2010, employment in the Minneapolis-Saint
Paul MSA has increased at a CAGR of 2.0%, compared to 2.0% in the United States. Through 2025, employment
is forecast to increase at a CAGR of 1.6% compared to 1.4% for the United States. Employment growth in the
Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA since 2010 is more than double the rate of population growth over the same period,
resulting in decreasing unemployment rates.

Visitors, both leisure- and business-oriented, are a key contributor to the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA’s economy.
Total visitors to the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA have increased at a CAGR of 4.0% since 2010, with
approximately 33.3 million visitors in 2017 spending an estimated $7.8 billion.2 The share of leisure to business
visitors has remained relatively consistent since 2010, with 72.7% of total visitors traveling to the Minneapolis-
Saint Paul MSA for leisure and the remaining 27.3% visiting for business purposes in 2017.

Economic and demographic indicators for the Air Service Area are forecast to continue to exceed growth rates for
the U.S. This level of growth indicates the ongoing capacity of the Air Service Area to generate demand for air
travel services during the Forecast Period evaluated in this Report.

Air Service and Air Traffic Analysis

Total enplaned passengers at the Airport increased in nearly every year since 2008, from approximately 16.4
million in 2008 to approximately 18.4 million in 2018, reflecting an overall CAGR of approximately 1.2% for this
period. Driven by strong growth from LCCs and ULCCs, domestic O&D enplaned passengers increased from
approximately 7.6 million to 10.6 million in 2018, at a CAGR of 3.3%. Overall, domestic connecting enplaned
passengers have decreased from approximately 7.4 million to approximately 6.3 million, reflecting a CAGR of
-1.6%, due to Delta’s shifting of connecting capacity.

For the first six months of 2019, total enplaned passengers are up approximately 2.9% as compared to the same
period in 2018. It is important to note that the growth figures for the first six months of 2019 and 2018 are
impacted somewhat by additional demand generated from the Super Bowl that was held in Minneapolis in
February 2018, and the men’s NCAA Final Four basketball championship tournament that was held in
Minneapolis in April 2019.

The Airport is an integral component in Delta’s overall route network serving as a major connecting hub in the
eastern U.S. The following factors, as analyzed in Chapter 2, further describe the Airport’s importance to Delta’s
network.

= Delta’s passenger mix at the Airport for 2018 was approximately 48% O&D and 52% connecting. This
composition of O&D and connecting traffic is similar to other Delta connecting hubs, with the exception of
Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta International Airport (ATL). Therefore, Delta appears to serve O&D traffic at
the Airport at levels which provide solid support for its operation as a hub.

2 Meet Minneapolis, Visitor Counts & Spending 2010-2017.
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= The Airport’s geographic position allows Delta to operate it as an efficient transfer point for traffic in the
western half of the U.S., particularly in the Upper Midwest and central U.S. region. It also allows Delta to
augment east-west connecting traffic flows in conjunction with its other hubs.

= Although the Airport and Detroit Metropolitan Wayne County Airport (DTW) are relatively close in
geographical proximity to each other in the upper Midwest, both airports are operated by Delta in such a
way that they work together to augment each other and better serve separate regions of the U.S. DTW
predominately serves eastern region markets, with an emphasis in the Great Lakes region, to the rest of
the U.S.

= The Airport appears to be a profitable operation for Delta as described in the Report. The profitability of
Delta and a majority of the other airlines operating at the Airport also appears to have improved
significantly in 2018 as compared to before the recession in 2008.

L&B prepared air traffic activity forecasts for the Airport for use as the basis for the financial analysis performed
later in this Report. L&B’s analysis consisted of two primary steps: a short-term forecast (2019 and 2020) and a
long-term forecast (2021 through 2025).

Forecasts of air traffic activity were developed based on an analysis of the underlying economic conditions of the
Air Service Area, airline traffic trends, and an assessment of Delta’s continued operation of hubbing activity at the
Airport. In general, it was assumed that in the long-term, growth in O&D passenger traffic at the Airport will occur
as a function of growth in population and the economy of the Air Service Area. The growth in U.S. population and
gross domestic product (GDP), along with Delta’s network strategy, are assumed to be the primary drivers of
future connecting passenger traffic. In addition, several other assumptions are incorporated into the long-term
forecast including the following:

= The airlines will continue to add capacity that is in line with demand and GDP growth.

= Delta will continue to operate the Airport as a hub. Total connecting passengers are forecast to increase
modestly over the Projection Period to approximately 6.5 million. Delta’s connecting passengers are
expected to decrease from approximately 52% to 49% of its total passengers at the Airport, as growth in
O&D passengers is forecast to outpace connecting passenger growth.

= The domestic airlines other than Delta and the Delta Connection carriers currently serving the Airport will
continue to provide air service to support local long-term demand primarily to and from their hub airports,
key focus cities, and larger O&D markets, and the Airport will continue as a key city for Sun Country.

= Delta and other airlines will continue to provide trans-oceanic service to markets in Europe and Asia, as well
as other international markets such as Canada, Mexico, and the Caribbean. Service to other international
markets will also be provided as demand dictates.

= Long-term nationwide growth in air travel will occur over the Forecast Period consistent with forecast growth
in the economy.

= Aviation fuel prices over the Forecast Period are anticipated to be higher relative to historical levels, but
lower than the record prices reached in mid-2008.

= There will be no major disruption of airline service or airline travel behavior.

Many of the factors that may affect air travel demand are not necessarily quantifiable. As a result, all forecasts of
aviation activity are subject to various uncertainties. Therefore, this forecast, as with any forecast, should be
viewed as a general indication of future aviation activity as opposed to a precise prediction. Actual future traffic
may vary from these forecasts and such variances could be material.
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Table 1 presents the forecast for O&D, connecting and total enplaned passengers for the Airport through 2025.
As shown, total enplaned passengers at the Airport are projected to increase to approximately 20.0 million in
2025, representing a CAGR of 1.2% from 2018 to 2025.

Enplaned Passenger Forecast (000’s)

0&D % Change

Table 1

Year

Historical
2008 8,356
2009 8,319
2010 8,347
2011 8,419
2012 8,441
2013 8,680
2014 9,069
2015 9,579
2016 10,282
2017 10,770
2018 11,256

YTD 18 '

YTD 19!

Forecast
2019 11,427
2020 11,604
2021 11,784
2022 11,966
2023 12,151
2024 12,340
2025 12,530

CAGR?
2008-2018 3.0%
2018-2025 1.5%
Note:

2 CAGR = Compounded annual growth rate

Source:

Airport Capital Improvement Program

(0.4%)
0.3%
0.9%
0.3%
2.8%
4.5%
5.6%
7.3%
4.7%
4.5%

1.5%
1.5%
1.5%
1.5%
1.5%
1.5%
1.5%

Connecting

8,028
7,232
7,368
7,553
7,579
7,690
7,939
8,153
7,879
7,616
7,127

7,162
7,206
7,251
7,303
7,355
7,408
7,460

(1.2%)
0.7%

Amounts may not add because of rounding.
" Enplaned passengers for year-to-date period includes the six months of January through June.

% Change

(9.9%)
1.9%
2.5%
0.3%
1.5%
3.2%
2.7%

(3.4%)

(3.3%)

(6.4%)

0.5%
0.6%
0.6%
0.7%
0.7%
0.7%
0.7%

Total

16,384
15,551
15,715
15,972
16,020
16,370
17,008
17,732
18,161
18,385
18,382
8,936
9,194

18,589
18,810
19,035
19,269
19,507
19,747
19,991

1.2%
1.2%

Metropolitan Airports Commission

% Change

(5.1%)
1.1%
1.6%
0.3%
2.2%
3.9%
4.3%
2.4%
1.2%
0.0%

2.9%

1.1%
1.2%
1.2%
1.2%
1.2%
1.2%
1.2%

Metropolitan Airports Commission (historical total); USDOT via Diio (historical O&D); Landrum & Brown (forecast)

The Commission manages Airport capital projects through an on-going Capital Improvement Program (CIP). The

CIP is an important tool used for formulating future project financing plans, maximizing federal and state grant
opportunities and pro-actively planning for the replacement or reconstruction of essential infrastructure
components that are nearing the end of their useful or service life. The CIP also provides a framework for
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scheduling and coordinating execution of multiple projects to minimize operational impact. The majority of the
capital projects in the current CIP tend to be routine projects for a major airport, including reconstruction or
rehabilitation of runways, taxiways, parking decks, roadways and environmental or planning studies.

The Commission’s CIP consists of an approved two-year CIP (the “2019-20 CIP”) for construction projects
expected to begin during calendar years 2019 and 2020 as well as a longer-term CIP that covers project phases
expected to be started over an additional five-year period between 2021 and 2025 (the “2021-25 CIP”). The
amended 2019-20 CIP, approved by the Commission on December 17, 2018 and amended May 20, 2019, has a
total cost of approximately $642.8 million. The 2021-25 CIP was approved on December 17, 2018 and has a total
cost of approximately $557.1 million.

The major projects in the 2019-20 CIP include improvements to baggage claim and the ticket lobby in Terminal 1,
various other improvements to Terminal 1 and construction of the new Safety and Security Center. The major
projects in the 2021-25 CIP are various maintenance and improvements to Terminal 1 and the airfield and
runways. Future CIPs could reflect project revisions and additional projects could be added to the 2019-20 CIP
and/or the 2021-25 CIP. Per the Airline Agreements, the Commission does not need approval, and does not plan
to seek approval, from the Majority-In-Interest of the Signatory Airlines to construct the projects in the 2019-20
CIP or the 2021-25 CIP.

The Commission anticipates that the CIP projects will be funded from a combination of pay-as-you-go PFCs,
federal grants, other Commission funds, proceeds from existing bonds, proceeds from the Series 2019 Bonds,
and proceeds from future bonds. Table 2 presents the anticipated funding sources for the Commission’s 2019-20
CIP and 2021-25 CIP.

Table 2 CIP Funding Plan by Category (Dollars in Thousands)
2019-2020 CIP $214,600 $63,455 $37,800 $172,408 -- $154,573 $642,836
2021-2025 CIP $85,600 $62,475 == $5,500 $100,000 $303,515 $557,090
Total $300,200 $125,930 $37,800 $177,908 $100,000 $458,088 $1,199,926
Note: Amounts may not add because of rounding.

" Proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds are also expected to be used to retire portions of Subordinate Revolving Obligations
used to fund certain projects included in the Commission’s 2017-2018 CIP. These projects are not included in the 2019-2020
CIP or 2021-2025 CIP.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission

Debt service associated with the Series 2019 Bonds and any future bonds, as well as any anticipated Operating
Expenses associated with the Commission’s 2019-20 CIP and 2021-25 CIP are included in the financial analysis
contained in Chapter 4 of this Report. Proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds are also expected to be used to retire
portions of the Subordinate Revolving Obligations used to fund certain projects included in the Commission’s
2017-2018 CIP. These projects are not included in the 2019-20 CIP or the 2021-25 CIP. CIP projects funded in
whole or in part with proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds are herein referred to as the Series 2019 Projects.
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Financial Analysis

The financial analysis in this Report evaluates the ability of the Commission to generate Net Revenues sufficient
to meet the funding requirements and obligations established by the Senior Indenture and the Subordinate
Indenture during the Forecast Period. As presented herein, Net Revenues generated from the operation of the
Airport System, not including Transfers available from the Coverage Account, are forecast to be equal to at least
125% of Senior Aggregate Annual Debt Service on Outstanding Senior Bonds and planned future Senior Bonds
through the Forecast Period (see Section 4.5 of this Report for a discussion of the financing assumptions used for
the Series 2019 Bonds). Additionally, Subordinate Revenues generated from the operation of the Airport System,
not including Transfers available from the Coverage Account, are forecast to be equal to at least 110% of
Subordinate Aggregate Annual Debt Service on the Outstanding Subordinate Obligations, the Series 2019 Bonds,
and planned future Subordinate Obligations through the Forecast Period.

This Report does not take into consideration any savings associated with the refunding of the Senior Series
2009A, 2009B, 2010A, and 2010B Bonds and the Subordinate Series 2010C and 2010D Bonds from proceeds of
the Series 2019 Bonds.

The Commission is forecast to meet its requirements and obligations established in the Senior Indenture and the
Subordinate Indenture and to maintain reasonable levels of airline cost per enplaned passenger (CPE). Table 3
below presents forecast debt service coverage ratios and airline CPE.

Table 3 Debt Service Coverage Forecast and Passenger Airline CPE Forecast (Dollars in
Thousands, Except for CPE)

. Senior and
Tot_a - Senior Debt Total Subordinate Subordinate
Senior . Net n Debt o
1 Service . Subordinate " Debt Airline
Net Revenues Net c Subordinate Service "
Debt overage e —; Net Debt Coverage Service CPE
" Ratio Service . Coverage
Service Ratio Rati
atio
2019 $190,663 $50,255 3.79x $140,407 $63,215 2.22x 1.68x $6.77
2020 $190,031 $50,248 3.78x $139,783 $57,592 2.43x 1.76x $7.26
2021 $188,923 $39,484 4.78x $149,439 $68,426 2.18x 1.75x $7.40
2022 $203,259 $36,064 5.64x $167,195 $83,403 2.00x 1.70x $7.91
2023 $203,250 $36,066 5.64x $167,184 $83,405 2.00x 1.70x $8.05
2024 $204,234 $68,318 2.99x $135,916 $53,751 2.53x 1.67x $8.24
2025 $215,181 $68,324 3.15x $146,858 $62,310 2.36x 1.65x $8.66

' Does not include available Transfer.
Source: Landrum & Brown

L&B prepared the aviation activity and financial forecasts included in this Report and developed the underlying
assumptions. In preparing our findings and conclusions, L&B has relied upon the accuracy and completeness of
financial and other data provided to it by the referenced sources, without independent verification; however, L&B
has no reason to believe such data are materially incorrect.
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The techniques and methodologies used in preparing this Report are consistent with industry practices for similar
studies in connection with airport revenue bond sales. Although L&B believes that the approach and assumptions
used are reasonable and provide an appropriate basis for the financial forecasts, any forecast is subject to
uncertainties. Inevitably, some assumptions used to derive the forecast contained herein will not be realized, and
unforeseeable events may occur. The actual financial results achieved will vary from those forecast in the Report,
and such variations could be material. We have no responsibility to update this Report for events and/or
circumstances occurring after the date of this Report.

L&B appreciates this opportunity to serve as the Commission’s Airport Consultant for this proposed financing.

Sincerely,

Landrum & Brown, Incorporated

x | Landrum & Brown
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1 Role of the Airport and Economic Base for Air Traffic

This Chapter summarizes the role that the Minneapolis-Saint Paul International Airport (Airport or MSP) serves in
accommodating air traffic for the nation, the region, and as an important connecting hub in the network of Delta
Air Lines, Inc. (Delta). This Chapter also describes the Minneapolis-Saint Paul region’s economic base and its
ability to continue to generate demand for air transportation.

1.1 Role of the Airport

The Minneapolis-Saint Paul Metropolitan Airports Commission (Commission or MAC) has sole and exclusive
operational jurisdiction over seven airports, including the Airport, as well as six reliever airports, including Saint
Paul Downtown Airport, Flying Cloud Airport, Crystal Airport, Anoka County-Blaine Airport, Lake Elmo Airport, and
Airlake Airport. Collectively, these airports form the Airport System. The Airport occupies approximately 3,100
acres and is located approximately nine miles south and southwest of the central Minneapolis and Saint Paul
business districts, respectively. The Airport maintains four runways, including two parallel northwest-southeast
runways, one north-south runway, and one northeast-southwest cross-wind runway. Passenger terminal facilities
at the Airport are located in two separate buildings: Terminal 1 and Terminal 2.

1.1.1 National Role

The Airport is classified by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) as a Large Hub facility based upon its share
of nationwide enplaned passengers.3 Based on preliminary data from the FAA, approximately 18.1 million
enplaned passengers boarded aircraft at the Airport in 2018, ranking it as the 16t busiest in the U.S (see Table 1-
1). This was an increase of approximately 1.6% as compared to FAA data for 2017.

The current U.S. passenger airline industry generally consists of three primary business models: network carriers,
low-cost carriers (LCCs), and ultra-low-cost carriers (ULCCs). Network carriers are generally considered the
major airline brands that have existed, in one form or another, since the deregulation of the airline industry in the
late 1970s. Network airlines have extensive route networks and can operate with a “hub and spoke” system or
maintain significant market share at focus cities, and generally cater more towards the business traveler segment.
LCCs are generally defined as passenger airlines that focus on lower operating costs to be able to provide
customers lower fares while still providing some amenities within the cost of the ticket. LCCs typically focus upon
carrying point-to-point traffic at relatively lower air fares, while offering comparable (to network carriers) air fares
for connecting passengers. However, as compared to network airlines, LCCs do not have as extensive route
networks. ULCCs are somewhat similar to LCCs, but generally focus on the leisure traveler, offer the lowest
airfares, and do not provide any amenities within the cost of the ticket. Thus, ULCCs will typically charge for
everything outside of the ticket cost such as checked baggage, carry-on baggage, seat selection, etc.

3 The FAA classifies Large Hub airports as those serving at least 1.0% of annual U.S. passenger boardings.
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Table 1-1

Rank

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30

Source:
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U.S. Airport Enplaned Passenger Rankings (Large Hub Airports) - 2018

City
Atlanta
Los Angeles
Chicago
Fort Worth
New York
Denver
San Francisco
Las Vegas
Seattle
Charlotte
Phoenix
Miami
Orlando
Houston
Newark
Minneapolis
Boston
Detroit
New York
Philadelphia
Fort Lauderdale
Glen Burnie
Arlington
Salt Lake City
Chicago
Dulles
San Diego
Honolulu
Tampa
Portland

Airport
Hartsfield - Jackson Atlanta International
Los Angeles International
Chicago O'Hare International
Dallas-Fort Worth International
John F Kennedy International
Denver International
San Francisco International
McCarran International
Seattle-Tacoma International
Charlotte/Douglas International
Phoenix Sky Harbor International
Miami International
Orlando International
George Bush Intercontinental/Houston
Newark Liberty International
Minneapolis-St Paul International
General Edward Lawrence Logan International
Detroit Metropolitan Wayne County
LaGuardia
Philadelphia International

Fort Lauderdale/Hollywood International

Baltimore/Washington International Thurgood Marshall

Ronald Reagan Washington National
Salt Lake City International
Chicago Midway International
Washington Dulles International
San Diego International
Honolulu International
Tampa International

Portland International

Code

ATL
LAX
ORD
DFW
JFK
DEN
SFO
LAS
SEA
CLT
PHX
MIA
MCO
IAH
EWR
MSP
BOS
DTW
LGA
PHL
FLL
BWI
DCA
SLC
MDW
IAD
SAN
HNL
TPA
PDX

Enplaned Passengers

50,476,272
39,635,691
37,499,201
31,274,875
29,224,554
28,246,269
25,706,994
22,665,289
21,887,110
21,455,996
20,896,229
20,796,994
20,283,479
20,027,073
19,834,792
18,109,982
17,749,202
16,826,287
14,706,123
14,521,408
14,263,202
12,340,183
11,372,460
11,141,970
11,044,353
10,596,883
10,340,164
9,656,340
9,194,576
9,071,154

Federal Aviation Administration, preliminary Air Carrier Activity Information for 2018, June 30, 2017 (accessed

April 2019)
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The Airport has a diverse, stable base of air carriers. Four U.S. network airlines,* two LCCs5, three ULCCs®, and
six foreign flag airlines, among others, currently operate at the Airport. The Airport’s leading carrier, Delta,
operates a major connecting hub at the Airport. Delta’s enplaned passenger market share, including the Delta
Connection Carriers, comprised approximately 71.4% of enplaned passengers at the Airport in 2018 (a decrease
from Delta’s 72.8% share in 2014). The Airport predominantly serves domestic traffic, which comprised
approximately 92.0% of the Airport’s enplaned passenger traffic in 2018. International enplaned passengers
accounted for approximately 8.0% of the Airport’s passengers.

Exhibit 1-1 presents the Airport’s enplaned passenger market share by airline for 2018.

Exhibit 1-1 Enplaned Passenger Market Share at the Airport - 2018

Sun Country - 6.4%
American - 5.7%
Southwest . 5.3%

United . 4.3%
Spirit l 3.2%

Frontier I 1.3%
Alaska Airlines I 0.9%

Other I 1.5%

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0% 80.0%

Share of Enplaned Passengers

Notes: Regional affiliates, as applicable, have been included with their appropriate network partner. Amounts may not
add because of rounding.
Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission

Compiled by Landrum & Brown

4 For the purposes of this Report, Alaska Airlines, American Airlines, Delta Air Lines and United Airlines are considered network airlines.

For the purposes of this Report, Southwest Airlines and JetBlue Airways are considered low-cost carriers.

6 For the purposes of this Report, Frontier Airlines, Spirit Airlines, and Sun Country are considered ultra-low-cost-carriers.
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In addition to passenger operations, there is a significant amount of air cargo processed at the Airport. According
to the Airports Council International-North America (ACI-NA), 229,440 metric tons of air cargo, including both
freight and mail, were loaded and unloaded at the Airport in 2017. Based on this data from ACI-NA, the Airport
ranked as the 25™ busiest cargo airport in the U.S. for this period.

ACI-NA data indicated that the Airport had 416,213 aircraft operations? in 2017 (including all-cargo carrier
operations), which ranked the Airport as the 13t busiest airport in the U.S. Table 1-2 provides the ACI-NA’s
ranking for cargo and aircraft operations for 2017 (the latest date available at the time of this report).

1.1.2 Regional Role

The Airport serves as the primary commercial service airport for the Minneapolis-Saint Paul metropolitan area and
surrounding region, including parts of Minnesota, lowa, Wisconsin, North Dakota, and South Dakota. Origin and
destination (O&D) passenger traffic at the Airport increased from approximately 53% in 2013 to approximately
61% in 2018.8

The geographic region that serves as an airport’s primary catchment area is referred to as its “Air Service Area”.
For the purposes of this Report, the Airport’s primary Air Service Area is defined as the Minneapolis-Saint Paul
Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA), which consists of 16 counties including Hennepin, Ramsey, Dakota, Anoka,
Washington, Scott, Wright, Carver, Sherburne, St. Croix (Wisconsin), Chisago, Pierce (Wisconsin), Isanti, Le
Sueur, Mille Lacs, Sibley, In addition to the MSA, three other counties within the Combined Statistical Area (CSA)
are included in the Airport’'s secondary service area: McLeod, Rice, and Goodhue counties. For 2018, the
Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA population was estimated at 3.6 million, while the CSA population is estimated at
3.95 million.

In many cases, an airport’s air service area can extend beyond its primary air service area depending on the
location of other population centers and availability of other commercial service airports. This is particularly true
for MSP. For example, there were an estimated 362 million one-way O&D passengers in the U.S. in 2018, on a
population base estimated at 327 million, which equates to 1.1 trips per capita in the U.S. At MSP, there were
11.26 million one-way O&D passengers in 2018. With the Minneapolis CSA population of 3.95 million people, this
equates to approximately 2.9 trips per capita, or about 2% times the U.S. average.

The Airport’s higher volume of traffic per capita is primarily due to its large Air Service Area and minimal
competition from other regional airports. The Airport is the largest airport in the region and, as a result, has little
competition for air service. Exhibit 1-2 illustrates the Air Service Area and other commercial service airports
within 100 miles from the Airport. As shown, there are only two commercial service airports (Rochester (RST) and
St. Cloud (STC)) that offer limited scheduled airline service within a 100-mile driving radius from the Airport.
Passenger levels at these airports generally ranged from approximately 20,000 to 178,000, which is a small
fraction of that experienced at the Airport for 2018. There are no other comparable facilities to the Airport within
the State of Minnesota in terms of air service. Chicago O’Hare International Airport (ORD) is the nearest Large
Hub U.S. airport, and is approximately 396 driving miles from the Airport. The nearest competing Medium Hub
airport is General Mitchell International Airport (MKE) in Milwaukee, approximately 344 miles away. The Airport
also has limited competition for air traffic in parts of Wisconsin and northern lowa (Des Moines (DSM).

7 An aircraft operation includes the landing, takeoff, or touch-and-go procedure by an aircraft on the runway at an airport.

8 Data used to estimate an airport's share of O&D passengers is from the USDOT. These data are a random 10% sample of tickets either
ticketed by a U.S. carrier or where a U.S. carrier operated at least one flight in the ticket's itinerary. Therefore, the calculation of the Airport’s
share of O&D passengers is an estimate based on this data, which is generally accepted in the industry as the best publicly available data
source for such purposes.
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Table 1-2 U.S. Airport Cargo and Aircraft Operations Rankings (Top 30) — 2017
Rank | Code 0:;:::?::15 Rank | Code Meg'iagg'll'c:)ns
1 ATL Atlanta GA 879,560 1 MEM Memphis TN 4,336,752
2 ORD Chicago IL 867,049 2 ANC Anchorage AK 2,713,230
3 LAX Los Angeles CA 700,362 3 SDF Louisville KY 2,602,695
4 DFW | Dallas/Fort Worth TX 654,344 4 LAX Los Angeles CA 2,158,324
5 DEN Denver CO 574,966 5 MIA Miami FL 2,071,722
6 CLT Charlotte NC 553,817 6 ORD Chicago IL 1,721,807
7 LAS Las Vegas NV 542,994 7 JFK New York NY 1,350,599
8 SFO San Francisco CA 460,343 8 IND Indianapolis IN 1,038,620
9 IAH Houston TX 450,383 9 CVG Cincinnati OH 944,995
10 JFK New York NY 446,459 10 DFW | Dallas/Fort Worth TX 809,929
11 EWR Newark NJ 443,249 11 EWR Newark NJ 800,000
12 PHX Phoenix AZ 430,968 12 ATL Atlanta GA 685,338
13 MSP Minneapolis MN 416,213 13 ONT Ontario CA 593,947
14 SEA Seattle WA 416,124 14 OAK Oakland CA 567,354
15 MIA Miami FL 413,287 15 SFO San Francisco CA 561,805
16 BOS Boston MA 401,371 16 HNL Honolulu HI 517,361
17 DTW Detroit Ml 395,357 17 IAH Houston TX 450,842
18 LGA New York NY 379,911 18 SEA Seattle WA 425,856
19 DVT Phoenix AZ 378,777 19 PHL Philadelphia PA 419,785
20 PHL Philadelphia PA 369,928 20 PHX Phoenix AZ 339,822
21 GFK Grand Forks ND 331,881 21 BOS Boston MA 321,397
22 MCO Orlando FL 330,866 22 IAD Washington DC 299,455
23 SLC Salt Lake City UT 327,292 23 DEN Denver CO 265,240
24 LGB Long Beach CA 321,797 24 PDX Portland OR 236,822
25 FLL Fort Lauderdale FL 312,763 25 MSP Minneapolis MN 229,440
26 HNL Honolulu HI 311,903 26 MCO Orlando FL 220,025
27 DAB Daytona Beach FL 307,976 27 DTW Detroit Ml 216,183
28 SFB Sanford FL 307,064 28 RFD Rockford IL 195,606
29 SNA Santa Ana CA 293,649 29 CLT Charlotte NC 191,613
30 DCA Washington DC 293,097 30 SLC Salt Lake City UT 190,158
Source: Airports Council International-North America, http://www.aci-na.org/content/airport-traffic-reports (accessed April
2019)

Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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Exhibit 1-2 Air Service Area and Proximity to Other Airports

Todd
Morrison
Minnesota
Washburn
Burnett
Stearns
Chisago
Polk
Barron
Wisconsin
iyohi Wright
, _ Washingtor St. Croix
Hennepin Ramssy, |
|
'—_ -
Renville
Sihley
Le Sueur
Brown

iod
Wat
onwan
(®linternationall
firpont
Airport Distance from CY 2017 Enplaned

Category MSP Passengers
Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport MSP Large - 18,123,844

Rochester International Airport RST Non 62 miles 112,864

St. Cloud Regional Airport STC Non 76 miles 15,615

Source: Federal Aviation Administration, Air Carrier Activity Information System (ACIAS), accessed May 2019.
Prepared by Landrum & Brown
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The Airport also serves as Delta’s primary regional hub to markets in the North Central region of the U.S.
Approximately 15.5% of the Airport’s total enplaned passengers in 2018 either originated from or were destined
for markets in North Dakota, South Dakota, Wisconsin, or lowa. To further illustrate the Airport’s function as a
regional hub, Table 1-3 presents the top 10 states where passengers connect through the Airport as well as other
competing hub airports located in the upper Midwest and Mountain regions (including Detroit Metropolitan Wayne
County Airport [DTW], Chicago O’Hare International Airport [ORD], Denver International Airport [DEN], and Salt
Lake International Airport [SLC]). As shown, the Airport serves as the top connecting airport for both North
Dakota and South Dakota and is also one of the top connecting hubs serving passengers from Wisconsin,
Montana, Nebraska, and lowa. It is important to note that while the Airport is currently second behind ORD for
connecting passengers that originate from Minnesota, this is primarily due to the fact that the Airport currently
serves as the point of origin for approximately 96% of all passengers flying from the State of Minnesota; thus only
4% of the passengers that originate from the State of Minnesota are connecting passengers that use either the
Airport or another connecting airport.

Table 1-3 Percentage of Connecting Passengers by Hub by State of Origin (2018)
Rank State of Origin MSP DTW (0]3{) DEN SLC

1 North Dakota 51.7% 1.4% 9.6% 21.1% 0.7%
2 South Dakota 33.9% 0.9% 16.2% 23.1% 2.6%
3 Wisconsin 18.8% 14.0% 26.8% 6.5% 1.0%
4 Montana 18.0% 1.0% 5.8% 23.4% 26.2%
5 Nebraska 11.8% 4.3% 17.8% 19.4% 2.3%
6 lowa 10.2% 6.5% 31.6% 13.3% 1.1%
7 Michigan 9.9% 15.5% 23.4% 4.8% 2.3%
8 Minnesota 9.3% 6.8% 19.4% 8.8% 3.2%
9 Washington 7.7% 3.8% 8.5% 11.6% 8.2%
10 Idaho 7.2% 0.8% 4.6% 19.3% 32.7%

Note: Top connecting hub airports serving each of the top 10 states are shown in bold.

Source: Diio, accessed June 2019

Compiled by Landrum & Brown, June 2019

1.1.3 Role as a Hub for Delta

Delta is the Airport’s largest carrier and operates an important connecting hub at the Airport. In 2018,
approximately 48% of Delta’s passengers at the Airport were considered O&D passengers who either started or
ended their trips at the Airport. The other 52% of passengers on Delta are passengers who connected through the
Airport on the way to their final destinations. Exhibit 1-3 illustrates the estimated mix of O&D versus connecting
passengers for Delta, including the Delta Connection Carriers, at the Airport in 2018. In 2018, Delta accounted for
approximately 71% of the total traffic at the Airport, consisting of approximately 56% of total O&D passengers and
more than 95% of total connecting passengers. Delta also accounted for approximately 78% of international
enplaned passenger traffic at the Airport in 2018. SkyTeam partners KLM and Air France accounted for another
3% of the remaining international passengers in 2018. Delta’s air service at the Airport is described in more detail
in Chapter 2 of this Report.
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Exhibit 1-3 Delta’s Share of O&D and Connecting Passengers at the Airport (2018)

Delta Other Airlines (OAL)
71% of Total 29% of Total
A 4 A 4

I\

48% of Delta 52% of Delta 94% of OAL 6% of OAL

o&D Connecting 0&D Connecting
J
v \ 4

61% of Total - O&D 39% of Total - Connecting

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission
Compiled by Landrum & Brown

1.2 Socioeconomic Base for Air Travel

Air travel demand at an airport is largely correlated with the demographic and economic characteristics of the
surrounding region. The economic strength of the Air Service Area has a major impact on the aviation activity at
the Airport given that approximately 61% of the Airport's passenger traffic is O&D. The next sections review
current economic trends and conditions of the Airport’s Air Service Area, and present data indicative of the Air
Service Area’s capability to generate a growing demand for air transportation throughout the next several years.®

1.2.1 Population

Exhibit 1-4 presents the estimated 2018 population of each of the top 25 MSAs in the United States. According to
the United States Census Bureau, the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA was ranked as the 16t most populated MSA
in the United States in 2018 with approximately 3.6 million residents.

9 The Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA accounted for nearly two-thirds of the population and employment in the
state of Minnesota and 73.8% of the state’s economic activity as defined by gross regional product (GRP).
Therefore, demographic and economic comparisons presented in this Report are made between the
Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA and United States only and do not include comparisons with state-wide
Minnesota data.

8 | Landrum & Brown
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Exhibit 1-4 Population of Top 25 Largest MSA’s in the United States (2018)
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Source: United States Census Bureau, Annual Estimates of Resident Population, accessed via American FactFinder.

Since 2006, the population in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA has increased at a compound annual growth rate
(CAGR) of 1.0%, which is slightly above the national CAGR of 0.7%. Exhibit 1-5 depicts the historical and
forecast year-over-year growth of the population of the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA and the United States as a
whole. Population in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA is forecast to increase from 3.6 million in 2018 to 3.9 million
in 2025, representing a CAGR of 0.9%. During that same period, the nation’s population is forecast to increase at

a CAGR of 0.7%.
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Exhibit 1-5 Historical and Forecast Population Trends (2006-2025)

Population Year-Over-Year Growth Rates
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Source: Woods & Poole Economics, Inc., 2019 Complete Economic and Demographic Data Source, April 2019.

1.2.1.1 Age Distribution

Demand for air travel varies by age group. People of working ages generally account for a higher share of air
travel than older or younger people as they often travel for business purposes and have more disposable income
available for leisure trips. Exhibit 1-6 presents the distribution of age groups among the population of the MSA
and the United States. Overall, the median age of the population for the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA is 38.1
which is slightly below the nation as a whole at 38.2. The share of the population in the MSA within the working
ages of 25 and 64 is higher than that of the U.S. Persons within the MSA between the ages of 25 and 64
accounted for 53.8% of the population as compared to 52.2% for the United States.

10 | Landrum & Brown
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Exhibit 1-6 Age Distribution (2018)

Share of Persons Per Age Group
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Source: Woods & Poole Economics, Inc., 2019 Complete Economic and Demographic Data Source, April 2019.

1.2.1.2 Educational Attainment

People with a college degree generate a higher percentage of expenditures on air travel. Exhibit 1-7 presents the
share of educational attainment for persons aged 25 or older within the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA and the
United States. According to the United States Census Bureau, 1.2 million or 50.8% of the population aged 25 or
older in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA have a college degree or higher. By comparison, only 39.2% of the
population aged 25 or older in the United States have a college degree or higher.

In addition to having a highly-educated population, the Air Service Area is also home to more than 34 colleges
and universities such as the University of Minnesota, University of Saint Thomas, Minneapolis Community &
Technical College, Metropolitan State University, and others. Educational institutions in the Air Service Area have
a total enrollment of approximately 140,000 students and generate demand for air travel through academic
conferences, visiting professorships, study abroad programs, and individual student and faculty travel.°

10 Minnesota Monthly, New Residents: Education Directory.
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Exhibit 1-7 Educational Attainment (2017)
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Source: United States Census Bureau, American Community 5-Year Estimates: Educational Attainment, obtained via
American Fact Finder, March 2019.

1.2.2 Employment

Growth in employment is an important indicator of the overall health of the local economy. Changes in population
and employment tend to be closely correlated as people migrate in and out of areas largely depending on their
ability to find work. Exhibit 1-8 presents the year-over-year growth rates for employment in the Minneapolis-Saint
Paul MSA and in the United States through 2025. Between December 2007 and June 2009, the worst financial
crisis to affect the United States since the Great Depression occurred. The recession, often referred to as the
Great Recession, was the longest recession since the airline industry was deregulated. As shown, from 2008
through 2010 there was a sharp decline in employment in both the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA and United
States resulting from the Great Recession. Since 2010, employment in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA has
increased at a CAGR of 1.8%, compared to 1.8% in the United States. Through 2025, employment is forecast to
increase at a CAGR of 1.3% compared to 1.3% for the United States. Employment growth in the Minneapolis-
Saint Paul MSA since 2010 is almost double the rate of population growth over the same period, resulting in
decreasing unemployment rates.
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Report of the Airport Consultant Metropolitan Airports Commission
August 20, 2019

Exhibit 1-8 Historical and Forecast Employment Trends (2006-2025)
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1.2.2.1 Labor Force & Unemployment Rates

Unemployment rates are also an indicator of economic health as rates usually decrease as economic activity in
the region grows. Exhibit 1-9 presents the historical unemployment rates for the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA and
the United States. As shown, since 2009, unemployment rates in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA have been
lower than the national average. Unemployment in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA peaked in March 2010 at
8.3% as recovery from the Great Recession began, compared to a national unemployment rate of 10.2% at that
time, slightly below the national unemployment peak of 10.6% in January of 2010. As indicated above, total
employment has increased at a faster rate than population, within the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA and nationally,
since the end of the Great Recession, resulting in significant declines in unemployment rates during that time. As
of May 2019, unemployment in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA was 2.7% compared to 3.4% nationally.
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Exhibit 1-9 Unemployment Rates (January 2009 — May 2019)
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Survey, June 2019.

1.2.2.2 Industry Sectors

Exhibit 1-10 presents a comparison of employment by industry sector between the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA
and the United States. In 2018, 46.0% of all employed persons within the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA worked in
the service sector compared to 44.4% nationally. The Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA also has a higher proportion of
employed persons in the finance and real estate and manufacturing sectors than the United States.
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Exhibit 1-10

Employment by Industry Sector (2018)
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Table 1-4 provides a list of the largest 25 employers in the State of Minnesota. These employers center on the
services sector with a number of health care providers. However, there is diversification with major retailers,
banking institutions, and a number of manufacturers.

Annually, Fortune magazine publishes a listing of the largest companies in the United States as defined by
revenue. Exhibit 1-11 presents the location of the Fortune 500® Companies within the Minneapolis-Saint Paul
MSA and their relationship to the Airport. As shown, there are 18 Fortune 500 Companies headquartered in the
Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA, the fifth most of any city and the highest per capita.
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Table 1-4 Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA Largest 25 Employers
Company Industry Employees in Air Service Area
Mayo Clinic Medical Care 41,691
State of Minnesota State Government 40,293
United States Federal Government Federal Government 34,427
Fairview Health Services Health Systems 33,350
Allina Health System Health Care 28,465
Target Retailer 27,000
University of Minnesota Public University 26,900
HealthPartners Health Care 24,310
Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota Banking 19,000
UnitedHealth Group, Inc. Health Care 18,000
Minnesota State Public Colleges and Universities 16,184
3M Technology Manufacturer 15,000
United States Postal Service Federal Government 13,320
U.S. Bancorp Multistate Bank Holding Company 13,000
CentraCare Health System Health Care 12,523
Essentia Health Health Care 10,998
Medtronic, Inc. Medical Technology 10,000
Supervalu Inc. Grocery Retailer 9,385
Hennepin County County Government 9,139
Hormel Foods Corp. Food Manufacturer 8,831
Best Buy Electronic Retailer 8,000
Delta Air Lines Inc. Commercial Airline 8,000
Hennepin Healthcare Health Care 7,125
Boston Scientific Medical Technology 7,000
Thomson Reuters Financial Information 7,000
Source: Minnesota: Employment and Economic Development, Minnesota Companies: Largest Employers.
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Exhibit 1-11  Map of Fortune 500 Company Headquarters
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1.2.3 Income

Income statistics are broad indicators of the relative earning power and wealth of an area and provide a measure
of the relative affluence of a region’s residents and, consequently, of their ability to afford air travel.

1.2.3.1 Per Capita Personal Income

Per Capita Personal Income (PCPI) corresponds to the income per resident (total income divided by total
population). Exhibit 1-12 provides the historical and forecast PCPI for the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA and the
United States through 2025. In 2006, PCPI in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA was $53,941, which was higher
than the national average of $46,260. PCPI for the nation, including the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA, declined in
2008 and 2009 during the Great Recession, recovered between 2010 and 2012, then decreased slightly in 2013.
Since 2013, PCPI in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA has increased at a CAGR of 2.5% as compared to a 2.3%
CAGR for the United States. As a result, the PCPI in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA reached $61,875 in 2018,
$8,358 (or 15.6%) more than the national average.

Exhibit 1-12  Historical and Forecast Per Capita Personal Income Trends (2006-2025)

Per Capita Personal Income (in '000 of 2018$)
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Source: Woods & Poole Economics, Inc., 2019 Complete Economic and Demographic Data Source, April 2019.
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1.2.3.2 Household Income

To better understand the distribution of income within the region, households within the Minneapolis-Saint Paul
MSA were segmented into three categories: higher-income households (those earning $100,000 or more per
year), middle-income households (those earning $45,000 or more but less than $100,000 per year), and lower-
income households (those earning less than $45,000 per year). Households in the middle and higher-income
brackets typically have members whose jobs require travel when compared to lower-income households.
Additionally, higher-income households generally have more disposable income and can therefore afford more
leisure travel than households in other income brackets.

Exhibit 1-13 presents the percentage of households within each income bracket for the Minneapolis-Saint Paul
MSA as compared to the United States for 2018. As shown, 28.0% of households in the Minneapolis-Saint Paul
MSA were higher-income, which is above the national average of 21.1%. The Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA also
has a higher proportion of middle-income households (38.5% compared to 35.7%). For purposes of this Report, it
is assumed that the distribution of households within each income bracket will remain relatively consistent through
2025.

Exhibit 1-13  Distribution of Household Income (2018)
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$100K or more

$45K to $99K
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Percent of Households
Source: Woods & Poole Economics, Inc., 2019 Complete Economic and Demographic Data Source, April 2019.
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1.2.4 Gross Domestic and Regional Product

Exhibit 1-14 presents the historical and forecast year-over-year growth rates of the United States’ gross domestic
product (GDP) and the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA gross regional product (GRP) through 2025. During the
Great Recession, the national economy contracted for three consecutive years. Over the period shown, GRP
growth of the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA has generally mirrored that of the GDP of the United States, including
the contraction resulting from the Great Recession and the subsequent recovery. Through 2025, the Minneapolis-
Saint Paul MSA’s GRP is forecast to increase at a CAGR of 1.8%, which is slightly below the 1.9% CAGR
forecast for the national GDP.

Exhibit 1-14  Historical and Forecast Gross Domestic/Regional Product Trends (2006-2025)

Gross Domestic/Regional Product Year-Over-Year Growth Rates
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Source: Woods & Poole Economics, Inc., 2019 Complete Economic and Demographic Data Source, April 2019.
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1.2.5 Regional Tourism and Visitors

Tourism, from both leisure and business visitors, is a key contributor to the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA’s
economy. Exhibit 1-15 presents the number of visitors to the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA by classification since
2010. As shown, total visitors to the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA have increased at a CAGR of 4.0% since 2010,
with approximately 33.3 million visitors in 2017 spending an estimated $7.8 billion."" The share of leisure to
business visitors has remained relatively consistent since 2010, with 72.7% of total visitors traveling to the
Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA for leisure and the remaining 27.3% visiting for business purposes in 2017.

Exhibit 1-15  Historical Visitors (2010-2017)
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| eisure =Business
40
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25 . 5
20 : :
15
10 : . 21.7
5
0

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Source: Meet Minneapolis, Research: Visitor Count.

1.2.5.1 Business

In 2017, 9.1 million business travelers visited the Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA. These visitors are drawn to the
region primarily due to the major companies headquartered within the region, including the 18 Fortune 500
Companies described above. In addition, a number of business travelers visit the region to attend conventions
held for various industries at the Minneapolis Convention Center (MCC), located in downtown Minneapolis, which

" Meet Minneapolis, Visitor Counts & Spending 2010-2017.
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provides two ballrooms, 87 meeting rooms, a 3,400-square-foot auditorium, and 475,000 square feet of exhibition
space.

1.2.5.2 Leisure

The Air Service Area is home to a rich variety of cultural, educational, and entertainment attractions. The Mall of
America is the nation’s largest shopping and entertainment destination. The mall includes over 520 stores, 60
restaurants, and the largest indoor theme park. Approximately 40 million people from around the world visit the
mall each year.

The Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA provides access to a number of cultural activities. The region has 55 museums
including the Science Museum of Minnesota, Walker Art Center, Mill City Museum, and the Minnesota History
Center. The Minneapolis Theater District, which includes the Pantages, State, and Orpheum Theatres, hosts the
most popular touring Broadway musicals, plays, concerts, and comedy shows. The Ordway Theater in Saint Paul
is recognized as one of the U.S.’s leading not-for-profit performing arts centers, providing a wide variety of
musical theater, world music, dance, and vocal artist performances throughout the year.

The Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA is home to six professional sports teams: Minnesota Vikings (football),
Minnesota Twins (baseball), Minnesota Timberwolves (men’s basketball), Minnesota Lynx (women’s basketball),
Minnesota Wild (hockey), and Minnesota United FC (soccer). The region is also home to the University of
Minnesota Golden Gopher sport teams. Minneapolis is one of the rotating hosts for the NCAA basketball
tournament, and in April 2019, it hosted the men’s NCAA Final Four basketball championship tournament.

1.2.6 Economic Overview

Table 1-5 presents historical data and forecasts for population, employment, PCPI, and GDP/GRP for the
Minneapolis-Saint Paul MSA and the United States. These factors have been shown to have significant
correlation with demand for air travel and were used in developing the forecast for aviation activity. Growth
forecasts for these variables are all positive for the Air Service Area. With the minor exception of PCPI, economic
and demographic indicators for the Air Service Area are forecast to continue to exceed growth rates for the U.S.
This level of growth indicates the ongoing capacity of the Air Service Area to generate demand for air travel
services during the Forecast Period evaluated in this Report, fiscal year (FY) 2019 through FY 2025.
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Table 1-5 Key Socioeconomic Trends and Projections

Time Frame

Historical
1990
1995
2000
2005
2010
2015
2016
2017
2018

Forecast
2020
2025

Population

2,592
2,804
3,029
3,184
3,340
3,506
3,542
3,586
3,618

3,682
3,841

(in '000)

249,623
266,278
282,162
295,617
309,338
321,042
323,411
325,719
328,094

332,702
344,322

Employment
(in '000 of jobs)

1,716
1,905
2,145
2,236
2,214
2,425
2,462
2,502
2,545

2,614
2,784

138,331
147,916
165,371
172,338
172,902
190,318
193,369
196,132
199,426

204,675
217,625

Per Capita Personal Income
(20179%)

38,599
41,784
50,960
52,943
52,102
59,339
60,019
61,011
61,875

63,688
67,796

33,519
35,580
42,411
44,694
45,851
51,362
51,740
52,691
53,518

55,299
59,457

Metropolitan Airports Commission

Gross Domestic/Regional

Product

(‘000,000 of 2017$)

Minneapolis- United Minneapolis- United Minneapolis- United Minneapolis- United
Saint Paul MSA States Saint Paul MSA States Saint Paul MSA States Saint Paul MSA States

125,000
147,426
195,496
225,267
223,487
254,542
259,635
264,840
271,399

282,201
308,270

9,921,564
11,301,530
14,091,869
16,154,133
16,836,563
19,003,558
19,306,979
19,766,162
20,182,118

21,000,743
22,978,701

_ Average Annual Growth Rate

1990-2000 1.6% 1.2% 2.3% 1.8% 2.8% 2.4%
2000-2010 1.0% 0.9% 0.3% 0.4% 0.2% 0.8%
2010-2018 1.0% 0.7% 1.8% 1.8% 2.2% 2.0%
2018-2025 0.9% 0.7% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.5%
Source: Woods & Poole Economics, Inc., 2018 Complete Economic and Demographic Data Source, April 2018.

Landrum & Brown

4.6%
1.3%
2.5%
1.8%

3.6%
1.8%
2.3%
1.9%
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2 Air Service and Traffic Analysis

This Chapter evaluates and describes the current state of air service at the Airport, analyzes historical trends in
air traffic, identifies key factors that generally affect demand for air travel, and provides forecasts of air traffic
activity through 2025.

2.1 Air Service at the Airport

The following sections review the Airport’s current air service and operating performance for the passenger
airlines serving the Airport. Airline performance is evaluated in this Report from an economic perspective, by
evaluating airline revenue, yield and load factors generated at the Airport and, in some cases, generated at the
route level to generally ascertain current airline profitability. Because of its significant presence, Delta’s air service
at the Airport has been evaluated in greater detail. The Airport’s overall O&D market is also assessed at the
market level, comparing current performance with prior years.

2.1.1 Airlines Operating at the Airport

The Airport has historically been served by the largest U.S. airlines in the industry. In addition, several foreign
flag airlines also provide international service at the Airport. As of July 2019, the Airport had scheduled
passenger service by nine domestic mainline carriers (Alaska Airlines [Alaska], American Airlines [American],
Delta, Frontier Airlines [Frontier], JetBlue Airways [JetBlue], Southwest Airlines [Southwest], Spirit Airlines [Spirit],
Sun Country Airlines [Sun Country], and United Airlines [United]), 12 U.S. regional carriers, and seven foreign flag
carriers. In addition, cargo service is provided by 11 all-cargo airlines. Table 2-1 lists the scheduled passenger
and all-cargo airlines that served the Airport as of July 2019.

Table 2-2 presents enplaned passenger market share at the Airport from 2014 through 2018. Factoring in airline
mergers, of the nine domestic mainline carriers currently serving the Airport, six (American, Delta, Frontier,
Southwest, Sun Country, and United) have served the Airport continuously for at least the last 15 years. Three
airlines (JetBlue, KLM, and Aer Lingus) have started service in the last three years. As shown, Delta, including its
regional partners, has the largest passenger market share at the Airport with approximately 71.4% of enplaned
passengers in 2018. Sun Country is the second largest carrier at the Airport having an enplaned passenger
market share of approximately 6.4% in 2018. Over the last five years, Sun Country saw the largest gain,
increasing share from 4.8% in 2014 to 6.4% in 2018, most of which occurred during the past two years after Sun
Country transitioned to an ultra-low cost carrier (ULCC). For 2018, the ULCCs (Frontier, Spirit, and Sun Country)
accounted for 10.9% of enplaned passengers at the Airport. When including the low cost carriers (LCC)
Southwest and JetBlue, the total combined LCC and ULCC share at the Airport was 16.6% in 2018.
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Table 2-1 Airlines Operating at the Airport as of July 2019
U.S. Scheduled Airlines (21) Foreign Flag Airlines (7) All-Cargo Airlines (11)
Mainline Carriers Regional Carriers Aer Lingus ABX Air®
Alaska Airlines Air Choice One Air Canada Air Transport International
American Airlines Air Wisconsin' Air France Atlas Air'®
Delta Air Lines Boutique Air Inc. Condor Bemidji'"
Frontier Airlines Endeavor Air? Icelandair CSA Air
JetBlue Airways Envoy Air Inc.’ KLM Royal Dutch Airlines Encore Air Cargo
Southwest Airlines ExpressJet® Sky Regional Airlines Inc® Federal Express
Spirit Airlines GoJet Airlines LLC? IFL Group'?
Sun Country Horizon Air* Kalitta'®
United Airlines Mesa Airlines® Mountain Air Cargo
PSA! United Parcel Service

Republic Airlines®
SkyWest Airlines’

" Operating as an affiliate of American Airlines.

2 Operating as an affiliate of Delta Air Lines.

3 Operating as an affiliate of Delta Air Lines and United Airlines.

4 Doing business as Alaska Airlines. Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air are separately certified airlines owned by Alaska Air
Group, Inc.

5 Operating as an affiliate of United Airlines.

6 Operating as an affiliate of American Airlines, Delta Air Lines, and United Airlines.

7 Operating as an affiliate of Alaska Airlines, Delta Air Lines, and United Airlines.

8 Operating as an affiliate of Air Canada.

9 Operates cargo flights for DHL Aviation.

10 Operates cargo flights for Amazon.

1 Operates cargo flights for UPS.

2 Operates cargo flights for Federal Express.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission
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Table 2-2 Enplaned Passenger Market Share at the Airport '
. Enplaned Passengers Market Share

Delta 12,600,206 12,909,981 12,908,445 12,992,106 13,125,764 74.1% 72.8% 71.1% 70.7% 71.4%

Mainline 8,694,887 9,139,346 9,321,182 9,787,444 9,885,227 50.5% 51.5% 51.3% 53.2% 53.8%

Regional Affiliates =~ 4,005,319 3,770,635 3,687,263 3,204,662 3,240,537 23.6% 21.3% 19.8% 17.4% 17.6%
Sun Country 815,386 1,029,011 1,111,020 1,213,114 1,180,832 4.8% 5.8% 6.1% 6.6% 6.4%
American? 1,092,348 1,118,450 1,190,039 1,170,234 1,040,987 6.4% 6.3% 6.6% 6.4% 5.7%
Southwest 948,278 941,872 1,053,554 1,028,051 970,711 5.6% 5.3% 5.8% 5.6% 5.3%
United 643,055 779,320 866,725 840,844 792,685 3.8% 4.4% 4.8% 4.6% 4.3%
Spirit 495,316 517,770 606,511 621,926 579,370 2.9% 2.9% 3.3% 3.4% 3.2%
Frontier 228,771 227,378 163,525 174,796 246,034 1.3% 1.3% 0.9% 1.0% 1.3%
Alaska 92,491 96,084 137,992 160,147 174,513 0.5% 0.5% 0.8% 0.9% 0.9%
Jet Blue - - - - 77,195 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4%
Air Canada 38,419 40,893 43,074 50,250 58,227 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.3%
Icelandair 20,323 28,926 39,500 50,398 45,826 0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.2%
KLM - - - 25,020 37,159 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.2%
Air France 19,165 30,172 22,654 30,571 26,538 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1%
Condor 4,516 5,077 9,144 14,402 14,817 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%
Other® 9,439 6,756 8,569 13,295 11,750 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1%
Total 17,007,713 17,731,690 18,160,752 18,385,154 18,382,408 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Note: Percentages may not add because of rounding.

" Regional affiliates, as applicable, have been included with their appropriate network partner.

2 American Airlines data includes data for the former US Airways, which was merged with American Airlines in April 2015.
3 Other includes Air Choice One, Boutique Air, Great Lakes Airlines, and Charter airlines.

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission

Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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2.1.2 O&D Markets at the Airport

Nonstop flights are provided to each of the Airport’s top 50 domestic O&D markets. Table 2-3 presents the
Airport’s top 20 domestic O&D markets, nonstop miles, average daily passenger activity, average one-way fare
paid (net of taxes and fees), average daily nonstop departures, average daily non-stop seats, and number of
airlines serving each market for 2018.

The Airport’s top domestic O&D markets reflect travel demand from the region, and consequently, where airline
capacity is allocated. As expected, the Airport's O&D demand is generated from the largest metropolitan areas
around the U.S., particularly on the east and west coast. In addition, major destination markets such as Las
Vegas and Orlando are also included in the Airport’s top markets.

Markets with a heavier emphasis of local O&D passengers are typically higher yielding and more profitable. Such
is the case for most of the Airport’s top O&D markets. For example, New York has 1,455 average daily O&D
passengers accommodated on aircraft with 2,678 average daily seats. Therefore, approximately 54% of the seats
on flights to New York City were occupied by O&D passengers, with the remaining 30% of seats being occupied
by passengers connecting through the Airport. Overall, the New York City route operated at an 84% load factor
for 2018.

To illustrate how the Airport’s air travel demand has changed since the 2008 pre-recession levels, Table 2-4
presents the change in the Airport’s top domestic O&D markets for 2018 versus 2008. It also illustrates how the
influx of LCCs and ULCCs into the Airport’s market affected air travel demand. In the 4t Quarter of 2008, Spirit,
JetBlue, Frontier and Southwest combined for 2.2% of the Airport's O&D passengers. By the 4" Quarter of 2018,
these carrier’s share of the Airport’'s O&D market increased to 16.6%. In addition, Sun Country’s market share
increased by 2.2% during this same period.

Since 2008, the Airport’s O&D passenger volume increased 36% while the average fare paid declined 5%. As a
result, overall airline revenue increased 29% from 2008 to 2018. Of the Airport’s top 20 O&D domestic markets,
all but two markets experienced an increase in revenue, while all but one experienced a passenger increase.
Most markets experienced double-digit passenger increases and average fare declines. While Delta’s (including
Northwest) average fare paid for O&D passengers increased marginally, the growth of LCCs into the marketplace
resulted in overall lower air fares for O&D passengers.

Table 2-5 presents the top 20 international markets from the Airport ranked by O&D passengers for 2018. As
shown, Cancun, Mexico is the Airport’s top international destination based on O&D passengers, followed by
London Heathrow (UK), and Punta Cana (Dominican Republic). Of the Airport’s top 20 international O&D
markets, five are located in Mexico, five are located in Europe, four are located in Canada, and two are located in
the Caribbean.
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Table 2-3 Top 20 Domestic O&D Markets from the Airport (2018)
Nonstop Avg. Daily Avg. Daily CALBRLL N:?:Ilio:;:f
Market Miles pas:;r:zerg Avg. Fare Dl:::rsttlorzs Nonstop Serving
Seats Market
1 Chicago® 334 1,596 $141 33 3,845 5
2 New York? 1,020 1,455 $201 23 2,678 4
3 Denver 680 1,401 $105 16.4 2,580 5
4 Los Angeles® 1,536 1,309 $181 12 2,214 5
5 Phoenix 1,276 1,304 $136 12.6 2,136 5
6 Las Vegas 1,300 1,096 $126 10.1 1,743 4
7 Orlando 1,310 1,041 $134 71 1,419 5
8 SF Bay Area® 1,578 1,016 $182 11 1,802 5
9 Boston 1,124 884 $141 9.2 1,485 7
10 Dallas* 853 856 $132 12 1,492 5
11 Seattle 1,399 752 $154 9.9 1,788 4
12 Atlanta 906 751 $177 13.6 2,429 3
13 Fort Myers 1,416 646 $156 4.4 831 5
14 Wash, D.C.” 931 603 $203 12 1,362 6
15 Tampa 1,307 545 $142 3.6 647 5
16 Baltimore 936 519 $119 583 863 4
17 San Diego 1,532 500 $174 54 839 3
18 Houston® 1,034 452 $167 10 866 3
19 Detroit 528 451 $166 8.6 1,434 2
20 Philadelphia® 980 425 $207 7 887 5
Total/Average
for all 1,022 30,247 $205 500 60,495
Markets

" Daily O&D passengers are calculated as the average passengers both inbound and outbound to/from the Airport.

2Includes La Guardia (LGA), John F Kennedy International (JFK), and Newark Liberty International (EWR) Airports

3Includes Los Angeles International (LAX), Ontario International (ONT), John Wayne-Orange County (SNA), Long Beach
(LGB), and Hollywood Burbank (BUR) Airports

4Includes Dallas/Fort Worth International Airport (DFW) and Dallas Love Field (DAL)

5Includes Chicago O’Hare International (ORD) and Chicago Midway International (MDW) Airports

6 Includes Metropolitan Oakland International (OAK), Norman Y Mineta San Jose International (SJC) and San Francisco
International (SFO) Airports

7 Includes Ronald Reagan Washington National (DCA) and Washington Dulles International (IAD) Airports

8 Includes George Bush Intercontinental (IAH) and William P Hobby (HOU) Airports

9 Includes Philadelphia International (PHL) and Trenton Mercer (TTN) Airports

Source: Diio; US DOT Reports DB1A, accessed April 2019

Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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Table 2-4 Top 20 Domestic O&D Markets from the Airport — 2018 vs. 2008
Market Ry Og(rl‘)a:gzsenger Avg. Fare Change Change in Revenue

1 Chicago® 20% (7%) 1%
2 New York? 21% (1%) 20%
3 Denver 85% (23%) 42%
4 Los Angeles® 37% (5%) 30%
5 Phoenix 50% (9%) 36%
6 Las Vegas 41% (16%) 18%
7 Orlando 26% 0% 26%
8 SF Bay Area® 39% (11%) 23%
9 Boston 84% (39%) 12%
10 Dallas* 37% (9%) 25%
11 Seattle 32% (2%) 30%
12 Atlanta 20% 23% 47%
13 Fort Myers 64% 3% 70%
14 Wash, D.C.” (6%) (1%) (6%)
15 Tampa 64% (4%) 56%
16 Baltimore 170% (46%) 46%
17 San Diego 40% (6%) 31%
18 Houston® 98% (34%) 31%
19 Detroit 43% (32%) (3%)
20 Philadelphia® 20% (8%) 10%

Average for all Markets 36% (5%) 29%

" Daily O&D passengers are calculated as the average passengers both inbound and outbound to/from the Airport.

2Includes La Guardia (LGA), John F Kennedy International (JFK), and Newark Liberty International (EWR) Airports

3Includes Los Angeles International (LAX), Ontario International (ONT), John Wayne-Orange County (SNA), Long Beach
(LGB), and Hollywood Burbank (BUR) Airports

4Includes Dallas/Fort Worth International Airport (DFW) and Dallas Love Field (DAL)

5Includes Chicago O’Hare International (ORD) and Chicago Midway International (MDW) Airports

6 Includes Metropolitan Oakland International (OAK), Norman Y Mineta San Jose International (SJC) and San Francisco
International (SFO) Airports

7 Includes Ronald Reagan Washington National (DCA) and Washington Dulles International (IAD) Airports

8Includes George Bush Intercontinental (IAH) and William P Hobby (HOU) Airports

9 Includes Philadelphia International (PHL) and Trenton Mercer (TTN) Airports

Source: Diio; US DOT Reports DB1A, accessed April 2019

Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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Table 2-5 Top 20 International O&D Airports from the Airport (2018)
AV%-&D;"V Avg. Fare Al\]lgr'is[iilriy axDaly
Passengers' Departures L

1 Cancun, MX 1,683 321.0 $189 2.5 459.4
2 L°”d°”'HgaE:hr°W’ EN. 4015 126.2 $705 0.9 187.7
3 Punta Cana, DO 2,310 119.8 $263 0.8 1354
4 Puerto Vallarta, MX 1,804 116.8 $207 0.9 140.8
5 Toronto, ON, CA 679 90.9 $258 5.3 427.2
6 Paris-De Gaulle, FR 4,222 79.2 $523 1.2 335.4
7 Montego Bay, JM 2,021 75.1 $272 0.4 64.7
8 Amsterdam, NL 4,166 71.4 $648 2.8 815.1
9 San Jose del Cabo, MX 1,764 71.2 $230 0.4 70.7
10 Vancouver, BC, CA 1,436 68.1 $276 1.7 261.0
11 Dublin, EN, IR 3,736 56.3 $510 - -

12 Rome-Da Vinci, IT 4,902 52.1 $544 - -

13 Calgary, AB, CA 1,051 47.8 $285 1.8 222.5
14 Liberia, CR 2,406 43.4 $315 0.2 36.9
15 Montreal-PET, QC, CA 949 431 $272 1.3 95.8
16 Mexico City, MX? 1,786 40.3 $296 - -

17 Tokyo-Haneda, JP 5,982 40.0 $926 0.9 265.8
18 Cozumel, MX 1,717 37.7 $212 0.3 42.0
19 Nairobi, KE 8,171 35.9 $498 - -

20 Frankfurt, DE 4,393 32.6 $666 0.2 41.2

Total/Average for all 3,102 3,102.1 $492 30.4 4,545.6
Markets

10&D data does not include foreign flag carriers. Data for average daily nonstop departures and seats includes foreign flag
carriers, as applicable.

2 Delta initiated daily nonstop service to Mexico City in June 2019.

Source: Diio; US DOT Reports DB1A, accessed March 2019

Compiled by Landrum & Brown

2.1.3 Current Nonstop Service

Overall, the Airport had nonstop service to 169 airports during 2018, including seasonal markets. The Airport’s
largest airline, Delta, provided scheduled nonstop service to 118 domestic and 23 international destinations in
2018. Exhibit 2-1 provides a map of the scheduled nonstop domestic destinations served in 2018. Exhibit 2-2
provides a map of the scheduled nonstop international destinations served in 2018.
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EXHIBIT 2-1 Map of Domestic Nonstop Destinations
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Note: The Airport also has nonstop service to FAI and ANC in Alaska and HNL in Hawaii.
Source: Diio Mi, Schedule — Dynamic Table, accessed May 2019.
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EXHIBIT 2-2  Map of International Nonstop Destinations

) -

Source: Diio Mi, Schedule — Dynamic Table, accessed May 2019.
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2.1.4 Airline Revenue Performance at the Airport

Airline performance at an airport can be measured primarily by four key airline revenue metrics: revenue per
available seat mile, load factor, yield, and cost per available seat mile. Each of these airline metrics are
summarized below.

= Revenue per Available Seat Mile (RASM) - RASM is the unit metric used by airlines, expressed in cents,
to measure the amount of revenue received for each available seat mile (ASM). ASMs are measured by
airlines for the purpose of determining capacity; one ASM unit equates to one seat flying one mile. For
example, an aircraft with 100 seats operating on a route of 1,000 miles would equate to 100,000 ASMs. For
the purposes of this analysis, RASM only measures passenger revenue derived from air fares and does not
include other revenues received by airlines such as baggage fees.

= Load Factor - Load factor measures how an airline is performing on a specific route or in aggregate in
terms of filling its available seat capacity. Load Factor is calculated as total revenue passenger miles
(RPMs) divided by ASMs. RPMs are the general airline metric for measuring the number of miles traveled
by paying passengers. For example, a revenue passenger flying one mile equates to one RPM.

= Yield - The last measure is airline yield or revenue per passenger mile (RPM). Yield (or RPM) is similar to
RASM, however, yield measures revenue for each passenger-mile actually sold (RASM measures revenue
for each passenger-mile available to be sold). Yield is the industry measurement for price, while load factor
is a volume-related measurement. RASM factors in both and, thus, is considered the key airline revenue
metric.

= Cost per Available Seat Mile (CASM) — CASM is the unit metric used by airlines, expressed in cents, to
measure the overall efficiency of a route or the airline as a whole. CASM is derived by dividing the
operating costs of an airline by ASM. Generally, the lower the CASM, the more profitable and efficient the
airline. It is important to note that CASM data is generally only available on an airline by airline basis, and is
not available by airport or by specific routes, therefore it is not examined as part of this study.

In general, the higher the RASM or yield, and the lower the CASM, the more profitable an airline is; however, this
also assumes that the number of ASMs remain constant over time. Since an airline’s revenue does not
necessarily increase proportionately with the distance they fly, both RASM and yield will typically decrease as the
overall length of the trip or stage length increases. Therefore, if an airline increases its overall stage length, it
should be expected that RASM and yield will decrease.

Table 2-6 compares key airline revenue metrics for all U.S airlines and the five largest incumbent network airlines
serving the Airport in 2008 versus 2018. This table compares the latest full year for which data are available
(2018) with the last full year of results prior to the U.S. economic recession (2008). The largest five airlines at the
Airport carried approximately 93.0% of the Airport’s enplaned passengers in 2018. As shown, key airline revenue
metrics have improved significantly since 2008 for the largest airlines serving the Airport. Delta’s RASM
generated at the Airport increased nearly 21%, which is well above the U.S. average of 11.2%. Delta’s revenue
improvement was almost entirely driven by higher yields/fares. United’s RASM decline was due to increases to
their ASM’s which increased by 18% from 2008 to 2018, primarily due to the fact that United added nonstop
service to San Francisco (SFO) and reduced service to Chicago O‘Hare (ORD). Sun County’s modest decline in
yield can be attributed to their business model change to a ULCC, which resulted in decreased fares and fare
revenues, and increased revenues from baggage fees.

Note that the data presented does not include airline ancillary fees for items such as ticket changes, checked
bags, priority seating, etc., or CASM, as this data is not available by airport. In recent years, U.S. airlines have
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realized significant revenues from these ancillary fees. In CY 2018, U.S. airlines had approximately $4.8 billion in
baggage fee revenues and approximately $2.7 billion in reservation cancellation/change fee revenues.2

Table 2-6 Key Airline Revenue Metrics at the Airport -2008 vs. 2018 *
RASM (cents) 2 Load Factor Yield (cents)

Airline 2008 2018 2008 2018 | Change | 2008 2018

Ch nge Change
Delta Air Lines® 20.6% 84.0% 85.1% 4 19.0%
American 12.8 13.6 6.1% 80.3% 80.8% 05 15.9 16.8 5.5%
Airlines
Southwest 8.3 11.9 435%  79.4% 83.5% 4.1 10.5 143  36.5%
Airlines
United Airlines® 17.3 16.8 (3.0%)  73.8% 84.5% 10.7 235 19.9  (15.3%)
Sun Country 7.4 7.6 2.4% 73.7% 80.3% 6.7 10.1 9.5 (6.1%)
Airlines
U.S. Average 10.4 11.6 1.2%  79.8% 83.7% 3.9 13.0 13.8 6.0%

" Data include regional affiliates, as applicable, and do not include airline ancillary fees such as charges for checked baggage,
etc. Spirit is not included because of significant changes to the airline’s business model over the past decade, and such
comparisons over this period would not be indicative of changes in revenue performance.

2 RASM = Revenue per available seat mile.

3 Includes former Northwest Airlines.

4Includes former US Airways.

SIncludes former AirTran Airways.

6 Includes former Continental Airlines.

Note: Amounts may not add because of rounding.

Source: Diio, US DOT Reports DB1A and T100, accessed April 2018

Compiled by Landrum & Brown

2.1.5 Delta’s Operations at the Airport

As described previously, the Airport serves as a key hub for Delta. Delta is the dominant airline at the Airport,
enplaning just over 71% of the Airport’s total passengers in 2018. The Airport is one of Delta’s primary connecting
hubs within its network, along with Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta International Airport (ATL), DTW, and SLC. As
shown in Table 2-7, the Airport is Delta’s second largest airport and its fourth largest international gateway based
on departing seats.

2.1.5.1 Delta’s O&D Traffic at the Airport

The size of the Airport’s O&D base is a key consideration for Delta as a hub. As shown in Table 2-8, the Airport
generated approximately $2.8 billion in estimated revenue on a roundtrip basis for Delta in 2018. The Airport was
the second largest market in the Delta system based upon O&D passengers and was the fourth largest based
upon revenue, just behind DTW.

'2U.S. Department of Transportation, Bureau of Transportation Statistics, Schedule P-1.2, accessed July 2019
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Table 2-7 Delta’s Top 10 Airports Based on Scheduled Departing Seats (2018)
Rank Market Seats Rank Market Seats
1 Atlanta 48,363,162 1 Atlanta 5,790,336
2 Minneapolis 15,862,785 2 New York-JFK 3,154,716
3 Detroit 15,596,222 3 Detroit 1,805,765
4 Salt Lake City 10,202,822 4 Minneapolis 1,367,343
5 New York-JFK 10,088,890 5 Seattle 983,359
6 Los Angeles 8,060,559 6 Los Angeles 899,312
7 New York-LaGuardia 7,905,364 7 Salt Lake City 486,078
8 Seattle 6,657,405 8 Boston 415,778
9 Boston 4,294,051 9 Honolulu/Oahu 321,146
10 Orlando 3,636,853 10 Tokyo-Narita 208,843

Source: Diio Mi, Accessed April 2019
Compiled by Landrum & Brown, April 2019

Table 2-8 Delta’s Top 10 Domestic O&D Airports Based on Estimated Revenue - 2018
O&D Passengers Average Paid One-way Roundtrip Revenue
(millions) Fare (billions)

1 Atlanta ATL 11.3 $224 $5.1

2 New York JFK 5.8 $275 $3.2

3 Detroit DTW 5.6 $263 $2.9

4 Minneapolis MSP 6.1 $234 $2.8

5 Los Angeles LAX 4.9 $240 $2.3

6 New York LGA 5.2 $182 $1.9

7 Salt Lake City SLC 3.9 $220 $1.7

8 Seattle SEA 3.2 $247 $1.6

9 Boston BOS 3.2 $214 $1.4

10 Orlando MCO 2.9 $194 $1.1
Source: U.S. Department of Transportation via Diio, accessed April 2019; fare is net of taxes and fees

Compiled by Landrum & Brown

Exhibit 2-3 presents the percentage of O&D enplaned passengers at Delta’s key “interior” airport hubs including
ATL, DTW, SLC, and the Airport. Interior hubs are considered to be those hub airports that are geographically
located within the middle of the U.S. and not on either the east or west coast. As shown, approximately 48% of
Delta’s enplaned passengers at the Airport are O&D passengers, which is an increase from 39% in 2015. This
percentage of O&D traffic is generally in-line with and higher than its other major connecting hubs at ATL, DTW,
and SLC. Delta’s mix of O&D ftraffic at the Airport is also well above that for Delta’s ATL hub; however, given
ATL'’s role as Delta’s largest global connecting hub airport, any comparisons to ATL are not applicable. Per
discussions with Delta staff, serving large O&D markets and maintaining a ratio of approximately 40% to 50% of
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O&D ftraffic at its primary connecting hubs, with the exception of ATL, is considered to be a sustainable balance
for its network. Over the past several years, other Delta connecting hubs that served much smaller local O&D
markets and were unable to provide a similar percent of O&D passenger traffic were either significantly
downsized or discontinued as connecting hubs within the network. These include the Cincinnati/Northern
Kentucky International (CVG) and Memphis International (MEM) Airports. Given that the Airport's O&D passenger
volume and share of connecting traffic is in line with Delta’s other connecting hubs, the Airport appears well
positioned to continue to serve as a key hub in Delta’s network.

Exhibit 2-3 Delta’s Percent of O&D Enplaned Passengers at Major Connecting Hubs (2018)
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Source: U.S. Department of Transportation via Diio, accessed March 2019, Activity Management Records
Compiled by Landrum & Brown

2.1.5.2 Delta’s Connecting Traffic at the Airport

While the Airport is a major O&D market for Delta, it is also one of Delta’s primary connecting hubs. As a key
connecting hub, the Airport provides Delta a strategic presence in the central U.S., allowing for connectivity from
the upper Midwest, Great Lakes region, and the east and west coasts to the rest of the country and world. Exhibit
2-4 and Table 2-9 present a summary by U.S. region and internationally where passengers either began or ended
their trips while connecting through several of Delta’s hub airports in 2018. The data provides some insight as to
the primary differences between Delta’s key connecting hubs, as summarized further below.
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Exhibit 2-4 Delta Hub Connecting Passengers by Region (2018)
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Source: Diio, accessed March 2019
Compiled by Landrum & Brown, May 2019
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Table 2-9 Delta Connecting Passengers by Hub by Region (2018)

(West — iwan  wioiis  aneren  armsso omer | sasw
Pacific 1,091,756 513,818 1,329,803 1,558,067 524,218 807,722
Mountain 779,854 329,297 1,417,697 1,162,293 155,453 164,874

Midwost —a7igss | 461290 | Sessos | dosaers | ontzs | taase
West North Central 1,135,091 324,053 199,192 1,104,999 44,444 51,269
East North Central 1,036,604 1,288,245 186,117 1,953,676 52,679 91,318

Northoast 529797 AaiessT | 7o | 20sat1s | 4o | ooasn |
Middle Atlantic 425,337 971,208 130,788 1,618,570 34,343 46,419
New England 98,460 297,380 45,178 433,608 12,052 20,479

(Soun o054 fss6a08 | 717013 | 15356058 | 2169 | 147968 |
West South Central 202,784 209,084 236,791 2,304,214 77,871 16,631
East South Central 186,080 294,046 89,923 2,703,935 34,721 29,862
South Atlantic 611,090 833,079 390,299 8,947,950 103,792 101,473

International 599,678 802,455 m 3,310,746 | 363,474 m

Grand Total 6,166,734 5,862,665 4,268,311 | 25,098,058 | 1,403,047 1,745,343

Source: Diio, accessed March 2019
Compiled by Landrum & Brown, May 2019

= As shown, the Airport’s top connecting markets are primarily in the West North Central, Pacific, East North
Central, and Mountain regions of the U.S. The Airport is the top Delta hub serving the West North Central
region and is the third leading Delta hub serving the Pacific (behind ATL and SLC), East North Central
(behind ATL and DTW), and Mountain (behind ATL and SLC) regions.

= The Airport also augments some of the same connecting markets as DTW and ATL, particularly on east-
west traffic flows in very large O&D markets, which serves to enhance Delta’s presence in key markets.
DTW’s focus is in the East North Central and Middle Atlantic regions of the U.S. DTW’s top connecting
markets are on the east and west coast. Relative to the Airport, however, Delta’s DTW hub has a heavier
emphasis on the northeast U.S., Ohio Valley, and Great Lakes markets (Michigan and Wisconsin).

= Given the size of Delta’s hub at ATL, it serves as a top connecting hub to and from many U.S. regions, and
it naturally serves as the top connecting airport for markets in the south and southeast.

= SLC offers Delta connectivity to the mountain region of the U.S. while further strengthening their presence
and connecting options in large, high growth west coast markets. Delta primarily uses SLC to serve the
mountain region and other airports on the west coast. It also uses SLC to augment larger O&D markets on
east/west traffic flows.

= The majority of Delta’s SEA connecting traffic comes from the northwest U.S., Alaska and Hawaii (Pacific
region). It also enables connectivity in high growth, trans-pacific markets. Delta primarily operates SEA as
an international gateway to Asia and domestically to Hawaii, in addition to offering connecting service in
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selected west coast markets. As with other hubs, it also allows for additional connectivity in larger O&D
markets.

Although the Airport and DTW are relatively close in geographical proximity to each other in the upper Midwest,
both airports are operated by Delta in such a way that they work together to augment each other and better serve
separate regions of the U.S. Exhibit 2-5 depicts the Airport’s top 30 connecting markets in terms of passengers
for the Airport and DTW. Table 2-10 presents the top 30 airports where Delta passengers either began or ended
their trips while connecting through the Airport or DTW in 2018. As shown, MSP primarily serves domestic
markets in the upper Midwest and central U.S., with more of an emphasis on connections to markets on the west
coast. Four of the top six airports connecting through MSP are on the U.S. west coast, and seven of the top nine
are in the western U.S. The other two top connecting airports from MSP are Milwaukee and Fargo. DTW also
generated connectivity to the U.S. west coast; however, it is less reliant on these connections. DTW'’s west coast
connecting traffic is approximately 40% less than that connecting at the Airport. DTW'’s connecting traffic is more
oriented to serve the eastern half of the U.S., with an emphasis in the Great Lakes region.

Connecting enplaned passengers, which are primarily driven by Delta’s route network decisions, remained
relatively constant at the Airport from 2009 through 2012, averaging approximately 7.24 million enplaned
passengers during that timeframe. From 2012 to 2015, following the end of the economic recession and the
integration of Northwest Airlines, Delta’s connecting enplaned passengers increased from 7.35 million to 7.87
million from 2012 to 2015, representing a 2.3% CAGR. Since 2015, Delta’s overall seat capacity at the Airport
has continued to increase at a 1.2% CAGR. At the same time, Delta’s connecting enplaned passengers have
decreased at a -4.7% CAGR through 2018 and Delta’s O&D enplaned passengers have increased at a CAGR of
7.8% since 2015, resulting in a decrease of Delta’s connecting passenger share from 61% to 52% from 2015 to
2018. This shift in connecting versus O&D enplaned passengers at the Airport is primarily a result of Delta
shifting its flights from smaller connecting markets through the Airport to larger, higher yielding nonstop O&D
markets at the Airport as a response to competition and strong growth in O&D traffic from the LCC and ULCC
carriers at the Airport, and are in large part, responsible for Delta’s improvements to its yield and RASM metrics at
the Airport and system-wide, presented earlier.
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Exhibit 2-5 Delta’s Top 30 Connecting Markets from the Airport and DTW (2018)

Source: USDOT via Diio, accessed March 2019
Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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Table 2-10 Top 30 Delta Air Lines Domestic Connecting Markets at DTW And MSP (2018)

Top Airports Connecting at MSP Top Airports Connecting at D

Los Angeles 2.8% 2.8% Grand Rapids 2.8% 2.8%

Seattle SEA 2.8% 5.6% 2 Boston BOS 2.5% 5.3%

3 Fargo FAR 2.5% 8.1% 3 Seattle SEA 2.5% 7.7%

4 Portland PDX 2.3% 10.4% 4 Mi””""f:lj’l'iS/ St MSP 2.1% 9.9%
5 Milwaukee MKE 2.3% 12.7% 5 Los Angeles LAX 2.1% 12.0%
6 Las Vegas LAS 2.2% 14.9% 6 Milwaukee MKE 2.0% 14.0%
7 Sioux Falls FSD 1.9% 16.8% 7 Las Vegas LAS 1.9% 16.0%
8 Madison MSN 1.9% 18.7% 8 Madison MSN 1.9% 17.9%
9 San Francisco SFO 1.9% 20.6% 9 Wash-National DCA 1.9% 19.8%
10 Wash-National DCA 1.8% 22.5% 10 San Francisco SFO 1.8% 21.5%
11 Phoenix PHX 1.8% 24.3% 11 Hartford BDL 1.7% 23.2%
12 Salt Lake City SLC 1.7% 26.0% 12 Orlando MCO 1.7% 24.9%
13 Detroit DTW 1.7% 27.7% 13 Indianapolis IND 1.7% 26.6%
14 San Diego SAN 1.7% 29.5% 14 Atlanta ATL 1.6% 28.2%
15 Grand Rapids GRR 1.7% 31.1% 15 Buffalo BUF 1.6% 29.8%
16 Denver DEN 1.6% 32.7% 16 Philadelphia PHL 1.6% 31.4%
17 Boston BOS 1.6% 34.3% 17 NY-La Guardia LGA 1.5% 32.9%
18 Spokane GEG 1.5% 35.9% 18 Baltimore BWI 1.5% 34.5%
19 Bismarck BIS 1.5% 37.4% 19 Columbus CMH 1.5% 35.9%
20 Anchorage ANC 1.5% 38.8% 20 Traverse City TVC 1.4% 37.3%
21 Kansas City MCI 1.4% 40.2% 21 Cleveland CLE 1.4% 38.8%
22 Bozeman BZN 1.4% 41.7% 22 Pittsburgh PIT 1.4% 40.2%
23 Omaha OMA 1.4% 43.1% 23 Salt Lake City SLC 1.4% 41.6%
24 NY-La Guardia LGA 1.4% 44.4% 24 Elmira ELM 1.3% 42.9%
25 Atlanta ATL 1.4% 45.8% 25 Saginaw MBS 1.3% 44.2%
26 Orlando MCO 1.3% 471% 26 San Diego SAN 1.3% 45.5%
27 Des Moines DSM 1.3% 48.4% 27 Chicago-O'Hare ORD 1.3% 46.8%
28 Grand Forks GFK 1.3% 49.7% 28 Denver DEN 1.3% 48.0%
29 St. Louis STL 1.3% 51.0% 29 Phoenix PHX 1.3% 49.3%
30 Hartford BDL 1.2% 52.2% 30 Cincinnati CVG 1.2% 50.5%
Other 47.8% 100.0% Other 49.5% 100.0%

Source: U.S. Department of Transportation via Diio, accessed April 2019

Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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In summary, the Airport is unique within the Delta system in that it connects markets in the upper Midwest and
central U.S. with the western U.S. DTW is similarly unique in that it serves smaller eastern region markets, with
an emphasis in the Great Lakes region, to the rest of the U.S. SLC is strategically important within the Delta
network in that SLC offers service to the mountain region of the U.S. Delta’s service at ATL has a focus in the
southeast U.S., but ATL is also Delta’s largest hub airport and serves passenger traffic throughout the U.S. and

internationally. All four of these hubs offer connecting service to major markets along the U.S. east and west
coast.

2.1.5.3 Delta’s Estimated Profitability at the Airport

The Airport’s importance to Delta is further enhanced by its overall profitability. Route profitability is a critical factor
to assess when evaluating an airline’s performance at an airport. Delta’s unit revenue (RASM), load factors, and
yield performance were analyzed in this Report for each of Delta’s nonstop routes at the Airport.

Exhibit 2-6 graphically presents mileage-adjusted RASM for Delta’s domestic nonstop routes for 2018. The trend
line or curve represents the calculated system average RASM for Delta routes based on stage length, or nonstop
flight miles. Because RASM tends to decrease as the stage length increases, it is important to consider stage
length when assessing RASM or yield. The trend line presented on Exhibit 2-6 represents a typical trend when
comparing RASM and stage length. Markets for the Airport are depicted by the darker data points. The route
data points that appear above the trendline performed more favorably than Delta’s overall system average for
RASM or unit revenue. As shown, a majority of Delta’s routes from the Airport performed near or above system-
wide mileage-adjusted RASM, which is indicative of Delta’s relative profitability at the Airport.

Exhibit 2-6 Delta’s Domestic RASM for Routes Less Than 2,000 Miles from the Airport (2018)
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Source: Diio, US DOT Reports DB1a and T100, accessed March 2019
Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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In particular, markets in the range of 400 to 700 miles from the Airport and at approximately 1,000 miles generally
outperformed Delta’s other markets. These markets generally include large metropolitan areas on the U.S. east
coast, Ohio Valley, southeastern U.S., or other large Delta hubs (i.e., ATL and DTW) that have relatively high
yields, and where Delta generally has a sizeable presence.

Longer-haul Delta routes from the Airport (greater than 1,000 miles) are generally profitable, albeit closer to
system mileage-adjusted RASM averages. These markets are generally more impacted by competition, which
can limit yields. In particular, many of these routes have been impacted by the growth of LCCs and ULCCs,
especially Sun Country, which has the second largest passenger market share at the Airport. Typical routes in
this range include Florida airports, the U.S. west coast, and the Caribbean. Delta has recently implemented
certain strategies to compete with LCCs and ULCCs such as segmenting its inflight cabin to add basic economy
seats and selectively adding capacity to competitive markets.

2.1.5.4 Delta’s International (Trans-oceanic) Traffic at the Airport

Relative to its other hub airports, the Airport is a smaller international gateway for Delta. To markets in Asia, the
Airport was Delta’s 6™ largest U.S. market (including Hawaii) in terms of departing seats in 2018. About 6% of
Delta’s departing seat capacity to Asia took place from the Airport in 2018. The majority of Delta’s Asian capacity
takes place over DTW and SEA. DTW focuses upon carrying traffic from the eastern region of the U.S., while
SEA is Delta’s primary west coast gateway to Asia. DTW generated about 27% of Delta’s seat capacity to Asia in
2018, while SEA was responsible for about 20%.

Combined with SkyTeam partners KLM and Air France, the Airport was Delta/SkyTeam’s 5" largest market to
Europe in 2018, based upon departing seats. About 5.3% of SkyTeam’s U.S.-European capacity was from the
Airport. Delta’s major European gateways are at New York’s JFK airport (JFK) and ATL, with capacity shares of
32.4% and 18.3%, respectively in 2018. DTW is third at 8.4%.

Exhibit 2-7 depicts Delta’s European and Asian route maps from the Airport for June 2019. Delta expands seat
capacity at the Airport during the summer, particularly to Europe. As shown, Delta has service to four European
destinations (Amsterdam, London, Paris, and Reykjavik) and two Asian markets (Incheon and Tokyo).
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Exhibit 2-7 Delta’s European and Asian Route Maps from the Airport (June 2019)

Source: U.S. Department of Transportation via Diio, accessed March 2019
Compiled by Landrum & Brown

Exhibit 2-8 illustrates Delta’s trans-oceanic seat capacity trends at the Airport since 2010. As shown, the seat
capacity for 2018 is up approximately 17.2% compared to levels in 2010. Seat capacity between the Airport and
Europe has increased about 32.8% since 2010, while seat capacity to Asia has dropped 27.2%. The decline in
seat capacity to Asia was a direct result of Delta’s retirement of their 747-400 fleet and transition to smaller 777
aircraft in 2012. Service to Asia during this time period has consistently been provided by one daily flight to Tokyo,
with service transitioning from Tokyo’s Narita airport to Haneda (HND) in 2016. In addition, Delta initiated new
nonstop international service to Seoul, Korea (ICN) in April 2019 with one daily flight.

Capacity from the Airport to Europe has seen steady growth since 2010. Capacity to Amsterdam (AMS) from the
Airport is up 17.6% since 2010, while Paris (CDG) is up 125%. New seasonal service to Reykjavik (KEF) started
in 2016. Seat capacity to slot-restricted London-Heathrow (LHR) is down marginally since 2010.
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Exhibit 2-8 Delta’s Trans-Oceanic Departing Seat Capacity from the Airport (in Thousands)
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From a financial standpoint, Delta’s trans-oceanic service from the Airport is considered to be generally profitable,
particularly to major European points to LHR, AMS and CDG. In general, these routes appear to be in line, or
exceed Delta’s other trans-oceanic routes from other U.S airports (see Exhibit 2-9).

Exhibit 2-9 Delta’s Trans-Oceanic RASM and Load Factors from the Airport (2018)
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Source: Diio, US DOT Reports DB1a and T100, accessed March 2019
Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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In summary, the Airport is integral to Delta’s overall route network, As discussed above, the following three factors
provide the basis as to why, in our opinion, the Airport will remain a critical hub to Delta into the foreseeable
future.

= The Airport serves a large Air Service Area and O&D base for Delta, with over 60% of Delta’s passengers
flying nonstop to or from their destination from the Airport. This is consistent with, and slightly exceeds,
Delta’s other key hubs. This mix of traffic is generally considered to be higher yielding and more profitable
than hubs with a higher connecting mix of traffic.

= The Airport’s geographic location allows Delta to operate it as an efficient transfer point for traffic in the
upper Midwest, eastern half of the U.S., and Great Lakes regions. It also allows Delta to augment large
connecting east-west traffic flows in conjunction with its other hubs at DTW, SLC, and ATL.

= The Airport appears to be a profitable operation for Delta as RASMs are generally above mileage-adjusted
system averages. Delta’s profitability at the Airport in 2018 also appears to have improved significantly
from before the Great Recession in 2008.

2.1.6 Sun Country’s Operations at the Airport

Sun Country, which is headquartered in Minneapolis-St. Paul, initially operated as strictly a charter carrier and
later transitioned into a mostly scheduled airline in 1999. In October 2008, the airline filed for bankruptcy and its
assets were subsequently purchased out of bankruptcy in July 2011 by the Davis family. In December 2017, Sun
Country was sold to Apollo Global Management of New York, at which time, the airline announced that it was
transitioning to a ULCC business model focused primarily on leisure passengers. As a result, Sun Country has
dramatically increased their seat capacity and passenger growth over the past year. Prior to the announcement of
its transition to a ULCC, Sun Country operated a fleet of approximately 20 737-700 and 737-800 aircraft. By the
end of 2018, their fleet had grown to 30 737-800 aircraft, with plans to grow to 50 aircraft by 2026. In the past
year, Sun Country has shifted some of their growth to various “focus cities”, including Portland (PDX), Las Vegas
(LAS), and Nashville (BNA). Additionally, Sun Country now shifts its service at the Airport seasonally to provide
more north/south service through the Airport in the winter and east/west connecting service through the Airport in
the summer. Since 2018 Sun Country has added 32 nonstop routes and 11 new cities and operated an average
of 379 weekly flights out of 55 markets nationwide in 2018.

Table 2-11 presents key operating data for Sun County at the top 10 airports within its system. As shown, the
Airport is by far Sun Country’s largest airport within its system. Overall, Sun Country operated approximately 44%
of its system-wide flights and seat capacity from the Airport in 2018.
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Table 2-11 Sun Country’s Top 10 Airports (2018)

Enplaned Available Seat Miles

Rank Market Passengers Seats (ASM) Load Factor
1 Minneapolis 1,180,832 1,419,216 2,014,072,014 80.4%
2 Las Vegas 155,999 187,001 232,834,191 83.5%
3 Los Angeles 105,846 122,474 200,328,696 86.5%
4 Orlando 103,796 122,547 163,619,304 84.5%
5 Ft. Myers 94,419 120,252 163,214,064 79.3%
6 Cancun 88,905 116,114 162,263,108 75.6%
7 Dallas/Ft. Worth 85,174 107,481 123,419,201 80.0%
8 JFK 83,075 105,620 108,576,846 78.7%
9 Phoenix 82,573 96,695 121,897,529 85.5%
10 San Francisco 74,638 95,322 146,092,278 79.0%

Source: Diio Mi, US DOT Report T100, accessed July 2019
Compiled by Landrum & Brown, July 2019

2.2 Air Traffic Activity and Trends

This section analyzes historical trends in air traffic activity at the Airport including enplaned passengers, aircraft
operations, and landed weight. It also discusses the primary factors affecting these trends.

2.2.1 Enplaned Passengers

Passenger activity drives a number of revenues and financial measures at the Airport including such items as
non-airline revenues, e.g., parking, rental car, and terminal concessions, Passenger Facility Charge (PFC)
revenues and FAA Airport Improvement Program (AIP) entitlement grant distributions. Exhibit 2-10 and

Table 2-12 present historical domestic O&D, domestic connecting, international O&D, international connecting,
and total enplaned passenger trends at the Airport between 2008 and 2018. The table also presents the Airport’s
total enplaned passengers for the first six months of 2018 and 2019 to show how traffic is trending in 2019.

Landrum & Brown | 47



Metropolitan Airports Commission Report of the Airport Consultant
August 20, 2019

Exhibit 2-10  Historical Revenue Enplaned Passengers

Enplaned Passengers (in millions)
M Domestic O&D m Domestic Connecting M International
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Sources:  Metropolitan Airports Commission; USDOT (via Diio) for domestic O&D enplaned passengers. Domestic

connecting enplaned passengers were derived by subtracting DOT-reported domestic O&D enplaned passengers
from Commission-reported domestic enplaned passengers.
Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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Table 2-12 Historical Revenue Enplaned Passenger Trends at the Airport (in Thousands)

Domestic International
2008 7,869 - 7,210 - 487 - 818 - 16,384 -
2009 7,918 0.6% 6,573 (8.8%) 401 (17.5%) 660 (19.4%) | 15,551 | (5.1%)
2010 7,833 (1.1%) 6,741 2.6% 514 28.2% 627 (4.9%) 15,715 1.1%
2011 7,931 1.3% 6,938 2.9% 488 (5.2%) 615 (1.9%) | 15,972 1.6%
2012 7,942 0.1% 6,994 0.8% 499 2.3% 585 (4.9%) | 16,020 0.3%
2013 8,145 2.6% 7,094 1.4% 536 7.3% 596 1.9% 16,370 2.2%
2014 8,481 4.1% 7,349 3.6% 588 9.7% 590 (1.0%) | 17,008 3.9%
2015 8,908 5.0% 7,525 2.4% 672 14.2% 630 6.8% 17,732 4.3%
2016 9,694 8.8% 7,105 (5.6%) 588 (12.5%) 774 22.8% | 18,161 2.4%
2017 10,144 4.6% 6,807 (4.2%) 626 6.5% 809 4.5% 18,385 1.2%
2018 10,603 4.5% 6,313 (7.3%) 653 4.3% 813 0.6% 18,382 (0.0%)
2018 YTD ' 8,936 -
2019 YTD ' 9,194 2.9%
oot
2008-2010 (0.2%) (3.3%) 2.8% (12.5%) (2.1%)
2010-2012 0.7% 1.9% (1.5%) (3.4%) 1.0%
2012-2018 4.9% (1.7%) 4.6% 5.6% 2.3%
2008-2018 3.0% (1.3%) 3.0% (0.1%) 1.2%

Note: Amounts may not add because of rounding.

" Enplaned passengers for year-to-date period includes the six months of January through June.

Sources:  2010-2015 Data: Report of the Airport Consultant, Series 2016 Bonds, Table 20;
All other years: Metropolitan Airports Commission; USDOT (via Diio) for domestic O&D enplaned passengers.
Domestic connecting enplaned passengers were derived by subtracting DOT-reported domestic O&D enplaned
passengers from Commission-reported domestic enplaned passengers.

Compiled by Landrum & Brown

As shown, with the exception of 2009, total enplaned passengers at the Airport increased in every year since
2008, from approximately 16.4 million to approximately 18.4 million, reflecting an overall CAGR of approximately
1.2% for this period. Driven by strong growth from the LCC and ULCC airlines, domestic O&D enplaned
passengers increased from approximately 7.9 million to 10.6 million, a CAGR of 3.0%. Overall, domestic
connecting enplaned passengers have decreased from approximately 7.2 million to approximately 6.3 million,
reflecting a CAGR of -1.2%, due to Delta’s shifting of connecting capacity. For the first six months of 2019, total
enplaned passengers are up approximately 2.9% as compared to the same period in 2018. It is important to note
that the growth figures for the first six months of 2019 versus 2018 are impacted somewhat by additional demand
generated from the Super Bowl that was held in Minneapolis in February 2018, and the men’s NCAA Final Four
basketball championship tournament that was held in Minneapolis in April 2019.
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To further describe these trends, the past 10 years have been segregated into certain time periods and discussed
below.

= 2008 - 2010 — During this recessionary time period, total Airport enplaned passengers declined -4.1%, or at
a -2.1% CAGR. The entire traffic decline was due to reductions in Delta’s connecting traffic, which resulted
in a decrease in connecting passengers of -10.3% during this time. At the same time, domestic O&D
passengers from the Airport increased 3.5%, or at a CAGR of 0.9%. Delta’s O&D passenger volume
declined 2.4%, while all other airlines grew O&D traffic by 10.1% during this time period. A majority of the
passenger gains came from Southwest, which increased O&D passenger volumes by roughly 500,000
passengers during this time, helping to offset declines by Delta and Sun Country.

= 2010 — 2012 — Total enplaned passengers at the Airport grew 1.9% during this period, or at a 1.0% CAGR.
Delta’s enplaned passengers declined modestly by -0.8% during this period, as the integration of the Delta-
Northwest Airlines merger took place. Reversing trends from the previous two years, Delta’s connecting
traffic increased 1.8%, while Delta’s O&D traffic declined -4.5%. Delta’s average fare paid for O&D
passengers increased 20.2% during the 2-year time period which dampened Delta’s traffic growth over that
period. All other airlines at the Airport increased by approximately 12.0% during this period, or at a CAGR
of 5.9%, with Spirit entering the market in 2012 and Southwest continuing to exhibit growth.

= 2012 - 2018 — Total enplaned passengers at the Airport grew 14.8% during this period, or at a 2.3% CAGR.
From 2012 to 2018, Delta’s total enplaned passengers at the Airport grew 7.1%, or ata 1.1% CAGR. During
this period, Delta grew O&D passengers 28.8%, or at a 4.3% CAGR, while at the same time, reducing
connecting traffic -7.4%, or at a -1.3% CAGR. After peaking in 2015, Delta has steadily been reducing
connecting traffic and backfilling it with O&D passengers. All other airlines grew 39.7% during this time
period, or at a 5.7% CAGR, continuing their strong growth exhibited from earlier periods. While Southwest’s
traffic growth leveled off after 2012, Spirit and Sun Country continued with strong growth, adding
approximately 450,000 annual enplaned passengers during this period. Alaska Airlines and JetBlue also
contributed to growth during this period.

As discussed in Chapter 1, approximately 61% of the Airport’s total enplaned passenger activity for all airlines
consisted of O&D passengers in 2018. Exhibit 2-11 depicts O&D and connecting enplaned passenger trends at
the Airport since 2008. The Airport's O&D enplaned passengers increased at a CAGR of 3.3% from 2008 to 2018.
During this same period, connecting passengers, which are primarily driven by Delta’s route network decisions,
declined by approximately 1.1 million, reflecting a CAGR of -1.6%. As a result, the Airport’s percentage of O&D
traffic increased from 49.6% to 61.2% during this time period. Much of the decrease in the Airport’s connecting
passengers has occurred since 2015, which have decreased by a CAGR of -4.4% from 2015 to 2018. This shift in
connecting versus O&D enplaned passengers at the Airport is primarily a result of Delta shifting its flights from
smaller connecting markets through the Airport to larger, higher yield nonstop O&D markets at the Airport as a
response to competition from and strong growth in O&D traffic by the LCC and ULCC carriers at the Airport.
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Exhibit 2-11  O&D and Connecting Enplaned Passenger Trends at the Airport
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All other years: Metropolitan Airports Commission and U.S. DOT (via Diio) for domestic O&D enplaned
passengers. Domestic connecting enplaned passengers were derived by subtracting DOT-reported domestic
O&D enplaned passengers from Commission-reported domestic enplaned passengers.

Compiled by Landrum & Brown

Exhibit 2-12 depicts O&D enplaned passenger trends by airline since 2008. Much of the Airport’s growth in O&D
enplaned passengers occurred since 2013, with O&D enplaned passengers increasing at a CAGR of 5.3% since
2013. A summary of the Airport’'s O&D enplanement growth by airline is provided below:

Delta’s O&D enplaned passengers increased by a CAGR of 1.6% since 2008. Much of this growth occurred
since 2013, with Delta’s O&D enplaned passengers increasing by over 1.4 million from 2013 to 2018, or a
CAGR of 5.5%.

Sun County’s O&D enplaned passengers increased to over 1.0 million enplaned passengers in 2018,
second to only Delta. From 2009 to 2018, Sun Country’s O&D enplaned passengers increased at a CAGR
of 8.9%.

O&D enplaned passengers by Spirit, which initiated service to the Airport in 2012, have increased at a
CAGR of 13.8% from 2013 to 2018.

Much of the Airport’s O&D enplaned passenger growth occurred as a result of growth by low-cost and
ULCCs. From 2008 to 2018, O&D enplaned passengers on Frontier, Spirit, Southwest, Sun Country, and
JetBlue increased by over 1.8 million O&D enplaned passengers, reflecting a CAGR of 10.8%. In 2008,
these LCC and ULCC airlines comprised approximately 12.7% of the Airport’'s O&D enplaned passengers;

Landrum & Brown | 51



Metropolitan Airports Commission Report of the Airport Consultant
August 20, 2019

by 2018 the overall O&D enplaned passenger market share for these LCC an ULCC airlines increased to
26.0%.

= Other than Delta, passenger volume on the other network Airlines (Alaska, United, and American) remained
relatively stable. As a result, Alaska, United’s, and American’s combined share of the Airport’s overall O&D
enplaned passengers fell from 21.7% in 2008 to 17.1% in 2018.

Exhibit 2-12 O&D Enplaned Passenger Trends by Airline at the Airport (2008 — 2018) *
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" Regional affiliates, as applicable, have been included with their appropriate network partner.

2 Former Northwest Airlines enplaned passengers have been included with Delta Air Lines.

3 American Airlines data includes data for the former US Airways, which was merged with American Airlines in April 2015.
4 Former Continental Airlines enplaned passengers have been included with United Airlines.

Source: Diio Mi

Compiled by Landrum & Brown

2.2.2 Aircraft Operations

Airlines are constantly evaluating how to best serve passenger demand based on their available aircraft fleet. In
markets that exhibit strong business travel, an airline may choose to serve that particular market by offering more
daily frequency; in other words, it may choose to operate smaller aircraft on the route several times per day to
offer customers more choice and redundancy. In other cases, an airline may choose to offer larger aircraft and
less frequency. Airlines also make decisions to change aircraft capacity on particular routes in reaction to load
factors and, ultimately, profitability. Aircraft fleet mix and operations are important considerations for airport
operators when planning for appropriately-sized airport facilities and ensuring an airport has sufficient capacity to
accommodate operations into the future. From an airport financial standpoint, aircraft operations have minimal
impact on revenue performance, although aircraft operations do impact decisions regarding airport capital
programs. Also, airline decisions on aircraft type and number of operations to accommodate passenger demand
ultimately determine overall aircraft landed weight, which is discussed in the following section.
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Airlines have restructured their flight schedules across the U.S., effectively decreasing aircraft operations by
adding more seats by using larger aircraft, also known as “up-gauging.” As a result, passenger growth has been
and will likely continue to be generated by airlines flying larger aircraft and generating higher load factors as
opposed to growth in the frequency of aircraft operations.

On March 13, 2019, the FAA ordered the temporary grounding of the Boeing 737 MAX aircraft operated by U.S.
airlines or foreign flag carriers operating in U.S. territory. Southwest Airlines and IcelandAir are the only airlines
that had scheduled flights using this aircraft at the Airport. Prior to the temporary grounding in March 2019, the
aircraft was operated on approximately 0.20% and 0.27% of the Airport’s total scheduled flights and seats,
respectively.

Exhibit 2-13 and Table 2-13 present historical aircraft operations for the Airport for 2008 through 2018 for
passenger airlines, cargo airlines, charters, general aviation, and military. Overall, during this period, total aircraft
operations have decreased at a CAGR of approximately -1.0%.

= From 2008 to 2018, passenger airline operations decreased at a CAGR of approximately -0.8%. While
passenger airline operations declined, as noted previously, enplaned passenger volume grew at a 1.2%
CAGR, resulting in higher passenger aircraft load factors. These general trends are expected to continue
into the foreseeable future, albeit as a slower pace.

= Overall, cargo aircraft operations increased at a CAGR of 0.7% since 2008. From 2012 to 2018, cargo
aircraft operations increased at a CAGR of 5.5%.

= General Aviation activity has generally decreased from 2008 to 2018, which is consistent with industry
trends and also reflects a shift of general aviation activity to reliever airports in the Minneapolis region.

Exhibit 2-13  Historical Aircraft Operations
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Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission

Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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Poser || charters | fenes | wiary

2008 402,347 14,361 536 30,685 2,115 450,044 -
2009 394,625 11,426 400 24,361 1,892 432,704 (3.9%)
2010 394,407 12,499 103 27,921 2,145 437,075 1.0%
2011 396,002 12,203 161 26,157 1,983 436,506 (0.1%)
2012 387,713 11,231 105 24,903 1,380 425,332 (2.6%)
2013 396,690 11,701 95 21,747 1,185 431,418 1.4%
2014 375,432 12,199 83 23,793 1,079 412,586 (4.4%)
2015 368,414 12,789 80 22,077 1,252 404,612 (1.9%)
2016 375,041 14,400 68 22,455 1,315 413,279 21%
2017 378,272 14,911 45 22,226 759 416,213 0.7%
2018 370,628 15,455 38 20,229 1,126 407,476 (2.1%)
2008-2010 (1.0%) (6.7%) (56.2%) (4.6%) 0.7% (1.5%)

2010-2012 (0.9%) (5.2%) 1.0% (5.6%) (19.8%) (1.4%)

2012-2018 (0.7%) 5.5% (15.6%) (3.4%) (3.3%) (0.7%)

2008-2018 (0.8%) 0.7% (23.3%) (4.1%) (6.1%) (1.0%)

Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission

Compiled by Landrum & Brown

2.2.3 Landed Weight

Aircraft landed weight, expressed in 1,000-pound units, is the sum of the maximum gross certificated landing
weight as certified by the FAA for passenger and all-cargo aircraft landing at the Airport. Per the Airline
Agreements with the Signatory Airlines that operate at the Airport (described in Section 4), aircraft landed weight
is used as the denominator in the calculation of landing fees. Therefore, landed weight is an important measure
for the Commission as it provides a method to recover costs from each airline based on its share of landed
weight.

Table 2-14 presents landed weight activity at the Airport for the period of 2008 through 2018 for passenger
airlines and cargo airlines. As shown, over the entire period, total landed weight remained relatively level,
decreasing from 2008 through 2012, and then increasing steadily through 2018 as the passenger airlines began
to up-gage to larger aircraft. Overall, total landed weight increased modestly at a CAGR of approximately 0.1%
from 2008 to 2018.

From 2008 to 2010, passenger airline landed weight at the Airport declined at a CAGR of -2.9%, during a time
period when passenger volume at the Airport also decreased at a CAGR of approximately -2.1%. After leveling off
from 2010 to 2012, passenger landed weight has increased at a CAGR of 1.5% from 2012 to 2018, during a time
period when passenger volumes grew at an approximate 2.3% CAGR. In general, the passenger airlines reduced
aircraft operations at the Airport, while generally adding larger aircraft to increase seat capacity. Overall, this
resulted in marginally higher landed weight. Given recent trends, landed weight is expected to continue to grow
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marginally higher as airlines continue to add larger aircraft, although landed weight growth will likely lag growth in
enplaned passengers.

Cargo aircraft landed weight has historically followed the same trends as cargo aircraft operations. Following the
economic recession in 2008 and 2009, cargo landed weight decreased through 2012, followed by a period of
steady growth. From 2012 to 2018, cargo landed weight has increased at a CAGR of 2.5%.

Table 2-14 Historical Landed Weight at the Airport (Thousand-Pound Units)

Passenger Airlines Cargo Airlines % Change
2008 21,047,357 1,095,773 22,143,130 -
2009 20,352,347 918,453 21,270,800 (3.9%)
2010 19,856,212 986,029 20,842,241 (2.0%)
2011 19,945,169 897,211 20,842,380 0.0%
2012 19,625,108 885,442 20,510,550 (1.6%)
2013 20,225,040 926,429 21,151,469 3.1%
2014 20,224,580 965,912 21,190,492 0.2%
2015 20,577,785 984,305 21,562,090 1.8%
2016 21,178,343 996,424 22,174,767 2.8%
2017 21,571,010 985,077 22,556,087 1.7%
2018 21,499,942 1,025,400 22,525,342 (0.1%)
CAGR'
2008-2010 (2.9%) (5.1%) (3.0%)
2010-2012 (0.6%) (5.2%) (0.8%)
2012-2018 1.5% 2.5% 1.6%
2008-2018 0.2% (0.7%) 0.2%
Note: Amounts may not add because of rounding.
" CAGR = Compound annual growth rate
Source: Metropolitan Airports Commission

Compiled by Landrum & Brown

2.3 Key Factors Affecting Air Traffic

The forecast of future air traffic activity at the Airport, provided later in this Chapter, was prepared partly on the
basis of quantitative factors including regression versus socioeconomic variables such as population, employment
and income. The following section addresses certain qualitative factors that potentially could impact air traffic
activity, both nationwide and at the Airport.

2.3.1 Economic Conditions and Events

Historically, the U.S. economy as measured by GDP, has grown at a relatively steady rate, averaging 3.1 percent
per annum between 1960 and 2017. The rate of growth has been remarkably stable reflecting both the size and
maturity of the U.S. economy. Individual years have fluctuated around the long-term trend for a variety of reasons
including macroeconomic factors, fuel shocks, war, and terrorist attacks.
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There have been two official economic recessions in the U.S. thus far in the 215t century. The first occurred
between March and November of 2001 and was compounded by the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks.
The negative impact of these events on the airline industry is well documented. The recession itself was short-
lived by historical standards and the economy returned to positive growth rates quickly, fueled by a gradual but
prolonged reduction in interest rates.

The second recession, often referred to as the “Great Recession,” occurred between December 2007 and

June 2009."3 This was the worst financial crisis to affect the U.S. since the ‘Great Depression’ and it was the
longest recession since airline industry deregulation’# in 1978. The nation’s unemployment rate rose from 5.0% in
December 2007 to a high of 10.6% in January 2010."°

Exhibit 2-14 shows the strong correlation between enplaned passenger traffic in the U.S. and the nation’s
economy. During economic contractions, there is a notable decline in passenger volumes and during the
subsequent economic expansions, there is significant growth in passenger volumes. Additionally, exogenous
shocks such as terrorist attacks have had a short but significant impact on passenger volumes.

The most recent forecast from the Congressional Budget Office estimates that real U.S. GDP increased by 2.9%
in 2018 and is forecast to increase 2.3% in 2019. The Congressional Budget Office forecast estimates that from
2019 through 2023, growth in the GDP will slow to 1.7% before increasing to an average of 1.8% between 2024
and 2029. Unemployment has dropped from the peak of 9.6% in 2010 to the May 2019 level of 3.6%.16
Consumer spending increased at a CAGR of 2.41% from 2010 to 2018 and spending for transportation grew
approximately 2.3% during this same period. Air Travel expenditures were affected by lower air fares during this
time period."”

Should the U.S. economy deviate greatly from these estimates, aviation activity could vary from the forecasts
presented herein.

13 National Bureau of Economic Research, U.S. Business Cycle Expansions and Contractions, September
20, 2010.

14 Deregulation refers to the Airline Deregulations Act of 1978, which reduced government control over the
commercial aviation industry.

15 National Bureau of Economic Research, U.S. Business Cycle Expansions and Contractions, September
20, 2010.

16 Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, accessed August 2017.

17 Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. Department of Commerce, accessed July 2017.
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Exhibit 2-14  U.S. Aviation System Shocks and Recoveries
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Source: U.S. Bureau of Transportation Statistics, U.S. Air Carrier Traffic Statistics.

23.2 The U.S. Airline Industry

2.3.21 Airline Bankruptcies

Over the past several years, the U.S. airline industry has undergone a significant transformation. Although it has
been profitable in recent years, the U.S. airline industry cumulatively experienced losses of approximately

$62 billion from 2000 through 2009 on domestic operations.'® Many airlines filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy
protection and some merged or ceased operations altogether. Table 2-15 presents the airlines that have operated
at the Airport and have declared bankruptcy since 2000. During this period, airlines suffered from excess
capacity, which drove down yields. Yields adjusted for inflation had dropped by approximately 70%. With oil prices
spiking to near $150 per barrel in 2008, industry changes were critical. As a result, all of the major network
airlines restructured their route networks and reached agreements with lenders, employees, vendors, and
creditors to decrease their cost structure.

18 U.S. Department of Transportation, Air Carrier Statistics (Form 41), accessed from Airlines for America,
Annual Financial Results: U.S. Passenger Airlines.
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Table 2-15 Airline Bankruptcy Timeline

United Airlines

Frontier Airlines
Dogi02 Aloha Airlines O Apr-08l o SeaPort Airlines
Dec-04 Feb-16
Trans World Airway .
Jan-01 Northwest Airlines
? Sep-05
2001 2003 D005 2007 009 2011 2013 2015 2017 2019
. Sun Country i L i
US Airways Oct-08 American Airlines PenAir
Aug-02 Delta Air Lines Nov-11 Aug-17
Sep-05
SkyBus Airlines
O US Airways O Ap|¥08
Sep-04
Airline Status
Trans World Airways Filed Chapter 11 in January 2001 as part of the acquisition by American.
US Airwavs Filed Chapter 11 in August 2002 and again in September 2004; emerged in September 2005
¥ in conjunction with the acquisition by America West. Acquired by American Airlines in 2013.
United Airlines Filed Chapter 11 in December 2002; emerged in February 2006.
Aloha Airlines Filed Chapter 11 in December 2004; ceased all operations in March 2008.
Northwest Airlines Filed Chapter 11 in September 2005; emerged in May 2007. Acquired by Delta in 2008.
Delta Air Lines Filed Chapter 11 in September 2005; emerged in April 2007. Wholly owned subsidiary
Comair Airlines taken in bankruptcy with Delta Airlines.
Frontier Airlines Filed Chapter 11 in April 2008; emerged in October 2009.
SkyBus Airlines Ceased operations in April 2008.
Sun Country Filed Chapter 11 in October 2008; emerged in July 2011.

Filed Chapter 11 in November 2011. Wholly owned subsidiary American Eagle Airlines took

American Airlines into bankruptcy with American Airlines. Emerged in December 2013.

Filed Chapter 11 In February 2016. Went out of business when Chapter 11 was converted to
Chapter 7 liquidation in September 2016.

PenAir Filed Chapter 11 in August 2017.

Source: Airlines for America, U.S. Airline Bankruptcies.

SeaPort Airlines

2322 Airline Profitability

Since 2008, the U.S. airline industry has reduced capacity, particularly in short-haul markets with smaller
short-range regional jet aircraft. The result has been a significant improvement in yields, unit revenues (RASMs),
and subsequently profitability. In recent years, the U.S. airline industry has been at its most stable, and profitable
point in history. According to the Bureau of Transportation Statistics, the 21 U.S. scheduled passenger airlines
reported a pre-tax net operating profit of $17.6 billion in 2018, which marks the tenth consecutive year of pre-tax
operating profits. The scheduled passenger airlines reported an operating profit margin of 9.4% in 2018, down
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from 12.2% in 2017 and 15.00% in 2016."° Profitability can also be attributed to airlines unbundling services and
increasing the use of ancillary fees such as charges for checked baggage.

2.3.2.3 Airline Mergers

Industry consolidation has taken place as a result of competitive pressures and economic conditions.
Many airlines have merged or been acquired since 2000. Exhibit 2-15 provides a graphical representation of the
major U.S. airline mergers during this period.

Exhibit 2-15  Major U.S. Airline Mergers of the 215t Century

Delta Air Lines Delta Air Lines
Northwest Airlines

American Airlines American Airlines

US Airways

America West Airlines

United Air Lines United Air Lines
Continental Air Lines

Southwest Airlines Southwest Airlines
Airtran Airways

Alaska Airlines \EYEWT T

Virgin America

2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018

Source: Airlines for America, U.S. Airline Mergers and Acquisitions.

These mergers have resulted in significant economic control of passenger ridership. In 2018, the four largest U.S.
airlines (American, Southwest, Delta, and United) accounted for 80.3% of the domestic seating capacity.?° The
potential impacts associated with consolidation include limited industry seat capacity growth and generally
continued increase in yields (fares).

233 Aviation Fuel

The price of oil and the associated cost of jet fuel is the largest single cost affecting the airline industry. In 2000,
the cost of jet fuel to end users averaged $0.89 per gallon. The average cost of jet fuel climbed steadily through

19 Bureau of Transportation Statistics, 2017 Annual and 4t Quarter U.S. Airline Financial Data.
20 Scheduling data accessed through Diio Mi, Schedule — Dynamic Table, accessed October 2018.
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2007. However, in 2008, crude oil prices and, consequently, jet fuel surged in price as a result of strong global
demand, a weak U.S. dollar, commodity speculation, political unrest, and a reluctance to materially increase
supply. In July 2008, jet fuel reached an average price of $4.01, nearly double the price the year prior. Reduced
demand in 2009 stemming from the global financial crisis and subsequent economic downturn resulted in a sharp
decline in price. However, as the economic climate improved and political unrest continued in the Middle East, oil
prices increased in the subsequent three years. The increase in the price of jet fuel put upwards pressure on
airline operating costs. As a result, airlines were faced with cutting capacity or increasing fares, and sometimes
both. The average price of jet fuel dropped significantly in 2015 and 2016, reaching a low of $1.03 per gallon in
February 2016. Since then, jet fuel prices have steadily climbed, primarily as a result of strong demand for air
travel driven by global economic growth.

The U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA) provides forecasts of jet fuel refiner price to end users in a
report entitled Short-Term Energy Outlook. In the July 2019 release, the EIA projects that jet fuel prices ($1.91 in
July 2019) will reach $2.21 per gallon by December 2020. Exhibit 2-16 presents the historical price for jet fuel
refiner price to end users and the EIA’s forecast of that price.

Exhibit 2-16  Jet Fuel Prices

Jet Fuel Refiner Price to End Users (Dollars per Gallon)
5.00

4.50

July '08

400 4.01 $/gal |
3.50

3.00

2.50

,December '20
2.00 174 2.21 $/ga|

1.50

1.00 i
0.50 i
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Source: U.S. Energy Information Administration, Short-Term Energy Outlook (February 2019).
Fuel cost is of major importance to the airline industry; however, future prices and availability are uncertain and

fluctuate based on numerous factors. These can include supply-and-demand expectations, geopolitical events,
fuel inventory levels, monetary policies, and economic growth estimates. Historically, certain airlines have also
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employed fuel hedging as a practice to provide some protection against future fuel price increases. While fuel
hedging has generally not been used by airlines in recent years, it remains as a potential option to mitigate fuel
cost risk. Experts generally agree that longer-term prices are expected to remain high relative to historical levels
as demand for energy on a global basis continues to increase.

Aviation fuel costs are expected to continue to impact the airline industry in the future. If aviation fuel costs
increase significantly over current levels, air traffic activity could be negatively affected as airlines attempt to pass
costs on to consumers through higher airfares and fees in order to remain profitable. At this time, alternative fuels
are not yet commercially cost effective.

2.3.4 Aviation Security

Since the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, government agencies, airlines, and airport operators have
upgraded security measures to guard against threats and to maintain the public’s confidence in the safety of air
travel. Security measures have included cargo and baggage screening requirements, deployment of explosive
detection devices, strengthening of aircraft cockpit doors, the increased presence of armed air marshals,
awareness programs for personnel at airports, and new programs for flight crews. Aviation security is under the
control of the federal government through the Transportation Security Administration.

The threat of terrorism poses risks to the continued growth of the aviation industry. Although terrorist events
targeting aviation interests would likely have negative and immediate impacts on the demand for air travel, the
industry and demand have historically recovered from such events. There have been recent terrorist attacks at
airports internationally including at the Brussels Airport in March 2016, the Istanbul Atatiirk Airport in June 2016,
and most recently the Paris Orly International Airport in March 2017. So long as government agencies continue to
seek processes and procedures to mitigate potential risks and to maintain confidence in the safety of aircraft,
without requiring unreasonable levels of costs or inconvenience to the passengers, economic influences are
expected to be the primary driver for aviation demand as opposed to security and safety.

2.3.5 Cyber and Data Security

The Commission, like many other large public and private entities, relies on a large and complex technology
environment to conduct its operations, and faces multiple cybersecurity threats including, but not limited to,
hacking, phishing, viruses, malware and other attacks on its computing and other digital networks and systems.
As a recipient and provider of personal, private, or sensitive information, the Commission may be the target of
cybersecurity incidents that could result in adverse consequences to the Commission’s Systems Technology,
requiring a response action to mitigate the consequences. The Airport can also be a target for Nation/States or
terrorist groups which wish to cause the US economic damage by attacking aviation/airports.

Cybersecurity incidents could result from unintentional events, or from deliberate attacks by unauthorized entities
or individuals attempting to gain access to the Commission’s Systems Technology for the purposes of
misappropriating assets or information or causing operational disruption and damage. To mitigate the risk of
business operations impact and/or damage from cybersecurity incidents or cyber-attacks, the Commission
purchases substantial cyber insurance limits regarding such threats as breach response, system failure resulting
in business interruption, and first and third party cyber liability.

While cybersecurity and operational safeguards are periodically tested, no assurances can be given by the
Commission that such measures will ensure against other cybersecurity threats and attacks. Cybersecurity
breaches could damage the Commission’s Systems Technology and cause material disruption to the
Commission’s finances or operations. The costs of remedying any such damage or protecting against future
attacks could be substantial. The airlines serving the Airport and other Commission tenants also face
cybersecurity threats that could affect their operations and finances.
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2.3.6 National Air Traffic Capacity

The U.S. aviation system has a major impact on the national economy because it provides a means of
transporting people and cargo over long distances in a relatively short period. As demand for air travel increases,
the national aviation system must maintain sufficient capacity to allow for travel without unacceptable delays or
congestion. It is generally assumed that the required infrastructure improvements needed to maintain capacity will
keep pace with demand. Although not likely over the Forecast Period evaluated herein, the inability of the national
aviation system to keep pace with demand could create congestion and delays on a national level that could
adversely affect the passenger experience and impact future demand.

2.3.7 Pilot Shortage

Beginning in June of 2017, a shortage of pilots for Horizon Air's Bombardier Q400 aircraft resulted in impacts to
the airline’s schedule. In the month of June alone, the airline had to cancel more than 300 flights system-wide
because it did not have enough pilots. The airline had to curtail its flight schedule for the following fall. The lost
routes were ultimately operated by the mainline carrier Alaska Airlines or a Horizon competitor, SkyWest. In order
to combat the issue, the airline has increased compensation and lessened the time for pilots to advance their
careers. It appears that Horizon has been able to increase hiring and planned to hire 349 pilots in 2018.2"

This pilot shortage is an industry-wide issue. In March 2018, Great Lake Airlines, another regional carrier, ended
service because it couldn’t hire enough pilots for its flights. There are several reasons for the pilot shortage.
Congress changed duty time rules in 2010 to mitigate pilot fatigue which required airlines to increase pilot staff.
Another rule, instituted in the U.S. in 2013, required first officers flying for commercial airlines to have at least
1,500 hours of flight time, instead of the 250 hours previously required, resulting in higher costs and time that
deter entry into the profession. Combined, these factors have decreased the pool of qualified pilots. Other factors
include an aging pilot workforce and fewer new pilots coming out of the military. Even with the increased
incentives, this makes it harder for small regional airlines to hire qualified new pilots. Additionally, as passenger
demand increases, the major carriers also need additional pilots and are generally able to hire them away from
the regional carriers, resulting in a shortage for the smaller regional carriers. This could reduce service to some
smaller U.S. markets.

2.3.8 The Rise in E-Commerce Cargo

The air cargo industry is in the midst of a fundamental shift. Historically, air cargo has been used as a supply
chain for time-sensitive or high-value product. Manufacturing has been a significant driver for air cargo as well as
companies that provide the demand for air cargo. These companies have relocated a number of their
manufacturing facilities to other parts of the world which has led to a shift to other modes of transportation such as
cargo ships. Additionally, rising fuel costs, resulting in higher shipping costs, combined with the global recession
led companies to reevaluate the necessity of shipping products by air. As such, companies began to rely on an
increased use of trucks and ships to deliver their product. The result is that traditional air cargo has been stagnant
at many airports across the United States.

The increased use of e-commerce has resulted in further changes in the air cargo industry. The U.S. Census
Bureau reported that 9.7% of retail sales were e-commerce in 2018, compared to 8.9% in 2017.22 Most of the
current forecasts for e-commerce indicate double-digit growth in the market over the next five years. In e-
commerce, vendors are required to ship orders to their costumers fast, such as two-day shipping, which may
require the use of air cargo despite the increased cost. Therefore, due to the growth in e-commerce, non-
traditional air cargo is expected to have a significant impact on air cargo throughput in the U.S. For financial

21 Oregon Business, Horizon Air Closes the Gap in Pilot Hiring, July 9, 2018.
22 U.S. Census Bureau, Quietly Retail E-Commerce Sales 4th Quarter 2018, released March 13, 2019.
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feasibility purposes and to remain somewhat conservative, the selected forecast for landed weight at the Airport
contained herein and as presented below does not include significant increases expected to result from e-
commerce other than that already incurred in prior years.

2.4 Air Traffic Activity Forecasts

L&B prepared air traffic activity forecasts for the Airport for use as the basis for the financial analysis performed
later in this Report. L&B’s analysis consisted of two primary steps: a short-term forecast (2019 and 2020) and a
long-term forecast (2021 through 2025), which are described in the sections below.

241 Forecast Assumptions

Forecasts of air traffic activity were developed based on an analysis of the underlying economic conditions of the
Air Service Area, airline traffic trends, and an assessment of Delta’s continued operation of hubbing activity at the
Airport. In general, it was assumed that in the long-term, growth in O&D passenger traffic at the Airport will occur
as a function of growth in population and the economy of the Air Service Area. The growth in U.S. population and
GDP, along with Delta’s network strategy, are assumed to be the primary drivers of future connecting passenger
traffic. In addition, several other assumptions are incorporated into the long-term forecast including the following:

= The airlines will continue to add capacity that is in line with demand and GDP growth.

= Delta will continue to operate the Airport as a hub. Total connecting passengers at the Airport are forecast
to increase moderately over the Projection Period to approximately 7.5 million. The Airport’s total
connecting passengers are expected to decrease from approximately 39% to 37% of its total passengers at
the Airport, as growth in O&D passenger is forecast to outpace connecting passenger growth.

= The domestic airlines other than Delta and the Delta Connection carriers currently serving the Airport will
continue to provide air service to support local long-term demand primarily to and from their hub airports,
key focus cities, and larger O&D markets, and the Airport will continue as a key city for Sun Country.

= Delta and other airlines will continue to provide trans-oceanic service to markets in Europe and Asia, as well
as other international markets such as Canada, Mexico, and the Caribbean. Service to other international
markets will also be provided as demand dictates.

= Long-term nationwide growth in air travel will occur over the Forecast Period consistent with forecast growth
in the economy.

= Aviation fuel prices over the Forecast Period are anticipated to be higher relative to historical levels, but
lower than the record prices reached in mid-2008.

= There will be no major disruption of airline service or airline travel behavior.

Many of the factors that may affect air travel demand are not necessarily quantifiable. As a result, all forecasts of
aviation activity are subject to various uncertainties. Therefore, this forecast, as with any forecast, should be
viewed as a general indication of future aviation activity as opposed to a precise prediction. Actual future traffic
may vary from these forecasts and such variances could be material.

24.2 Enplaned Passenger Forecast

The Airport’s enplaned passenger base consists of O&D passengers driven by regional and national economic
activity and connecting passengers primarily driven by Delta’s strategic decisions. Specific assumptions and
points regarding forecast enplaned passengers for the short-term (2019 and 2020) and the longer-term (2021
through 2025) are discussed below.
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243 Short-Term Forecast

The short-term enplaned passenger forecast developed an appropriate estimate for 2019 and 2020. This included
a review of actual enplaned passengers from January 2019 through June 2019 and a review of scheduled
departing aircraft seats through March 2020, obtained from published airline schedules. Recent or expected
airline service announcements have been incorporated.

Enplaned passengers in 2019 are estimated to increase by approximately 1.1% over 2018 to approximately 18.6
million. This forecast takes into account that currently published schedules indicate that 2019 seat capacity will be
approximately 3.3% above 2018. In addition, currently published schedules for the first three months of 2020
indicate that scheduled seat capacity is 1.3% more than the same period in 2019. Given this, enplaned
passengers for 2020 are forecast to increase by approximately 1.2% over estimated 2019 levels to approximately
18.8 million.

Key information and assumptions used for the short-term forecast for 2019 and 2020 include the following:

= Through the first six months of 2019 (January through June), total Airport enplaned passengers have
increased by approximately 2.9%. The lower growth for the first half of 2019 is primarily due to inflated
enplaned passengers as a result of the Super Bowl in February 2018, which resulted in a corresponding
decrease in enplaned passengers for February 2019 over February 2018. Total Airport seat capacity for
the remaining six months of 2019 is scheduled to be approximately 4.7% more than for the same period in
2018. Based on this information, 2019 enplaned passengers are forecast to increase by approximately
1.2% as compared to 2018.

= Delta’s total seat capacity in 2019 is scheduled to increase at the Airport by 1.9% over 2018. For the first
three months of 2020, Delta’s seat capacity is scheduled to increase by approximately 9.5%. Specifics
regarding Delta’s scheduled seat increases in 2019 and 2020 are summarized below:

— Domestically, Delta is scheduled to increase seat capacity in 74 of its 123 nonstop markets from the
Airport with a net increase of approximately 237,000 seats in 2019 over 2018. New seasonal nonstop
service with one daily flight to Charleston, South Carolina began in June 2019. In addition, top
domestic markets where Delta is scheduled to increase its seat capacity include Boston (31,634
additional seats), Denver (25,557 additional seats), San Diego (24,596 additional seats), Las Vegas
(24,398 additional seats), Orlando (22,179 additional seats), Nashville (21,543 additional seats),
Chicago O’Hare (20,617 additional seats), Seattle (19,650 additional seats), Ft. Myers (18,315
additional seats), Atlanta (13,998 additional seats), and New York La Guardia (13,726 additional
seats).

— Internationally, Delta is scheduled to increase seat capacity in 13 of its 26 nonstop markets from the
Airport with a net increase of approximately 126,780 seats in 2019 over 2018. New nonstop
international service with one daily flight to Seoul, Korea began in April 2019, and daily service to
Mexico City is scheduled to begin in June 2019. In addition, top international markets where Delta is
scheduled to increase its seat capacity include Calgary (23,491 additional seats), Winnipeg (21,690
additional seats), Vancouver (6,285 additional seats), and London Heathrow (6,113 additional seats).

= All other airlines in aggregate are scheduled to increase annual seat capacity by approximately 6.8% in
2019, and by approximately 6.7% for the three months of 2020. The other airlines showing the most growth
in scheduled seats from the Airport or with new announced service include:

— Sun Country with 17.8% more seats in 2019, primarily with new flights in April 2019 to Newark,
Chicago O’Hare, Philadelphia, Washington Dulles, Providence; starting in May 2019 to Sacramento
and San Antonio; and starting in June 2019 to St. Louis. In addition, Sun Country is also adding
seats to a number of existing markets including Nashville, Orlando, Ft. Myers, and Phoenix.
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—  Frontier with 11.2% more seats in 2019, primarily with additional flights to Orlando, Cleveland,
Trenton, Colorado Springs, and Cincinnati.

—  United with 7.1% more seats in 2019, primarily with additional service to Chicago, San Francisco, and
Denver.

— American with 3.4% more seats in 2019, primarily with additional flights to Dallas, Chicago, and
Phoenix.

— Southwest with 3.3% more seats in 2019, primarily with additional flights to Dallas Love Field and
Nashville.

— New service by JetBlue to Boston in May 2018 with nearly 3 flights a day.
— Air Canada with 14.2% more seats in 2019 to Toronto.
— Aer Lingus with new service to Dublin in July 2019

Based on actual Airport enplanements through June 2019 and the airlines’ scheduled seat capacity through
December 2019, it is estimated that the Airport’'s domestic O&D enplaned passengers will increase approximately
1.3% in 2019 and an additional 1.4% in 2020. Domestic connecting enplaned passengers are forecast to remain
constant at 2018 levels for 2019 and then increase modestly by 0.3% in 2020. International enplaned passengers
are projected to increase by 4.7% in 2019 and by approximately 3.4% in 2020. Total enplaned passenger traffic is
forecast to increase by 1.1% in 2019 and then by 1.2% in 2020.

244 Long-Term Forecast

The long-term enplanement forecast is based on the ability of the Air Service Area’s economic base to generate
continued O&D passenger growth and the business decisions of Delta to continue operating the Airport as a
major connecting hub, primarily serving the upper Midwest, Central, and Western regions of the U.S., and as an
international gateway for Delta to Asia, Canada, Europe, and Mexico. Given this, the Airport’s long-term
enplanement forecast was developed in three parts: for domestic O&D, domestic connecting, and international
enplaned passengers. O&D enplaned passenger traffic is driven by the Air Service Area’s economic base and
was forecast using a socioeconomic regression analysis. The Airport’s connecting enplaned passengers were
then forecast based on Delta’s recent trends, and assumes that Delta’s connecting traffic share will continue to
decrease slightly from approximately 52% to 49% of Delta’s enplaned passengers at the Airport.

The key socioeconomic forecast variables that have been found to have a strong correlation with an airport’s O&D
passenger demand generally include population, employment, income and gross regional product. With the
exception of gross regional product, these variables for the Air Service Area are expected to grow somewhat
slower as compared to those of the overall U.S. To develop an understanding of how domestic O&D passengers
may trend into the future, regression analyses of O&D enplaned passengers versus these key economic and
demographic drivers were performed. A single regression for each Air Service Area economic and demographic
factor as the independent variable, and Airport domestic O&D enplaned passengers as the dependent variable
was undertaken. For example, the Air Service Area historical population was analyzed versus historical Airport
domestic O&D enplaned passengers to determine an understanding of how future domestic O&D enplaned
passengers may trend based on forecast population.

Exhibit 2-17 presents the resulting domestic O&D enplaned passenger forecast trends based on the regression
analysis. The dashed line represents the selected domestic O&D enplaned passenger forecast trend for the
Airport and the shaded area represents the range of outcomes based on the various regression analyses.
Resulting CAGRs ranged from 1.6% to 2.9% for the period of 2018 through 2025, and forecast domestic O&D
enplaned passenger levels for 2025 ranged from 11.7 million to 13.7 million. By comparison, over the last six
years, domestic O&D enplaned passengers have increased at a CAGR of 4.7%, and overall, the Airport’s
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historical domestic O&D passenger CAGR for the period between 2008 and 2018 was 3.3%. Longer-term, the
forecast conservatively assumes that this growth will be lower than what the Airport has experienced historically.
As presented on Exhibit 2-13, forecast domestic O&D enplaned passengers are at the lower range of the
forecasts generated from the regression analysis. Domestic O&D enplaned passengers from the Airport are
forecast to grow to approximately 11.7 million by 2025, or at a CAGR of 1.4% during the period of 2018 to 2025.
This growth rate is roughly half of the CAGR for domestic O&D enplaned passengers of 3.3% experienced over
the past 10 years.

Exhibit 2-17 Domestic O&D Enplaned Passenger Regression Analysis
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Sources:  Metropolitan Airports Commission (historical), Landrum & Brown (forecast)
Compiled by Landrum & Brown

It is assumed that Delta will continue to operate the Airport as one of its key connecting hubs in a similar fashion
as it does today throughout the Forecast Period. As discussed earlier in this Chapter, the Airport is of key
strategic importance for Delta, and continues to provide needed domestic connection capacity in the upper
Midwest, Central, and Western regions of the U.S. Connecting enplaned passenger traffic is somewhat indirectly
linked to the economic base of the Air Service Area; however, it is also significantly impacted by business
decisions by Delta. Since the most recent transformation of the airline industry in 2008 and 2009, Delta’s
connecting enplaned passenger traffic at the Airport increased modestly from 6.5 million in 2010 to nearly 7.2
million in 2015. Since then, Delta’s connecting traffic has decreased each of the last three years to approximately
6.1 million in 2018. Based on discussions with Delta, this trend in connecting traffic is expected to stabilize in
2019. As such, Delta’s connecting passengers at the Airport are assumed to remain level at 6.3 million in 2019,
and then increase modestly thereafter to approximately 6.5 million. As a result, Delta’s connecting traffic is
expected to decrease from approximately 52% in 2018 to approximately 49% of Delta’s total enplaned
passengers at the Airport.

Table 2-16 below presents the forecast for domestic O&D, domestic connecting, international O&D, international
connecting, and total enplaned passengers for the Airport through 2025. As shown, total enplaned passengers at
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the Airport are projected to increase to approximately 20.0 million in 2025, representing a CAGR of 1.2% from
2018 to 2025. It should be noted that economic disturbances could occur over the Forecast Period; however, the
Airport’s current air service appears more profitable and, hence, more stable than it was during the last peak
experienced in the 2007-2008 period. Therefore, year-over-year variations are likely to occur from any
disturbances, but are expected to be milder and shorter in duration than experienced during prior recessionary
periods.

Table 2-16 Revenue Enplaned Passenger Forecast (000’s)
Domestic International
ge ange ange

Historical
2008 7,869 - 7,210 - 487 - 818 - 16,384 -
2009 7,918 0.6% 6,573 (8.8%) 401 (17.5%) 660 (19.4%) | 15,551 (5.1%)
2010 7,833 (1.1%) 6,741 2.6% 514 28.2% 627 (4.9%) 15,715 1.1%
2011 7,931 1.3% 6,938 2.9% 488 (5.2%) 615 (1.9%) 15,972 1.6%
2012 7,942 (0.1%) 6,994 0.8% 499 2.3% 585 (4.9%) 16,020 0.3%
2013 8,145 2.6% 7,094 1.4% 536 7.3% 596 1.9% 16,370 2.2%
2014 8,481 4.1% 7,349 3.6% 588 9.7% 590 (1.0%) 17,008 3.9%
2015 8,908 5.0% 7,525 2.4% 672 14.2% 630 6.8% 17,732 4.3%
2016 9,694 71% 7,105 (5.6%) 588 (12.5%) 774 22.8% 18,161 2.4%
2017 10,144 4.6% 6,807 (4.2%) 626 6.5% 809 4.5% 18,385 1.2%
2018 10,603 4.5% 6,313 (7.3%) 653 4.3% 813 0.6% 18,382 0.0%

YTD 18 ' 8,936 -

YTD 19’ 9,194 2.9%

Forecast
2019 10,741 1.3% 6,313 0.0% 686 5.2% 848 4.3% 18,589 1.1%
2020 10,891 1.4% 6,332 0.3% 713 3.9% 874 3.0% 18,810 1.2%
2021 11,044 1.4% 6,351 0.3% 740 3.8% 900 3.0% 19,035 1.2%
2022 11,198 1.4% 6,377 0.4% 768 3.8% 926 2.9% 19,269 1.2%
2023 11,355 1.4% 6,402 0.4% 796 3.7% 953 2.9% 19,507 1.2%
2024 11,514 1.4% 6,428 0.4% 825 3.7% 980 2.8% 19,747 1.2%
2025 11,675 1.4% 6,453 0.4% 855 3.6% 1,007 2.8% 19,991 1.2%

CAGR?

2008-2018 3.0% (1.3%) 3.0% (0.1%) 1.2%

2018-2025 1.4% 0.3% 3.9% 3.1% 1.2%

Note: Amounts may not add because of rounding.

" Enplaned passengers for year-to-date period includes the six months of January through June.

2 CAGR = Compounded annual growth rate

Source: 2010-2015 Data: U.S. DOT Air Passenger Origin-Destination Survey, reconciled to Schedule T1, Report of the
Airport Consultant, Series 2016 Bonds, Table 20;
All other years: Metropolitan Airports Commission (historical total) and U.S. DOT via Diio (historical O&D);
Landrum & Brown (forecast)

Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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Exhibit 2-18 presents forecast O&D, connecting, international and total enplaned passengers compared to the
FAA’s most recent Terminal Area Forecast (TAF) for the Airport. For comparative purposes, the FAA’s TAF for
the Airport forecast 20.6 million enplaned passengers by 2025, a 1.6% CAGR when measured from 2018.

Exhibit 2-18 Comparison of Enplaned Passenger Forecast
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Sources:  Metropolitan Airports Commission (historical); FAA Terminal Area Forecast (FAA TAF); and Landrum & Brown.
Compiled by Landrum & Brown
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24.5 Aircraft Operations Forecast

Table 2-17 presents historical and forecast aircraft operations at the Airport. Total passenger airline aircraft
operations are forecast to decrease modestly at a -0.1% CAGR from 2018 through 2025. It is assumed that the
current industry shift towards larger aircraft will continue to occur over the next couple of years. The forecast
assumes further decreases in the use of smaller regional jets, especially 50-seat aircraft, as they are retired.
Cargo airlines are forecast to increase operations at a 1.3% CAGR through 2025, reflecting the strong growth in
cargo operations since 2012 (5.5% CAGR). Charter, general aviation, and military operations are forecast to
continue to remain constant through 2025. Total aircraft operations at the Airport are forecast to decrease slightly
from 407,476 in 2018 to 405,395 in 2025.

Table 2-17 Aircraft Operations Forecast
Operating Year | Passenger Airlines | Cargo Airlines | Charters E\?igfi':rll Military %